
 

 

 
Friday, 14 January 2022 
 
To:   Members of the MCA - Mayoral Combined Authority Board and Appropriate Officers 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
You are hereby summoned to a meeting of the South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined 
Authority to be held at South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority,  11 Broad Street 
West, Sheffield S1 2BQ, on: Monday, 24 January 2022 at 10.00 am for the purpose of 
transacting the business set out in the agenda. 
 

 
Dr Dave Smith 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
 

Webcasting Notice 
 

This meeting will be streamed live or subsequent broadcast via the Mayoral Combined 
Authority’s website. 
 
You should be aware that the Mayoral Combined Authority is a Data Controller under the 
Data Protection Act 2018.  Data collected during this webcast will be retained in 
accordance with the Mayoral Combined Authority’s published policy. 
 
By entering the meeting room, you are consenting to be filmed and to the possible use of 
those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
 
 

 

You can view the agenda and papers  
at www.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk  
or use a smart phone camera  
and scan the QR code: 

Public Document Pack

http://www.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/


 

 

 



 

 

Member Distribution 
 
Mayor Dan Jarvis MBE (Chair) SCR Mayoral Combined Authority 
Councillor Chris Read (Vice-Chair) Rotherham MBC 
Councillor Terry Fox Sheffield City Council 
Councillor Sir Steve Houghton CBE Barnsley MBC 
Mayor Ros Jones CBE Doncaster MBC 
Councillor Alex Dale NE Derbyshire DC 
Councillor Steve Fritchley Bolsover DC 
Councillor Tricia Gilby Chesterfield BC 
Councillor Simon Greaves Bassetlaw DC 
Councillor Garry Purdy Derbyshire Dales DC 
     



 

 

 
MCA - Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

 
 

Monday, 24 January 2022 at 10.00 am 
 
Venue: South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority,  11 
Broad Street West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 

 

Agenda 
 

Agenda 
Ref No 

Subject Lead Page 
 

1.   Welcome and Apologies  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 
 

 

2.   Announcements  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 
 

 

3.   Urgent Items 
 
To determine whether there are any additional items 
of business which by reason of special 
circumstances the Chair is of the opinion should be 
considered at the meeting; the reason(s) for such 
urgency to be stated. 
 

Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 
 

 

4.   Items to be Considered in the Absence of Public 
and Press 
 
To identify where resolutions may be moved to 
exclude the public and press.  (For items marked * 
the public and press may be excluded from the 
meeting.) 
 

Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 
 

 

5.   Voting Rights for Non-constituent Members 
 
To identify whether there are any items of business 
that apply only to the South Yorkshire Members of 
the Mayoral Combined Authority, ie, where it would 
not be appropriate for non-SY Members to have 
voting rights. 
 

Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 
 

 

6.   Declarations of Interest by individual Members in 
relation to any item of business on the agenda  

Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 
 

 

7.   Reports from and questions by members  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 
 

 

8.   Receipt of Petitions  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 

 



 

 

9.   Public Questions  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 
 

 

10.   Minutes of the meeting  Mayor Dan 
Jarvis 
 

7 - 16 

11.   Options to Support the Delivery of the Region's Bus 
Service Improvement Plan (BSIP)  

Stephen 
Edwards 
 

17 - 24 

12.   Gateway East Governance Proposals  Martin 
Swales 
 

25 - 28 

13.   The Yorkshire and Humber Climate Change Plan  Martin 
Swales 
 

29 - 84 

14.   Approval of the South Yorkshire Flood Catchment 
Plan  

Colin 
Blackburn 
 

85 - 144 

15.   ZEBRA Business Case  Pat Beijer 
 

145 - 152 

16.   Business Support Funding  Muz 
Mumtaz 
 

153 - 156 

17.   2021/22 Budget Revision 3  Gareth 
Sutton 
 

157 - 188 

18.   Budget and Business Plan Development  Gareth 
Sutton 
 

189 - 212 

19.   South Yorkshire Renewal Fund: Progress Update  Gareth 
Sutton 
 

213 - 220 

20.   Programme Approvals  Gareth 
Sutton 
 

221 - 274 

21.   Appointment of External Auditors  Gareth 
Sutton 
 

275 - 290 

22.   Annual Review of Assurance Framework  Dr Ruth 
Adams 
 

291 - 356 

23.   Delegated Authority Report  Dave 
Smith 
 

357 - 366 

Date of next meeting: Monday, 21 March 2022 at 10.00 am 

 
At: South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority,  11 Broad Street West, Sheffield S1 

2BQ  



This page is intentionally left blank



MCA - MAYORAL COMBINED AUTHORITY BOARD 
 

 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON: 
 
MONDAY, 15 NOVEMBER 2021 AT 10.00 AM 
 
SOUTH YORKSHIRE MAYORAL COMBINED AUTHORITY,  
11 BROAD STREET WEST, SHEFFIELD S1 2BQ 
 

 

 
Present: 
 
Mayor Dan Jarvis MBE (Chair) SCR Mayoral Combined Authority 
Councillor Chris Read (Vice-Chair) Rotherham MBC 
Councillor Terry Fox Sheffield City Council 
Councillor Sir Steve Houghton CBE Barnsley MBC 
Mayor Ros Jones CBE Doncaster MBC 
 
In Attendance: 
  
Dr Ruth Adams Deputy Chief Executive MCA Executive Team 
Helen Kemp Director of Business & Skills MCA Executive Team 
Dr Dave Smith Chief Executive MCA Executive Team 
Martin Swales Interim Director of Transport, Housing, 

Infrastructure and Planning 
MCA Executive Team 

Steve Davenport Principal Solicitor & Monitoring Officer MCA Executive Team 
Gareth Sutton Chief Finance Officer/S73 Officer MCA Executive Team 
Stephen Edwards Executive Director - SYPTE SYPTE 
Felix Kumi-Ampofo Assistant Director Policy and Assurance MCA Executive Team 
Gillian Richards Minute taker  
 
Apologies: 
Councillor Simon Greaves Bassetlaw DC 
Damian Allen Doncaster BMC 
Stephen Batey MCA Mayor's Office 
  
1 Welcome and Apologies 

 
 The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. 

  
There were no apologies. 
 

2 Announcements 
 

 Mayor Jarvis expressed disappointment in the Government Spending Review 
and the available funding announced for the region relative to the scale of what 
was needed. 
 
There had been some positive news – the MCA had secured £570m in 
transport funding which would give the opportunity to begin the transport 
infrastructure work needed to encourage people out of cars and onto the 

Page 7

Agenda Item 10



 

region’s buses, trains and trams. 
 
Levelling up fund submissions in Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield had 
been successful and the £8m of Community Renewal Fund secured, although 
not enough, would be spent on revenue projects. 
 
Despite the ambitious Bus Service Improvement Plan submission, the reduced 
funding which had been allocated to bus improvements was disappointing as 
was the rejection of the MCA’s bus focussed levelling up fund proposal. 
 
Resources were also needed for the region to achieve net zero, and Mayor 
Jarvis expressed disappointment in government’s response to the scale and 
urgency of the challenge. 
 
Despite this, there were reasons to be positive, South Yorkshire had a range of 
translational assets that could put the region at the forefront of the 
technological response to the crisis such as hydrogen generation, nuclear 
fusion and mine water heating, sustainable manufacturing and aviation fuel and 
zero emission transport.  It was vital that the region and the MCA seized all 
available opportunities. 
 

3 Urgent Items 
 

 None. 
 

4 Items to be Considered in the Absence of Public and Press 
 

 None. 
 

5 Voting Rights for Non-constituent Members 
 

 It was noted that Non-Constituent Members were welcome to participate in the 
discussion of every item on the agenda. 
 

6 Declarations of Interest by individual Members in relation to any item of 
business on the agenda 
 

 Mayor Jones and Cllr Fox declared interests in respect of Item 14 with regard 
to schemes in their own council areas. 
 

7 Reports from and questions by members 
 

 None. 
 

8 Receipt of Petitions 
 

 None. 
 

9 Public Questions 
 

 It was noted that two public questions had been received. 
 

Page 8



 

The following question was received from Green New Deal UK. 
 
“The Secretary General of the United Nations has called the climate crisis a 
code red for humanity, and a thundering wake up call.  Can the Mayoral 
Combined Authority look at itself in the mirror and honestly say that the 
ambition, scale and urgency of its current response matches up to this 
assessment?  Professor Sir David King says the next 3-4 years will determine 
the future of humanity.  What plans do intend to develop?  What more is the 
MCA going to do?” 
 
Mayor Jarvis replied that the simple answer to the question was no. 
 
He commented that the global, national, regional and local responses did not 
yet match up to the scale of the crisis but the MCA were acting strongly on 
things within their remit.  They were also looking at everything they did, both so 
that more could be done and so that delivery on net zero was not a niche 
concern but one that ran through all the work of the MCA. 
 
Spending and investments were being reformed so that every penny created 
pressure on partners and clients to do their part to cut their emissions. 
 
The MCA was investing in public transport to get people out of cars and the 
Bus Service Improvement Plan set out an ambitious vision to transform the 
service. 
 
Hundreds of millions of pounds were being invested in an Active Travel Plan 
with the aim of creating a network of 640 miles of walking and cycling routes.  A 
Woodland Creation Officer had been appointed to support ambitions for 
creating woodland and tree planting.  The MCA had also made a strategic 
commitment to natural flood management. 
 
In the next few months, the MCA would be determining the target spend per 
year for the next five years on decarbonisation measures and the principle that 
decarbonisation efforts were embedded across all MCA investment and 
spending. 
 
Mayor Jarvis accepted that there were areas that could and must be improved 
and gave assurances that the MCA would do all that it could within the limits of 
its powers and resources. 
 
The following question was received from South Yorkshire Freedom Riders. 
 
“The self-financing £12 Metro Gold Card in Tyne and Wear has been a great 
success.  It allows ENCT card holders to travel on Metro, the Shields Ferry and 
on Northern Rails services between Newcastle and Sunderland for free.  It has 
health, social, environmental and local economy benefits including a £1m 
surplus from the scheme.  The Freedom Riders previously raised the idea of a 
South Yorkshire Gold Card which would help compensate for the loss of train 
ad travel benefits in 2014.  Are there plans to implement a similar self-financing 
scheme for South Yorkshire’s 300,000 pensioners?  If not, why not?” 
 
 

Page 9



 

In response, Mayor Jarvis commented that it was the MCA’s ambition to 
encourage more people onto public transport and to enable pensioners and 
other groups to be able to travel more easily. 
 
In direct answer to the question, it was worth noting that the situation in South 
Yorkshire was different to the situation in the north east.  In South Yorkshire, 
rail services were predominantly operated by Northern Rail, whereas the Tyne 
and Wear Metro was owned and operated by the authorities in the area. 
 
Officers had been asked to explore with Northern Rail what could be done to 
achieve a similar scheme in South Yorkshire and had been informed that this 
would require the MCA to meet the cost in full at a commercial cost that would 
be far more that the £12 charged on the Metro.  Officers would continue to 
scope whether other arrangements may be possible. 
 
The region’s public transport system was still under enormous pressure and 
reliant on government funding.  Any additional concessions would have to be at 
the expense of other concessions and investment to keep the system afloat.  It 
was the duty of the Mayor, Leaders and MCA to make difficult decisions about 
what was done with the limited resources available. 
 
More than £6m had been allocated to extend support for young people aged 
between 11 and 21 with the introduction of the Zoom Beyond pass and there 
were also a number of concession support schemes for the elderly, including a 
50% discount on Northern Rail and the extension of ENCTS to the Supertram 
network. 
 
Unfortunately, at the moment, without certainty on recovery funding from the 
government it was extremely difficult for any new funding commitments to be 
made although the situation would be kept under review. 
 

10 Minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2021 
 

 RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2021 be 
agreed as a true record. 
 

11 South Yorkshire Enhanced Partnership 
 

 A report was presented which set out the necessary steps required to 
implement the MCA decision to enter into an Enhanced Partnership with Bus 
Operators across South Yorkshire. 
 
The Board was reminded that the government’s National Bus Strategy required 
all local authorities to submit a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) setting 
out ambitious plans to enter statutory arrangements with either an Enhanced 
Partnership or franchising to govern services in its area.  It was noted that 
receipt of future financial support from government was conditional on one of 
these forms of governance being in place. 
 
The MCA had submitted an ambitious BSIP to government on 29 October 2021 
setting out the regions ambitions for bus services and building on the Bus 
Review. 

Page 10



 

 
The paper considered was a technical paper formally moving to the Enhanced 
Partnership process and commencing consultation, firstly with the Bus 
Operators followed by the public in the new year.  The Enhanced Partnership 
Plan was attached at Appendix A. 
 
It was noted that current funding uncertainty precluded agreeing a substantive 
investment programme but there remained the means to vary the scheme in 
the future as further funding became available. 
 
The interventions and operator requirements proposed were set out in 
Appendix B and had been drawn from existing MCA/Operator funding 
commitments. 
 
Cllr Read welcomed the paper and the positive steps being taken.  The BSIP 
set out a number of practical real improvements for bus travellers across South 
Yorkshire and came after a number of tough years since deregulation.  Whilst 
this was not a decision regarding franchising it was about moving forward in the 
right direction and was also a challenge to the Operators to step up to meet the 
ambitions contained within the BSIP. 
 
Mayor Jones also welcomed the paper but stressed the need to see base 
levelling-up.  There was a perception that Doncaster had less bus shelters than 
other regions and the most aged buses in service; this needed addressing. 
 
S Edwards acknowledged the point and commented that the Enhanced 
Partnership Scheme was the first step to address the issues, subject to the 
availability of funding. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Board: 
 
i) Approve the content of the Enhanced Partnership Plan at Appendix A. 
 
ii) Approve the proposed inclusion of the activities outlined in the 

Enhanced Partnership Scheme Summary Table (Appendix B), for formal 
inclusion in the Scheme. 

 
iii) Approve the content of the Enhanced Partnership Scheme at Appendix 

C. 
 
iv) Approve giving Notice to Operators of the proposal to mask an 

Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme. 
 
v) Approve the intention to give public notice and consult on the 
 Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme. 
 

12 2021/22 Budget Revision 2 
 

 A report was considered which provided revised Group budget forecasts to the 
end of the financial year 2021/22, 
 
The report sought formalised approval for the deployment of some highways 

Page 11



 

maintenance funding and the final tranche of the Additional Restrictions Grant.  
 
It also sought approval for officers to accept a debt-cap from HM Treasury 
which represented an in important step in the devolution journey. 
 
The mid-year budget revision exercise, which had been undertaken at the end 
of September 2021, had highlighted a number of notable issues that would 
influence the MCA’s financial position over the remainder of the year, as well as 
planning for the medium term.  These were detailed within the report. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Board: 
 
i) Adopt the revised budget estimates. 
 
ii) Note the slower than forecast pace of the capital programme. 
 
iii) Approve the final distribution of Additional Restrictions Grant funding. 
 
iv) Approve the distribution of the excess Highways Maintenance grants 

received. 
 
v) Consent to borrowing powers for all functions of the MCA and approve 
 the acceptance of the debt-cap of £171m for the year ending March 
 2022. 
 

13 Autumn Budget and Comprehensive Spending Review - Implications for 
the MCA 
 

 The Board considered a report which provided a summary of the recent Budget 
and Spending Review, looking at the impact on South Yorkshire and 
considering the implications for the MCA. 
 
The report contained details of the main funding announcements relevant to the 
MCA which included Transport Investment, the Levelling Up Fund, UK 
Community Renewal Fund and UK Shared Prosperity Fund. 
 
It was felt that, despite some welcome funding announcements, there was a 
clear lack of funding – particularly regional investment – and devolution to 
make levelling up a reality, although it was recognised that the Levelling Up 
White Paper may redeem the situation. 
 
The report also gave details of financial implications for the MCA. 
 
It was felt that the Chancellor opting to impose limits on borrowing for day-to-
day expenditure was significant as it could mean tightening/ongoing scarcity of 
revenue funding for MCA activity. 
 
The Board noted that the government’s successor to EU structural fund (which 
the government had promised to match) only amounted to £1.3bn for the first 
three years compared with c£1.5bn/year from the EU structural funds.  This 
meant that SYMCA was unlikely to receive the funding it needed for the next 
few years. 

Page 12



 

 
Cllr Houghton commented that Barnsley had received nothing from the 
Levelling Up Fund which meant that the borough was in a minus position in 
terms of investment in its communities. 
 
On a wider basis, local government had been promised just over £4bn next 
year which was welcome, but in the subsequent two years the funding was flat.  
In reality, the extra funding would not cover the rising costs of social care and 
children’s services. 
 
Cllr Houghton further commented that the Shared Prosperity Fund, which 
replaced EU funding, had been guaranteed for the three UK nations and 
Cornwall.  South Yorkshire had benefitted substantially in the past from the EU 
funding and would have continued to do so at an increased level given that 
South Yorkshire’s GDP level had fallen below the 75% European average.  He 
suggested that a letter be written to Ministers objecting to the ring fencing for 
certain areas and emphasising the promise made that the previous EU funding 
would be matched and that no-one would be worse off after Brexit.  He also 
suggested that all South Yorkshire MPs be requested to sign the letter. 
 
This was agreed. 
 
Mayor Jones agreed with Cllr Houghton’s points and commented that if the 
distribution of the Community Renewal Fund was to be repeated on the 
allocation of the Shared Prosperity Fund, it would represent a major shift in 
resources to southern England and away from many places in need of levelling 
up. The government needed to be seen to fulfil their promises with regard to 
levelling up. 
 
RESOLVED –That the Board: 
 
i) Note the report. 
 
ii) That a letter be written to Ministers regarding the distribution of the 
 Shared Prosperity Fund as detailed above and that all South Yorkshire 
 MPs be asked to sign the letter. 
 

14 Programme Approvals 
 

 A report was presented which requested the progression of seven schemes, 
early release of development cost funding subject to conditions to be set out in 
the Assurance Summaries and delegated authority to enter into legal 
agreements for the schemes. 
 
The report detailed the results of the assurance processes undertaken on three 
proposed business investment totalling c£12m. 
 
The report also recognised that, whilst all three proposals met the threshold for 
consideration for investment, there was currently insufficient headroom within 
the MCA’s residual LGF allocation to support all proposals.  The report 
requested that the Board approve all proposals on their technical merit, 
consider how the balance of the LGF funding be deployed and consider 

Page 13



 

whether alternative funding could be used to support the balance of proposals, 
for example Gainshare. 
 
Recognising the potential for further investment opportunities to arise by 
January and beyond, the report recommended that the Board authorised 
officers to develop a decision-making framework to support future decisions 
and give officers the licence to discuss more sustainable means of investment 
with prospective applicants beyond grant interventions.  
 
RESOLVED – That the Board approve: 
 
i) Progression of “D0004 – R&D 2025” to full approval and award of £4.8m 

grant to a Sheffield based company subject to funding being available and 
the conditions set out in the Assurance Summary at Appendix A1. 

 
ii) Progression of “D0011 – Manufacturing, Research and Development” to 

full approval and award £2m grant and £3.2m loan to a company looking 
to locate in South Yorkshire, subject to funding being available and the 
conditions set out in the Assurance Statement at Appendix A2. 

 
iii) Progression of “D0003 – Accelerate” to full approval and award of £1.98m 

grant to a Rotherham based company, subject to funding being available 
and the conditions set out in the Assurance Statement at Appendix A3. 

 
iv) Progression of “West Doncaster Active Travel” from OBC to FBC and 

release of development cost funding up to £0.05m to Doncaster Borough 
Council, subject to the conditions set out in the Assurance Summary 
attached at Appendix B1. 

 
v) Progression of “050 Sheaf Valley Route” from OBC to FBC and release of 

development cost funding of up to £0.05m to Sheffield City Council, 
subject to the conditions set out in the Assurance Summary attached at 
Appendix B2. 

 
vi) Progression of “City Centre to Attercliffe and Darnall Active Travel” from 

OBC to FBC and release of development cost funding up to £1.2m to 
Sheffield City Council subject to the conditions in the Assurance Summary 
attached at Appendix B3. 

 
vii) Progression of “Park Hill Phase 4” project from OBC to FBC to Sheffield 

City Council subject to the conditions set out in the Assurance Summary 
attached at Appendix B4. 

 
viii) Commitment of Gainshare funding to support schemes 1-3 presented that 

cannot be progressed from the residual LGF allocation. 
 
ix) Development of a decision-making framework to support consideration of 

future investments. 
 
x) Delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in consultation 

with the Section 73 and monitoring officer to enter into legal agreements 
for the schemes covered above, subject to funding being available. 

Page 14



 

15 Integration Update 
 

 A report was submitted which provided an update on the programme of activity 
being undertaken to create a single integrated MCA organisation able to 
respond to the challenges and opportunities for South Yorkshire. 
 
The report set out the timescales that were being worked to, to achieve a fully 
integrated executive by the end of financial year.  It was noted that the timing of 
the Order to dissolve the PTE was a decision of government and there was 
potential for a delay.  However, planning was due to commence to ensure that 
if the Order was not passed in time, the integration could largely be enacted 
with some minor workarounds due to the PTE legally remaining. 
 
Section 2.2 of the report outlined the activity undertaken to date and the report 
also contained details of the next steps that were in immediate focus. 
 
Section 2.4 outlined the governance arrangements around the integration 
process particularly the role of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and its 
Advisory Panel to scrutinise the plan and associated risks. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Board approve the update on the integration process as 
set out in the report. 
 

16 Delegated Authority Report 
 

 A report was considered which updated the Mayoral Combined Authority on: 
 

 Decisions and delegations made by the MCA. 

 Decisions and delegations made by Thematic Boards. 
 
RESOLVED – That Members noted the decisions and delegations made. 
 

 
I, the undersigned, confirm that this is a true and accurate record of the meeting. 
 
Signed  

 
Name 

 

 
Position 

 

 
Date 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

24 January 2022 
 

Options to Support the Delivery of the Region’s BSIP 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Purpose of this report: 
 

Policy Decision 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   Yes 
 
Has it been included on the                    Yes 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Stephen Edwards, Executive Director (SYPTE) 
 
Report Author(s): 
Pat Beijer 
pat.beijer@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
This report sets out the process to formally assess bus franchising as an option to deliver the 
Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP). It recommends that the Constituent Local authorities 
consider the matter ahead of an additional MCA meeting in early March 2022 to determine 
whether to issue the notice of intention to prepare an assessment of a proposed franchising 
scheme in accordance with S.123C of the Transport Act 2000.  
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
The process of assessing a franchising scheme would enable the MCA to fully consider 
whether a bus franchising scheme would be the preferred model to support the delivery of the 
MCA’s ambitions for the bus service network in South Yorkshire, as set out in its Bus Service 
Improvement Plan.  
 
Given the time required to complete a franchising assessment, the work to establish and 
implement the Enhanced Partnership between the MCA and bus operators continues, as 
approved by the MCA on 15 November 2021. 
 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 11



Recommendations   
It is recommended that the Board: 
 

a) Consider the content of this report ahead of an additional MCA meeting in early March 
2022, when the Board will determine whether to issue the notice of intention to prepare 
an assessment of a proposed franchising scheme in accordance with S.123C of the 
Transport Act 2000.  

 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
Mayoral Combined Authority Board 15 November 2021 
Transport and the Environment Board 21 October 2021 
  

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 The National Bus Strategy guidance issued by the DfT, set out the requirement for 

MCAs and Local Authorities (LAs) to enter into an Enhanced Partnership to access 
BSIP funding.  

  
1.2 The MCA submitted an ambitious Bus Services Improvement Plan (BSIP) to the 

Government on 29 October 2021. The MCA of 15 November 2021 approved the 
issuing of a notice to operators of the proposal to make an Enhanced Partnership 
Plan and Scheme and enter into a period of statutory consultation with operators of 
qualifying local bus services, followed by a period of public consultation.  

  
1.3 The initial BSIP submitted to the DfT on 29 October 2021 left consideration of an 

alternative delivery model of franchising open as an option. It stated: 
 
“The Enhanced Partnership was agreed by the MCA as the most appropriate 
means of delivering the initial set of activities contained within this Initial BSIP as 
well as enabling access to future funding. The intention is for the Enhanced 
Partnership to be in operation for a five year period from April 2022, matching the 
multi-year funding allocation through the CRSTS, albeit noting that there is a 
requirement to refresh the BSIP on an annual basis. However, it is not the only 
delivery model available to the Mayor and the MCA for all of the prioritised activities 
contained within this Initial BSIP. The prioritised activities within this document will 
also be used to undertake an initial assessment of the legal, financial and technical 
aspects of a number of future delivery models, including franchising, so that a clear 
preference can be identified as to the most appropriate mechanism to secure the 
required improvements beyond the proposed Enhanced Partnership.”  

  
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 There are significant operational challenges ahead and prior to a franchising 

assessment and subsequent steps could be completed. These issues are not 
specific to any particular model of bus governance and will need to be considered 
whichever approach is taken. 
 

• Likely reduction/ending of government Covid subsidy support for buses 
• Passenger recovery to pre-COVID levels is expected to take several years 
• Significant cost inflation pressures within the system (salaries, fuel, fare 

rises, etc) 

Page 18



 
The combination of these issues is likely to place pressure on the level of services 
operated in South Yorkshire without additional public funding support. The 
implications of any changes to services will need to be reflected in the assessment 
process.  
  

3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 Option 1 
 Consider the content of this report ahead of an additional MCA meeting in early 

March 2022, when the Board will determine whether to issue the notice of intention 
to prepare an assessment of a proposed franchising scheme in accordance with 
S.123C of the Transport Act 2000. 

  
3.2 Option 1 Risks and Mitigations 
 This approach will assess whether a franchising scheme could deliver additional 

benefits over an Enhanced Partnership and the resources required to realise these 
benefits. This would enable the MCA to make an informed decision on the best 
model for future governance of bus services in South Yorkshire (noting that getting 
to a point of implementing franchising could take 4 or 5 years and the franchising 
process can technically be stopped at each of the stages of the overall process – 
See Annex A for steps and timelines).  

  
3.3 Recommended Option 
 Option 1 
  
4. Consultation on Proposal 
  
4.1 The approvals sought here do not give rise to starting a formal consultation 

process.  
  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
5.1 If the MCA decide to progress the assessment of franchising at an additional MCA 

meeting, the indicative timeline for Issuing a Notice is within 1 month of the 
decision having been made and it would take around 12 months for the 
assessment to be completed (see appendix A). 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice 

  
6.1 The costs of the assessment exercise are forecast to be in the region of £3m. 

These costs are not currently budgeted in-year nor in longer-term forecasts. To 
complete the franchising activity, it is forecast that a further £2m of resource would 
be required. 
 
Should the Board wish to proceed with the assessment exercise the costs would, in 
the first instance, need to be underwritten from reserves. Allocating reserves to the 
activity would reduce the MCA’s financial resilience in the context of known risks 
and pressures that are likely to crystallise in the new financial year. 
 
 

  

Page 19



7. Legal Implications and Advice 
  
7.1 Section 123B requires an authority that proposes to make a franchising scheme 

covering the whole or any part of their area to prepare an assessment of the 
proposed scheme. Before it can undertake an assessment that authority must 
publish, in such manner as they consider appropriate, a notice stating that they 
intend to prepare such an assessment. In undertaking the assessment, the 
authority would have to comply with the provisions of s.123B and any statutory 
guidance issued. 

  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 

 
8.1 None as a consequence of this report. 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 None as a consequence of this report. 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 The Initial BSIP/Enhanced Partnership Plan sets out the scale of change required 

to meet the region’s net zero targets by 2040. Transport represents 39% of the 
region’s carbon footprint as well as being a large contributor to poor air quality in 
our urban centres, whilst zero emission buses will not on their own meet our 
reduction targets, a clean and reliable public transport system is vital in achieving 
the required modal shift from private cars. 

 
At present the region does not have any zero emission buses and the BSIP 
identifies the trajectory, costs and initial projects that could begin the transition from 
diesel to alternative fuels – some of these initial projects are included in the initial 
Enhanced Partnership Scheme and these could be transferred to a Franchising 
Scheme.  

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 None as a consequence of this report. 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice 

 
12.1 If a decision is made to audit the franchising assessment and make a Franchising 

Scheme, there will be a period of public consultation in late 2023 or early 2024 
following a period of statutory consultation with bus operators, which will require 
the support of the Communication and Marketing teams.  
 
Further resource will be required to support the public consultation phase of the 
activity to drive engagement and participation.  
 
 

List of Appendices Included  
 
A Steps and likely timeline of the franchising process  
 

Page 20



Background Papers 
South Yorkshire Bus Service Improvement Plan (Initial Version) – October 2021 
https://southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk/explore/transport  
  
  

 

Page 21

https://southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk/explore/transport


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A - Steps and likely timeline of the franchising process 

 

Key steps Date Likely time 

(months) 

1 - Initial Technical, Legal and Financial Evaluation  Complete 6 

2 - Notice of Intention to Proceed 
 

1 

3 - Prepare Assessment of Proposed Franchising Scheme  
 

12 

4 - Independent Audit of the Proposed Franchising Scheme 
 

4 

5 - Formal Consultation on the Proposed Franchising Scheme 
 

3 

6 - Consideration of Consultation Responses and Mayoral Decision 
 

3 

7 - Making the Franchising Scheme 
 

1 

8 – Transition period and implementation 
 

18 

OVERALL ESTIMATES 
 

48 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

24 January 2022 
 

Gateway East Economic Blueprint Delivery Model  
 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Reason why exempt:   
( 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Policy Decision 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   Yes 
 
Has it been included on the                    Yes 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Martin Swales, Interim Director of Transport, Housing and Infrastructure 
 
Report Author(s): 
Colin Blackburn, Assistant Director Housing & Infrastructure 
Colin.Blackburn@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 
 

Matt Bartle, Senior Programme Manager Strategic Development 
Matt.Bartle@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk 
 
 

 
Executive Summary 
The purpose of this paper is to consider and seek approval for the creation of a Strategic 
Partnership delivery model, to oversee delivery of the Gateway East Economic Blueprint 
development proposals. 
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
The creation of the preferred delivery model, a Strategic Partnership, will seek to enable 
development of Gateway East opportunities to be accelerated.  It will bring together partners to 
optimise economic and inward investment opportunities for the benefit of both Gateway East 
development and the wider South Yorkshire region. 
 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Colin.Blackburn@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk
mailto:Matt.Bartle@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk


Recommendations   
The Board are asked to: 
 

• Approve a recommendation to form a Strategic Partnership governance and delivery 
model to accelerate the practical delivery of Gateway East. 

 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
South Yorkshire Chief Executives  25 November 2021 
  

 
1.      Background  
  
1.1 
 

 

Gateway East is one of eight Growth Areas identified in the current Strategic 
Economic Plan (SEP).  An Economic Blueprint for Gateway East was approved by 
the Local Enterprise Partnership in July 2020. 

  
1.2 The Blueprint provides a roadmap for developing the Gateway East Innovation 

District Project, which is focused around five themes comprising: 
 
1) Develop a high value innovation cluster  
2) Sustainability 
3) Connectivity  
4) Land and development  
5) Airside Growth  

  
1.3 An interim Shadow Board was established in late 2020 to progress implementation 

of the Blueprint with an initial task to consider the governance and delivery options 
necessary to oversee development and delivery activity. The Board commissioned 
the consultant Deloitte to undertake and support governance and delivery options 
evaluation work; the outcome of which recommends establishing a Strategic 
Partnership as the preferred option. 

  
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 The Shadow Board comprises senior representatives from Doncaster Sheffield 

Airport, DSA landowner Peel Ltd, the MCA Executive and Doncaster MBC.   
  

2.2 The purpose of the Deloitte commission was to consider the model options to best 
support and accelerate delivery of Gateway East. It was also to position the 
opportunity for local, regional and Central Government support and enable joint 
working arrangements between partners to accelerate delivery and maximise 
cumulative economic benefits and inward investment opportunities for the Region. 

  

2.3 A range of options were considered and appraised, ranging from the current 
Shadow Board informal arrangements to an Urban Development Corporation 
established through an Act of Parliament.   

  

2.4 The report concluded that there are two possible preferred governance and delivery 
models as noted below.  The respective strengths and weaknesses of each are set 
out in the report: 
 

Page 26



1. Strategic Partnership 
2. Mayoral Development Corporation ‘Lite’ 

  

2.5 Following consideration of the options report by the Shadow Board and its 
representatives, the recommended option is to establish a Strategic Partnership to 
support delivery of the outcomes and ambitions set out in the Economic Blueprint.  
The key reasons for this include: 

 

• It can be set up quickly as it is not a legal entity and does not require 
legislation; instead it simply requires approval by the requisite partners as it is a 
voluntary Partnership. 

 

• It is an evolution and formalisation of current arrangements but offers flexibility 
to allow further adaptation in the future should strategic priorities suggest there 
could be benefits - such changes would need to be agreed by all partners. 

 

• More specific delivery sub-models could subsequently be adopted for individual 
projects. 

 

• It does not require significant additional resources to manage the Partnership 
but will need partners to contribute to ensuring the Partnership is successful in 
progressing delivery. 

 

• It provides an entity for stronger public and private sector joint working and for 
adopting shared positions on strategic priorities for policy and investment. 

  

3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 Option 1 
 This option is to approve the recommendation to establish a Strategic Partnership. 
  
3.2 Option 1 Risks and Mitigations    
 Paragraph 2.5 above sets out the proposed benefits of this option, which will 

enable a smooth transition from the existing interim arrangements in a short time 
period.  It is not proposed that any MCA powers are devolved to the Partnership, 
and any future additional MCA funding requests to support the delivery of the 
Economic Blueprint priorities and projects would be submitted through the usual 
MCA finance and assurance processes. 
 

3.3 Option 2 
 This would be to either select another governance and delivery option or to 

continue with the current Shadow Board arrangements. 
  
3.4 Option 2 Risks and Mitigations  
 The other options considered in the commission will require additional resources 

(some very significant) to set up and operate, as well as requiring legal agreements 
and legislative approval. They would therefore take much longer to establish, 
diverting attention and effort from development and project delivery.  Continuing the 
current Shadow Board arrangements, which were put in place as a temporary 
measure, may weaken the commitment of partners and may demonstrate a lack of 
commitment to future public and private sector funders.  
 

Page 27



3.5 
 

Recommended Option  
Option 1 is the preferred option that is recommended.  
 

4. Consultation on Proposal  
4.1 The governance and delivery options commission has been overseen by the 

Gateway East Shadow Board.  The South Yorkshire Chief Executives considered 
the proposals on the 25th November 2021 and supported the recommendation to 
establish a Strategic Partnership.  

  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
5.1 The intention is to implement the new arrangements as soon as possible following 

approval by the MCA and partners on the current Shadow Board. 
  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
6.1 Establishing the Strategic Partnership would not require additional funding for its 

operation over and above commitment of time of partner representatives to deliver 
the objectives and attend meetings/undertake governance roles. The support roles 
of the MCA can be undertaken within existing MCA Executive resources. There 
may be future funding requests to support research or projects, and any such calls 
would be dealt with in accordance with the usual MCA finance and assurance 
processes. 

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
7.1 The Strategic Partnership model is not a legal entity so no legal agreements will be 

necessary beyond MCA approval. 
  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
8.1 None as a result of this paper. 

 
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
9.1 The proposals and delivery of the Economic Blueprint priorities and ambitions will 

be developed in accordance with the MCAs commitment to Equality and Diversity. 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
10.1 The Economic Blueprint and associated policy including the Airport masterplan and 

the Doncaster Local Plan as it relates to Gateway East, includes a range of 
proposals to develop in a sustainable way that supports net zero ambitions. 

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
11.1 None as a direct result of this paper. 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   
12.1 An approach to marketing Gateway East as a result of the MCA approving a 

Strategic Partnership will be agreed with relevant stakeholders, in line with the 
MCA’s wider communications and marketing strategy.  Appropriate resourcing and 
clear responsibilities will need to be established as part of this discussion. 
 

List of Appendices Included 
 None  

Background Papers 
 None 

 

Page 28



 

Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

24 January 2022 
 

The Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission Action Plan  
 
Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   No 
 
Has it been included on the                    Not a Key Decision 
Forward Plan? 
 
 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Martin Swales, Interim Director of Transport, Infrastructure and Housing  
 
Report Author(s): 
Richard Sulley 
Richard.sulley@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 
 
Executive Summary 
This report presents the Climate Action Plan that has been prepared and published by the 
Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission. The Commission published the Yorkshire and 
Humber Climate Action Plan in November 2021. The Action Plan calls for meaningful climate 
leadership from larger institutions in government and the public and private sectors to deliver 
“significant, tangible contributions” to help tackle the climate and ecological emergency. 
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
Climate change is impacting our homes and communities, our infrastructure, our agriculture, 
our water supplies, and our natural environment in South Yorkshire, and it will do so with 
increasing frequency and intensity in the years ahead. The impacts to our society and our 
economy will be profound. We all have a role to play and both co-operation on use of resources 
and collaboration at regional level will be of great benefit. 
 
 
Recommendations   
Members of the MCA Board are asked to note the YHCC action plan’s publication, and the 
ongoing work to assess its alignment to local plans. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 13



 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
None  
 

 

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 The Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission (YHCC) is an independent 

advisory body set up to bring key partners from the public, private and third sectors 
together to support and guide ambitious climate actions across the region.  
The Commission has four inter-related aims: 

• to foster climate resilience and adaptation to climate risks and impacts. 
• to support rapid progress towards net zero carbon emissions. 
• to encourage a just and inclusive transition and climate actions that leave no-

one and nowhere behind. 
• to promote sustainability and climate actions that also protect nature and 

biodiversity. 
  
1.2 The Commission published the Yorkshire and Humber Climate Action Plan on 

Wednesday 10 November 2021. The document was developed by the Yorkshire 
and Humber Climate Commission with the help of more than 500 people from 
across the region. 

  
1.3 It was presented at the Yorkshire Post Climate Change Summit in Leeds, also on 

Wednesday 10 November 2021. The event can be watched online via the Summit 
website. 

  
1.4 The Action Plan calls for meaningful climate leadership from larger institutions in 

government and the public and private sectors to deliver “significant, tangible 
contributions” to help tackle the climate and ecological emergency. 
Fostering shared responsibility, moving from targets and planning to action, and 
putting climate and nature at the heart of all areas of decision making are three of 
the key recommendations from the Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission, 
which also commits to undertake a range of ambitious actions. 

  
1.5 The Action Plan stresses the need for Yorkshire and Humber to be “climate ready” 

to face increasing risks from climate change, stating that not acting with the 
required urgency and ambition will both prolong the region’s contribution to the 
problem and worsen local impacts. 

  
1.6 The Plan consists of 50 distinct actions split into 3 broad themes: 

 A Framework for Change 
 Climate Resilience,  
 Net Zero. 

  
1.7  Following initial feedback, a more detailed exercise is underway to assess 

alignment of the YHCC plan to existing local plans. This exercise will be led by the 
Yorkshire and Humber Leaders group who aim to identify which of each of the 50 
actions are already embedded within existing local strategies, plans and delivery 
programmes. 

  
  

Page 30



List of Appendices Included 
 
A Yorkshire and Humber Climate Action Plan 
     

  
  

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



YORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

Appendix A 

Page 33



The Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission 
is an independent advisory body that was set 
up to support ambitious climate action across 
the Yorkshire and Humber region. This Climate 
Action Plan is the Commission’s first output.

The Climate Action Plan was co-created by our 43 Commissioners – 
all climate leaders from across the public, private and third sectors in 
Yorkshire and the Humber – with members of our Net Zero and Climate 
Resilience working groups and with input from our standing panels. 

An intensive three-week consultation phase included 11 
sessions with stakeholders and members of the public, 
two evening events, meetings with local authority officers 
and members, an event with parliamentarians, and an 
online survey. In total, over 500 people took part.

This action plan is for all of us in Yorkshire and the Humber, 
so we want you to help us to grow the conversation 
– and make sure everyone gets involved!

Keep in touch:  
www.yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/keep-touch

Email us: 
info@yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk

Our website: 
www.yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/

Follow us on Twitter: 
@YHClimateCom

How to cite this report
For academic purposes please cite this report as:
Gouldson A, Harcourt R, Lock K, Duncan A and Sudmant A (2021) 
Yorkshire and Humber Climate Action Plan, Yorkshire and Humber 
Climate Commission and ESRC Place-based Climate Action Network.

The Yorkshire and Humber Climate Action Plan was published 
on 10 November 2021 and launched at the Yorkshire Post 
Climate Change Summit at Leeds’ Royal Armouries Museum.

8  Executive Summary 

14  Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission

16  Introduction

20  A Framework for Change

36  Climate Resilience

  40  People and Communities, Health and Wellbeing

  43  Land, Water, Nature and Food

  46  Business, Industry and Infrastructure

  49  Emergency Preparedness and Response

52  Net Zero

  57  Targets

  60  Energy

  64  Buildings

  67  Transport

  70   Business, Industry and Infrastructure

  73   Land Use and Nature

  76  Resource Efficiency and the Circular Economy

  79   Lifestyles and Consumption

84   Specific Actions for the Yorkshire and 
Humber Climate Commission

88   Appendix 1:  
Proposed Actions for the Region

96   Appendix 2:  
Footnotes

99   Appendix 3: 
Commissioners’ Organisations

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

3

P
age 34

https://twitter.com/YHClimateCo


Statement 
of Support 
from 
Yorkshire 
Leaders 
Board

As the largest Commission of its kind in the country, 
the Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission is 
well positioned to unite every corner of our region 
and give us a louder, clearer, and independent 
voice to identify and secure the changes needed 
to respond to our changing climate. 

In developing this regional 
action plan, the Commission 
has demonstrated its unique 
value – bringing together 
politicians, sector leaders, 
scientific experts and residents 
to collaboratively create solutions 
right for our area. It is a positive, 
comprehensive and constructive 
set of recommendations that 
will provide useful strategic 
foundations that local areas 
can now build upon. 
 
Climate change is not a remote 
or distant issue. Many of our 
communities have already 
experienced extreme weather in 
recent years. In time, every corner 
of Yorkshire and Humber will be 
directly or indirectly impacted 
by the changing environment to 
some degree. The Commission’s 
recommendations on how our 
region can adapt are therefore an 
extremely important contribution.
 
Yorkshire and Humber has 
already begun a journey to 
transition towards a net zero 
economy. Green jobs are already 
being created and investment 
secured in low carbon industries. 
The transition to a carbon neutral 
economy will be transformative, 
and sometimes challenging, 
but it has great potential to 
create unprecedented economic 
opportunities and improve 
the quality of life for all of our 
residents. By continuing to lead 
the way, we believe that our 

region will be best placed to 
capitalise on these opportunities.

Whatever commitments are 
made at COP26 in Glasgow 
in November 2021, we believe 
that local leaders know their 
communities best and will play an 
essential role if big ambitions are 
to be fully realised on the ground.
 
The UK has set historic targets 
to cut our nation’s emissions. 
Not only does our region support 
these targets, we have set even 
more ambitious goals that will 
ultimately help the country as 
a whole to achieve its legal 
commitments and prevent the 
worst impacts of global warming. 
We now have a detailed action 
plan outlining exactly what 
is required to do that. Going 
forward, we will work together 
to build the support from our 
communities, businesses 
and national government 
that will be vital to make all 
of these actions possible. 
 
Councillor Carl Les
Leader
North Yorkshire County Council

Councillor Sir Stephen Houghton 
CBE 
Leader  
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council

Co-chairs  
Yorkshire Leaders Board

Foreword 
Liz Barber

The publication of this action plan is a significant first 
step for the Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission 
and it follows a really refreshing consultation with a  
wide range of stakeholders right across the region.  
This consultation has drawn on the diversity of the 
Commission’s membership and we have really benefitted 
from the range of perspectives that we have within the 
Commission. I am sure that this diversity will continue 
to be a real strength as we continue with our work.

We have also held public consultation meetings and we 
know that a crucial part of our mission is to effectively 
engage with the public in all sections of the community 
as we seek to build consensus around the challenge 
we face to achieve net zero and adapt and mitigate.

Of all the actions set out in the plan, the one that 
is most important to me is our commitment to 
achieve a just transition. We know all too well that 
climate change impacts more on disadvantaged 
communities and it is critical that we make sure 
that our efforts to adapt and reach our objectives 
reduce rather than exacerbate existing inequalities. 

I would like to thank all members of the 
Commission for the work that they have put in to 
deliver this important milestone and in particular 
the chairs of our Working Groups who have 
helped to lead the development of this plan. 

I hope you find the plan interesting and useful.  
It is not intended to be a fixed document but will 
adapt and change as the Commission develops and 
gets further engaged in its work. We have already 
had a lot of feedback as the plan has been put 
together but we would certainly welcome more.

Liz Barber
Chair, Yorkshire & Humber Climate Commission 
CEO Yorkshire Water

5

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER— STATEMENT OF SUPPORT AND FOREWORD

P
age 35



Principles of the Yorkshire and 
Humber Climate Action Plan

Build resilience

We must protect our homes and 
communities, our water, energy, 
transport and communications 
infrastructure, our farming and 
food systems, and our nature and 
biodiversity from climate impacts.

Do our bit

As a region, our 
population is larger 
than some countries! 
We all have a role 
to play and there is 
much to be gained 
from collaboration 
across the region.

Act like it’s an 
emergency

We’re perilously 
close to the point at 
which we will trigger 
dangerous climate 
change. This will 
bring more extreme 
weather events, sea 
level rise and loss 
of low-lying areas 
and disruptions to 
food, water and 
nature. The knock-on 
impacts to society 
and the economy 
will be profound.

Cut emissions rapidly

This involves continuing the rapid 
expansion of renewable energy,  
investing in smart energy grids,  
and upgrading our homes, buildings, 
businesses and transport systems 
to reduce their energy demand.

Make it fair

Climate actions 
should help us tackle 
inequalities and not 
exacerbate them or 
create new ones. 
This is especially 
the case when it 
comes to jobs.

Work with nature

As well as cutting carbon emissions, 
we need to promote nature-based 
solutions that help tackle the climate 
crisis by protecting and restoring 
the nature that we all depend on. 

Invest in our future

We need to invest 
1% of our income to 
tackle climate change. 
Investing could cut our 
regional energy bill by 
£2.4 billion a year and 
create 33,000 years 
of new employment. 

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

7

SCHOOL

P
age 36



Why is this a climate and ecological emergency?
The science is absolutely compelling – climate change 
is a massive issue that will shape our future in multiple 
ways for many decades to come; whether that be in 
Yorkshire, across the UK or elsewhere in the world. 

G lobal average surface 
temperatures are now 
1.1°C higher than pre-

industrial levels. If we hit 1.5°C  
we could trigger natural 
feedback loops that will lead 
to more and more warming. 
After this point, we are into 
the realm of dangerous or 
runaway climate change. 

At the global scale, if we carry on 
emitting carbon1 at current rates, 
we will have locked ourselves into 
more than 1.5°C of warming by 
2030 or soon after. Within the 
Yorkshire and Humber region,  
we will have used our share 
of the global carbon budget 
consistent with having a good 
chance2 of staying within 1.5°C 
of warming within six years. 

We can only address the climate 
crisis by also addressing 
the ecological crisis that is 
seeing the degradation of 
nature and biodiversity. 

As we seek to cut our carbon 
emissions and increase our 
resilience we also have to protect 
and enhance our natural areas 
and promote nature-based 
solutions wherever possible.

This is why we are completely 
justified in calling this a climate 
and ecological emergency. 
We need to accept this and 
respond with an appropriate 
level of urgency and ambition.

Developing an effective response 
is massively challenging, 
but in responding to climate 
change we also have the 
opportunity improve our 
houses, communities, transport, 
businesses, infrastructure, food 
and farming, green spaces, 
nature and wider society. 

Crucially, by responding to 
climate change we can protect 
existing jobs and create 
good quality new jobs. 

What should we be aiming for? 
As a region, we have a target 
of reaching net zero3 carbon 
emissions by 2038, with 
significant progress being 
achieved by 2030. The regional 
target is broadly in line with 
science-based targets4, but 
we propose that it should be 
expanded to include aviation 
and shipping emissions, and 
that we should introduce five-
yearly carbon budgets to better 
enable us to track progress. 

This action plan recommends 
that we should build on the 
44% reduction in our 2000 
level of direct emissions5 that 
we have already achieved by 
including aviation and shipping 
emissions and committing to a 
68% reduction on our 2000 level 
of emissions by 2025, an 84% 
reduction by 2030, and a 92% 
reduction by 2035 on our way 
to a 100% reduction by 2038.

With clear targets, we then 
urgently need to shift on to the 
question of how to develop 
a framework for change that 
enables us to build our readiness 
and resilience to ongoing climate 
change while also rapidly 
decarbonising and ensuring that 
at all points our actions are both 
fair and more broadly sustainable. 

We can only 
address 
the climate 
crisis by also 
addressing 
the ecological 
crisis.”

TAKE 
ACTION 
NOW

9

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER— EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

P
age 37



A framework for change
Climate change is a cross-cutting issue that impacts on, and demands a response 
from all aspects of our society and economy. We can’t address the climate and 
ecological crises if important linked issues are left on the sidelines. We therefore need 
a framework for change that builds capacities and promotes meaningful action across 
the region. Our action plan sets this out through a series of 13 recommendations.

A cross-cutting framework for change should:

•  Acknowledge that the climate 
and ecological emergency is real 
and accept we need to respond 
with urgency and ambition.

• Develop a positive vision that shows 
how ambitious action on climate 
and nature can make Yorkshire 
and Humber a happier, healthier, 
fairer and more prosperous place. 

• Move from targets and planning 
to action by focusing on the 
real-world delivery of ambitious, 
accelerated change. 

• Commit to a just transition that 
ensures climate actions actively 
reduce existing inequalities and 
empower and enable all people 
from across the region.

• Foster shared responsibility 
by recognising that we can 
achieve so much more when we 
all act together, but whilst also 
acknowledging the need for our 
larger institutions to lead the way. 

• Act in a joined up way by putting 
climate and nature at the heart of 
all major strategic, policy, planning 
and investment decisions. 

• Advance education and engagement 
by integrating climate and nature 
into the curriculum in schools, 
colleges and universities, and 
by promoting climate outreach 
and carbon literacy.

•  Improve skills and create jobs by 
creating good quality new jobs in 
the green economy, supporting 
existing employers and employees 
to adapt, and by developing 
climate related training. 

• Accelerate investment by building 
a climate and nature financing 
platform that helps to develop 
new projects and programmes 
and to connect them to new forms 
of finance and investment. 

• Foster collaboration and innovation 
by sharing/pooling resources 
and by stimulating innovation so 
that best practice can develop 
and spread across the region. 

• Protect and restore the natural 
and ecological systems that we 
depend upon by supporting the 
sustainable management of key 
natural assets and the adoption 
of nature-based solutions. 

• Rethink how we measure progress 
by developing a sustainable 
progress index for the region 
and by developing a regional 
climate observatory to support 
and track our progress. 

• Connect with national government 
to make sure we have support and 
clear, stable national policies to 
enable ambitious regional action.

Building climate readiness and resilience
We are already feeling the impacts of climate change with more regularity and with increased 
severity – and even if we rapidly reduce our carbon emissions, more climate impacts are still 
“locked in” (because of the length of time carbon dioxide persists in the atmosphere). So, 
we need to invest in our readiness and resilience by protecting our homes and communities, 
our water, energy, transport and communications infrastructure, our farming and food 
systems, our nature and biodiversity. All of these aspects of resilience are central to our 
future health and wellbeing. Our climate action plan identifies the following 15 key priorities.

To address climate risks and enhance our 
readiness and resilience, we need to:

• Develop better climate risk communications.

• Promote inclusive climate decision making and the co-creation of solutions.

• Encourage the wider adoption of area-wide and site-
specific climate adaptation plans.

• Promote resilience actions that offer health, wellbeing and community benefits.

• Promote resilience in land use by restoring and enhancing 
the region’s many key natural assets.

• Prepare the food and farming sector for current and future changes.

• Promote nature-based solutions and the development 
of blue-green resilient infrastructure.

• Promote climate resilience in business and industry.

• Develop a regional network for climate readiness and resilience training.

• Align all infrastructure sectors to deliver a regional systems approach.

• Invest in digital infrastructure.

• Build climate readiness though improved emergency and recovery planning.

• Develop a whole of society approach to emergency response.

• Promote the provision and uptake of affordable, comprehensive flood insurance.

•  Strengthen plans for the long-term management of 
change and loss caused by sea level rise.

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

11

— EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

P
age 38



Reaching Net Zero 
We need to cut our carbon emissions rapidly to have a chance of meeting our 2038 net zero 
target. Doing this involves continuing the rapid expansion of renewable energy sources,  
investing in smart energy grids, and upgrading our homes, buildings, businesses and transport 
systems to reduce their energy demand. We also need to address our wider carbon footprint  
by switching to a resource efficient, circular economy and by rethinking consumption in key 
areas such as food, fashion and flying. Our action plan makes 22 recommendations on net zero.

To achieve our net zero targets we need to:

• Build on our current targets by incorporating aviation and 
shipping and adopting 5-yearly carbon budgets. 

• Put the primary emphasis on reducing energy demand. 

• Introduce smart and flexible energy networks. 

• Support the greatly accelerated decarbonisation of energy supply. 

• Promote significant expansions in community 
energy and distributed renewables. 

•  Deliver ambitious retrofit for housing. 

• Deliver ambitious retrofit and active energy management 
for public and commercial buildings.

• Explore ways to better address climate objectives in 
heritage buildings and conservation areas. 

• Minimise the impact and maximise the contribution of new developments. 

• Promote public transport.

• Enable active travel. 

• Minimise the need for private car ownership.

• Support low emission vehicles. 

• Minimise the impacts of aviation. 

• Focus on greening the region’s economy. 

• Support net zero transitions in existing businesses. 

• Support net zero agriculture and food production. 

• Support net zero infrastructure. 

• Promote changes in planning. 

• Promote net zero in land use. 

• Promote resource efficiency/waste management and the circular economy. 

• Promote sustainable production, consumption and lifestyles.

What will the Yorkshire 
and Humber Climate 
Commission do to help?
The Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission was established 
to build our capacity for ambitious, inclusive action on climate and 
nature. It has already brought people and organisations from across 
the region together. This action plan is the result of a huge amount of 
collaboration, consultation and co-production over the last few months. 

To play its part in the delivery of this action plan, over the next two 
and half years the Commission will continue to foster collaboration 
and to mobilise resources to enable it to support, guide and track 
ambitious actions on climate and nature in a fair and sustainable way. 

Specific actions that the Commission will seek to take forward  
are in the final section of this report. They include establishing  
a Climate Leaders’ Pledge, a Climate Leadership Programme,  
a Citizens’ Forum and a Climate Finance Platform, and developing 
a just transition plan and a nature-based solutions strategy.

Footnotes for 
Executive Summary 

1  For simplicity, we use 
the term “carbon” to 
refer to emissions of 
carbon dioxide and 
other greenhouse gases.

2  Defined as a 66% 
chance of limiting 
average global 
surface temperature 
warming to 1.5oC – see 
Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change 
(2018) Global Warming 
of 1.5oC, Special 
Report from the IPCC.

3  Achieving net zero 
means not emitting 
more carbon dioxide 
and other greenhouse 
gases (GHGs) into the 
atmosphere than can 
be removed, mainly 
through photosynthesis 
but potentially also 
through carbon 
capture utilisation and 
storage (CCUS).

4  Set by dividing the 
global carbon budget 
consistent with having a 
66% chance of limiting 
average global surface 
level temperature 
increase to 1.5oC on  
a per capita basis.

5  Scope 1 and 2 
direct emissions.

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

13

— EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

P
age 39



The Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission is an independent 
advisory body that has brought together a wide range of public, private 
and third sector actors to support, guide and track the delivery of an 
ambitious climate action plan across the Yorkshire and Humber region. 

Aims 

The Commission has four 
inter-related aims:

•  to foster climate resilience 
and adaptation to climate 
risks and impacts

• to support rapid progress 
towards net zero 
carbon emissions

• to encourage a just and 
inclusive transition that 
helps reduce inequalities 
and that leaves no-one 
and nowhere behind

• to promote climate actions 
that also protect and restore 
nature and biodiversity.

The Commission is committed 
to working towards its goals 
by enabling engagement, 
supporting constructive debate, 
strengthening the evidence base, 
promoting best practice, pooling 
and sharing resources, helping 
to build capacities for financing 
and delivery and regularly 
reviewing progress against 
targets and the action plan.

Our Membership 

The Commission is made up 
of our Chair (Liz Barber, CEO 
of Yorkshire Water) and Vice 
Chairs (South Yorkshire - Dan 
Jarvis MP, Mayor of Sheffield 
City Region; North Yorkshire 
– Cllr Richard Cooper, Leader 
Harrogate Borough Council; West 
Yorkshire – Cllr Jack Hemingway, 
Deputy Leader Wakefield Council; 
Humber - Cllr Chris Matthews, 
Infrastructure and Climate lead 
for East Riding of Yorkshire 
Council), and Director (Prof Andy 
Gouldson, University of Leeds). 

It also includes Commissioners 
who are senior leaders drawn 
from key organisations and 
groups across the region. For 
the full list, see Appendix 3, 
Commissioners’ Organisations.

Structure

Aims of the Action Plan

This action plan is intended to be a positive, constructive and 
actionable document that will inform and guide climate actions 
across the region in the years to come, including by making the 
case for regional collaboration on this massively challenging issue

The action plan includes actions that the Commission 
believes need to be applied across the region as a 
whole, and specific actions for the Commission. 

The ordering of the actions does not necessarily represent 
any prioritisation of different issues/actions, and there are 
clearly links between various elements of the plan.

The action plan should therefore be viewed in the round.  
The action plan will be a living document and the Commission 
will work to develop it and to promote its delivery through all 
of its activities and engagements in the coming years. 

. 

The action plan 
will be a living 
document 
and the 
Commission 
will work to 
develop it and 
to promote 
its delivery.”

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

15

— YORKSHIRE AND HUMBER CLIMATE COMMISSION

P
age 40



Climate change isn’t some distant reality. The IPCC’s latest 
report says climate change is now “widespread, rapid, and 
intensifying, and some trends are irreversible” and the UN 
Secretary-General called the report, “a code red for humanity”1. 

We can’t ignore 
it – we have to 
decide what 
we as a region 
are going to 
do about it.”

C limate change is 
impacting our homes 
and communities, our 

infrastructure, our agriculture, our 
water supplies and our natural 
environment here in Yorkshire and 
the Humber region, and it will do 
so with increasing frequency and 
intensity in the years to come. 

The knock on impacts to our 
society and our economy 
will be profound.

We can’t ignore it – we have 
to decide what we as a region 
are going to do about it. 

What are our options? 

It would be easy to say that this 
is a global issue and we’re too 
small to make a difference, but 
that would be to opt out of our 
responsibilities. International 
cooperation is leading (although 
not quickly enough) to more 
ambitious commitments, and 
the vast majority of countries 
around the world have committed 
to accelerate climate action. 
Yorkshire and the Humber is 
a region of 5.5 million people; 
our population is larger than 
countries like Ireland or Norway, 
and the same size as Scotland or 
Finland. We have to do our bit. 

Why regional action? 

Within the UK, we could leave 
it to national government, but 
a top-down, one-size-fits-all 
approach isn’t appropriate 
for such a large and varied 
region. Our response to 
climate change needs to be 
something that’s done by us, 
and for us, rather than to us. 

Within the region we could 
leave it to local government, 
but councils and combined 
authorities have limited capacities 
and scarce resources. We all 
have a role to play and there 
is much to be gained from 
cooperation and the pooling of 
resources at the regional scale.

What’s in it for us?

There’s no getting around the fact 
that addressing climate change 
is a massive challenge. But in 
responding to climate change we 
also have the opportunity improve 
our houses and communities, 
our businesses and economy, 
our transport and infrastructure, 
our national parks and green 
spaces and so on. At a human 
scale, our response to climate 
change can help us to tackle fuel 
poverty, improve public health, 
create and protect jobs, slash 
our energy bills, and so much 
more. Most fundamentally we can 
show that we’re tackling one of 
the issues that our children and 
grandchildren are most worried 
about. We should be on the 
right side of history and work 
to give them a better future.

SCHOOL

17

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER— INTRODUCTION

P
age 41



So what do we need to do?

We need to accept that this is an 
emergency and act accordingly. 
We have set ourselves the target 
– as a region – of reaching net 
zero emissions by 2038, and 
of showing significant progress 
towards this goal by 2030. 

Our response 
to climate 
change needs 
to be something 
that’s done 
by us, and 
for us, rather 
than to us.”

To have a chance of meeting 
this target, we need to cut our 
carbon emissions rapidly. That 
involves continuing the rapid 
expansion of renewable energy 
sources, investing in smart 
energy grids, and upgrading our 
homes, buildings, businesses 
and transport systems to reduce 
their energy demand. We also 
need to address our wider 
carbon footprint by switching 
to a resource efficient, circular 

economy and by rethinking 
consumption in key areas such 
as food, fashion and flying. 

It’s not only about cutting our 
carbon emissions. We need 
to invest in our readiness 
and resilience in the face of 
continuing climate impacts 
by protecting our homes and 
communities, our water, energy, 
transport and communications 
infrastructure, our farming and 
food systems and our nature and 
biodiversity. All of these aspects 
of resilience are central to our 
future health and wellbeing.
We also need to recognise the 
links between climate change 
and inequality. We are not all 
equally responsible for climate 
change; the climate impacts 
of lower and higher income 
groups differ considerably. 

And we’re not equally exposed 
to the impacts of climate change 
itself or the policies that come 
with it – generally speaking it is 
the poor who will be hit hardest. 
We should be taking climate 
actions that help us to tackle 
inequalities and not exacerbate 
them or create new ones. To do 
this, we need to promote a just 
transition that actively involves 
people in the debate and that 
provides targeted support to 
make sure no-one and no-
where is left behind. Central to 
this is the clear need to work 
with businesses and workers 
to invest in jobs and skills. 

Lastly, we need to promote 
climate actions that work with 
nature and that are more broadly 
sustainable. The climate crisis 
comes hand-in-hand with the 
ecological crisis, and we can only 
address one by also addressing 
the other. As we seek to cut our 
carbon emissions and increase 
our resilience we also have to 
protect and enhance our natural 
areas and promote nature-based 
solutions wherever possible. 

Can we afford this?

Estimates2 suggest that we 
need to invest 1% of our 
overall income (i.e. GDP) every 
year to address this massive 
challenge. If we don’t commit 
this level of investment, the 
impacts on our overall income 
incurred by the damage caused 
by climate change could be 
at least five times greater3. 

And there are huge benefits 
from acting. Estimates4 suggest 
that we could save £2.4 billion 
a year from our regional energy 
bill, while at the same time 
creating 33,000 years of new 
employment in the region and 
slashing our carbon emissions. 

It’s not a question of whether 
we can we afford to do this. 
It’s a question of whether 
we can afford not to.

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

19

— INTRODUCTION

Footnotes for 
Introduction 

1  Guterres, A. (2021) IPCC 
report: ‘Code red’ for 
human driven global 
heating, warns UN chief, 
Statement from the 
United Nations.

2  UK Committee on 
Climate Change (2020) 
The Sixth Carbon 
Budget: The UK’s path 
to net zero. Report 
published by the CCC.

3  Stern, N. (2006) The 
Economics of Climate 
Change, Cambridge 
University Press.

4  Gouldson, A., Sudmant 
A. and Duncan, A. 
(2020) A summary 
carbon roadmap for 
Yorkshire and Humber, 
Report from the Place-
based Climate Action 
Network.

P
age 42

https://yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/summary-carbon-roadmap-yorkshire-and-humber
https://yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/summary-carbon-roadmap-yorkshire-and-humber
https://yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/summary-carbon-roadmap-yorkshire-and-humber


Rethink progress 
measures

PROGRESS

Protect and restore nature

Nurture collaboration and innovation

Improve skills and create jobs

The following cross-cutting actions will allow 
us to respond to the climate and ecological 
crises in an effective, fair and efficient way 
through a framework for change.

We need to put climate and 
nature at the front and centre of 
all of our big decisions – across 
government and the public sector, 
in businesses and the economy and 
in communities and civil society. 

To do this we need to foster leadership, 
to build new capacities and cultures, to 
advance education and engagement and 
develop new skills, to support innovation 
and investment, to monitor and learn and 
to rethink what constitutes progress. 

The main elements of this framework for change are set 
out below. They’re deliberately broad – we need to do all of 
these things in a joined-up way that enables us to build our 
readiness and resilience and to reach our net zero targets, 
and to allow us to tackle the climate emergency while 
reducing inequality and protecting and restoring nature. 

1. 
Acknowledge 
climate and 
ecological 
emergency 

2. 
Develop  

a positive 
vision

3. 
Focus on 

action

4.
Commit 
to a just 

transition 

5.
Foster shared 
responsibility

6.
Put climate 
and nature 
at the heart 
of decision 

making

7.
Advance 

education  
and 

engagement

8.
Improve 

skills and 
create jobs

9.
Accelerate 
investment

10. 
Nurture 

collaboration 
and innovation

11.
Protect 

and restore 
nature

12. 
Rethink 

progress

13.
 Influence 
national 

government

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

21

— A FRAMEWORK FOR CHANGE

P
age 43



Acknowledge the climate 
and ecological emergency 

Acknowledge that the climate and ecological emergency 
is real and accept that not responding with the required 
urgency and ambition will both prolong our contribution 
to the problem and worsen the impacts on our region.

The science is absolutely 
compelling – climate change is 
a massive issue that will shape 
our future in multiple ways for 
many decades to come; whether 
that be in Yorkshire, across the 
UK or elsewhere in the world. 

Across the world average 
surface temperatures are now 
1.1°C higher than pre-industrial 
levels. If we hit 1.5°C we could 
trigger natural feedback loops1 
that will lead to more and more 
warming. After this point, we’re 
into the realm of dangerous or 
runaway climate change2. 

At the global scale, if we carry 
on emitting carbon3 as we are, 
we’ll have locked ourselves into 
more than 1.5°C of warming 
within eight years. Within the 
region, we’ll have used our share 
of the global carbon budget 
consistent with giving us a good 
chance4 of staying within 1.5°C 
of warming within six years. 

All of the predictions align with 
what we’re already seeing on 
the ground here in Yorkshire. 
Climate change is leading to 
more frequent and intense 
extreme weather events. 
These are already impacting 
with increasing severity on our 
homes and communities, our 
infrastructure, our food and water 
and our natural environments. 

This is why we are completely 
justified in calling this a climate 
and ecological emergency. Our 
first main action is to recommend 
that, collectively as a region, 
we need to accept this and 
respond with an appropriate 
level of urgency and ambition.

Develop a  
positive vision

Develop a positive vision that shows how ambitious 
action on climate and nature at the regional scale can 
make Yorkshire and Humber a happier, healthier, fairer 
and more prosperous place to live and work. 

Climate change is one of the 
biggest challenges that we 
face, but in responding to 
climate change we also have 
the opportunity improve our 
houses, communities, transport, 
businesses, infrastructure, food 
and farming, green spaces, 
nature and so on wider society. 

A key issue here relates 
to our jobs and skills. 

Imagine a future where we’re 
more and more vulnerable to 
the impacts of climate change, 
where we fail to develop new 
skills and to adapt our businesses 
and infrastructure, and where 
we ignore the ambitious 
climate targets that are being 
adopted around the world. 

But then imagine a future where 
we invest in jobs and skills for 
the future, where businesses 
and infrastructure adapt and 
become more resilient; and 
where we innovate and develop 
new businesses that can 
thrive in the future economy. 

In the UK, the low carbon 
and environmental goods and 
services sector already employs 
1.4 million people and it’s 
growing rapidly5 – it is one of the 
biggest economic development 
opportunities we’ve ever seen. 
The huge investments in offshore 
wind and all of the associated 
jobs that have been (and will 
continue to be) created around 
the Humber show that this is 
already becoming a reality. 

But the opportunities don’t 
only relate to jobs. Climate and 
ecological action can enable us 
to improve our homes, strengthen 
our communities, improve 
our health, tackle poverty and 
inequality, enhance our green 
spaces and so much more. 

Our second action then is that we 
should be positive and excited 
about a future where climate 
and ecological action create a 
happier, healthier, fairer and more 
prosperous region for us all. 

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

23

— A FRAMEWORK FOR CHANGE

P
age 44



Focus on action

Move from targets and planning to action by focusing on 
the real-world delivery of ambitious, accelerated change. 

Building on the climate 
emergency declarations of local 
and combined authorities across 
the region, the Yorkshire Leaders 
Board has set a target of reaching 
net zero6 carbon emissions by 
2038, with significant progress 
being achieved by 2030. 

This target is broadly in line with 
science-based targets7, but 
we propose that it should be 
expanded to include aviation 
and shipping emissions and 
that we should introduce five-
yearly carbon budgets to better 
enable us to track progress. 

Specifically, we propose that 
we should build on the 44% 
reduction in our 2000 level of 
direct emissions8 that we have 
already achieved by including 
aviation and shipping emissions 
and committing to at least a 
68% reduction on our 2000 level 
of emissions by 2025, an 84% 
reduction by 2030, and a 92% 
reduction by 2035 on the way 
to a 100% reduction by 2038.

With clear targets, we then 
urgently need to shift on to 
the question of how to rapidly 
decarbonise while at the same 
time building our readiness and 
resilience to on-going climate 
change and ensuring that 
our actions are both fair and 
more broadly sustainable. 

Our third action then is to focus 
on delivery – and that is the focus 
of the rest of this action plan. 

Commit to a just transition 

Commit to a just transition that ensures climate actions actively 
reduce existing inequalities, and both empower and enable all 
people from across the region to have a say in the process of 
priority setting, delivering actions and evaluating outcomes. 

One of the ways to accelerate 
climate action – and to make the 
most of its benefits – is to ensure 
that it is inclusive and fair9. This 
means including people in the 
process and making sure that the 
outcomes are fairly distributed. 

It is important to point out that 
not responding to the climate 
emergency will have a bigger 
impact on inequalities than 
responding. Managed well, 
climate and ecological action will 
both prevent the immense human 
and economic costs of climate 
disruption and also generate new 
jobs and reduce inequality. To 
do this, we need to ensure that 
climate and ecological actions 
actively reduce inequalities, 
and at the very least do not 
reinforce or exacerbate them. 

A good example of the potential 
to tackle inequality through 
climate action relates to fuel 
poverty. Building better homes 
and improving existing homes 
can clearly make homes more 
comfortable and more affordable 
to heat whilst at the same time 
cutting carbon emissions. 

But there are also 
challenges where careful 
approaches are needed:

•  How do we enable businesses 
and the people who work 
in higher carbon sectors to 
benefit from the transition 
to a green economy? 

•  How can we protect 
communities that are 
especially exposed to climate 
change, whether through 
floods, droughts, heatwaves 
or coastal change? 

•  How do we make sure that 
rural communities have the 
access to public transport 
and to digital services that 
they need to decarbonise?

Our fourth action – which 
involves promoting a just 
and inclusive transition that 
involves people in the process, 
supports them in the transition 
and focuses on generating 
fairer outcomes – is therefore 
of much wider importance. 

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

25

— A FRAMEWORK FOR CHANGE

P
age 45



— A FRAMEWORK FOR CHANGE

Foster shared  
responsibility

Foster shared responsibility and distributed leadership by 
recognising that we can achieve so much more when we all act 
together, but whilst also acknowledging the need for our larger 
institutions in government and the public and private sectors 
to lead the way by delivering significant, tangible contributions 
to our response to the climate and ecological emergency. 

While we call for collective 
action and climate leadership 
from across the region, we 
recognise that some people 
and organisations carry greater 
responsibilities and have greater 
capacities than others. 

This proposal then is to 
call on larger organisations 
from across the region to 
demonstrate sustained, 
meaningful climate leadership. 

This includes organisations in 
the public sector, such as local 
and combined authorities, health 
and care providers, schools, 
colleges and universities and 
other public services/agencies. 

It also includes businesses in the 
private sector, such as financial 
services firms, construction 
businesses, manufacturing 
industries, energy and water 

suppliers, transport providers, 
farmers and food processors, 
retailers, travel and tourism 
companies and those in the 
media and cultural sectors. 
And it includes our third 
sector and not-for-profit 
organisations, such as trade 
associations, chambers of 
commerce, trade unions, 
housing associations, colleges 
and universities, civic and 
heritage groups and community, 
faith and pressure groups.

We need leaders in organisations 
across these sectors to commit 
to developing and delivering 
ambitious climate actions, and 
to empower and expect others 
to match their commitment. 

Put climate and nature at the 
heart of decision making

Act in a joined-up way by integrating climate and nature 
into all key areas of activity, by demonstrating that they 
are put at the heart of all major strategic, policy, planning 
and investment decisions and by showing that all of our 
climate actions are fully coordinated and coherent. 

We can’t address climate change 
if the issue is left on the sidelines. 

Climate and nature should be 
put at the heart of all areas of 
decision making, whether in 
policy and planning, strategy 
and investment, commissioning 
and purchasing or the 
delivery and management of 
projects and programmes. 

To do this we need to change 
the structures and cultures of 
decision making and to equip 
decision makers with the skills 
and capacities they need 
to make a difference. Major 
organisations can help this to 
happen by ensuring that climate 
change is adopted as a strategic 
priority, by making it a key part 
of the appointment and role 
descriptions of their leadership 
teams and by investing in 
training in climate/carbon 
literacy for all of their staff. 

Crucially, major organisations 
should also commit to “climate 
proofing” their significant 
decisions; not only so that they 

avoid major negative impacts, 
but also so that they ensure 
their decisions make a clear, 
tangible contribution to tackling 
this systemic challenge. 

Central to this should be the 
inclusion of climate change 
as a key consideration in 
purchasing and procurement. 
As £1 of every £3 that is spent 
in the UK goes through the 
public sector, adopting climate 
as a priority in all publicly 
funded activities could have an 
especially significant impact. 

But all organisations should 
adopt climate change as a 
priority in their purchasing 
policies. Where they actively 
support their suppliers – 
especially those that are small 
and medium-sized enterprises 
– to address the climate and 
ecological emergency, then 
their reach and influence could 
be significantly increased.

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

27

P
age 46



— A FRAMEWORK FOR CHANGE

Advance education 
and engagement

Advance education and engagement by integrating climate 
and nature into the curriculum in schools, colleges and 
universities, and by promoting climate outreach and carbon 
literacy for individuals and organisations across the region. 

Since the climate and ecological 
crisis is one of the greatest 
challenges that we face, we 
ought to be raising awareness 
and building understanding 
at every opportunity. 

Our schools, colleges and 
universities are already seeking 
to integrate climate change 
throughout the curriculum. But we 
propose that climate change ought 
to be given greater prominence 
in multiple subject areas so that 
every school leaver and college 
or university graduate in the 
region has a solid cross-cutting 
understanding of the causes, 
consequences and, critically, 
the solutions to the climate 
and ecological emergency. 

To enable this to happen, all 
governors, heads, teachers 
and lecturers should have 
access to climate outreach and 
carbon literacy programmes. 
The further development of 
shared learning materials could 
also enable teachers and 
lecturers to build awareness and 
understanding across a wider 
range of subjects and lessons. 

In schools, we can then address 
issues of climate and nature 

more effectively - even within 
the constraints of the national 
curriculum by integrating it as a 
theme in multiple subject areas. 
In colleges and universities, we 
can ensure that all students 
gain familiarity with climate 
and ecological issues as a 
key part of their course. 

By building awareness and 
equipping students with an 
understanding of what they can 
do to respond to the climate 
crisis, we can help to address 
the sense of powerlessness 
and anxiety that so many of 
our young people feel in the 
face of such an overwhelming 
challenge. We can also ensure 
that they recognise opportunities 
to contribute to tackling this 
enormous societal challenge in 
whatever job they choose to do.

More broadly, we should also 
be offering people at every 
stage of life the opportunity to 
learn about the climate crisis 
and what they can do to help. 
To enable this, community 
groups and social networks of 
every type should be able to 
access appropriate, engaging 
and affordable climate outreach 
and carbon literacy materials. 

Improve skills 
and create jobs

Improve skills and create jobs by targeting opportunities 
to create good quality new jobs in the green economy, by 
supporting existing employers and employees to adapt, 
and by developing a regional network of excellence 
in climate related training and skills provision. 

The fact that climate change 
represents both a challenge 
and an opportunity for the 
region is especially evident 
when it comes to the impact 
of climate change on jobs. 

On the one hand, climate change 
and the need to decarbonise could 
put some jobs in high carbon 
sectors at risk. It has been estimated 
that 15% of all jobs in the region –  
or 360,000 people – are in industries 
with high-carbon emissions10. How 
we include, involve and support 
people in these industries to adapt 
and thrive as the region transitions 
to net zero is a crucial part of the 
just transition discussed above.

On the other hand, what is currently 
termed the green economy11 is 
growing rapidly. As previously 
stated, an estimated 1.4million 
people in the UK are currently 
employed in the low carbon and 
environmental goods and services 
sector, and the sector has been 
growing by 7% a year. Skills 
shortages in this sector are already 
slowing the rate and increasing the 
cost of responding to the climate 
and ecological emergency.

This raises the vital question of 
how we can best train new 
workers and retrain existing 
workers so that they can prosper 
in the future. Clearly, we need to 
support the provision of tailored 
skills programmes that work for 
people at different stages and in 
different areas/fields of work and 
to ensure easy, affordable access 
to these programmes – especially 
for existing workers in high carbon 
sectors. Crucially, we also need 
to give people and organisations 
the confidence that they need to 
invest in skills development. To 
do this we need to ensure that 
there is stable long-term demand 
for the skills once they have been 
developed – and to a large degree 
this depends on having clear, 
credible government policies. 

Some of this can be done at 
the local and regional scales. 
However, this is an area where 
much depends on national 
government and as a region we 
need to press politicians and 
policy makers in Westminster 
for the policy support that 
we need if we are to deliver 
on our climate ambitions. 

Improve skills and create jobs

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

29

P
age 47



Accelerate investment

Accelerate investment by building a climate and nature financing 
platform that helps to bring forward and develop new projects 
and programmes and to connect them to new forms of finance 
and investment, with a particular emphasis on the scope for local 
and regional investment in and ownership of new initiatives so 
that the benefits can be retained and reinvested in the region. 

The UK Committee on Climate 
Change12 has forecast that 
the net13 costs of reaching 
net zero will be less than 1% 
of GDP a year. For Yorkshire 
and Humber this equates 
to roughly £1.5bn a year. 

This is of course a massive 
amount of money – but investing 
less than 1% of our income to 
secure a long-term future for the 
region and a liveable planet for 
our children and grandchildren 
should be seen as good value. 

As long as we integrate climate 
change into decision making, 
much of what we need to invest 
will be raised as we continually 
invest in replacing or improving 
our buildings, businesses, 
transport, energy and water 
infrastructure, food systems, 
green spaces and so on. 

But we certainly need to raise 
funds to invest in a wide range 
of projects and programmes that 
help us to address the climate 
and ecological emergency. We 
therefore call for the creation 
of a climate finance platform 
to support the development of 
investable climate-facing projects 
and programmes across the 
region and to connect them to 
different sources of finance. 

We are especially interested in 
the potential for different actors 
in the region to invest in the 
transition, so that the benefits 
of those investments stay in the 
region. Even if a finance platform 
enabled a small percentage of 
the £45bn14 that residents of 
Yorkshire and Humber have 
in their ISAs to be invested in 
climate action in the region, this 
could make a massive difference.

Nurture collaboration 
and innovation

Foster collaboration and innovation by sharing/pooling 
resources and expertise and by stimulating innovation 
through a regional incubator/demonstrator network 
that allows good ideas to grow and people to learn 
from and replicate best practice across the region. 

Climate and ecological action 
can come in many forms, and 
there are multiple examples 
of best practice already under 
way across the region. These 
front-running examples need 
to be recognised supported, 
scaled-up and replicated. We 
need to innovate and push 
forward the frontiers of best 
practice, but we could achieve 
so much simply by making best 
practice common practice. 

To facilitate the replication 
and the advancement of best 
practice, we should develop a 
collaborative regional incubator 
and demonstrator network.  
By identifying good ideas and 
giving them a safe space to 
develop (i.e. incubating them) we 
could fast-track the development 
of new initiatives whether 
they are policies and plans, 
technologies and infrastructures, 
practices and behaviours or 
business models and financial 
arrangements. Once they have 
developed, we should showcase 
them and allow potential 

users to come and see them 
in practice (i.e. demonstrating 
them), thereby familiarising 
people with new innovations. 

We already have much of  
what we need to do this –  
in established innovation 
centres, in our colleges and 
universities and in commercial 
and community settings. But our 
tenth proposal is to bring these 
elements together in a better 
coordinated regional innovation 
scheme would allow us to 
develop and spread best practice 
so much more effectively. 

Nurture collaboration and innovation

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

31

— A FRAMEWORK FOR CHANGE

P
age 48



Protect and 
restore nature

Protect and restore the natural and ecological systems that we 
depend upon by supporting the sustainable management of key 
natural assets such as moorlands, peat bogs, grasslands, soils 
forests, coastal and flood zones, by promoting regenerative 
approaches that protect biodiversity, green spaces and wild 
areas and by supporting the transition from grey (e.g. concrete 
and steel) to blue-green (e.g. nature-based) infrastructure. 

Even though we depend 
on the natural world in so 
many ways, many of us are 
disconnected from nature and 
as a society we too frequently 
overlook or undervalue it. 

Our natural and ecological 
systems play a vital role in helping 
us tackle climate change. Our 
soils and grasslands, moorlands 
and woodlands, and especially 
our peat bogs contain vast 
amounts of carbon, thereby 
limiting our carbon footprint 
and slowing global warming. 

These systems also protect 
us from the impacts of climate 
change, especially by slowing 
the flow of water and reducing 
the risk of surface flooding, and 
by binding our coastlines and 
riverbanks together to reduce 
the impacts of sea-level rise 
and extreme weather events.

But nature and ecology in the region 
is under great stress, and has often 
been degraded, fragmented or 
lost entirely. Even if we only look at 
nature from a climate perspective, 
we desperately need to reverse 

the decline by protecting and 
enhancing our natural assets. 

We can tackle climate change 
through nature-based solutions 
that protect, sustainably manage 
and restore ecosystems, or through 
blue-green infrastructure that uses 
natural and semi-natural areas to 
aid in the management of water 
and protection against flooding. 

These approaches have a range 
of benefits – as well as helping to 
address climate change they help 
to tackle the biodiversity crisis and 
to enhance access to green space, 
and this often makes them popular 
with the public and with politicians. 
They are also much more cost-
effective and less carbon-intensive 
than engineered approaches. 

Of course, there will be 
circumstances where nature-based 
approaches may not be appropriate, 
but for all of the reasons above 
we propose that a priority ought 
to be given to the protection and 
enhancement of nature and to the 
use of nature-based approaches 
as we respond to climate change.

Rethink progress

Rethink how we measure progress by developing a sustainable 
progress index for the region that adopts a wider view than one 
singularly focused on GDP by measuring progress based on 
different forms of capital (human, social, natural, intellectual, 
manufactured, financial), and by developing a regional climate 
observatory to survey emerging issues, collate the best available 
evidence and conduct monitoring and evaluation that enables 
us to track our progress in an open and transparent way. 

 
Are we as a region 
making progress? 

If we define and measure 
progress only on the basis of 
our GDP15, then as a region 
our income has been growing 
gradually for some time. But this 
doesn’t tell us whether we’ve 
been cashing in on different 
forms of capital to generate that 
income, whether our income is 
making us happier and healthier 
or more resilient and sustainable. 
Similarly, it doesn’t tell us 
whether this income is distributed 
fairly or if we’re leaving some 
people and places behind. 

As a region we would benefit 
from a broader suite of measures 
to chart our progress. There is an 
old adage which says if you don’t 
measure it then you can’t manage 
it – and we therefore propose that 
we should develop a sustainable 
progress index to help us have a 
balanced view of whether we’re 
heading in the right direction; 
not only economically, but also 

socially and environmentally. 
Such an index can of course 
draw on other indices including 
the Sustainable Development 
Goals and those proposed by 
the recent Dasgupta Review16.

Related to this, we also need 
to collate and share the best 
available evidence on emerging 
issues, risks and opportunities. 
This will help us build our 
capacity to evaluate and learn 
about what works and to openly 
monitor and report back on 
progress towards our targets. 
We need to scan the world for 
examples of best practice that 
we could adapt and apply here 
in the UK. To better enable this 
to happen, we propose that 
universities across the region 
should work to establish a 
regional climate observatory. 

Rethink progress 
measures

PROGRESS

Protect and restore nature

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

33

— A FRAMEWORK FOR CHANGE

P
age 49



Influence national 
government

Showcase the climate actions underway in Yorkshire and the 
Humber, share good practice with other regions and connect with 
national government to make sure we have support and clear, 
stable national policies to enable ambitious regional action. 

We want Yorkshire and Humber 
to be recognised as an authentic 
climate leader. Where we can 
justifiably claim to be adopting 
innovative climate actions, we 
should be promoting our activities 
to other actors, including in other 
regions and at the national level. 
Of course, there will always be 
opportunities for us to learn 
from leaders in other parts of 
the UK and internationally. As is 
so frequently the case, we have 
a lot to gain through opening 
up and being collaborative. The 
participation of the Yorkshire and 
Humber Climate Commission in 
the UK-wide Place-based Climate 
Action Network can enable such 
collaboration and learning. 

A key issue then is how as a 
region we can best connect 
to and influence national 
government. There is a lot that 
we can do within the region under 
current policies, and we shouldn’t 
wait for all of the ideal policies to 
be in place before we get to work. 
However, there will be instances 
where we need national policy 
change to make further progress. 
To enable this to happen, we 

need to be in regular contact 
with our MPs and peers, 
and with politicians and civil 
servants in the key ministries in 
national government and with 
important bodies such as the UK 
Infrastructure Bank or the UK 
Committee on Climate Change. 

To address this need, our 
thirteenth proposal is that the 
Commission establishes both 
a regional climate policy forum 
to learn about what decision 
makers on the ground across 
the region need from national 
policy makers, and a national 
climate policy forum to enable 
us to make those requests 
and to shape national policy 
developments on a regular basis. 

We can’t address 
climate change if 
the issue is left

on the sidelines. . . 
Climate and nature 
should be put at the 
heart of all areas of 

decision making

35

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER— A FRAMEWORK FOR CHANGE

P
age 50



We know that we face increasing risks from 
climate change. We need to plan ahead so 
that we become climate ready and to build our 
resilience so that we can cope and recover 
quickly when these risks become reality. 

Section contents:

–  People and Communities, 
Health and Wellbeing

– Land, Water, Nature and Food

–  Business, Industry and Infrastructure

–  Emergency Preparedness and Response

Changing weather and 
climate in the UK

The UK’s weather and climate 
is changing. Recent decades 
have been warmer, wetter, 
sunnier and stormier than the 
20th century. 2020 was the third 
warmest, fifth wettest and eighth 
sunniest on record in the UK, 
and in line with predictions we 
experienced record-breaking 
rainfall and severe flooding, 
strong winds and storms and 
heatwaves with unusually high 
overnight temperatures17. 

The most recent set of national 
forecasts expects these trends 
to continue in the years to 
come. It is projected that, as the 
weather and climate continue to 
change, the UK will experience: 

•   more frequent and intense 
storms and other extreme 
weather events throughout  
the year;

•   longer, hotter, drier summers 
with more frequent 
heatwaves and droughts;

•   milder, wetter winters with 
less snow and ice but more 
intense rainfall and flooding;

•   rising sea levels and 
increased coastal erosion18.

Climate change impacts, 
risks and opportunities

Changing weather and climate 
patterns like these will impact 
on Yorkshire and the Humber in 
a wide range of ways. Climate 
change will bring both risks, when 
the occurrence of the impact is 
likely to cause negative or harmful 
outcomes, and opportunities, 
such as longer growing seasons 
due to warmer and drier weather. 
On balance there are far more 
risks than opportunities. 

Every five years, the UK Climate 
Change Committee (CCC) 
publishes an updated summary 
of the climate change risks 
and opportunities facing the 
UK. In 202119, it identified the 
eight most urgent risks as: 

1.  Risks to the viability and 
diversity of terrestrial and 
freshwater habitats and 
species from multiple hazards; 

2.  Risks to soil health 
from increased flooding 
and drought;

3.  Risks to natural carbon 
stores and sequestration 
from multiple hazards leading 
to increased emissions;

4.  Risks to crops, livestock 
and commercial trees 
from multiple hazards;

5.  Risks to supply of food, 
goods and vital services 
due to climate-related 
collapse of supply chains 
and distribution networks;

6.  Risks to people and the 
economy from climate-related 
failure of the power system;

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

37

— CLIMATE RESILIENCE 

P
age 51



7.  Risks to human health, 
wellbeing and productivity from 
increased exposure to heat in 
homes and other buildings;

8.  Multiple risks to the UK 
from climate change 
impacts overseas.

To respond to risks such 
as these, we need to adopt 
adaptation measures that 
increase our resilience. 

What do we mean by 
adaptation and resilience?

Adaptation aims to reduce the 
likelihood and severity of harm 
caused by climate change. 
Examples of adaptive actions 
include building flood defences 
and reducing water usage during 
the summer. As some warming 
has already occurred, even 
with ambitious efforts to reduce 
carbon emissions quickly, we will 
inevitably continue to experience 
some climate impacts in the 
years to come. We therefore need 
to build our capacities to adapt 
and become more resilient by 
coping and recovering quickly 
when faced with long-term 
stresses or extreme events.

What is “good” 
adaptation?

There is no fixed definition of 
good adaptation. The actions 
needed will be dependent on 
the impacts being addressed 
and the risks and opportunities 
they bring. Adaptation decision 
making will often also be place 
specific and need to consider 
the needs, concerns and 
hopes of the people involved. 
However, the below provides a 
checklist of things likely needed 
to ensure good adaptation.

•  Awareness of risks: Is there 
a good understanding of the 
risks and how they might 
interact with other factors 
and drivers of change?

•  Visions and strategies:  
Are roles and responsibilities 
clearly defined? Is there 
support from champions 
as well as governance 
and legislation?

•  Partnerships and collaboration: 
Are there mechanisms in 
place to support sharing of 
experience and best practice, 
and joint decision making?

•  Learning and opportunities for 
course correction: Are actions 
being recorded and reviewed? 
Are there opportunities 
in place to review plans 
and make changes?

the UK is 
not yet 
demonstrating 
sufficient 
progress with 
adaptation 
to manage 
current or 
future risks”

Are we making progress 
with adaptation?

In 2008 the UK government 
adopted the Climate Change Act. 
As part of the Act the government 
is required to produce a five-
yearly climate change risk 
assessment, which then feeds 
into National Adaptation 
Programmes (NAPs) for each part 
of the UK. In England, the next 
NAP will be published in 2023. 

In addition, every two years the 
CCC provides an assessment of 
the UK government’s progress 
with adaptation. The most recent 
report concluded that the UK is 
not yet demonstrating sufficient 
progress with adaptation to 
manage current or future risks 
and that there is an urgent 
need to scale up the UK’s 
adaptive actions, to mainstream 
adaptation into policy and 
planning for all sectors, and 
to greatly increase people’s 
engagement with adaptation20. 

This includes UK residents and 
householders, who have crucial 
roles to play in taking actions 
to protect themselves and their 
homes from extreme weather 
and in providing essential 
pressure on the government 
and other organisations 
to adapt more quickly. 

Adaptation in Yorkshire 
and Humber

The region published its first 
climate risk assessment in 
2002 and a second in 2012. 
A regional partnership, Your 
Climate, ran from 2004 to 2016. 
During this period many local 
councils produced detailed risk 
assessments and adaptation 
plans. However, since 2016 there 
has been a gap for a region-
wide, coordinating body to drive 
action. The Commission could 
bring people and organisations 
together to fill this gap, with 
this action plan as a first step.

Moving forward, the most recent 
Climate Change Risk Assessment 
stressed that we already know a 
huge amount of what we need to 
do and how. Now we just need to 
do it. Adapting now will be much 
more cost effective than delaying, 
and will limit the harm caused. 
Further, taking adaptive actions 
to protect against climate change 
impacts offers many wider social, 
economic and environmental 
benefits across the region. 

Adapting now 
will be much 
more cost 
effective than 
delaying, and 
will limit the 
harm caused.”

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

39

— CLIMATE RESILIENCE

P
age 52



People and Communities, 
Health and Wellbeing

Y orkshire and Humber is 
home to over five million 
people, living in ancient 

market towns, thriving urban 
hubs, beautiful rural areas and 
along an impressive coastline. 
It is also very culturally diverse, 
bringing together people from 
across the UK, Europe and 
beyond. This is a region proud 
of its heritage and natural 
resources but also one that is 
forward looking and ambitious. 

The residents of Yorkshire and 
Humber are not new to the 
challenges of extreme weather 
and climate change, especially 
flooding, which can be particularly 
devastating to homes and 
communities. Increasingly,  
longer periods of unusually  
hot weather, as well as drought 
and cold snaps, are bringing  
new challenges. 

The region also has greater 
inequalities than the national 
average, with residents less 
likely to eat healthily, exercise 
sufficiently, and live in adequate 
housing. There is considerable 
evidence that more vulnerable 
and disadvantaged groups 
are both more likely to 
negatively experience climate 
change impacts, and be less 
able to adapt effectively. 

But the opportunities for taking 
actions which will increase 
our climate resilience and our 
wellbeing in a joined up way  
are many.

The residents 
of Yorkshire 
and Humber 
are not new to 
the challenges 
of extreme 
weather 
and climate 
change”

YORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

Case Study: 
Climate Cafes

Climate Cafés in York and Hull were co-organised by Yorkshire 
Flood Resilience (City of York Council) and the Energy and 
Environment Institute (University of Hull). These free Climate 
Cafés took place in September 2021 and focused on flooding 
and climate change. Academics, flood risk managers from local 
authorities, Environment Agency representatives, and community 
groups presented their thoughts on this important topic. Members 
of the public were invited to ask questions, give their views, and 
have a chat with others attendees over a free tea or coffee.

Find out more here

Take action now
41

— CLIMATE RESILIENCE

P
age 53

https://yorkshirefloodresilience.co.uk/news/yfr-in-the-news/yorkshire-flood-resilience-and-university-of-hull-to-host-free-climate-caf%C3%A9-events


Proposed Actions for the Region

Develop climate risk communications 
that are tailored to different audiences to 
effectively communicate the significance 
of different types of climate risk and 
the relevance and meaningfulness of 
resilience to everyone, including through 
youth and community networking. 

 
Promote inclusive climate decision 
making and the co-creation of solutions 
by enabling local people to prepare 
adaptation plans to make where they live 
and work “climate ready”, supporting the 
development of climate champions as key 
points of connection with communities, and 
supporting further climate assemblies/juries. 

Encourage the wider adoption of 
area-wide and site-specific climate 
adaptation plans and actions by combined 
or local authorities, the managers of key 
sites such as schools, hospitals, transport 
interchanges, and homeowners, recognising 
the opportunity to align with net zero 
action, for example through retrofitting.

Promote resilience actions that offer 
health, wellbeing and community benefits 
by reducing risks, improving resilience, 
accelerating recovery and reconnecting 
people and communities to each other 
and to nature through climate and nature-
based activities in urban and rural areas.

Land, Water, 
Nature and Food

T he region contains three 
National Parks, three Areas 
of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty and two World Heritage 
Sites. We have an incredible 
diversity of landscapes, habitats 
and species, some of which 
are unique to the region and of 
international importance. For 
example, the region is home to 
a quarter of the national stock 
of peatland, which plays an 
essential role in storing carbon. 

Our natural areas and green 
spaces are crucially important 
in improving the physical and 
mental wellbeing of people 
across the region, and the 
region’s natural landscapes are 
also major tourist attractions.

The agriculture sector is incredibly 
important for Yorkshire and the 
Humber. Farming activities cover 
more than 70% of the region’s 
land area, provide employment 
to more than 30,000 people and 
have a total output value of £2.5 
billion. Additional to producing 
sufficient and nutritious food, 
farms have integral roles to 
play in looking after the region’s 
countryside where they are 
responsible for caring for a 
wide range of natural assets 
such as soils and water. 

The climate and biodiversity 
emergencies, as well as Brexit, 
are already generating significant 
policy change in this area. 
Yorkshire and Humber has 
an opportunity to harness the 
national level attention now being 
directed at this sector, and to 
develop the region as a leader in 
sustainable, productive, nature-
positive land management. 

70% 
of the region’s  
land area is 
covered by  
farming activities.

Over

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

43

— CLIMATE RESILIENCE

P
age 54



Case Study: 
Rejuvenation 
of the Dearne 
Valley

The Dearne Valley in South Yorkshire is one of only 12 Nature 
Improvement Areas in England. Once the heart of the Yorkshire 
coalfield, Dearne Valley is now characterised by wetlands, farmland 
and woodland, rejuvenating a landscape once marked by mining 
and heavy industry. Important features of the area’s industrial 
heritage have been retained and provide a home for a rich variety 
of plants and animals. Examples include spoil heaps planted 
with a mixture of woodland and grassland, and new wetlands in 
areas of subsidence. The RSPB are working as part of the Dearne 
Valley Green Heart Partnership to transform the valley into a place 
where people and nature thrive, and where people can work, live 
and enjoy their leisure. As a result, a now healthy and attractive 
natural environment is being supported by the development of 
a growing green economy and flourishing local communities.

Find out more here

Proposed Actions for the Region

Promote resilience in land use by restoring 
and enhancing the region’s many key 
natural assets, including moorlands, peat 
bogs, grasslands, soils, wetlands, woodlands, 
flood and coastal zones and biodiversity 
more generally, by planning and working 
across natural and political boundaries and 
by helping land-use to be carbon negative as 
a contribution to broader net zero targets. 

Prepare the food and farming sector 
for current and future changes through 
research and innovation, skills and knowledge 
development, network building and 
stakeholder engagement, acknowledging the 
huge opportunity for farmers to help address 
the climate and ecological emergencies 
if provided with the necessary support. 

Promoting nature-based solutions 
and the development of blue-green 
resilient infrastructure wherever possible, 
recognising that this will contribute to net 
zero and to our response to the ecological 
as well as the climate crisis, potentially to 
be delivered through a Regional Nature 
Service which encourages community 
involvement in nature and green spaces. 

Take action now

Andy Hay (rspb-images.com)

45

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER— CLIMATE RESILIENCE

P
age 55

https://www.rspb.org.uk/our-work/conservation/landscape-scale-conservation/sites/dearne-valley-green-heart/


Business, Industry 
and Infrastructure

B usinesses throughout 
Yorkshire and Humber are 
already experiencing the 

damaging impacts of extreme 
weather and the challenges 
brought by global climate change 
with a wide range of immediate 
and longer-term effects. For 
example, as well as doing 
damage to physical assets, a 
flooded business site can affect 
processes, schedules, reputation, 
employee wellbeing, and access 
to affordable insurance. 

At the same time, many 
businesses, such as in food 
production, essential retail, public 
transport and communications, 
bolster the resilience of 
people and households, while 
others, such as construction, 
and finance and investment, 
provide necessary foundations 
for other businesses. 

Essential infrastructure services 
such as water, energy, transport 
and digital underpin, support and 
enable wider societal, economic 
and environmental resilience. They 
are essential for the wellbeing 
of homes and communities, as 
well as business and industry, 
and in supporting emergency 
response. Further, reliable, 
resilient infrastructure that is 
accessible to all will not only help 
the region grow and develop, it 
will be a crucial tool in addressing 
socio-economic inequalities. 

Due to requirements set by the 
national government, parts of 
the infrastructure sector are well 
advanced in planning for climate 
change impacts. However, many 
challenges remain, particularly in 
ensuring that resilience planning 
is coordinated across different 
sub-sectors, such as across water, 
power and transport networks, 
and externally, for example, 
with business and industry. 

Investing in digital infrastructure 
presents a huge opportunity. 
The data services it enables 
form a critical backbone of 
our modern society. Delivering 
rapid communication and data 
processing can help better forecast 
extreme events, predict supply 
chain security or public health risks, 
and proactively build resilience 
through community linkages or 
climatic forecasting for agriculture. 

Essential 
infrastructure 
services... 
support and 
enable wider 
societal, 
economic and 
environmental 
resilience”

Case Study: 
Tools to boost 
SMEs’ flood 
resilience

Two exciting tools have been developed to advance the flood 
resilience of small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) across 
Yorkshire and the Humber. One tool helps local and regional 
governments to assess the wider economic costs of flooding on 
SMEs to enhance their business cases for flood protection. The other 
tool helps insurers, lenders, surveyors, brokers and SMEs to assess 
effective resilience to unlock better flood insurance for SMEs. Led by 
Paola Sakai (UKRI) at the University of Leeds, this partnership with 
the University of York, iCASP, West Yorkshire Combined Authority, 
Environment Agency, local governments, and the insurance industry, 
is moving SMEs’ flood resilience forward. 

Find out more here

Take action now
47

— CLIMATE RESILIENCE

P
age 56

https://www.paolasakai.uk/projects


Proposed Actions for the Region

 
Promote climate resilience in business and 
industry through enhanced risk assessment, 
management and communication (including 
the application of ISO/BSI standards and 
guidance), and through collaboration and 
the sharing of best practice, recognising 
that larger business can play an active role 
in building capacities in SMEs through 
sector, area or supply chain cooperation. 

 
Develop a regional network for climate 
readiness and resilience training to 
build applied understanding of different 
climate risks and approaches to adaptation, 
with resilience champions sharing best 
practice and fostering collaborations 
between schools, colleges, universities, 
unions, businesses, trade associations 
and chambers of commerce. 

 
Align all infrastructure sectors to deliver 
a regional systems approach to resilience 
planning recognising that systems interactions 
and interdependencies mean that if one part 
of our infrastructure isn’t resilient, none of it is.

 
Invest in digital infrastructure that’s 
accessible to all to enable effective 
emergency responses and strengthen back-
up provision of essential services such as 
health and education and to enable rapid 
recovery in all urban and rural areas. 

Emergency Preparedness 
and Response 

B y their nature, emergencies 
are disruptive and are 
potentially damaging 

and dangerous. It is how we 
prepare and respond that 
makes the difference. 

Yorkshire and Humber is at 
the forefront of emergency 
preparedness and response 
having been impacted by 
numerous incidents over the past 
20 years. Significant flooding 
incidents from river, coastal and 
surface water sources, long 
duration dry weather, and of 
course the pandemic are just 
some of the instances where day-
to-day living has been disrupted, 
sometimes significantly in the 
recent past. We need to assess 
and learn from our experiences 
to date and strive for continuous 
improvement in our emergency 
response in the future. 

Being resilient means being well 
prepared. Considered emergency 
planning and response is essential 
to help Yorkshire and Humber 
communities maintain their 
function, identity and structure 
following the disturbance of an 
emergency. This will ensure that 
when emergencies happen, those 
impacted know what to do to 
help themselves and others get 
back to normal life as quickly as 
possible. It will also ensure there 
is planning in place for long-
term support after the immediate 
emergency has passed. 

Being  
resilient  
means  
being well 
prepared.”

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

49

— CLIMATE RESILIENCE

P
age 57



Case Study: 
Ready For 
Anything

Following the devastation caused by the Boxing Day floods in 2015,  
Ready for Anything was set up in York and is now being rolled out across 
the whole of North Yorkshire by the North Yorkshire Local Resilience Forum.

During the floods, resources were stretched, but the practical support 
offered by members of the public and businesses was invaluable.  
To ensure the response is even better in the future, a database of 
enthusiastic volunteers has been set up. There are currently 480 volunteers.

Ready For Anything volunteers were deployed three times during 
the recovery phase of the flash flooding in Richmondshire in August 
2019. They have helped with checking on residents affected, giving 
information and being a reassuring presence in Leyburn, Bellerby, 
Reeth and Arkengarthdale. In 2020 and 2021 volunteers were deployed 
to assist with numerous incidents, from helping in rest centres for 
evacuated people and door knocking for warning and informing.

Find out more here

Proposed Actions for the Region

 

 

 
Build climate readiness though 
improved emergency and recovery 
planning by promoting regional climate risk 
assessment, multi-agency collaborations, 
provision of climate response training 
for emergency responders and support 
for local resilience forums.

Develop a whole of society approach to 
emergency response raising awareness 
of new risks to the region and the available 
hazard warning systems, followed by clear 
communications and training as to what 
individuals, communities and businesses 
should do during differing emergency 
scenarios, including opportunities for 
community volunteering as appropriate. 

Promote the provision and uptake of 
affordable, comprehensive flood insurance 
for home and business owners and tenants, 
particularly focusing on the communities 
least able to afford insurance and the 
communities most at risk of flooding.

 
Strengthen plans for the long-term 
management of change and loss caused  
by sea level rise by working with 
communities to manage and respond 
to acute events such as storm 
surges and chronic events including 
sea level rise and loss of land.

Take action now
51

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER— CLIMATE RESILIENCE

P
age 58

https://www.emergencynorthyorks.gov.uk/readyforanything


We know that we need to reduce our emissions of carbon 
and other greenhouse gases rapidly. We might be able to 
capture and store some carbon by planting trees or through 
new carbon capture and storage technologies. But the first 
option has to be to minimise emissions in the first place. 

Section contents:

– Targets

– Energy

– Buildings

– Transport

– Business, Industry and Infrastructure

– Land Use and Nature

–  Resource Efficiency and 
the Circular Economy

– Lifestyles and Consumption

What are the causes 
of climate change?

Gases that trap heat in the 
atmosphere are collectively known 
as greenhouse gases (GHGs). 

The main GHG is carbon dioxide 
(CO2), which is emitted when we 
burn fossil fuels such as oil, coal 
or natural gas or other materials 
such as wood or waste. Carbon 
dioxide can be removed from the 
atmosphere by growing plants, or 
through technologies that remove 
CO2 from the atmosphere or from 
waste gases and use it or store 
it underground (so called carbon 
capture utilisation and storage, or 
CCUS). If we remove at least as 
much carbon dioxide as we emit, 
then we say we are at net zero. 

Because some GHGs can stay in 
the atmosphere and cause global 
warming for many years after they 
are emitted, there is a time delay 
between reducing our emissions 
and slowing climate change. 

This means that even if we 
reduce or mitigate our emissions 
now, we will still need to adapt 
to the impacts of climate 
change for years to come. 

What are the 
consequences of 
climate change?

The science is clear - if we emit 
more GHGs (e.g. through burning 
fossil fuels) than we absorb (e.g. 
through forest growth) or capture 
and store (e.g. through CCUS) 
then our atmosphere will trap 
more heat. This warming will then 
lead to changes in our weather 
and seasonal patterns, more 
frequent and intense extreme 
weather events, sea level rise 
and loss of low-lying areas and 
disruptions to our ecosystems 
and our food and water systems. 
The knock-on impacts to society 
and the economy are profound 
– to the extent that climate 
change has been described22 
as the biggest threat modern 
humans have ever faced. 

We measure the level and rate 
of global warming by referring 
to average global surface level 
temperatures. Currently, the 
world is around 1.1oC warmer 
than pre-industrial levels23. This 
doesn’t sound like much but 
these are long-term averages 
over the entire world’s surface. 
Some areas are seeing much 
higher temperature increases 
at key moments in time – the 
summer of 2020, for example, 
saw the highest ever recorded 
temperature in the Arctic Circle24. 

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

53

— NET ZERO

P
age 59



The science of climate change 
is continually assessed through 
the Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change (the IPCC). 
In 2018, the IPCC published 
a report assessing a range of 
thresholds or tipping points in 
the climate. They highlighted 
issues such as melting icecaps, 
thawing permafrost, changing 
ocean currents or the loss of 
forests where tipping points will 
be triggered when we reach 
a particular level of warming. 
Once these tipping points 
have been triggered, natural 
processes that drive climate 
change will accelerate and then 
be very difficult or impossible 
to slow down or turn off. This 
is referred to as dangerous or 
runaway climate change25. 

Alarmingly, the IPCC26 concluded 
that the level of warming 
where we risk triggering 
these tipping points is 1.5oC. 
The fact that we are already 
perilously close to this point – 
and to triggering dangerous, 
runaway climate change - is 
why this can justifiably called 
a climate emergency. 

What is happening 
internationally? 

Countries around the world 
discuss what to do about climate 
change through the United 
Nation’s Framework Convention 
on Climate Change (UNFCCC). 

In the UNFCCC negotiations in 
Paris in 2015, countries were 
asked to table what they were 
prepared to do to tackle climate 
change27 and to come to a global 
agreement on what to do next. 
The Paris Agreement then made 
a commitment to limiting warming 
to at most 2oC and ideally 1.5oC 
by the end of this century. 

Analysis of the commitments 
made by the countries around  
the world in Paris suggests 
that - if they are delivered 
– they will limit warming to 
approximately 3.2oC28. This 
is still past the tipping points 
discussed above and so we are 
headed well into the realm of 
dangerous climate change. 

Since Paris, multiple countries/
negotiating blocs (including 
the US, China, the EU and 
the UK) have upgraded their 
climate change commitments29. 
However, the Paris Agreement 
requires all countries to review 
and upgrade their commitments 
every five years, which is 
what makes the negotiations 
at COP26 in Glasgow in 
November 2021 so important. 

To meet this 
target we
have to 
significantly 
step up
our efforts and 
accelerate the
rate at which 
we’re cutting
our carbon 
emissions.”

Past, Present and 
Future Emissions from 
Yorkshire and Humber

In Yorkshire and Humber, 
we directly emit 7.5% of UK 
emissions, which means that 
as a region we emit30 more 
than countries like Croatia, 
Slovenia or Cyprus. 

We should step up and do our bit 
to reduce emissions – mainly to 
minimise the damage that climate 
change will do both globally and 
in our region – but also because 
as a region we could save £2.4bn 
through sensible, cost-effective 
investments that would cut our 
energy bill and our dependence 
on volatile energy markets 
whilst reducing our emissions 
at the same time. Through 
such actions we can also put 
ourselves at the forefront of the 
green industrial revolution that 
the race to net zero is triggering. 

Our direct emissions have already 
fallen by 44% since 2000, due 
to a combination of increasingly 
decarbonised electricity supply, 
structural change in the economy, 
and the gradual adoption 
of more efficient buildings, 
vehicles and businesses.  

We project31 though that if we 
carry on as we are, Yorkshire 
and Humber’s direct emissions 
will only fall by a total of 51% 
between 2000 and 2050. This 
is a long way short of our 
regional commitment to reach 
net zero emissions by 2038. 
To meet this target then we 
have to significantly step up 
our efforts and accelerate the 
rate at which we’re cutting 
our carbon emissions. 

44% 
Fall in Yorkshire 
and Humber 
direct emissions 
since 2000

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

55

— NET ZERO

P
age 60



Targets

T he Yorkshire Leaders 
Board, which includes 
the leaders and chief 

executives of the 22 local and 
combined authorities across 
the region, have committed the 
region as a whole to reach net 
zero by 2038, and to demonstrate 
significant progress towards this 
goal by 2030. We believe that 
this target is broadly consistent32 
with what we as a region need to 
do to stay within our share33 of a 
global carbon budget that gives 
us a good34 chance of avoiding 
dangerous climate change. 

However, in line with the 
recommendations of the UK 
Climate Change Committee in 
its Sixth Carbon Budget35, we 
believe that the target should 
be expanded to incorporate 
emissions from aviation and 
shipping. As is shown in Figure 1, 
expanding our budget in this way 
would add 10% to our current 
baseline emissions. It would also 
mean that we have to reduce our 
emissions more quickly in order  
to reach out 2038 target 
to reach net zero. 

We also propose that we should 
introduce five-yearly carbon 
budgets to guide our transition 
towards net zero by 2038. 
We therefore propose that 
we should build on the 44% 
reduction on our 2000 level of 

direct emissions36 that we have 
already achieved by adding in 
aviation and shipping emissions 
and then committing to a 68% 
reduction on our 2020 level 
of emissions by 2025, an 
84% reduction by 2030, and 
a 92% reduction by 2035. 

We also need a clear and 
transparent way of monitoring 
progress on a yearly basis.

Our current and projected37 
sectoral breakdown of emissions 
is presented in Figure 2. 
Currently, transport within the 
region constitutes 31% of our 
emissions, domestic housing 
25%, industry 17%, public and 
commercial buildings 10%, 
aviation and shipping 10%,  
waste 4%, and land use, land use 
change and forestry (LULUCF) 
3%. This highlights the fact that 
we need action across a range 
of sectors if we are to realise our 
overall target of net zero by 2038.

We also recognise the 
significance of our the 
broader38 consumption-based 
emissions that arise in other 
areas as the produce of the 
goods and services that we 
consume in the region.

2038 
We should 
introduce five-
yearly carbon
budgets to guide 
our transition 
towards net 
zero by 2038.

Figure 1: Yorkshire and Humber Greenhouse Gas Baseline and Target
60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

0
2000 2002 2004 2006

Business as Usual Baseline (Historic) (inc Aviation and Shipping)

Direct emissions have declined
44% from 2000 - 2021

Adding aviation and shipping 
increases current levels of direct 

emissions by 10%

Direct emissions including 
aviation and shipping 

emissions decline by 12%
 forecast between 2021 - 2050

Direct emissions without 
aviation and shipping 

emissions decline by 22% 
predicted between 2021 - 2050

Business as Usual Baseline (Projected) 
(inc Aviation and Shipping)

Business as Usual Baseline (Projected) 
(excl Aviation and Shipping)

Business as Usual Baseline (Historic) (excl Aviation and Shipping)
Possible pathway to meet the regional target of 2038

2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024 2026 2028 2030 2032 2034 2036 2038 2040 2042 2044 2046 2048 2050

Figure 2: Curr ent and projected (2050) sectoral breakdown of emissions for  
Yorkshire and the Humber

Yorkshire and Humber Sectors 2021

Domestic
25%

Public sector
3%

Commercial
7%

Industry
17%

Industry
14%

Commercial
5%

Public sector
4%

Domestic
31%

Waste
4%

Waste
3%

Transport
31%

Aviation and Shipping
10%

LULUCF
3%

Transport
22%

Aviation and Shipping
19%

LULUCF
2%

Yorkshire and Humber Sectors 2050
Domestic
25%

Public sector
3%

Commercial
7%

Industry
17%

Industry
14%

Commercial
5%

Public sector
4%

Domestic
31%

Waste
4%

Waste
3%

Transport
31%

Aviation and Shipping
10%

LULUCF
3%

Transport
22%

Aviation and Shipping
19%

LULUCF
2%

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

57

— NET ZERO

P
age 61



Researchers with the ESRC Place-based Climate Action Network 
(PCAN), including at the University of Leeds, have produced a suite 
of net-zero carbon roadmaps for multiple authorities around the UK, 
including Leeds, York and Kirklees. Each of the roadmaps shows the 
pathway to net zero emissions for the respective city’s climate change 
target. The roadmaps illustrate each city’s share of the global carbon 
budget to keep to 1.5oC of warming (the level of global temperature 
rise at which we risk triggering dangerous climate change) and show 
when, at current rates of emissions, this budget will be used up. 
They also set out cost-effective, more ambitious, and innovative 
interventions that will help each city reach net zero by its target date, 
and demonstrate the benefits – especially financial (in terms of energy 
savings) and years of extra employment – that doing these actions 
would result in. The roadmaps act as a guide for decision makers and 
stakeholders in each area. In Leeds, the roadmap was reviewed and 
revised following a Citizens’ Jury and it has helped to inform policy 
decisions, eg the creation of a £100m scheme to retrofit housing 
across the city. 

Download the roadmaps and infographics here

Case Study: 
Net Zero 
Carbon 
Roadmaps

Proposed Actions for the Region

 
Build on our current targets, including 
our regional target of achieving net zero 
emissions39 by 2038 with significant 
progress by 2030, but accept the UK 
Climate Change Committee’s call for these 
budgets to be extended to incorporate 
aviation and shipping emissions and to 
adopt and work towards five-yearly carbon 
budgets, while also seeking to address our 
broader consumption-based emissions40.

Take action now
59

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER— NET ZERO

P
age 62

https://pcancities.org.uk/pcan-net-zero-carbon-roadmaps


A s a region, we are 
both a significant 
energy generator and 

a large energy consumer.

Focusing only on electricity, which 
makes up around 18% of our 
total energy use, the graph below 
shows that in the last 15 years 
as a region our consumption has 
been gradually increasing, and 
that our generation of electricity 
has stayed roughly constant 
but is expected to increase 
rapidly in the coming years, 
largely because of significant 
growth in offshore wind energy. 

In the electricity generation 
sector, the use of coal has 
largely disappeared except 
for back up purposes; gas 
continues to play a significant 
role; biofuels have become 
significant, and the offshore 
wind sector that has emerged 
in the last few years will grow 
dramatically through the 2020s. 

By 2030, we predict that as a 
region we will generate nearly 
three times as much electricity 
as we currently consume. 
However, we note that significant 
increases in net zero electricity 
generation are likely to be needed 
to enable the electrification and 
hence decarbonisation of a 
significant proportion of heating 
and transport in the region. 

Looking forward, to reach net 
zero we will need to decarbonise 
the whole of the energy system in 
a joined up and integrated way. 
We need to focus on reducing 
demand, on smart and flexible 
distribution that can flexibly 
match demand with supply 
and that enables distributed 
generators to feed into the grid, 
and the incorporation of different 
forms of energy storage, on 
the lowest carbon and most 
sustainable energy sources and 
on the development of CCUS.

Energy

— NET ZERO

By 2030,  
we predict 
that as a
region we  
will generate 
nearly
three times 
as much 
electricity as
we currently 
consume.”

Figure 3: Yorkshire and Humber electricity balance: generation vs consumption

Consumption

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Natural Gas

Conventional steam (coal)

Bioenergy

Wind (offshore)

Wind (onshore)

Solar

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

61

P
age 63



Case Study: 
Offshore 
Wind, Orsted

Orsted are the global leader in offshore wind and claim to be the most 
sustainable energy company in the world. The UK is their largest 
market and they have 12 operational offshore wind farms of which five 
are in the Humber region, including the world’s largest, Hornsea One 
and Two. Orsted’s offshore wind farms are already providing clean, 
green electricity for over 4.4 million UK homes and they have a big 
ambition to create a world that runs entirely on green energy. Over 
the next few years Orsted are continuing to develop their pipeline 
of offshore wind farms and alongside this are collaborating in the 
regions where they operate to support the wider decarbonisation and 
net zero agenda through innovative green hydrogen projects such 
as Gigastack and Project Oyster. Orsted employ over 400 people 
at their East Coast Hub in Grimsby, which operates their offshore 
wind farms. Thousands work in offshore wind farm construction and 
throughout the supply chain, making them a key green employer 
in the region with much potential for growth in the future.

Find out more here

Proposed Actions for the Region

 

 

Put the primary emphasis on reducing 
demand for all types of energy as the 
most effective and efficient way of 
cutting carbon by promoting ambitious 
demand reduction and energy efficiency 
initiatives across all sectors.

Introduce smart and flexible energy 
networks by developing local/regional 
energy action plans that enable management 
and matching of supply and demand 
(including through energy storage and 
load spreading and the application of 
smart technologies) and by upgrading our 
distribution networks to proactively enable 
decarbonisation, for instance through the 
electrification of heating and transport 
and the wider uptake of hydrogen.

Support the greatly accelerated 
decarbonisation of energy supply, 
ensuring that the highest sustainability 
standards are met, recognising that: 

•  renewables such as offshore 
wind should make an increasingly 
significant contribution;

•  green hydrogen can play an important 
role where the scope for electrification 
of heating and transport is limited;

•  large scale bioenergy can play a role 
providing that competing land uses are 
accounted for in sustainability terms;

•  carbon capture, utilisation and storage 
(CCUS) could make a significant 
contribution to the decarbonisation of 
some key industrial sectors where they 
cannot decarbonise through electrification 
or switching to green hydrogen.

Promote significant expansions in 
community energy and distributed 
renewables by actively enabling and 
investing in distributed and especially 
community led/owned schemes on solar, on-
shore wind, anaerobic digestion, air/ground/
water source heating and district heating. 

Take action now
63

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER— NET ZERO

P
age 64

https://orsted.co.uk/energy-solutions/offshore-wind/our-wind-farms


Buildings

O ur homes and public and 
commercial buildings 
account for 35% of our 

total carbon emissions. 

For existing homes, we urgently 
need ambitious retrofit schemes, 
with targeted initiatives focusing 
on council and social housing, 
private rented housing and 
owner-occupied housing. Our first 
priority should be to tackle fuel 
poverty across the region but we 
need broader plans to make all 
types of homes more comfortable 
and efficient while also tackling 
carbon emissions and making 
homes more climate resilient.

We also need to design and 
construct new homes and 
communities to the highest 
possible standards across the 
whole life of the building. We should 
consider the materials used and 
the scope to integrate renewable 
energy generation and nature-
based solutions from the outset. 

We should “future proof” new 
homes and communities so that 
they do not need to be upgraded 
and retrofitted – whether for net 
zero or for climate resilience 
– within a few years of being 
built. For public and commercial 
buildings, we also need to 
ensure that developers adopt 
the highest standards of retrofit 
when buildings are changing use 
(for example, from commercial to 
residential), to encourage owners 
to invest in leased buildings 
through the development and 
wider application of green leases, 
and to promote the highest 
standards of energy management 
once buildings are operational.

A key issue is also to promote 
the transition to net zero and 
climate resilience in listed buildings 
and conservation areas. Of 
course, there may be a small 
number of buildings where this 
is impossible, but in the majority 
of cases we should make sure 
that climate considerations have 
the priority that is required as we 
invest in protecting and restoring 
heritage buildings. 

We urgently 
need ambitious 
retrofit schemes 
with targeted 
initiatives 
focusing on 
council and 
social housing, 
private rented 
housing and 
owner-occupied 
housing.”

The Climate Innovation District is a purpose-led development in Leeds, 
designed to reduce carbon emissions, change how we live in the city and 
prove that sustainable living and development is more than achievable 
at scale. The Climate Innovation District has being named the largest 
sustainable development in the UK with a growing and thriving community. 

The landscaped neighbourhood features communal areas for all 
residents, including gardens, decking and a pop-up bar across the river. 
The Climate Innovation District is home to a growing community of like-
minded people and their passion for the project is a vital marker of the 
success of the project. 

Citu owns the whole process of delivery, manufacturing the timber 
frame system used in an onsite factory with the building install led 
by in-house squads. All homes have a mechanical ventilation heat 
recovery (MVHR) system which brings in a constant flow of fresh air. 
The temperature of this air is warmed or maintained by re-using heat 
already produced in the house.

Find out more here

Case Study: 
Climate  
Innovation 
District, Leeds

Take action now
65

— NET ZERO

P
age 65

https://citu.co.uk/citu-places/secret-garden


Proposed Actions for the Region

 

 

 

 

Deliver ambitious retrofit for housing, with a 
major focus on reducing fuel poverty, through:

•  a regional retrofit scheme for 
council and social housing;

•  an initiative to promote/enable 
investment in private rented housing;

•  support for owner-occupied retrofit 
(e.g. through house-level net zero 
plans and logbooks/service records);

•  the promotion of area/neighbourhood 
retrofit schemes that address net 
zero and resilience in a joined up 
way at the community scale;

•  the development of a regional 
quality assurance programme to 
build confidence and enhance the 
performance of all retrofit activities.

Deliver ambitious retrofit and active energy 
management for public and commercial 
buildings through the promotion of buildings 
upgrades and ambitious energy management 
in sectors such as local government, health 
and education, and in the commercial sector, 
especially by promoting the highest standards 
of retrofit by building owners when buildings 
change purpose, supported through more 
innovative green leases, and through the 
widespread application of ambitious energy 
management standards by building users. 

Explore ways to better address climate 
objectives in heritage buildings and 
conservation areas by developing 
progressive design standards that allow 
old buildings to be sensitively upgraded to 
address both the net zero and resilience 
aspects of the climate challenge. 

Minimise the impact and maximise 
the contribution of new developments 
by ensuring that all new developments 
minimise energy demand through the 
adoption of the highest possible whole-
life carbon/energy management standards 
(including in sourcing, construction, use and 
reuse/disposal), whilst also incorporating 
renewables to the fullest extent possible, 
and by ensuring that new developments 
are also climate resilient and incorporate 
green spaces and nature-based solutions. 

Transport

T ransport within the region 
currently accounts for 31% of 
our direct carbon emissions. 

To address these emissions, 
we need to promote the use 
of public transport wherever 
possible by expanding public 
transport provision and improving 
coverage, especially in rural 
areas, and by promoting its 
affordability and accessibility. 
There is much that we can do in 
the next few years to promote 
the wider use of existing public 
transport links. However, some of 
the larger schemes, such as new 
train lines or new mass transit 
schemes in our urban areas, 
will take many years to build.

We also need to significantly 
increase rates of walking and 
cycling across the region 
and to promote “20-minute 
neighbourhoods” where people 
can live, play and work locally, 
thereby minimising the need 
to travel longer distances. 

Linked to this, we need to 
reduce the need for people 
to use private cars wherever 
possible, while being sensitive 
to the challenges of rural areas 
and the needs of key workers. 

Remote working and virtual 
meetings that have become so 
common in lockdown can also 
make a significant contribution 
here. The electrification of 
transport can also play an 
important role, although we need 
to consider the whole-life impacts 
of electric vehicles and accept 
that for some types of vehicle 
a switch to hydrogen as a fuel 
source may be more appropriate. 

And finally, of course, we need 
to acknowledge the increasing 
proportion of emissions that come 
from aviation. These form an 
increasingly significant part of our 
carbon footprint, and we should 
encourage all measures to tackle 
them, especially for frequent 
flyers, whilst recognising that 
some of these will require policy 
change at the national scale.

We need to 
promote the 
use of public 
transport 
wherever 
possible by 
expanding 
and improving 
provision and 
coverage, 
especially in 
rural areas.”

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

67

— NET ZERO

P
age 66



— NET ZERO

Ryedale is a rural district with market towns that service large areas 
of North Yorkshire. The area is also popular with tourists and day 
visitors. The EV charging points installation programme includes 
the long stay car parks of the market towns of Malton, Pickering, 
Helmsley and Kirkbymoorside. The aim of locating the charging 
points in the long stay car parks is to make them available to both 
local residents who don’t have access to home charging units and 
tourists. It is hoped the charging points will provide convenient 
charging points for visitors but also residents who can’t install 
charging points in their own homes. In 2020, 1125 recharges were 
recorded at the council owned charging points, which equates to 
15,700kg CO2 saved. With the addition of the new charging points 
in 2021, these figures should rise rapidly. This project has been 
funded by the Office for Zero Emission Vehicles (OZEV) and the 
Energy Saving Trust, in partnership with Ryedale District Council.

Find out more here

Rural EV 
charging

Proposed Actions for the Region

Promote public transport through the wider 
development of mass-transit schemes and 
the active promotion of more accessible, 
affordable and better integrated public 
transport schemes in both urban and rural 
areas, supported by digital technologies, 
recognising the time it will take to build 
some new infrastructure and the time it will 
take to repay the upfront carbon costs of 
construction, and the importance of the  
“last mile” in successful transport systems. 

Enable active travel through support 
for 20-minute neighbourhoods41 in cities 
and towns and especially through the 
widespread delivery of ambitious, joined 
up plans for walking and cycling and 
the wider provision of charging points 
for electric bikes and scooters. 

Minimise the need for private car 
ownership, while recognising the needs of 
rural communities and some key workers, 
by making best use of digital technologies 
for home working and virtual meetings and 
car/lift sharing, promoting compact, mixed-
use and transit-oriented development and 
by promoting behaviour change such as 
switching to active or public transport, 
supported by access to clean taxis. 

Support low emissions vehicles through 
vehicle share/loan schemes, the provision 
of electric vehicle charging infrastructure 
for cars, taxis and vans, green hydrogen 
infrastructure for heavy goods and 
agricultural vehicles and some forms of 
public transport and innovative approaches 
to logistics and last mile distribution, while 
recognising the need to consider the 
whole-life impacts of electric vehicles. 

Minimise the impacts of aviation by 
acknowledging that at pre-Covid levels our 
purchases of flights effectively added 7%  
to the region’s direct42 emissions. This could 
increase to 11% by 2030 if demand for flying 
increases and other sectors decarbonise43, 
highlighting the need to address the 
emissions associated with flying, especially 
by promoting alternative forms of travel 
and changing the behaviour of the 14% 
of people who take 70% of all flights44. 

Take action now
69

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

P
age 67

https://yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/electric-vehicles-rural-market-towns


Business, Industry  
and Infrastructure

I ndustry accounts for 17% of 
our regional carbon footprint, 
and for some of our wider 

footprint (e.g. from transport 
and commercial buildings). 

Within the region, we are already 
seeing the benefits of new 
businesses succeeding in the 
green economy. The massive 
expansion in the offshore wind 
energy sector around the Humber 
is perhaps the most prominent 
example, but multiple businesses, 
including SMEs, are succeeding 
in this rapidly expanding sector. 
We should make sure that 
this sector and the jobs it can 
provide are a central part of this 
region’s future. Developing local 
supply chains – for example, in 
the manufacturing of windows, 
insulation and heat pumps 
– could generate significant 
benefits within the region. 

Many existing businesses are also 
delivering significant reductions 
in their carbon footprint but more 
could be done to innovate and 
to promote the faster and wider 
adoption of ambitious net zero 
practices. Larger organisations 
could do a lot to support change 
by working with the suppliers 
and customers to help them 
to address their emissions.

The food and farming sector has 
a special role to play that spans 
net zero, climate resilience and 
nature/biodiversity. The significant 
changes in UK agri-environmental 
policy that are emerging now 
will have a major impact on the 
sector and on these aspects 
of our response to the climate 
and ecological emergencies. 

Our infrastructure sector in all 
of its forms also has a major 
role to play. In recent years we 
have seen exciting innovations 
in the use of nature-based 
solutions and blue-green 
infrastructure that can deliver 
multiple benefits whilst also 
being much more popular and 
more cost-effective. We ought 
to be prioritising the use of such 
approaches wherever possible. 

Within the 
region, we 
are already
seeing the 
benefits of new
businesses 
succeeding 
in the green 
economy.”

Case Study: 
Taylors of 
Harrogate

In 2020, Taylors of Harrogate became a carbon neutral business. 
To achieve this, they have followed the principles of the carbon 
hierarchy: avoiding, reducing and substituting carbon emissions. 
They then compensated the remainder in a unique way that brings direct 
benefit to people in their supply chain, including tree planting and clean 
stoves projects with their smallholder farmers. Steps taken to reduce 
their carbon footprint include designing new buildings to BREEAM 
guidelines, installing a biomass boiler and LED lighting onsite, and 
working to improve transport efficiency, a large part of their footprint. 
Taylors were also able to reduce their carbon footprint by looking at 
waste and consumption. They have sent nothing to landfill since 2017, 
and despite increasing waste volumes arising from production growth, 
their overall emissions from waste reduced by 22% from 2018 to 
2019. Taylors recommends making carbon emissions reduction a priority 
and embedding it into your business strategy, and paying attention to 
detail – small, simple changes can have impact as well as big ones.

Find out more here

Take action now
71

— NET ZERO

P
age 68

https://yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/carbon-neutral-tea-coffee


Proposed Actions for the Region

Focus economic development, business 
support and training on greening the 
region’s economy, recognising that in the 
UK in 2019 the low carbon and environmental 
goods and services sector had a turnover 
of £200 billion, employed more than 1.2 
million people and pre-Covid was growing 
at more than 7% a year45, but also focusing 
on greening the economy more broadly 
by enabling established sectors/firms and 
their work force to innovate and reposition 
themselves to succeed in a net zero, climate 
resilient economy.

Support net zero transitions in existing 
businesses by expecting the highest 
standards of energy management, 
promoting resource efficiency and the 
circular economy, integrating net zero into 
procurement and supply chains and into 
business support programmes (especially 
for SMEs), promoting sectoral and area-
based collaboration and capacity building 
and involving and training the workforce, 
enhancing access to alternative fuel sources 
(including green hydrogen), developing net 
zero industrial zones and when demand 
management and fuel switching options 
are restricted enhancing access to CCS. 

Support net zero agriculture and food 
production by developing and sharing best 
practice, promoting new start-ups in net 
zero, and sustainable, nature friendly and 
where appropriate community-based food 
production, promoting sustainable innovations 
in agriculture and food production, enabling 
changes in consumer behaviour (including 
to local/regional and seasonal produce 
and to more sustainable food sources) 
and facilitating reductions in food waste.

Support net zero infrastructure by 
introducing a presumption in favour of 
blue-green infrastructure and nature-
based solutions that avoid the need for 
more carbon-intensive grey infrastructure 
and offer attractive, skilled employment, 
and by promoting developments that 
reduce the need for potentially carbon 
intensive climate resilience measures. 

Land Use  
and Nature

L and use, land-use change 
and forestry (so called 
LULUCF) emissions are 

assessed by considering both  
the carbon that is emitted and  
the carbon that is absorbed 
across an area. 

Across the UK, LULUCF has  
been absorbing more carbon 
that it emits in recent years, 
however in Yorkshire and the 
Humber it emits more than it 
stores, and so our LULUCF 
emissions account for around 
3% of our direct emissions. 

This may be a comparatively 
small figure, but significant 
amounts of carbon are stored 
in our moorlands, woodlands, 
grasslands and soils and 
especially in our peat bogs. 
Poor land use that leads to 
degradation of these areas  
could release very large  
amounts of carbon. 

From a carbon perspective, we 
should therefore be seeking to 
protect and enhance our land 
and forests so that we can turn 
a net source of emissions into 
a net sink for emissions. Doing 
so, for example by protecting 
and restoring our peat bogs and 
supporting tree planting, would 
help to compensate for any 
ongoing emissions from other 
sectors or areas of activity. 

Aside from the carbon aspect,  
as stated above, land use also 
plays a central role in enabling 
climate resilience, and in 
responding to the ecological 
crisis by protecting natural areas 
and biodiversity. We therefore 
need to look after our land and 
protect our natural areas for a 
range of different reasons. 

The land use planning system 
has an especially important role 
to play here, for example by 
setting the highest standards 
for new developments that 
require net zero, climate 
resilience and nature-based 
solutions to be integrated 
into new developments, and 
by channelling these towards 
brownfield (e.g. former industrial) 
rather than greenfield sites.

We should 
protect and 
enhance our 
land and 
forests so that 
we can turn a 
net source of 
emissions into 
a net sink for 
emissions.”

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

73

— NET ZERO

P
age 69



Harden Moor (Ilkley, Baildon, Harden and Penistone Hill near 
Haworth) contains an active blanket bog which is permanently 
wet due to high levels of rainfall. This helps peat to form, which 
absorbs carbon and stores it more effectively than trees. Rainfall has 
increased due to global warming, which can cause flooding in the 
valleys in this area. Bradford Council has been working in partnership 
with the Environment Agency, the Peak District National Park-
based Moors for the Future Partnership and Friends of Ilkley Moor. 
The Moors for the Future project produces a variety of eco-system 
services, including flood reduction, increased biodiversity, reduction 
in carbon emissions, increased air and water quality, plus a range 
of recreational and public health benefits. The wetter moorland 
will also help reduce the risk or spread of moorland fires. The 
work includes blocking ditches and drains to keep the water on 
the land for longer, and planting sphagnum moss which holds the 
water and forms peat. The project shares best practice with other 
landowners, building local climate mitigation and resilience.

Find out more here

Case Study: 
Harden Moor 
peat bog 
management 

Proposed Actions for the Region

Promote changes in planning that put 
climate and nature at the heart of the design 
and delivery of local plans, that actively 
work towards the highest possible whole-life 
energy management standards and integrated 
renewable requirements for new buildings and 
that enable compact, connected, mixed-use 
new developments that promote resilience 
and incorporate nature-based solutions,  
blue-green infrastructure and better 
protection for natural areas.

Promote net zero in land use by 
protecting and enhancing key natural 
assets including moorlands, peat bogs, 
grasslands, soils, woodlands, wetlands, 
flood and coastal zones, and to do this 
in a way that supports sustainable food 
production whilst also fostering climate 
resilience and promotes biodiversity. 

Take action now
75

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER— NET ZERO

P
age 70

https://yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/blanket-bogs-harden-moor


Resource Efficiency and  
the Circular Economy

I n a linear economy, 
materials and goods quickly 
move through the product 

lifecycle from raw material 
extraction through the stages 
of processing, manufacturing, 
packaging, distributing, 
retailing and consuming 
before reaching the end-point 
with the final disposal of the 
product. This approach, which 
in many ways is the essence 
of unsustainable business 
and the throwaway society, is 
highly materials-intensive and 
often massively wasteful. 

In contrast, a circular economy 
focuses on the service to be 
supplied or consumed (e.g. 
mobility) rather than the product 
itself (e.g. cars), and then on 
designing ways of providing 
that service in the least energy 
and resource-intensive way. 

A key aspect of the circular 
economy is minimising demand 
for energy and materials, 
and ensuring that the energy 
and materials that are used 
stay in the system and keep 
generating social value for 
the longest time possible. 

Thinking in this way encourages 
companies to rethink their 
business models, redesign 
their products, restructure their 
supply chains and build new 
relationships with their customers 
and with other companies, all with 
the aim of doing more with less 
and becoming more sustainable. 
It also encourages consumers 
to rethink their behaviours. 
Reductions in single-use plastic 
are but the tip of the iceberg in 
what could be done to reduce the 
impacts of our consumer society. 

Promoting resource efficiency 
and the circular economy 
should be a central part of our 
response to the climate and 
ecological crises as it could lead 
to fundamental changes in the 
ways in which, as examples, 
we produce and consume food, 
design and build houses or think 
about transport and mobility. 

Case Study: 
Carbon 
negative gin

Cooper King distillery near York produces carbon negative gin – 
Every 700ml bottle of Cooper King Dry or Herb Gin removes 1kg 
more CO2 from the atmosphere than it emits. The distillery runs 
on 100% green energy and uses innovative rotary evaporators 
and cooling systems that use a fraction of the energy and water 
required to run a traditional gin still. Each bottle of gin also plants 
one square metre of native broadleaf UK woodland, thanks to their 
charity partnership with the Yorkshire Dales Millennium Trust. Over 
12,000m2 of woodland has been planted so far. Using a circular 
economy approach is integral to the business. Cooper King offer a 
bottle refill scheme, avoid single-use plastic packaging and send 
zero waste to landfill. Their ethos and strong vision has attracted 
talented employees to this growing business, ensured a steady 
flow of new customers and secured national press coverage. It 
has also led to a number of high calibre collaborations from which 
innovative products and processes have been developed. As they 
testify, taking a Circular Economy approach across their activities 
has ensured a sustainable and resilient business going forward.

Find out more here

Promoting 
resource 
efficiency and
the circular 
economy 
should be a
central part  
of our 
response to
the climate 
and ecological 
crises.”

Take action now
77

— NET ZERO

P
age 71

https://yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/carbon-negative-gin


Proposed Actions for the Region

Promote the highest standards in resource 
efficiency/waste management and the 
circular economy through initiatives that 
reduce material and energy consumption, 
facilitate circular resource flows, promote 
sharing, repairing and remanufacturing, develop 
industrial clusters that promote resource 
efficiency and facilitate sustainable waste 
management (including through energy recovery 
with the highest sustainability standards). 

Lifestyles and 
Consumption

W e know that measuring 
our carbon footprint 
based only on the fuels 

and electricity that we directly 
use within the region46 only tells 
part of the story. We also have 
to consider the carbon impacts 
associated with the goods and 
services that are made elsewhere 
but that are consumed within 
the region47. As is shown in 
Figure 4, our consumption-based 
emissions are around 80% higher 
than our direct emissions. 

While this is the picture for the 
region as a whole, within the 
region responsibility for these 
consumption-based emissions 
is not evenly spread. Recent 
research48 has found that across 
the UK each of the wealthiest 1% 
of the population generates 11 
times the carbon footprint of the 
average person in the poorest 
50% of the population, while each 
of the wealthiest 10% generates 
four times the emissions of 
someone in the poorest 50%. 

Given this inequality, Kate 
Raworth’s influential work on 
Doughnut Economics49 proposes 
that we should have floors and 
ceilings on our consumption, with 
social foundations and basic living 
standards guiding minimum levels 
of consumption, and ecological 
ceilings and planetary boundaries 
informing maximum levels. This 
work should inform our climate 
actions, for example as we 
retrofit houses to address fuel 
poverty and under-consumption 
in some areas, and focus on the 
climate and ecological impacts 
of over-consumption in others. 

The question of how we should 
address our consumption-based 
emissions is a big one. The vast 
majority of countries, regions, 
cities and so on only focus on 
their direct emissions, even 
though the potential is there for 
them to tackle their emissions 
much more effectively, efficiently 
and equitably by broadening 
their horizons and thinking 
about consumption-based 
emissions. There is much to be 
learned in this space, and much 
to be gained from doing so. 

The potential is 
there... to tackle 
emissions much 
more effectively, 
efficiently and 
equitably by 
thinking about
consumption-
based 
emissions.”

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

79

— NET ZERO

P
age 72



Figure 4: Consumption emissions vs territorial emissions for Yorkshire and the Humber

90,000

80,000

70,000

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Territorial EmissionsConsumption Emissions

2016 2017 2018
0

Case Study: 
Incredible 
Edible

In Todmorden in 2008, frustrated by lack of action on climate 
change, food security and lifestyles, a group of locals began a 
movement about food. They called it “Incredible Edible” and in two 
years, it went global. Ten years later they created a 15-acre farm 
which is now a stand-alone, not-for-profit social enterprise. The farm 
(now in a new location at Heeley Clough) is a unique project offering 
inspiring activities to engage all ages about a sustainable food future. 
The focus is primarily on permaculture and the Incredible Farm aims 
to teach small scale market gardening and farming and create the 
opportunity for young people to become involved in agriculture, food 
production and land management. Incredible Edible also started up a 
network of local food growers, which now boasts over 100 groups in 
the UK and 600 globally. The network shares values and knowledge, 
building community connections and encouraging people to develop 
cooking and growing skills. This small group in West Yorkshire has 
truly started an incredible movement.

Find out more here

Take action now
81

— NET ZERO

P
age 73

https://yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/community-benefit-farm


Proposed Actions for the Region

Address our wider impact by promoting 
more sustainable production, consumption 
and lifestyles that address our wider50 carbon 
and ecological footprint through changes 
across the lifecycle of goods and services, 
especially for key sources of consumption-
based impact such as diet, fashion and flying, 
whilst recognising the vastly uneven carbon 
impacts of lower and higher income groups 
and the value of ideas such as Doughnut 
Economics51 in informing foundations and 
ceilings for consumption. 

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

83

— NET ZERO

In responding to 
climate change we 

have the opportunity 
to improve our homes 

and communities, 
our businesses and 

economy, our transport 
and infrastructure,  

and our national parks 
and green spaces. 

P
age 74



FOR THE YORKSHIRE AND  
HUMBER CLIMATE COMMISSION

Climate change is a massive issue that demands transformative 
actions across a wide range of areas. An effective response 
clearly requires the mass mobilisation of people, organisations 
and resources. We know that these are challenging times, 
but we could wait a long time for the ideal conditions to act. 
We need to act with a sense of urgency and ambition now.

W e think that it makes 
sense to focus our 
efforts at the regional 

level. Across Yorkshire and the 
Humber, we have 22 local and 
combined authorities, a huge 
number of organisations in the 
public, private and third sectors, 
and of course our communities 
and the wider public all seeking 
to act. There is so much to be 
gained by pooling our resources 
and coordinating our efforts. 

The Yorkshire and Humber 
Climate Commission was 
established to build our capacity 
for ambitious, inclusive action 
on climate and nature. It has 
already brought people and 
organisations from across 
the region together – and this 
action plan is the result of a 
huge amount of collaboration, 
consultation and co-production 
over the last few months. 

However, the Commission is 
an independent advisory body 
with limited funding and no 
formal powers or delivery roles. 
Of course, the Commission 
needs to focus its resources on 
the highest impact activities, 
but in many instances it can 
only turn this action plan 
into reality through ongoing 
collaboration, and in some 
instances it will need to seek new 
resources to enable actions.

To play its part in the delivery of 
this ambitious action plan, over 
the next two and half years the 
Commission therefore commits 
to the following specific actions. 
(Actions that Commission will 
pursue with existing resources 
are marked A; those that it will 
pursue through collaborations 
and partnerships are marked 
B, and those where it will need 
to seek extra resources to 
enable delivery are marked C.)

On the need for action:  
the Commission will continually make 
the case for urgent action on climate and 
nature whilst providing a positive vision 
of how such action will make the region 
a better place to live and work. (A)

On equity and inclusion:  
the Commission will develop a just 
transition plan that maps the links 
between climate change and inequality 
and that assesses the ways in which 
action on climate and nature can help 
to tackle (and certainly not exacerbate) 
existing inequalities in the region. (A, B)

On community involvement:  
the Commission will develop a Citizens’ 
Forum to enable diverse voices to shape 
the climate debate (A), and explore ways 
of developing a regional network of 
Community Climate Champions. (B)

On education and awareness: 
the Commission will explore ways to 
further integrate climate and nature into 
the curriculum in schools, colleges and 
universities (B), and to enhance access 
to climate outreach and carbon literacy 
for everyone in the region, including 
through an online, open access Climate 
Leadership Programme. (B, C)

On leadership and capacity building:  
the Commission will bring forward a Climate 
Leaders’ Pledge to promote ambitious actions 
in key organisations across the region, 
including by putting climate and nature at 
the heart of their decision-making processes 
and assessing their climate readiness. (A, B)

On jobs and skills:  
the Commission will work with skills providers, 
businesses, trade unions and workers to 
develop and enhance access to climate and 
nature related training across the region. (B) 

On health and wellbeing:  
the Commission will work with health 
professionals to develop an outline strategy 
on how to address the climate and nature 
and health and wellbeing agendas in a joined 
up way to make a tangible difference for the 
most vulnerable people in our society. (B)

On innovation and best practice:  
the Commission will complete an audit of the 
science and innovation activities related to 
climate and nature in the region (A) and will 
work to develop a climate innovation network 
to enable the incubation, demonstration 
and replication of best practices. (B)

On finance and investment:  
the Commission will work with the finance 
sector to explore ways to develop a climate 
and nature finance platform for the region, 
supporting community investment in regional 
climate action wherever possible. (B) 

On economic development:  
the Commission will work with local 
authorities and others to develop an 
outline economic plan for the region 
that demonstrates how climate and 
nature can be fully integrated into our 
economic development activities. (A)

On business:  
the Commission will seek to promote the 
integration of climate and nature into business 
support and mentoring initiatives, including 
through the supply-chain and purchasing 
policies of larger organisations. (B) 

On nature and biodiversity:  
the Commission will work to develop an 
outline strategy for nature-based solutions 
and blue-green infrastructure for the region 
(A), helping the region to establish local 
nature recovery networks and maximise the 
benefits of biodiversity net gain requirements. 
It will also explore ways of developing a 
Yorkshire and Humber Nature Service. (B, C) 

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

85

— SPECIFIC ACTIONS

P
age 75



On land use and farming:  
the Commission will work with others to 
develop an outline action plan on land-use 
change, considering how to protect and 
enhance the natural capital of the region 
such as moorlands, peat bogs, grasslands, 
soils, woodlands, wetlands, flood and 
coastal zones in a way that promotes net 
zero, climate resilience and the conservation 
of biodiversity and where appropriate 
sustainable food production. (A, B)

On climate risks and resilience:  
the Commission will work with our local 
resilience forums to help incorporate climate 
risks into wider resilience strategies (A, B). 
It will also promote the development and 
spread of best practice in adaptation and 
the wider application of new approaches to 
climate risk assessment, management and 
communication, especially for businesses 
and infrastructure providers (A, B). It will 
also work with others to promote access 
to affordable flood insurance, especially for 
the most vulnerable areas and groups. (B)

On net zero targets:  
the Commission will recommend the 
adoption of five-yearly carbon budgets 
and that the regional climate target is 
expanded to include emissions from aviation 
and shipping (A). It will also introduce a 
transparent monitoring framework and annual 
reports on progress towards net zero. (A)

On energy:  
the Commission will seek resources to 
develop a regional area energy plan (or a 
nested set of local plans) (C), and will work 
with others to support the development of 
smart, flexible energy networks (B), the wider 
adoption of community energy initiatives (B), 
and the adoption of the highest sustainability 
standards for all energy sources. (B)

On homes and buildings:  
the Commission will work with others to 
support ambitious (net zero and resilience 
facing) retrofit schemes for council, social, 
private-rented and owner-occupied 
housing (B), along with the application 
of area-wide retrofit schemes (B), the 
development of best practice guides for 
the retrofit of heritage buildings (B) and the 
adoption of quality assurance schemes for 
retrofit activities (B). It will also promote 
the application of the highest whole-life 
standards for new buildings. (A, B) 

On transport:  
the Commission will work to spread best 
practice on active travel, public transport 
and low emissions vehicles (A, B), and to 
explore how we can adopt behavioural 
interventions that shape transport choices 
(including on aviation) across the region. (A)

On lifestyles and consumption:  
the Commission will develop and publish 
consumption-based carbon accounts and 
to develop a menu of options on how we 
can best address our consumption-based 
carbon and ecological footprint. (A) 

On research and evidence:  
the Commission will seek to develop a 
regional climate observatory that will assess 
risks, analyse policies, scan for best practice 
and that will develop a Sustainable Progress 
Index for the region (C). It will also work 
to establish a regional climate summer 
school and internship programme to enable 
postgraduate students to conduct their 
dissertations with/for the Commission. (C)

On collaboration:  
the Commission will work to identify and 
map the organisations and collaborations 
that have critical roles to play in responding 
to the climate emergency (A). This will enable 
the Commission to build new collaborations 
where they are needed and to support and 
strengthen existing relationships. (A, B)

On regional policy and planning:  
the Commission will work with combined 
and local authorities across the region to 
explore how best practices in policy and 
planning can be consistently developed 
and applied across the region. (A, B)

On national policy:  
the Commission will press national 
government for the policies that we need to 
deliver on our regional climate ambitions, 
for example on planning and new build 
standards, on policies for (net zero and 
resilience facing) retrofit, on policies for 
agriculture and land management and on the 
need for a national aviation strategy that is 
consistent with the 6th Carbon Budget. (A, B)

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

87

— SPECIFIC ACTIONS

P
age 76



APPENDIX 1

Across the previous sections (A Framework for Change, 
Climate Resilience, Net Zero) we have identified a 
total of 50 proposed actions for the Yorkshire and 
Humber region to take forward collectively.

— 1 
Acknowledge that the climate and 
ecological emergency is real and accept 
that not responding with the required 
urgency and ambition will both prolong 
our contribution to the problem and 
worsen the impacts on our region. 
 

— 2 
Develop a positive vision that shows how 
ambitious action on climate and nature 
at the regional scale can make Yorkshire 
and Humber a happier, healthier, fairer and 
more prosperous place to live and work. 
 

— 3
Move from targets and planning to action 
by focusing on the real-world delivery 
of ambitious, accelerated change. 
 

— 4
Commit to a just transition that ensures 
climate actions actively reduce existing 
inequalities, and both empower and enable 
all people from across the region to have 
a say in the process of priority setting, 
delivering actions and evaluating outcomes.
 

— 5
Foster shared responsibility and distributed 
leadership by recognising that we can achieve 
so much more when we all act together, 
but whilst also acknowledging the need for 
our larger institutions in government, the 
public and private sectors to lead the way.
 

— 6
Act in a joined-up way by integrating 
climate and nature into all key areas of 
activity, by demonstrating that they are put 
at the heart of all major strategic, policy, 
planning and investment decisions and 
by showing that all of our climate actions 
are fully coordinated and coherent. 

— 7
Advance education and engagement 
by integrating climate and nature into 
the curriculum in schools, colleges and 
universities, and by promoting climate 
outreach and carbon literacy for individuals 
and organisations across the region.
 

— 8
Improve skills and create jobs by targeting 
opportunities to create good quality new jobs 
in the green economy, by supporting existing 
employers and employees to adapt, and by 
developing a regional network of excellence 
in climate related training and skills provision.
 

— 9 
Accelerate investment by building a climate 
and nature financing platform that helps 
to bring forward and develop new projects 
and programmes and to connect them to 
new forms of finance and investment, with 
a particular emphasis on the scope for local 
and regional investment in and ownership 
of new initiatives so that the benefits can 
be retained and reinvested in the region.
 

— 10 
Foster collaboration and innovation by 
sharing/pooling resources and expertise and 
by stimulating innovation through a regional 
incubator/demonstrator network that allows 
good ideas to grow and people to learn from 
and replicate best practice across the region. 
 

More actions

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

89

— APPENDIX 1

P
age 77



— 11
Protect and restore the natural and ecological 
systems that we depend upon by supporting 
the sustainable management of key natural 
assets such as moorlands, peat bogs, 
grasslands, soils forests, coastal and flood 
zones, by promoting regenerative approaches 
that protect biodiversity, green spaces and 
wild areas and by supporting the transition 
from grey (e.g. concrete and steel) to blue-
green (e.g. nature-based) infrastructure.
 

— 12
Rethink how we measure progress by 
developing a sustainable progress index 
for the region that adopts a wider view 
than one singularly focused on GDP by 
measuring progress based on different 
forms of capital (human, social, natural, 
intellectual, manufactured, financial), and by 
developing a regional climate observatory 
to survey emerging issues, collate the best 
available evidence and conduct monitoring 
and evaluation that enables us to track our 
progress in an open and transparent way. 
 

— 13
Connect with national government 
to make sure we have support and 
clear, stable national policies to 
enable ambitious regional action. 
 

— 14
Develop climate risk communications 
that are tailored to different audiences to 
effectively communicate the significance 
of different types of climate risk and 
the relevance and meaningfulness of 
resilience to everyone, including through 
youth and community networking.
 

— 15
Promote inclusive climate decision making 
and the co-creation of solutions by enabling 
local people to prepare adaptation plans 
to make where they live and work “climate 
ready”, supporting the development 
of climate champions as key points of 
connection with communities, and supporting 
further climate assemblies/juries.
 

— 16
Encourage the wider adoption of area-
wide and site-specific climate adaptation 
plans and actions by combined or local 
authorities, the managers of key sites 
such as schools, hospitals, transport 
interchanges, and homeowners, recognising 
the opportunity to align with net zero 
action, for example through retrofitting.
 

— 17
Promote resilience actions that offer 
health, wellbeing and community benefits 
by reducing risks, improving resilience, 
accelerating recovery and reconnecting 
people and communities to each other 
and to nature through climate and nature-
based activities in urban and rural areas. 
 

— 18
Promote resilience in land use by restoring 
and enhancing the region’s many key natural 
assets, including moorlands, peat bogs, 
grasslands, soils, wetlands, woodlands, 
flood and coastal zones and biodiversity 
more generally, by planning and working 
across natural and political boundaries and 
by helping land use to be carbon negative as 
a contribution to broader net zero targets. 
 

— 19
Prepare the food and farming sector for 
current and future changes through research 
and innovation, skills and knowledge 
development, network building and 
stakeholder engagement, acknowledging the 
huge opportunity for farmers to help address 
the climate and ecological emergencies 
if provided with the necessary support.
 

— 20
Promoting nature-based solutions and 
the development of blue-green resilient 
infrastructure wherever possible, recognising 
that this will contribute to net zero and 
to our response to the ecological as 
well as the climate crisis, potentially to 
be delivered through a Regional Nature 
Service which encourages community 
involvement in nature and green spaces.
 

— 21
Promote climate resilience in business and 
industry through enhanced risk assessment, 
management and communication (including 
the application of ISO/BSI standards and 
guidance), and through collaboration and 
the sharing of best practice, recognising 
that larger business can play an active role 
in building capacities in SMEs through 
sector, area or supply chain cooperation.
 

— 22
Develop a regional network for climate 
readiness and resilience training to build 
applied understanding of different climate 
risks and approaches to adaptation, 
with resilience champions sharing best 
practice and fostering collaborations 
between schools, colleges, universities, 
unions, businesses, trade associations 
and chambers of commerce. 

— 23
Align all infrastructure sectors to deliver a 
regional systems approach to resilience 
planning recognising that systems interactions 
and interdependencies mean that if one part 
of our infrastructure isn’t resilient, none of it is.
 

— 24
Invest in digital infrastructure that’s 
accessible to all to enable effective 
emergency responses and strengthen back-
up provision of essential services such as 
health and education and to enable rapid 
recovery in all urban and rural areas. 
 

— 25
Build climate readiness through improved 
emergency and recovery planning 
by promoting regional climate risk 
assessment, multi-agency collaborations, 
provision of climate response training 
for emergency responders and support 
for local resilience forums.
 

— 26
Develop a whole of society approach to 
emergency response raising awareness of 
new risks to the region and the available 
hazard warning systems, followed by clear 
communications and training as to what 
individuals, communities and businesses 
should do during differing emergency 
scenarios, including opportunities for 
community volunteering as appropriate. 
 

— 27
Promote the provision and uptake of 
affordable, comprehensive flood insurance 
for home and business owners and tenants, 
particularly focusing on the communities 
least able to afford insurance and the 
communities most at risk of flooding.
 

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

91

— APPENDIX 1

P
age 78



— 28
Strengthen plans for the long-term 
management of change and loss caused by 
sea level rise by working with communities 
to manage and respond to acute events 
such as storm surges and chronic events 
including sea level rise and loss of land. 
 

— 29
Build on our current targets, including 
our regional target of achieving net 
zero emissions by 2038 with significant 
progress by 2030, but accept the UK 
Climate Change Committee’s call for these 
budgets to be extended to incorporate 
aviation and shipping emissions and to 
adopt and work towards five-yearly carbon 
budgets, whilst also seeking to address our 
broader consumption-based emissions.
 

— 30
Put the primary emphasis on reducing 
demand for all types of energy as the 
most effective and efficient way of 
cutting carbon by promoting ambitious 
demand reduction and energy efficiency 
initiatives across all sectors.
 

— 31
Introduce smart and flexible energy networks
by developing local/regional energy 
action plans that enable management 
and matching of supply and demand 
(including through energy storage and 
load spreading and the application of 
smart technologies) and by upgrading our 
distribution networks to proactively enable 
decarbonisation, for instance through the 
electrification of heating and transport and 
the wider uptake of green hydrogen.
 

 

— 32
Support the greatly accelerated 
decarbonisation of energy supply, 
ensuring that the highest sustainability 
standards are met, recognising that: 

•  renewables such as offshore 
wind should make an increasingly 
significant contribution;

•  green hydrogen can play an important 
role where the scope for electrification 
of heating and transport is limited;

•  large scale bioenergy can play a role 
providing that competing land uses are 
accounted for in sustainability terms;

•  carbon capture, utilisation and storage 
(CCUS) could make a significant 
contribution to the decarbonisation of 
some key industrial sectors where they 
cannot decarbonise through electrification 
or switching to green hydrogen

— 33
 Promote significant expansions in community 
energy and distributed renewables 
by actively enabling and investing in 
distributed and especially community led/
owned schemes on solar, on-shore wind, 
anaerobic digestion, air/ground/water 
source heating and district heating.
 

— 34
Deliver ambitious retrofit for housing, with a 
major focus on reducing fuel poverty, through:

•  a regional retrofit scheme for 
council and social housing;

•  an initiative to promote/enable 
investment in private rented housing;

•  support for owner-occupied retrofit 
(e.g. through house-level net zero plans 
and logbooks/service records);

•  the promotion of area/neighbourhood 
retrofit schemes that address net 
zero and resilience in a joined up 
way at the community scale;

•  the development of a regional 
quality assurance programme to 
build confidence and enhance the 
performance of all retrofit activities.

— 35
Deliver ambitious retrofit and active energy 
management for public and commercial 
buildings through the promotion of buildings 
upgrades and ambitious energy management 
in sectors such as local government, health 
and education, and in the commercial sector, 
especially by promoting the highest standards 
of retrofit by building owners when buildings 
change purpose, supported through more 
innovative green leases, and through the 
widespread application of ambitious energy 
management standards by building users.
 

— 36
Explore ways to better address climate 
objectives in heritage buildings and 
conservation areas by developing 
progressive design standards that allow 
old buildings to be sensitively upgraded to 
address both the net zero and resilience 
aspects of the climate challenge.
 

— 37
Minimise the impact and maximise the 
contribution of new developments by 
ensuring that all new developments minimise 
energy demand through the adoption of 
the highest possible whole-life carbon/
energy management standards (including 
in sourcing, construction, use and reuse/
disposal), whilst also incorporating 
renewables to the fullest extent possible, 
and by ensuring that new developments 
are also climate resilient and incorporate 
green spaces and nature-based solutions.
 

— 38
Promote public transport through the wider 
development of mass-transit schemes and 
the active promotion of more accessible, 
affordable and better integrated public 
transport schemes in both urban and rural 
areas, supported by digital technologies, 
recognising the time it will take to build 
some new infrastructure and the time it will 
take to repay the upfront carbon costs of 
construction, and the importance of the 
“last mile” in successful transport systems.
 

— 39
Enable active travel through support 
for 20-minute neighbourhoods in cities 
and towns and especially through the 
widespread delivery of ambitious, joined 
up plans for walking and cycling and 
the wider provision of charging points 
for electric bikes and scooters.
 

— 40
Minimise the need for private car ownership, 
while recognising the needs of rural 
communities and some key workers, by 
making best use of digital technologies for 
home working and virtual meetings and car/
lift sharing, promoting compact, mixed-
use and transit-oriented development and 
by promoting behaviour change such as 
switching to active or public transport, 
supported by access to clean taxis.

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

93

— APPENDIX 1

P
age 79



 — 41
Support low emissions vehicles through 
vehicle share/loan schemes, the provision 
of electric vehicle charging infrastructure 
for cars, taxis and vans, green hydrogen 
infrastructure for heavy goods and 
agricultural vehicles and some forms of 
public transport and innovative approaches 
to logistics and last mile distribution, while 
recognising the need to consider the 
whole-life impacts of electric vehicles.
 

— 42
Minimise the impacts of aviation by 
acknowledging that at pre-Covid levels our 
purchases of flights effectively added 7% 
to the region’s direct emissions. This could 
increase to 11% by 2030 if demand for flying 
increases and other sectors decarbonise, 
highlighting the need to address the 
emissions associated with flying, especially 
by promoting alternative forms of travel 
and changing the behaviour of the 14% 
of people who take 70% of all flights. 
 

— 43
Focus economic development, business 
support and training greening the region’s 
economy, recognising that in the UK in 
2019 the low carbon and environmental 
goods and services sector had a turnover 
of £200 billion, employed more than 
1.2 million people and pre-Covid was 
growing at more than 7% a year, but also 
focusing on greening the economy more 
broadly by enabling established sectors/
firms and their work force to innovate 
and reposition themselves to succeed in 
a net zero, climate resilient economy.
 

— 44
Support net zero transitions in existing 
businesses by expecting the highest 
standards of energy management, 
promoting resource efficiency and the 
circular economy, integrating net zero into 
procurement and supply chains and into 
business support programmes (especially 
for SMEs), promoting sectoral and area-
based collaboration and capacity building 
and involving and training the workforce, 
enhancing access to alternative fuel sources 
(including green hydrogen), developing net 
zero industrial zones and when demand 
management and fuel switching options 
are restricted enhancing access to CCS.

— 45
Support net zero agriculture and food 
production by developing and sharing best 
practice, promoting new start-ups in net 
zero, and sustainable, nature friendly and 
where appropriate community-based food 
production, promoting sustainable innovations 
in agriculture and food production, enabling 
changes in consumer behaviour (including 
to local/regional and seasonal produce 
and to more sustainable food sources) 
and facilitating reductions in food waste.

— 46
Support net zero infrastructure by introducing 
a presumption in favour of blue-green 
infrastructure and nature-based solutions 
that avoid the need for more carbon-intensive 
grey infrastructure and offer attractive, skilled 
employment, and by promoting developments 
that reduce the need for potentially carbon 
intensive climate resilience measures. 

— 47
Promote changes in planning that put climate 
and nature at the heart of the design and 
delivery of local plans, that actively work 
towards the highest possible whole-life 
energy management standards and integrated 
renewable requirements for new buildings 
and that enable compact, connected, 
mixed-use new developments that promote 
resilience and incorporate nature-based 
solutions, blue-green infrastructure and 
better protection for natural areas.

— 48
Promote net zero in land use by 
protecting and enhancing key natural 
assets including moorlands, peat bogs, 
grasslands, soils, woodlands, wetlands, 
flood and coastal zones, and to do this 
in a way that supports sustainable food 
production whilst also fostering climate 
resilience and promotes biodiversity. 

— 49
Promote the highest standards in 
resource efficiency/waste management 
and the circular economy through 
initiatives that reduce material and energy 
consumption, facilitate circular resource 
flows, promote sharing, repairing and 
remanufacturing, develop industrial clusters 
that promote resource efficiency and 
facilitate sustainable waste management 
(including through energy recovery with 
the highest sustainability standards). 

— 50
Address our wider impact by promoting 
more sustainable production, consumption 
and lifestyles that address our wider 
carbon and ecological footprint through 
changes across the lifecycle of goods and 
services, especially for key sources of 
consumption-based impact such as diet, 
fashion and flying, whilst recognising the 
vastly uneven carbon impacts of lower and 
higher income groups and the value of ideas 
such as Doughnut Economics in informing 
foundations and ceilings for consumption. 

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

95

— APPENDIX 1

P
age 80



APPENDIX 2

A Framework For Change 
1  There are a wide range of these – with 
warming leading to more forest fires that 
lead to more warming, to the melting 
of permafrost leading to releases of 
methane that lead to more warming, 
and the melting of ice caps and glaciers 
revealing ground that absorbs rather 
than reflects heat so leading to more 
warming and so on (see IPCC, 2018).

2  Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (2018) Global Warming of 
1.5oC, Special Report from the IPCC.

3  For simplicity, we use the term ‘carbon’ 
to refer to emissions of carbon dioxide 
and other greenhouse gases.

4  Defined as a 66% chance of 
limiting average global surface 
temperature warming to 1.5oC – see 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (2018) Global Warming of 
1.5oC, Special Report from the IPCC.

5  KMatrix (2021) UK Low Carbon and 
Environmental Goods and Services 
Sector: Where we were, where we 
are and where we’re going. Report 
from KMatrix Data Services Ltd. 

6  Achieving net zero means not emitting more 
carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases 
(GHGs) into the atmosphere than can be 
removed, mainly through photosynthesis 
but potentially also through carbon 
capture utilisation and storage (CCUS). 

7  Set by dividing the global carbon 
budget consistent with having a 66% 
chance of limiting average global 
surface level temperature increase 
to 1.5oC on a per capita basis.

8 Scope 1 and 2 direct emissions.

9  Robins, N. et al. (2019) Financing Inclusive 
Climate Action in the UK, Report from the 
ESRC Place-based Climate Action Network.

10  Diski, R. (2021) Preparing for a Just 
Transition in Yorkshire and the Humber, 
Report by the New Economics Foundation. 

11  Labelling this the green economy or 
calling these green jobs makes sense 
for now, but what is currently unusual 
or innovative is quickly becoming the 
new normal, and in the future every 
sector and job needs to be green. 

12  UK Climate Change Committee (2020)  
The Sixth Carbon Budget: The UK’s path  
to net zero. Report published by the CCC. 

13  I.e. the extra cost – taking into 
both costs and the benefits.

14  HMRC (2020) Individual Savings 
Account (ISA) Statistics, Report 
from HM Revenue and Customs.

15  GDP – Gross Domestic Product, 
the dominant measure of economic 
activity/growth, taking into account 
consumer and government spending, 
investment, exports and imports. 

16  Dasgupta, P. (2021) The Economics 
of Biodiversity: The Dasgupta Review, 
Report for the UK Government.

Climate Resilience 
17  Kendon et al. (2021) State of the UK Climate 

2020, Report from the UK Met Office.

18  Met Office (2018) UK Climate Projections, 
Report from the UK Met Office.

19  Climate Change Committee (2021)
Independent Assessment of UK Climate 
Risk: Advice to Government For the UK’s 
third Climate Change Risk Assessment.

20  Climate Change Committee (2021) 
Progress Report to Parliament,  
Report from the UK CCC.

Net Zero 
21   CO2 is not the only GHG. Other gases that 

also contribute to climate change include:

-  Methane, that is emitted during the 
production of coal, gas and oil, from 
the decay of organic materials such as 
waste food in landfill sites, and from 
livestock and land-use changes. 

-  Nitrous oxides, that comes from 
agriculture, industry, the burning of 
fossil fuels and wastewater treatment. 

-  Flourinated gases, that are powerful GHGs 
that are manufactured by industry, and 
used in applications such as refrigeration 
and the cleaning of electrical components.

We measure the impact of these other 
gases on global warming by referring 
to their CO2 equivalence (or CO2e).

22  David Attenborough (2021), 
contribution to the United Nations.

23  Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (2021), Climate Change 2021:  
The Physical Science Basis, 6th 
Assessment Report of the IPCC.

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER

97

— APPENDIX 2

P
age 81



24  Blunden, J. and T. Boyer (Eds) (2020) 
“State of the Climate in 2020”. Bull. Amer. 
Meteor. Soc., 102 (8), Si–S475, doi: 
10.1175/2021BAMSStateoftheClimate.1.

25 Inter governmental Panel on Climate 
Change (2018) Global Warming of 
1.5oC, Special Report from the IPCC.

26 Inter governmental Panel on Climate 
Change (2021), Climate Change 2021:  
The Physical Science Basis, 6th 
Assessment Report of the IPCC.

27 In the form of Nationally Determined 
Contributions or NDCs.

28 United Nations Envir onment 
Programme (2019) Emissions 
Gap Report, UNEP Report.

29 China, which emits 28% of world GHG  

emissions, has committed to peak it’s 
emissions by 2030 and to reach net zero 
by 2060. The US, which emits 15% of 
world GHG emissions, has committed 
to halve its 2005 level of emissions by 
2030 and to reach net zero by 2050. The 
EU (27), which emits 8% of world GHG 
emissions, has committed to reduce 
its 1990 level of emissions by 55% by 
2030, and to reach net zero by 2050. 
The UK, which emits 1% of the world 
GHG emissions, has committed to 
achieve net zero emissions by 2050.

30 Based on our scope 1 and 2 emissions –  

i.e. emissions from fuels used and from
electricity consumed in the region.

31 Factoring in on-going decarbonisation of  

UK electricity (assumed total by 2045), 
economic growth (assumed at 2.5% p.a.), 
population growth (assumed at 0.1% p.a.) 
and on-going improvements in energy 
and fuel efficiency (assumed at 1% p.a.).

32 As long as this includes all GHGs  

and is measured as CO2e.

33 Shar e determined on a per capita basis, 
with Yorkshire and Humber having 5.5 
million in a global population of 7.9 billion.

34 i.e. 66% chance, as  

determined by the IPCC.

35 Climate Change Committee (2020) Sixth  

Carbon Budget, Report from the CCC. 

36 Scope 1 and 2 direct emissions.

37 Under business as usual  

conditions, see footnote 26.

38 I.e. Scope 3.

39 Scope 1 and 2 - expressed as CO2e.

40 i.e. scope 3 emissions.

41  I.e. areas that enable people to meet 
as many of their daily needs within a 20 
minute walk of their home as possible.

42 i.e. Scope 1 and 2.

43 Based on the UK Climate Change  

Committee’s Business as Usual (BAU) 
emissions baseline for aviation. Potentially 
the sector could reduce emissions more 
rapidly, for example if it followed the CCC’s 
balanced net zero pathway for aviation (see 
CCC (2019) Sixth Carbon Budget, Report).

44 New Economics Foundation (2021) A  

Frequent Flyer Levy, Report from NEF.

45 KMatrix (2021) UK Low Carbon and  

Environmental Goods and Services 
Sector: Where we were, where we 
are and where we’re going. Report 
from KMatrix Data Services Ltd. 

46  So called Scope 1 and 2 or 
territorial emissions.

47  So called Scope 3 or consumption-
based emissions.

48  Oxfam (2020) ‘Wealthiest Brits have 
a carbon footprint 11 times that 
of someone in the poorest half of 
society’, Report from Oxfam.

49  Raworth, K. (2018) Doughnut 
Economics, Cornerstone.

50 Scope 3 or consumption-based emissions.

51  Raworth, K. (2018) Doughnut 
Economics, Cornerstone.

APPENDIX 3

Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission includes 
Commissioners who are senior leaders drawn from key 
organisations and groups across the region, including:

Asda 

Aura Innovation Centre 

Carbon Literacy Project 

CBI 

Community Energy England 

Connect Housing 

Drax Group 

East Riding of Yorkshire 
Council (Humber) 

EcoSikhUK 

Environment Agency 

Federated Hermes 

Fore Group 

Friends of the Earth 

Greenhead College 

Harrogate Borough Council 

Hull City Council 

Hull and East Yorkshire LEP 

ITV Studios 

Leeds City Council 

National Farmers Union 

National Trust 

Natural England 

NatWest 

NHS Yorkshire 
Ambulance Service 

Northern Powergrid 

Northern Gas Networks 

Project Rome 

Sewell Group 

Sheffield City Council 

Sheffield City Region 

Sikh Alliance Yorkshire 

South Yorkshire Climate Alliance 

TUC 

Transport for the North 

University of Hull 

University of Leeds 

Wakefield Council 

Yeme Architects 

York City Council 

Yorkshire Building Society 

Yorkshire Universities 

Yorkshire Water 

Yorkshire Wildlife Trust 

A full list of 
Commissioners  
is available at:  
www.yorksand 
humberclimate. 
org.uk/commissioners

99

CLIMATE ACTION PLANYORKSHIRE AND HUMBER— APPENDIX 2

P
age 82

https://yorksandhumberclimate.org.uk/commissioners


Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

24 January 2022 
 

Approval of the South Yorkshire Flood Catchment Plan 
 
Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Policy Decision 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   Yes 
 
Has it been included on the                    Yes 
Forward Plan? 
 
 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Martin Swales, Interim Director of Transport, Housing and Infrastructure 
 
Report Author(s): 
Ryan Shepherd, Senior Programme Manager (Development and Planning) 
Ryan.shepherd@SouthYorkshire-CA.gov.uk 
 
Colin Blackburn, Assistant Director – Housing and Infrastructure 
Colin.blackburn@SouthYorkshire-CA.gov.uk 
 
 
Executive Summary 
To consider and approve the Final Draft South Yorkshire Flood Catchment Plan entitled 
‘Connected by Water’. 
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
The Catchment Plan aims to help identify and secure additional funding and investment to 
reduce flood risk to homes and businesses, as well as improving the resilience of places to 
climate change and potential future flooding. 
 
Recommendations   
The Board is asked to: 
 
 Consider and approve the final draft South Yorkshire ‘Connected by Water’ Flood 

Catchment Plan; and 
 

Page 85

Agenda Item 14



 Note that a proposal will be considered by the Housing and Infrastructure Board on the 18th 
January for the use of some previously committed but unallocated MCA Gainshare funding 
(for flood resilience and mitigation) to support implementation of the Flood Catchment Plan. 

 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
South Yorkshire Flood Risk Partnership 17 November 2021 
South Yorkshire Chief Executives’ Group 25 November 2021 
Housing and Infrastructure Board 7 December 2021 
  

 
1.       Background  
1.1 Following the 2019 flood event in South Yorkshire, Mayor Dan Jarvis and Local 

Authority Leaders submitted a South Yorkshire Business and Infrastructure 
Resilience Priority Flood Programme to Government, which included the proposal 
to prepare a catchment wide flood plan covering the whole of South Yorkshire. 

  
1.2 The aim of this proposal was to develop a new more effective and integrated 

approach to future flood policy and investment, taking a holistic ‘South Yorkshire’ 
approach to cover all rivers and watercourses, rather than continuing to consider 
flood policy and investments in an uncoordinated way. It would also enable the 
potential future impacts of climate change to be taken into account and better 
understand the contribution that Natural Flood Management can play in building 
resilience and reducing future flooding 

  
1.3 Preparation of the Plan has been jointly overseen by the MCA Housing and 

Infrastructure Board and the South Yorkshire Flood Risk Partnership (SYFRP), 
and the final draft Catchment Plan (attached at Appendix A) has taken on board 
feedback from these bodies and those of wider stakeholders.  The MCA Board is 
asked to consider the plan and whether this meets the objectives set by the MCA 
Board after the 2019 flood events. If this final draft is approved, it will be used to 
guide investment into flood mitigation measures and inform long-term strategy for 
flood risk management.   

  
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 The Catchment Plan outlines the actions to be undertaken to reduce flood risk, 

mitigate climate change and support climate resilient communities across South 
Yorkshire. It will support better joint working; provides a compelling programme to 
attract potential investors; and demonstrates the measures being put in place to 
protect local communities. Importantly, it provides a clear programme of well-
developed projects to help secure the remaining investment required across South 
Yorkshire to alleviate and mitigate future flooding. 

  
2.2 The Catchment Plan is arranged around the following four Key Workstreams which 

have been developed in partnership by the MCA Executive, Environment Agency, 
the four South Yorkshire Authorities and Yorkshire Water: 
 
1. Responding to the climate emergency. 

 
2. Ensuring investment is prioritised, smart and based on evidence using the 

best available data and intelligence. 

Page 86



3. Strengthening the use of technology and operational management to build 
the capacity of Local Authorities and other Risk Management Authorities to 
work together more effectively on an operational basis. 

4. Community engagement and resilience. 
  
2.3 The Catchment Plan encompasses activities already underway as well as new 

innovative actions, with lead and supporting organisations identified for each 
action and an indicative timescale for completion. 

  
2.4 
 

Subject to approval by the MCA Board, it is intended that Mayor Jarvis will formally 
launch the Catchment Plan on 28 January 2022. Due to Covid restrictions this will 
now be a virtual webinar launch led by Mayor Dan Jarvis with other speakers 
including the Chair of the Environment Agency and the Chief Executive of 
Yorkshire Water.  The launch event will bring together partners involved in 
preparing and delivering the Catchment Plan, along with wider stakeholders. 
Alongside this, wider public engagement will be launched through the Environment 
Agency’s online consultation website. 

  
2.5 
 

The MCA Housing and Infrastructure Board will oversee the delivery of the Plan 
and future reviews, with the South Yorkshire Flood Risk Partnership coordinating 
implementation.  Periodic updates will be provided to the MCA Board. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 Option 1 
 To approve the final draft South Yorkshire Flood Catchment Plan. 
  
3.2 Option 1 Risks and Mitigations   
  
 Risk: That delivery partners are unable to commit to implementing the Flood 

Catchment Plan once completed.  
Mitigation: The 4 South Yorkshire Local Authorities, alongside other partners, 
have been involved with the development of and have ownership over the Plan. 
The Plan ensures each of the actions specify which bodies are responsible for 
and will contribute to their delivery. 
 

 Risk: That sufficient funding is not available to deliver the actions in the 
Catchment Plan 
Mitigation: At present we are unable to mitigate to any great extent the issue of 
lack of funding. All key partners are however currently considering how they 
could contribute resources to fund the immediate and longer-term actions. 

  
3.3 Option 2 
 To not approve the final draft South Yorkshire Flood Catchment Plan. 
  
3.4 Option 2 Risks and Mitigations    
 The key risk with this option is that there would continue to be no consistent 

approach adopted across South Yorkshire to address flood risk, and different 
partners and resources would approach flood policy and investment in an unco-
ordinated way.  

  
 

Page 87



3.5 Recommended Option 
 Option 1 is recommended, to put in place a shared, joined-up strategic approach 

to flood mitigation and to maximise resource targeting and effectiveness. 
  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
  
4.1 Both the MCA Housing and Infrastructure Board and the South Yorkshire Flood 

Risk Partnership (SYFRP) have jointly overseen the development of the Flood 
Catchment Plan. Preparation has also been informed by engagement with a range 
of stakeholders.  

  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
5.1 The SYFRP, on behalf of the Department of Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs 

(DEFRA), endorsed the draft Catchment Plan at its recent meeting in November 
2021. The MCA Housing and Infrastructure Board received the draft Catchment 
Plan at its meeting on 7 December 2021 and endorses the plan to the MCA Board 
and recommends its approval.  

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 The Environment Agency provided lead resources for preparing the Catchment 

Plan, with the MCA Executive and other partners providing in-kind support to the 
process. Work is underway to identify and secure resources and funding to deliver 
the Catchment Plan over the coming years. There are a number of immediate 
actions over the next year that will require additional funding to progress. A 
proposal will be considered by the Housing and Infrastructure Board at its meeting 
on the 18th January 2022, to utilise some of the previously committed but 
unallocated £0.5m MCA Gainshare funding (to support flood resilience and 
mitigation) to support the implementation of the Catchment Plan. The proposals 
will need to meet the conditions of funding, namely matching capital activity to 
capital funding.  Other partners are similarly considering how they may be able to 
support delivery.  

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 There are no human resources implications directly arising from this report.  
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 There are no equality and diversity implications directly arising from this report.  
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 The climate and nature emergency requires a strong collective response to carbon 

reduction and to be more resilient to the impacts of climate change. The 
Catchment Plan will contribute by capturing actions of partners to reduce flood risk 
and build climate resilience across South Yorkshire, improving information and 

Page 88



evidence to support decision making, and support investment decisions and 
delivery. It may also support the delivery of net zero targets by the provision of 
carbon sequestration. 

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 None as a direct result of this report. 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   
  
12.1 Communications on DEFRA Grant in Aid funding is managed by the Environment 

Agency, with work by Local Authorities to communicate directly with impacted 
communities on individual schemes. Subject to approval, it is intended to launch 
the Flood Catchment Plan on 28 January 2022 which is involving the MCA 
Executive Communications Team. 

  
List of Appendices Included 
  
A Final Draft ‘Connected by Water’ South Yorkshire Flood Catchment Plan 
 
Background Documents 
None  

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Action Plan  
January 2022

DRAFT

A South Yorkshire alliance, working 
together to build flood resilience and 
respond to the climate emergency

Appendix A

Page 91



Along with the key partners  
of the South Yorkshire 
alliance, a number of 
supporting organisations 
are crucial to the delivery  
of this plan.

University of Sheffield
University of Leeds
Peak District National Park Authority
Yorkshire & Humber Climate Commission
South Yorkshire Flood Risk Partnership
Yorkshire Regional Flood  
& Coastal Committee
River Stewardship Company
South Yorkshire Local Nature Partnership
Royal Society for the Protection of Birds
Yorkshire Wildlife Trust
Don Catchment Rivers Trust
Natural England
Chesterfield Borough Council
Derbyshire County Council
Moors for the Future
Sheaf and Porter Rivers Trust
Sheffield and Rotherham Wildlife Trust
Bradfield Parish Council
Sheffield United Football Club 
Community Foundation
Sheffield Hallam University

Stocksbridge Town Council
South Yorkshire Archaeology Service
Steel Valley Project
Sheffield Lakeland Landscape 
Partnership
National Highways
Don Dearne Rother Catchment Network
Anglian Water
North East Lincolnshire Council
Wild Trout Trust
Network Rail
Yorkshire and Humber Drainage Boards
Doncaster East Internal Drainage Board
Coal Authority
National Farmers Union
Canal and Rivers Trust
Local Resilience Forum
Met Office
Northern Powergrid
National Trust
Forestry Commision
Woodland Trust

This is only the beginning. The list of organisations supporting 
this plan will continue to grow as the plan develops. 

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

2

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Page 92



A South Yorkshire alliance, 
working together to build 
flood resilience and respond 
to the climate emergency

Why is this Connected by Water Plan needed? 4

Climate change impact 5

The potential for nature base solutions 8

Learning by doing 9

Investing in flood risk 10

Case studies 12

How we will deliver the plan 21

Plan Themes 

 1: Responding to the Climate Emergency  23

 2: SMART Investment  31

 3: Technology and Operational Management  37

 4: Communication, Engagement and Building Resilience 43

Appendix 1 49

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

3

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Page 93



Why is this Connected  
by Water Plan needed?

The flooding in November 2019 provided the  
catalyst for the creation of this Connected by Water 
Plan. One of the wettest autumns on record led to 
unprecedented river levels, and widespread flooding 
across South Yorkshire. 

Communities were evacuated from their homes, 
precious belongings ruined, businesses devastated, 
infrastructure severely disrupted and people unable  
to return to their homes for many months. As the flood 
water subsided, communities, businesses and senior 
leaders asked how can we reduce the risk and impact 
of flooding across the region? 

 Picture Location: River Don, 
Sheffield, Yorkshire

4

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

4Page 94



The stark reality is that climate change is leading to rising sea levels 
and wetter winters with more intense rainfall. All factors that will 
increase the risk of flooding from the rivers, surface water and the 
public sewer network across South Yorkshire. 

If we’re to meet this challenge and reduce both the risk and impact  
of flooding in the future, we cannot stand still. Unless we do more,  
our communities will struggle to cope with the increasingly  
catastrophic impacts of more frequent and severe floods.

Climate change impact

 Picture Location: 
Rotherham Town Centre

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

5Page 95



A lot of work has been done to better protect communities 
across South Yorkshire since the previous major flood event  
in 2007. However, the shock of the 2019 floods linked to the 
reality of climate change, has led to the formation of the  
South Yorkshire alliance. This alliance is determined to explore 
all measures to both adapt to and mitigate climate change  
in the South Yorkshire region. Since November 2019, we’ve been 
working together, not only to deliver flood risk management 
schemes on the ground, but also to plan catchment-wide 
measures for the future to help meet the challenges of  
climate change.

The South Yorkshire alliance will work with communities  
and partners to deliver this Connected by Water Plan.  
This plan outlines the actions the South Yorkshire alliance  
will take to reduce the risk of flooding and develop more 
resilient communities who can adapt to the future impacts  
of climate change.

If we’re to meet this challenge 
and reduce both the risk and 
impact of flooding in the 
future, we cannot stand still.

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

66

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Page 96



/////////////////
//
///
/////////////////////////////////

//
//

///

/////////////////////////// /////////// /
///
///
///
///
///
///
///

////////////// /////
/////

/////
//////////////

///////////////////////////////////////////////////////////////////

/////////////////////////////////////////////////////////////////////////
////////////////////////////////

//////////
/////

//
//
//
//
//

////
////

///
//
//
//
//

////
////

////
//
//
//
//
//
//
//

///
///
///
///

//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
/ ////

///////
///////

///////
///////

/// /
///
///
///
///
//////

//////// //////
//////

Sheffield

Rotherham

Barnsley

Derbyshire

Doncaster

Local Authority 
boundaries

Rivers

Plan boundaries

South Yorkshire 
boundary

//////////////

South Yorkshire covers largely 
the same geographical area as 
the catchment of the River Don.  
This plan covers the whole of 
the Don catchment, extending 
into Derbyshire which falls 
outside South Yorkshire.

7

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

7Page 97



 Picture Credit: XXXXXXXXX 
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

The potential for  
nature-based solutions

The landscapes and rivers which make South Yorkshire vulnerable 
to flooding, are also some of its most precious assets. The uplands 
of the River Porter, Rivelin, Loxley in Sheffield, and in the River 
Dearne in Barnsley, give us beautiful moorland landscapes. These 
uplands lead into wetland nature reserves along the Dearne and 
Rother in Barnsley and Rotherham, and on to nationally significant 
lowland peat bogs around the Lower Don in Doncaster. 

Restoring and developing these natural landscapes will help to  
slow and store water, help nature recover, and provide wildlife-rich 
environments for people to thrive in.

Nature-based solutions form a key element of this plan. These 
measures will not only reduce flood risk but will mitigate climate 
change and restore nature by storing carbon and protecting the 
environment that we all love and depend on.

 Picture Location:  
Upper Don, Sheffield

8

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Page 98



Learning by doing

This is intended to be a ‘living plan’ because we don’t yet  
have all the answers. We’ll build and shape this plan based on 
emerging data, knowledge and opportunities over the coming 
months and years. It will evolve and change as we learn more 
and develop actions together.

This plan is a showcase for the actions we’re currently taking  
to reduce flood risk and build climate resilience across South 
Yorkshire, providing visibility of the projects already underway  
to support better collaboration. It’s a compelling programme  
that will attract potential investors, whilst also giving 
communities confidence that work is happening in their area.

 Picture Location and Credit:  
Newfield Spring Wood, North East Derbyshire. 
Debbie Coldwell, Upper Rother NFM officer  
with Don Catchment Rivers Trust.

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

99Page 99



Investing in reducing flood  
risk is vitally important

The impact of flooding is far reaching. It can cause serious injury and 
loss of life. It leads to long term misery for those whose homes have 
flooded, severely affecting mental health and wellbeing. 

Flooding disrupts businesses, transport infrastructure, utilities, 
workplaces and public services (including health care, emergency 
services, social care and schools). The risk of flooding can also prevent 
economic regeneration, stop new housing being built and cause 
businesses to close with resulting job losses. 

 Picture Location:  
Fishlake, Doncaster 2019 Floods

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

1010 Page 100



1 
16

Investing in flood risk management is vitally important. If you’re  
an investor looking to support economic growth, business 
resilience, transport infrastructure, housing development, 
mental health, job creation and protection, then investing in 
flood risk management supports all these benefits and more. 

Moreover, by using nature-based solutions as part of our 
approach to reduce flood risk, investment can also unlock 
further benefits in terms of carbon reduction, environmental 
improvements, and a re-connection with nature. 

For every £1 spent on protecting communities, we avoid 
around £5 in property damages. 

An overview of the South Yorkshire Flood Risk Management 
Investment Programme is provided in Appendix 1. 

For every single person 
whose home is flooded, 
sixteen further people  
are impacted.

11

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

11Page 101



Successful project  
delivery case studies

The alliance leading South Yorkshire’s response to flood  
risk are experienced in delivering successful flood risk 
management schemes. In response to the 2019 floods,  
we collectively delivered over £20 million of flood  
repair works, from clearing drains to rebuilding flood 
embankments across South Yorkshire. Overleaf are 
further examples of the projects which have recently 
been completed.

 Picture Location: 
Broomhead Reservoir

12

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Page 102



Fishlake, Doncaster: Investment to better protect 300 homes1.A

Following the devastating impact of the 2019 flood, the flood 
defences in Fishlake were subject to a £3 million programme  
of recovery works. These works were completed in June 2021  
and included strengthening embankments and improving the 
condition of existing defences. With much of the work being 
carried out during the COVID 19 pandemic, a key part of the 
successful delivery of the works was the proactive use of  
different methods of communication between the Environment 
Agency, Doncaster Council, local community groups and other 
partners. Examples include regular attendance at the online 
Fishlake Parish Council and Flood Action Group meetings and the 
sending out of regular newsletters, which enabled key information 
and any issues to be shared and dealt with on a timely basis. 
Overall, this investment will help to improve and sustain the 
future performance and condition of critical flood defences  
for the area.

Case Study 1.A:  
Post 2019 South Yorkshire Flooding: 
Recovery and Investment 

13

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

13Page 103



Bentley Ings Pumping Station, Doncaster:  
Investment to better protect 1,669 homes 

Bentley Ings Pumping Station was built in the early 1940s to 
manage surface water because of mining subsidence. It is a key 
flood defence which protects 1,669 local properties from surface 
water flooding. Following the completion of a £12 million 
refurbishment scheme in 2021, it has been totally transformed. 
Capacity has been increased by 20%, achieving a carbon saving  
of 24%. The site has now become significantly more flood resilient, 
allowing access to the site and the pumps to continue operating 
during flood events. 

Case Study 1.B:  
Post 2019 South Yorkshire Flooding: 
Recovery and Investment 

1.B

14

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

14Page 104



Case Study 2:  
Rotherham Renaissance  
Flood Alleviation Scheme
When complete, the Rotherham Renaissance Flood Alleviation  
Scheme will extend along 5km of the River Don through 
Templeborough, Rotherham Town Centre and Parkgate.  
The Templeborough phase of the scheme was completed  
in 2008, at a cost of £15.7million. Between 2009 and 2011,  
£1.3 million was spent on the Rotherham Town Centre phase. 
Work is continuing on this phase, with construction ongoing  
at several sites. The initial phases of the scheme provided the 
catalyst for this ongoing work and the future Parkgate phase. 

To date, the scheme has reduced the risk of flooding to key  
roads, the rail network and over 100 businesses. Improving key 
employment areas in Rotherham through securing existing jobs 
and creating new ones. 

15

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Page 105



Completed in 2017, this £20 million scheme on the River Don  
in Sheffield better protects over 300 businesses, securing 
approximately 5,000 jobs. 

The scheme was innovative both in its use of a Business 
Improvement District and in the use of a social enterprise,  
the River Stewardship Company, to provide channel maintenance 
and engage with volunteers to support river maintenance and 
riverside enhancement. Environmental enhancements delivered  
by the scheme include the installation of a fish pass at Sanderson’s 
Weir on the River Don. The scheme has been designed to allow  
for the provision of further climate adaptation in the future.

Case Study 3:  
Sheffield Lower Don Valley 
Flood Alleviation Scheme

16

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

16Page 106



Yorkshire Water has invested £78 million into Blackburn Meadows 
waste water treatment works to meet future challenges of 
predicted population increase and more extreme weather caused 
by climate change. This investment delivered an improved ability  
to operate during times of heavy rainfall, a significant improvement 
in the quality of the water discharged into the river and enhanced 
treatment capabilities in preparation for the predicted increase in 
South Yorkshire’s population.

By reducing the level of ammonia discharged into the River Don 
from the site down to a quarter of its previous level, Yorkshire’s 
freshwater wildlife is able to thrive downstream of the works.

Improvements to the storm overflow system, which holds 
additional volumes of waste water during periods of heavy rainfall, 
reduces the risk of flooding and pollution incidents in the vicinity  
of the works.

Further environmental benefits were delivered through a new 
Sludge Digestion Plant, which disposes of sludge by breaking it 
down to generate bio-gas and a compost product which can be 
recycled back to land. The bio-gas can be used further to produce 
electricity to power the site and make our operations more 
sustainable in the long term.

Case Study 4:  
Blackburn Meadows Waste Water 
treatment works upgrade

17

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

17Page 107



New project  
case studies

The partners at the forefront of the South 
Yorkshire alliance have developed new  
and innovative actions as part of the plan.  
These are a couple of examples of the joint 
proposals which have emerged from this 
collaborate approach.

 Picture Location: Matilda Street, 
Sheffield

18

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

18 Page 108



We’re collaboratively developing a multimillion-pound Source  
to Sea nature-based solutions programme on the River Don. This 
programme is split into three projects: the Upper Don (Peak District 
National Park and Sheffield), Middle Don (North East Derbyshire, 
Rotherham and Barnsley) and the Lower Don (Doncaster). Each of 
these will build upon existing projects, partnerships, local strategies 
and initiatives to implement a variety of nature-based solutions to 
slow the flow and create more space for water. 

The Upper Don project is the first of the three to be developed, 
primarily focusing on slowing the flow and storing water in 
Sheffield’s hills. We’re currently developing a series of demonstrator 
sites in the Limb Valley, Upper Don Valley and the Peak District, 
considering measures such as restoring upland peatlands, creating 
ponds and wetlands, and soil management. These demonstrator 
sites will test, trial and monitor different ways of delivering nature-
based solutions, which will in turn inform the development of the 
wider Source to Sea programme.

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

19

Case Study 5:  
River Don, Source to Sea – Nature 
Based Solutions Programme 

Page 109



Flood risk 
management projects

Rivers

Infrastructure

Historical flooding

Land use

Proposed housing and 
employment locations

All layers

Case Study 6:  
South Yorkshire Flood Risk 
Investment Tool
We’re working collaboratively to develop the concept of the South 
Yorkshire Flood Risk Investment Tool. This tool will bring together 
flood risk data and evidence from across the region, to inform 
future investment in flood risk management, ensuring investment  
is targeted to maximise flood risk benefits in South Yorkshire.  
This tool will also bring together information on wider investment  
and funding opportunities, to enable us to proactively identify 
additional sources of funding to enable further flood risk 
management schemes. 

20

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

20

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Page 110



Each action in the plan has a lead organisation or organisations,  
who are responsible for completing that action, with an 
indicative timescale for when it will be completed. The lead 
organisation will report on progress on an annual basis to both 
the Mayoral Combined Authority and the South Yorkshire Flood 
Risk Partnership. The South Yorkshire alliance steering group  
will continue to meet on a monthly basis to review progress, 
address blockers and ensure support for delivery partners.

Some actions will lead on to other actions – for instance when 
some investigative or planning work is needed to determine  
the best course of action. When the plan is reviewed each year, 
these actions will be updated so there is always a current 
summary of the activity across the plan at any one time. This will 
also enable new information, technology or funding sources to 
be explored and integrated to ensure new opportunities and 
innovations are maximised. 

How is the plan going  
to be delivered?

To deliver the plan, an alliance has been formed between:

It’s also supported by a wide range of other partners and 
organisations, which will increase further as the plan develops.

21

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

21Page 111



The remainder of this plan is split into four themes,  
which we’ve collectively identified as our key priorities to 
reduce flood risk, mitigate climate change and support 
climate adaptation and resilience across South Yorkshire. 
These four themes are as follows:  

1: Responding to the Climate Emergency

2: SMART Investment

3: Technology and Operational Management

4: Communication, Engagement and Building Resilience 

An introduction to each theme is provided in the following 
four sections of the plan, with each section containing an 
action table. These action tables are split into new, innovative 
actions that have been developed as part of the plan and 
actions we’re already undertaking and developing.

Plan themes

22

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

22Page 112



Theme 1:  
Responding to the  
Climate Emergency 

Urgent action is needed to  
mitigate further climate change  
and reverse biodiversity loss  
and environmental destruction.

 Picture Location: Hope Valley, 
the Peak District

23

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Page 113



We are facing the unprecedented and interdependent crises  
of climate change and biodiversity loss. These two challenges 
together are the most pressing issues of our time and an 
existential threat to human welfare, prosperity and life on earth. 
Globally, nationally and regionally, biodiversity is declining faster than at  
any time in human history, and the world is still heading for a temperature 
rise in excess of 2°C this century – far beyond the Paris Agreement goals of 
limiting this increase to 1.5°C. 

Around one million species already face extinction unless urgent action is 
taken to address the key drivers of biodiversity loss. More than three quarters 
of the Earth’s land surface has been significantly impacted by human activity 
and just 16% of our natural ecosystems remain relatively intact. Climate 
change is both a direct driver of biodiversity loss and is itself exacerbated  
by it. 

Urgent action is needed to mitigate further climate change, and halt  
and reverse biodiversity loss and environmental destruction.

Theme 1:  
Responding to the  
Climate Emergency 

 Picture Location: 
Broomhead Reservoir

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

24Page 114



The UK is expected to experience drier summers and wetter 
winters, with increases in the intensity of summer and autumn 
rainfall events.

—

Sea levels around the UK will continue to rise. In Yorkshire if 
temperatures were to increase by 4°C, based on planning for  
the worst case, we would expect to see a 0.83 to 1.1m rise in  
sea level by 2100. This will increase flows on tidal rivers,  
including the Lower Don.

—

Due to the projected increase in rainfall and sea level rise, 
flooding in South Yorkshire will become more frequent and  
severe in the future. 

Based on the 2018 UK Climate Projections (2018): 

A changing climate  
in South Yorkshire 

 Picture Location:  
Darfield Bridge, Barnsley

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

25Page 115



To become a region more resilient to a changing climate  
we need to take action to adapt, now. This means we 
need to embrace the uncertainties around the likely 
impacts and adopt flexible approaches to building 
resilience. The alarm call of extinction is sounding loudly 
across our region with many species being pushed to 
the brink – it’s not just something happening overseas 
but on our doorstep.
This theme seeks to reduce flood risk whilst delivering multiple 
benefits in terms of our response to the climate emergency in 
South Yorkshire. We will integrate policy, best practice and the 
latest research into our approach to this theme. This includes the 
UK’s third Climate Change Risk Assessment 2021, Ciria guidance on 
natural flood management practice, National Planning Policy and 
working with the University of Sheffield, the Institute for Climate 
and Atmospheric Science at the University of Leeds and the 
Yorkshire and Humber Climate Commission. This theme will also 
align and complement existing and emerging national, regional 
and local level plans and strategies. These include the Humber 
Flood Risk Management Plan, Humber Strategy, South Yorkshire 
Local Nature Recovery Strategy, individual organisations carbon 
strategies and each Council’s Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy and Local Plans. 

 Picture Location and 
Credit: Newfield Spring Wood,  
North East Derbyshire. Debbie 
Coldwell, Upper Rother NFM 
officer with Don Catchment 
Rivers Trust.

26

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

26

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Page 116



2727

The actions in the following table reflect our ambitions  
for this theme and how, by working collaboratively across  
our organisations, these will be achieved. Actions we’re  
already undertaking and developing as a partnership  
to support this theme are also listed. 

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

1.1 Undertake high level, regional, analysis of the UK’s third Climate 
Change Risk Assessment 2021 (CCRA3). This analysis will consider 
how flood risk interacts and links with the other risks identified in 
this assessment. To identify threats and opportunities that need  
to be considered as part of this plan going forward. 

2022 Environment 
Agency

Yorkshire Water
Sheffield City Council

1.2 To establish how we can interact with regional climate groups,  
to provide a regional structure and enable collaborative and 
streamlined ways of working.
Step 1: To identify all regional climate plans and groups  
and map out the relationships between these groups. 

Step 1: 
2022 

Environment 
Agency

Yorkshire Water
Sheffield City Council

1.3 Following completion of the South Yorkshire Natural Capital 
Mapping exercise, review this data in relation to flood risk benefits 
and future flood risk management activities. This review will 
identify any additional economic assessment work required. 

2022 Environment 
Agency

South Yorkshire 
Mayoral Combined 
Authority
Yorkshire Water

1.4 To create a collection of case studies to share with external 
audiences to showcase best practice and support the delivery  
of actions to respond to the climate emergency. 
Step 1: To scope the topics we want these case studies to cover 
and identify what already exists. E.g, case studies of partnership 
approaches, multiple objectives, sustainable drainage and 
innovative ways of assessing benefits. 

Step 1: 
2022

Environment 
Agency

Yorkshire Water
Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council
South Yorkshire 
Mayoral Combined 
Authority
Yorkshire and Humber 
Climate Commission

1.5 As part of the Yorkshire Adaptation Pathways project undertake  
flood modelling to assess how climate change scenarios will  
affect the South Yorkshire region. This will in turn inform how  
we respond and manage the affects. 
Step 1: Scope the modelling work required, by undertaking gap 
analysis and identifying stakeholders to co-design the delivery  
of this work. 

Step 1: 
2022

Environment 
Agency

1.6 To develop and deliver flood risk benefits through the  
planning system.
Step 1: To establish whether undertaking a water cycle study  
for South Yorkshire would be valuable in terms of flood risk 
opportunities and constraints in relation to new housing proposals.

Step 1: 
2022

Environment 
Agency

1.7 Develop a roadmap to set out how we want to decarbonise our 
multi-agency flood risk activities in South Yorkshire, aligning with  
our respective carbon targets.
Step 1: To initially consider in Sheffield, to inform this roadmap / 
approach on a regional scale.

Step 1: 
2023

Environment 
Agency

Sheffield City Council
Yorkshire Water
South Yorkshire 
Mayoral Combined 
Authority

Responding to the climate  
emergency action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 117



28

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

1.8 Following completion of the South Yorkshire Natural Capital 
Mapping exercise, consider what future land use changes mean 
for flood risk interventions in relation to Local Plans, the Local 
Nature Recovery Strategy, the Environmental Land Management 
Scheme and Biodiversity Net Gain. The overall aim of this action is 
to represent how we are going to deliver nature based solutions  
across South Yorkshire spatially on a map. 
Step 1: Initially consider two areas within Sheffield (one in the  
upper catchment and one in the lower catchment) to inform  
how to approach this on a regional scale.

Step 1: 
2024

Environment 
Agency
Sheffield City 
Council

South Yorkshire Local 
Nature Partnership
South Yorkshire 
Mayoral Combined 
Authority
Yorkshire Water

1.9 Create a South Yorkshire wide strategy to inform to how flood  
risk investment can enable Biodiversity Net Gain, aligning with our 
collective targets, considering individual projects and the impact 
of management and maintenance on biodiversity. 
Step 1: Initially consider two areas within Sheffield (one in the  
upper catchment and one in the lower catchment) to inform  
the development of a strategic approach on a regional scale.

Step 1: 
2024

Environment 
Agency
Sheffield City 
Council

Yorkshire Water

1.10 To develop a South Yorkshire Monitoring Plan, to monitor  
progress and impact in terms of actions in relation to the climate 
emergency across the region. 
Step 1: To determine what we want to know, how we start to bring 
this together and propose potential methods of monitoring this. 

Step 1: 
2024

Environment 
Agency

Yorkshire Water
Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council
South Yorkshire 
Mayoral Combined 
Authority

1.11 Develop and deliver the Houghton River Restoration and  
Fish/Eel Pass scheme to improve migratory fish populations  
in the River Dearne.

2027 Environment 
Agency

Royal Society for the 
Protection of Birds

1.12 Develop and deliver project works with the Dearne Valley  
Green Heart Partnership to improve river habitats and deliver 
nature-based solutions to reduce flood risk.
Step 1: Deliver work on the Dearne at Smithies, Barnsley to 
reconnect the flood plain, create wetland habitat and improve 
in-channel habitat.
Step 2: Deliver work on the Dearne at the Fleets, Barnsley to 
reconnect the flood plain, create wetland habitat and improve 
in-channel habitat. 

Step 1: 
2022
Step 2: 
2023

Environment 
Agency

Yorkshire Wildlife Trust
Royal Society for the 
Protection of Birds 
Don Catchment  
Rivers Trust
Natural England
Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Derbyshire County 
Council

1.13 Continue to develop and deliver Sheffield city retrofit green  
blue infrastructure.

Ongoing Sheffield City 
Council

Yorkshire Water

Responding to the climate  
emergency action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 118



2929

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

1.14 Develop and deliver the Hidden Rivers Secret Streams project,  
to improve river habitat and reconnect local communities with 
the river Rother in Chesterfield.

2022 Don 
Catchment 
Rivers Trust

Environment Agency
Chesterfield Borough 
Council 
Derbyshire County 
Council

1.15 Investigate the Dale Dike catchment on the River Loxley, 
Sheffield, to identify the scope of peatland restoration works 
required for Yorkshire Water’s seventh Asset Management Plan 
(AMP7) to meet the obligations of the Water Industry National  
Environment Programme (WINEP).

2022 Yorkshire 
Water

Moors for the Future

1.16 Develop and deliver the Putting the Sheaf Back into Sheffield 
project, to improve river habitat and reconnect local 
communities with the River Sheaf in Sheffield City Centre. 

2023 Sheffield City 
Council

Environment Agency
Sheaf and Porter 
Rivers Trust

1.17 Develop and deliver the Sheffield Lakeland Landscape 
Partnership Project work, to improve biodiversity, create habitats, 
reduce flood risk and diffuse pollution in the valleys to the west 
of Sheffield.

2023 Sheffield and 
Rotherham 
Wildlife Trust

Sheffield City Council
Environment Agency
Natural England
Yorkshire Water 
Bradfield Parish 
Council
Sheffield United 
Football Club 
Community 
Foundation
Hallam University 
Stocksbridge Town 
Council 
South Yorkshire 
Archaeology Service
Steel Valley Project

1.18 Develop and deliver the Wilder Waterways partnership project,  
a series of nature-based solutions in the Doncaster area  
(initial focus is the Bentley and Conisbrough) which includes 
wetland creation, tree planting and flood plain reconnection. 

2023 Don 
Catchment 
Rivers Trust

Environment Agency
Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Yorkshire Wildlife Trust

1.19 Underbank reservoir tree planting to slow the flow, enhance  
water quality and increase biodiversity in Stocksbridge, Sheffield.

2023 Yorkshire 
Water

Sheffield City Council 
Sheffield Lakeland 
Landscape 
Partnership

1.20 Peatland Restoration in the catchments of Langsett, Ewden  
and Loxley Water Treatment Works.

2024 Yorkshire 
Water

Moors for the Future

1.21 Develop and deliver the Sprotbrough Ings project to create  
and restore habitats, raise flood awareness and reconnect 
people in the Hexthorpe area with the River Don.

2025 Don 
Catchment 
Rivers Trust

Environment Agency
Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council 
Yorkshire Wildlife Trust

1.22 Develop and deliver a Natural Flood Management scheme in 
Conisbrough, Doncaster.

2025 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

Responding to the climate  
emergency action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 119



30

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

1.23 Develop and deliver a Natural Flood Management Scheme in 
Tickhill, Doncaster. 

2025 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

1.24 Develop and deliver the Rotherham River 3 Programme of 
environmental enhancement works to improve flood plain 
connectivity, create wetland habitat and address fish passage  
on the Lower River Rother. 

2025 Environment 
Agency

Sheffield and 
Rotherham Wildlife 
Trust
National Highways

1.25 Align and support the catchment-based approach through the 
Don, Dearne and Rother catchment network. This catchment 
based approach, focusing on the Water Framework Directive and 
biodiversity, is outlined in the Catchment Plan for the Don and  
Rother Catchment 2021.

2026 Environment 
Agency
Don Dearne 
Rother 
Catchment 
Network 
(co-hosts)

Yorkshire Water

1.26 Continue to develop and deliver the Source to Sea nature-based 
solutions programme on the Upper River Don (Sheffield) in 
collaboration with partners, landowners and communities.

2026 Environment 
Agency

Sheffield City Council
Sheffield and 
Rotherham Wildlife 
Trust

1.27 Develop and deliver the Source to Sea nature-based solutions 
programme on the Middle River Don (Barnsley, Derbyshire and 
Chesterfield) in collaboration with partners, landowners and 
communities.

2027 Environment 
Agency

Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Derbyshire County 
Council 
Chesterfield Borough 
Council

1.28 Develop and deliver the Blackburn Brook Restoration and 
Natural Flood Management project to improve biodiversity, 
connectivity and nature based solutions that will complement 
the Blackburn Brook FAS. (Linked to the Blackburn Brook Flood 
Alleviation Scheme Action reference 2.30 in Smart Investment).

2027 Environment 
Agency

Sheffield City Council
Sheffield and 
Rotherham Wildlife 
Trust

1.29 Develop and deliver the Doncaster, Immingham and Grimsby 
Surface Water Resilience Project. 

2027 Yorkshire 
Water 

Anglian Water
Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
North East 
Lincolnshire Council

1.30 Develop and deliver the Sheaf and Porter River Restoration 
Project, to improve biodiversity and connectivity along the Porter 
and Sheaf in Sheffield. (Linked to the Sheaf Flood Alleviation 
Scheme Action reference 2.38 in Smart Investment theme).

2028 Environment 
Agency

Sheaf and Porter 
Rivers Trust
Wild Trout Trust
Sheffield City Council

1.31 Develop and deliver the Source to Sea nature-based solutions 
programme on the Lower River Don (Doncaster) in collaboration 
with partners, landowners and communities.

2031 Environment 
Agency

Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council

Responding to the climate  
emergency action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 120



Theme 2:  
SMART Investment

This theme is the foundation of this  
plan, ensuring investment is prioritised, 
SMART (Specific, Measurable, Attainable, 
Relevant, Time-based) and based  
on evidence.

 Picture Location:  
Howden Reservoir

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

31

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

31 Page 121



 Picture Location: Grey to 
Green, West Bar, Sheffield

32

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

We’ll be working collaboratively to bring together 
flood risk data and evidence on all sources of flooding 
(river, sea, surface water, groundwater and sewers) that 
impact communities and businesses across the region. 
This data and evidence will be used to inform future investment 
in flood risk management to ensure it is targeted to maximise 
flood risk benefits in South Yorkshire. This collective resource 
will enable us to prove to potential investors how the funding  
of flood risk reduction contributes towards the successful 
delivery of regional and national priorities. Examples of these 
priorities include the South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined 
Authority’s Strategic Economic Plan which seeks to ‘pave the 
way to a stronger, greener and fairer economy’ and the 
Government’s 2020 National Infrastructure Strategy with its aim 
of ‘transforming the UK infrastructure in order to level up the 
country and achieve net zero emissions by 2050’. 

Our approach to SMART investment will consider and apply 
best practice from across the UK, including the Humber 2100+ 
Strategy, the River Severn Partnership and Citizen Science.  
In turn, we will be sharing our collaborative learning with other 
organisations to ensure we’re able to respond and develop our 
own ideas by sharing our experiences.

3232

Theme 2:  
SMART Investment

Page 122



3333

The actions in the following table reflect our ambitions for  
this theme and how, by working collaboratively across our 
organisations, these will be achieved. Actions we’re already 
undertaking and developing as a partnership to support this  
theme are also listed. The latter includes flood risk management 
schemes we are currently developing or delivering.

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

2.1 Develop business cases to secure resources and funding to deliver 
the actions in this plan in future years. 

2022 Environment 
Agency

Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council 
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council 
Yorkshire Water
South Yorkshire 
Mayoral Combined 
Authority

2.2 Develop a web based South Yorkshire Flood Risk Investment  
Tool to bring together flood risk data and evidence with wider 
information on investment opportunities across the region. 
Step 1: To consider what mapping systems and data already exist 
across South Yorkshire, so we can utilise and adapt existing best 
practice. 
(Linked to the multi agency data sharing protocol for operational 
data Action reference 3.4 in Technology and Operational 
Management)

Step 1: 
2022

Environment 
Agency
Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Yorkshire Water

2.3 Produce a paper on new and emerging green sources of funding, 
including biodiversity net gain, carbon reduction and Green 
Finance initiative. 

2022 Environment 
Agency
South 
Yorkshire 
Mayoral 
Combined 
Authority

Yorkshire Water

2.4 Create a portfolio of flood risk management scheme case studies  
to support conversations with potential investors. 

2022 Environment 
Agency

Rotherham 
Metropolitan Council 
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council
Yorkshire Water
Regional Flood and 
Coastal Committee

2.5 Develop a proposal to address our collective funding pressures.  
This will include considering shared resources to co-ordinate 
flood risk funding bids and securing sufficient resources to deliver 
our flood risk management schemes. 

2022 Environment 
Agency, 
Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Yorkshire Water 
South Yorkshire 
Mayoral Combined 
Authority 
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council
Rotherham 
Metropolitan Council

Smart investment  
action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 123



34

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

2.6 To develop a prioritised list of partnership projects for Yorkshire 
Water’s proposed Business Plan 2025 – 2030 (Price Review 2024). 
Step 1: Bring together the South Yorkshire Flood Risk Investment 
Programme (Appendix 1) and Yorkshire Water Drainage and 
Wastewater Management Plans to identify partnership investment 
opportunities. 

Step 1: 
2022

Yorkshire 
Water

Environment Agency
Rotherham 
Metropolitan Council 
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council 
Sheffield City Council

2.7 Further develop the South Yorkshire shovel ready programme  
(as listed in Appendix 1) to enable the South Yorkshire Local 
Authorities to capitalise on future funding opportunities. 

2024 Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council
Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council
Sheffield City 
Council
Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency
Yorkshire Water 
South Yorkshire 
Mayoral Combined 
Authority 

2.8 Deliver a project to reduce flood risk to the railway in Rotherham. 
The project is centred on the Greasborough Dyke, close to where 
it joins the River Don. 

2022 Network Rail Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council

2.9 Develop and deliver the Three Brooks Scheme to reduce flood 
risk to Car Brook and Kirk Bridge Dike in Darnall, Sheffield. 

2022 Sheffield City 
Council

Environment Agency

2.10 Develop and deliver the Sheffield Upper Don Flood Alleviation 
Scheme, Phase 1, Loxley. 

2022 Sheffield City 
Council

Environment Agency

2.11 Develop and deliver the Stocksbridge sewer flood alleviation 
scheme.

2022 Yorkshire 
Water 

2.12 Develop and deliver the Crookesmoor sewer flood alleviation 
scheme. 

2022 Yorkshire 
Water 

2.13 Develop and deliver the Chapeltown sewer flood alleviation 
scheme, Sheffield.

2022 Yorkshire 
Water 

2.14 Develop and deliver the Barnsley sewer flood alleviation scheme  
in Great Houghton. 

2022 Yorkshire 
Water 

2.15 Develop and deliver the Ingbirchworth sewer flood alleviation 
scheme.

2022 Yorkshire 
Water 

2.16 Develop and deliver the Inkersall Green sewer flood alleviation 
scheme, Chesterfield. 

2022 Yorkshire 
Water 

2.17 Develop and deliver Philadelphia sewer flood alleviation scheme, 
Sheffield.

2023 Yorkshire 
Water 

Smart investment  
action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 124



3535

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

2.18 Undertake an initial feasibility study for Duftons Close, 
Conisbrough to assess flood risk alleviation options and inform 
any future works.

2023 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.19 Develop and deliver a Flood Alleviation Scheme for Lang Avenue  
in Lundwood, Barnsley. 

2023 Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council 

Environment Agency
Yorkshire Water

2.20 Sheffield Upper Don Reservoir Storage
Step 1: Initial feasibility study to investigate potential to use of 
reservoirs for flood risk purposes. 

Step 1: 
2023

Environment 
Agency

Sheffield City Council
Yorkshire Water

2.21 Develop and deliver a scheme to reduce flood risk to Frank Road  
in Bentley, Doncaster. 

2024 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.22 Develop Eel Mires Dike Flood Alleviation Scheme  
(including Laughton Common), Rotherham to “shovel ready”.

2024 Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.23 Develop and deliver a Doncaster Borough Wide Surface Water 
Alleviation Scheme.

2025 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.24 Develop and deliver a Fishlake Risk Management Scheme, 
Doncaster. 

2025 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.25 Develop Whiston Flood Alleviation Scheme, Rotherham to 
“shovel ready”.

2026 Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.26 Develop and deliver a surface water Flood Alleviation Scheme  
for Scawthorpe, Doncaster. 

2027 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.27 Develop and deliver a Flood Alleviation Scheme for Pastures 
Road in Denaby, Doncaster. 

2027 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.28 Develop and deliver a Bentley Risk Management Scheme, 
Doncaster. 

2027 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.29 Develop and deliver a Flood Alleviation Scheme for Low Valley, 
Barnsley.

2027 Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council 

Environment Agency

Smart investment  
action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 125



36

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

2.30 Develop and deliver a Flood Alleviation Scheme on Blackburn 
Brook, Sheffield. 
(Linked to the Blackburn Brook Restoration Action reference 1.28 
in Responding to the Climate Emergency).

2027 Sheffield City 
Council

Environment Agency

2.31 Develop and deliver the Sheffield Upper Don Flood Alleviation 
Scheme, Phase 2, Neepsend.

2027 Sheffield City 
Council

Environment Agency

2.32 Develop Parkgate and Rawmarsh Flood Alleviation Scheme,  
on Greasborough Dike and Old Sough/ Boundary Dike, 
Rotherham to “shovel ready”. 

2027 Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.33 Develop Rotherham to Kilnhurst Flood Alleviation Scheme 
– Phase 2 to “shovel ready”. 

2027 Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.34 Develop the feasibility phase of the Broom and Clifton Flood 
Alleviation Scheme, Rotherham.

2027 Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.35 Develop the feasibility phase of the Swinton Flood Alleviation 
Scheme, Rotherham.

2027 Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.36 Develop the feasibility phase of the Todwick Flood Alleviation 
Scheme, Rotherham.

2027 Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

2.37 Develop and deliver the Sheffield Upper Don Flood Alleviation 
Scheme, Phase 3, Hillsborough to Stocksbridge.

2028 Sheffield City 
Council

Environment Agency

2.38 Develop and deliver the Sheaf Catchment Flood Alleviation 
Scheme, Sheffield. 
(Linked to the Sheaf and Porter River Restoration Action 
reference 1.30 in Responding to the Climate Emergency).

2028 Sheffield City 
Council

Environment Agency

Smart investment  
action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 126



Theme 3:  
Technology and 
Operational 
Management

Aligning operational resources and 
technology is key in providing an agile 
and robust response to flood risk  
across South Yorkshire. 

 Picture Location: River Went, 
Doncaster

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

37

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Page 127



This theme will bring together our collective, 
catchment wide information to shape and inform  
the future use of technology and operational 
resources. It will also build on all our ongoing flood 
risk maintenance and management activities. 
We’ll work collaboratively to better understand each  
partner’s existing operational procedures (including incident 
management), individual priorities, existing data sets, roles  
and responsibilities, communication processes and available 
resources. In turn, this will allow us to work more efficiently and 
collaboratively on a day-to-day basis and during flood incidents.

Establishing data sharing opportunities will allow us to  
explore innovative ideas, new technology and networks for 
operational use. This includes telemetry systems, to create 
simple and readily accessible ways of displaying how the  
Don catchment responds to rainfall. This also includes 
operational procedures in terms of our maintenance 
programmes, to identify opportunities to streamline  
these activities across all our organisations. 

Theme 3:  
Technology and  
Operational Management

 Picture Location: 
Sykehouse Barrier, Doncaster

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

38Page 128



3939

The actions in the following table reflect our ambitions for  
this theme and how, by working collaboratively across our 
organisations, these will be achieved. Actions we’re already 
undertaking and developing as a partnership to support this 
theme are also listed. The latter includes flood risk maintenance 
and management activities, such as flood defence refurbishment 
works, that we are currently delivering or have planned in future. 

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

3.1 To streamline maintenance activities across South Yorkshire. 
Step 1: Capture our collective maintenance activities and 
requirements across Doncaster initially (e.g. gully maintenance, 
culvert inspection and grass cutting

Step 1: 
2022

Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council
Environment 
Agency

Yorkshire and
Humber Drainage 
Boards
Doncaster East Internal 
Drainage Board

3.2 To collectively agree key flood risk infrastructure across South 
Yorkshire, to inform emergency response procedures and develop  
a shared understanding of how this infrastructure work. 

2022 Environment 
Agency

Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council 
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council
Yorkshire and
Humber Drainage 
Boards
Doncaster East Internal 
Drainage Board

3.3 To create a simple and readily accessible way of displaying how  
the Don catchment responds to rainfall.
Step 1: To pilot in Doncaster initially and then consider data  
sharing protocols across South Yorkshire. 

Step 1: 
2022

Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

3.4 To create a multi- agency data sharing protocol for operational  
data can be shared and displayed across South Yorkshire. 
Step 1: To trial in Doncaster initially to inform the development of 
sharing protocols across South Yorkshire. (Linked to the South 
Yorkshire Flood Risk Investment Tool Action reference 2.2 in Smart 
Investment.)

2022 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council
Environment 
Agency

Yorkshire and Humber 
Drainage Boards
Doncaster East Internal 
Drainage Board

3.5 To understand the potential for reservoirs to support flood risk 
management across South Yorkshire.
Step 1: Spatially map all reservoirs in relation to flood risk  
across South Yorkshire.

Step 1: 
2022

Environment 
Agency

Yorkshire Water

3.6 Develop and deliver the Humber Head Level Capital Maintenance 
Strategy, which involves hydraulic and economic modelling of the 
Humber Head Levels to better understand investment and 
rationalisation opportunities of flood risk infrastructure  
(e.g. pumping stations).

2022 Yorkshire and 
Humber 
Drainage 
Boards

Environment Agency, 
Coal Authority

3.7 To develop a plan that sets out how we will consider whether 
historical water infrastructure (e.g. old mill ponds, water tanks, dams 
and land drains) could be used to store water and reduce flood risk.
Step 1: Initially consider in Doncaster. 
(Linked to the Source to Sea nature based solutions programme  
on the Lower River Don Action reference 1.31 in Responding to the 
Climate Emergency).

2023 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough

Yorkshire and
Humber Drainage 
Boards
Doncaster East Internal 
Drainage Board

Technology and operational  
management action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 129



Technology and operational  
management action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

40

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

3.8 Develop an approach to better understand surface water flood  
risk and the links between surface water and the sewer network.  
With an aspiration for surface water separation and managing at 
surface water source.
Step 1: To trial in Doncaster initially with Yorkshire Water, to develop 
best practice recommendations for the region.

Step 1: 
2023

Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council
Yorkshire 
Water

3.9 Improve the serviceability (maintainability) of engineered river and 
watercourse channels in the Humber Head Levels to ensure they  
can be better maintained on a planned and cost-effective basis.

2023 Yorkshire and 
Humber 
Drainage 
Boards

Environment Agency

3.10 Map water levels in the Humber Head Levels and install real  
time monitoring systems (linked to telemetry) to better manage 
pumping station operations and give real time warnings of flood  
risk (rising water levels).

2025 Yorkshire and 
Humber 
Drainage 
Boards

Environment Agency

3.11 Refurbish Dikes Marsh pumping station (inlet pumping station), 
Moorends, Doncaster.

2022 Yorkshire 
and Humber 
Drainage 
Boards

Environment Agency

3.12 Pumping Station Telemetry System Installation across the Don 
catchment. 

2022 Yorkshire 
and Humber 
Drainage 
Boards

Environment Agency

3.13 Culvert replacement works on the A637 at Birthwaite Hill in 
Darton, Barnsley. 

2022 Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

3.14 Culvert removal at Staindrop View, Chapeltown, Sheffield. 2022 Environment 
Agency

Sheffield City Council

3.15 Poolsbrook Reservoir decommissioning, Staveley, North 
Derbyshire. Including weir removal to improve fish passage  
and habitat improvements. 

2022 Environment 
Agency

Derbyshire County 
Council

3.16 Broad Oaks Culvert refurbishment scheme, Sheffield. 2022 Yorkshire 
Water 

Network Rail

3.17 To work with partners to better understand the flood risk in  
the Mexborough and Denaby areas of the Lower Don Valley, 
specifically in relation to Network Rail infrastructure to inform  
the future management of this risk.

2022 Network Rail Environment Agency 
Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council

3.18 Combined sewer overflow refurbishment programme to reduce 
pollution and sewer flooding risk in 7 locations across Barnsley  
and Sheffield.

2023 Yorkshire 
Water 

3.19 Bank strengthening and desilting at Netherwood Road in 
Wombwell, Barnsley. 

2023 Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

Page 130



Technology and operational  
management action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

4141

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

3.20 Dearne Washlands Optimisation Study 
Any future works will be informed by the initial study, based on 
an improved understanding of how these washlands operate. 
This will inform whether they can be altered to provide any flood 
risk and / or environmental benefits. 

Study: 
2023

Environment 
Agency

Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council

3.21 Culvert Replacement and Channel Regrading Works on Bulling 
Dyke at Low Valley, Barnsley. 

2023 Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council 

Environment Agency

3.22 Refurbish St Mary's Bridge Wall, North Bridge Road, Doncaster. 2024 Environment 
Agency

3.23 River clearance on the River Dearne between Church Street  
and Darton Business Park Bridge, Darton, Barnsley.

2024 Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

3.24 Barnsley Wide Culvert Condition Investigation and Improvement 
Programme. 

2024 Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

3.25 Yorkshire sewer inspection chamber repair programme to 
proactively identify and repair defects, to reduce the risk of 
external flooding and pollution.

2025 Yorkshire 
Water 

3.26 Sewer Repair Programme, to proactively inspect 355km of the 
public sewer network in high-risk flooding areas to carry out 
surveying, clear any blockages and identifying defects to be 
repaired to reduce Internal and External Flooding.

2025 Yorkshire 
Water 

3.27 Sewer Maintenance Programme - proactively visiting 71,330 
properties in high-risk flooding areas to carry out surveying, clear 
any blockages and identifying defects to be repaired to reduce 
Internal and External Flooding.

2025 Yorkshire 
Water 

3.28 Refurbish Went Outfall (doors, penstock, and telemetry) on the 
River Went, Lower Don, Doncaster. 

2025 Environment 
Agency

3.29 Refurbish Kirk Sandall Pumping, Kirk Sandall, Doncaster. 2025 Environment 
Agency

3.30 Refurbish the three Don Catchment Regulators. Woodhouse 
Regulator in Sheffield and Canklow and Meadowgate Mill 
Regulators in Rotherham.

2025 Environment 
Agency

3.31 Rother Washlands Optimisation Study and Works. Any future  
works will be informed by the initial study, based on an 
improved understanding of how these washlands operate. To 
inform whether they can be altered to provide any flood risk and 
/ or environmental benefits.

2025 Environment 
Agency

3.32 Develop the provision of a new Permanent Pumping Station, 
Catcliffe Village (change from mobile pumps), Rotherham to 
“shovel ready”. 

2026 Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

Page 131



Technology and operational  
management action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

42

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

3.33 Rotherham Culvert Renewal Programme. 2026 Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

3.34 Refurbish Cheswold Culvert in Doncaster town centre. 2026 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

3.35 Future refurbishment of flood defences on the Lower Don as 
identified and required.

2027 
onwards

Environment 
Agency

3.36 Spillway Repairs on Worsborough Reservoir, near Worsborough 
Country Park, Barnsley. 

2027 Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

3.37 Refurbish culvert on Clough Dike at Deepcar, Sheffield. 2027 Environment 
Agency

Sheffield City Council

3.38 Culvert removal on Ochre Dike, Beighton, Sheffield. 2027 Environment 
Agency

Sheffield City Council

3.39 Doncaster Culvert Replacement Programme. 2028 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

Page 132



Theme 4:  
Communication, 
Engagement and 
Building Resilience

The aim of this theme is to build 
resilience across South Yorkshire,  
by working with all our stakeholders  
to ensure they’re at the heart of  
our decision making. 

 Picture Location: Fishlake, 
Doncaster 2019 Floods

43

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

43Page 133



Together, with partner organisations, we’ll develop  
a communication and engagement strategy that all 
partners are responsible for delivering. We will work 
collaboratively, ensuring we have ‘one joined up voice’ 
for providing key messages. 
This will allow us to be more streamlined in the way we work, 
ensuring there is a consistent approach to the delivery of our 
communication, engagement and resilience measures. 

We’ll continue to work with existing stakeholder groups, 
including but not limited to, flood action groups, landowners, 
farmers, flood wardens, parish councils and businesses whilst 
also developing new relationships with other key stakeholders. 
We’ll work with all these stakeholders to help and support 
them understand their own flood risk and how the Don 
catchment works. 

Whilst we can work collectively to reduce the risk of flooding 
and the impacts of flooding, we can never prevent all flooding. 
Therefore, preparing and responding to flood incidents is  
an essential component of achieving greater resilience to 
flooding. We’ll work collaboratively to better prepare for and 
respond to flood incidents through timely and effective 
forecasting, warning and implementing property level 
resilience measures. This includes working with the South 
Yorkshire Local Resilience Forum and the Yorkshire and 
Humber Climate Commission to build resilience through 
improved emergency and recovery planning. 

Theme 4:  
Communication, Engagement  
and Building Resilience

 Picture Location: 
Rotherham Town Centre

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

44Page 134



4545

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

4.1 Produce a South Yorkshire wide communication and  
engagement plan.
Step 1: To understand who all our stakeholders are and engage  
with these stakeholders on this Connected by Water plan. 
Stakeholders will include communities, businesses, political  
figures and landowners. 
Step 1 will also include starting to build on shared information/
material e.g. photos, key messages etc.to inform the development 
of the communication and engagement plan. 

Step 1: 
2022

Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council
Environment 
Agency

Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council
Yorkshire Water
South Yorkshire 
Mayoral Combined 
Authority

4.2 Develop a specific landowner and farmer engagement plan, 
considering future climate change risks, commercial risks and 
food production risks to establish positive partnership working. 

2022 Environment 
Agency

National Farmers Union 
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council

4.3 Develop a stakeholder engagement plan to help partners 
understand Yorkshire Water’s funding processes. 

2022 Yorkshire 
Water

4.4 Review the Humber modelling study to inform any updates  
to existing flood warnings in Doncaster.

2023 Environment 
Agency

4.5 Develop a strategy for public facing engagement on what  
climate change means for flood risk across South Yorkshire.
(Linked to the Flood Modelling action reference 1.5 in Responding 
to the Climate Emergency).

2023 South 
Yorkshire 
Mayoral 
Combined 
Authority

Sheffield City Council
Environment Agency

4.6 Create engagement material to support the understanding of  
flood risk in South Yorkshire:
- How the River Don Catchment works
- How the funding process works for flood risk projects
-  How flood defence schemes are developed and implemented 

(including flood modelling)
- How reservoirs work 
- Flood risk roles and responsibilities across organisations

2024 Environment 
Agency
Yorkshire 
Water

4.7 Review the Chesterfield modelling study and implement actions  
to improve flood warnings along the Rivers Upper Rother, Hipper, 
Drone and Doe Lea.

2025 Environment 
Agency 

4.8 Working in partnership with key stakeholders we will increase 
community resilience and preparedness by engaging with 
communities to raise flood awareness
We will prioritise communities recently affected by river flooding  
and other identified high-risk communities.

2030 Environment 
Agency

Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council 
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council

The actions in the following table reflect our ambitions for  
this theme and how, by working collaboratively across our 
organisations, these will be achieved. Actions we’re already 
undertaking and developing as a partnership to support this 
theme are also listed. 

Communication, engagement  
and building resilience action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 135



46

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

4.9 Working in partnership with key stakeholders we will increase 
community resilience and preparedness by increasing flood  
groups, where wanted.
We will prioritise communities recently affected by river flooding  
and other identified high-risk communities.

2030 Environment 
Agency

Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council

4.10 Increase community resilience and preparedness by increasing  
full registration to the Flood Warning Service.
We will prioritise communities recently affected by river flooding  
and other identified high-risk communities.

2030 Environment 
Agency

Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council

4.11 Working in partnership with key stakeholders we will increase 
community resilience and preparedness by registering Flood 
Wardens, where appropriate and wanted.
We will prioritise communities recently affected by river flooding  
and other identified high-risk communities.

2030 Environment 
Agency

Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council

4.12 Working in partnership with key stakeholders we will increase 
community resilience and preparedness by training and supporting 
volunteers and communities to be better prepared.
We will prioritise communities recently affected by river flooding  
and other identified high-risk communities.

2030 Environment 
Agency

Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Doncaster Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council

Communication, engagement  
and building resilience action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 136



47

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

4.13 Introducing more ‘impact thresholds’ for our Flood Alerts. This 
involves having a greater understanding at what levels there are 
impacts across a Flood Alert area, e.g flooding to roads, farmland. 
We will use these levels to better inform our decision making on 
when Alerts are issued, to help give better information and 
preparation lead time to customers.

Ongoing Environment 
Agency

Yorkshire and Humber 
Drainage Board
Doncaster East 
Internal Drainage 
Board
Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council
Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council

4.14 Working in partnership with stakeholders deliver annual training 
to existing Flood Warden’s.

Ongoing Environment 
Agency

Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council
Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council

4.15 Working in partnership with stakeholders to deliver induction 
training for new Flood Wardens.

Ongoing Environment 
Agency

Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council
Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council

4.16 Implement Flood Warning updates along the Middle and Lower 
Don, in Rotherham, Barnsley and Doncaster, based on the 
modelling review completed in 2021. 

2022 Environment 
Agency

Yorkshire and Humber 
Drainage Board
East Doncaster 
Internal Drainage 
Board
Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Rotherham
Metropolitan Borough 
Council

Communication, engagement  
and building resilience action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 137



48

Action 
Ref Action – What we are going to do

When  
will we  
do it by

Who’s 
leading? Who’s supporting

4.17 Review the Blackburn Brook Flood Warnings in Sheffield to 
establish if any updates are required and implement as required.

2022 Environment 
Agency

Sheffield City Council

4.18 Working in partnership with professional partners we will  
deliver training to help increase understanding of how at-risk 
communities can be better supported and prepared. 
Step 1 – This will be initially be with Rotherham and  
Doncaster Councils.

Step 1: 
2022

Environment 
Agency

Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council
Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council

4.19 Create 6 action plans for priority areas across Rotherham to 
engage with Parish Councils, community groups and businesses 
on Flood Risk, Resilience, and the council’s future plans and 
commitment to reducing flood risk.
The 6 priority areas are: 
Rotherham Town Centre
Rawmarsh and Parkgate 
Kilnhurst Village
Laughton Common
Catcliffe Village 
Whiston Village 
Step 1 will be piloted with Laughton Common.

Step 1: 
2022

Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

4.20 Develop and deliver Property Flood Resilience schemes at  
Riviera Parade, Willow Cottages, Fishlake Nab and Daw Lane  
in Doncaster. 

2022 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

4.21 Develop and deliver Property Level Protection measures at  
Emmett Carr Lane, Renishaw, Derbyshire. 

2022 Derbyshire 
County 
Council

Environment Agency

4.22 Community engagement pilot in Sheffield S5, looking at testing  
a new engagement model to understand customers' needs of us 
as an organisation and then work with community to build 
relationships.

2022 Yorkshire 
Water 

4.23 Refurbish existing Property Level Protection measures  
in Denaby, Doncaster. 

2030 Doncaster 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council

Environment Agency

4.24 Develop a Recreational infrastructure improvement strategy 
surrounding Langsett Reservoir to enhance community 
connection to nature and water. 

2030 Yorkshire 
Water 

Barnsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council
Sheffield City Council
National Highways

Communication, engagement  
and building resilience action table

   New, innovative actions we’ve 
developed as part of this plan 

   Actions we’re already 
developing and undertaking

Page 138



Appendix 1: Overview  
of the South Yorkshire  
Flood Risk Management 
Investment Programme

The Overall Programme: 

Approximately 100 
projects, with a total 
value of nearly £400 
million.

To better protect over 
17,000 homes and 
businesses, plus 
regionally significant 
infrastructure. 

The South Yorkshire programme 
comprises of three levels: 

The Priority Programme 
(subset of the Overall 
Programme):

27 priority projects,  
with an original total 
value of £271 million (now 
revised to £257 million). 

To better protect over 
10,000 homes and 
businesses, plus 
regionally significant 
infrastructure.

These 27 projects were 
collectively identified  
as regional priorities 
following the November 
2019 floods.

The Shovel Ready 
Programme (subset  
of the Priority 
Programme):

9 projects, with an 
original total value  
of £66 million (now 
revised to £63 million). 

To better protect over 
1,400 homes and 
businesses, plus 
regionally significant 
infrastructure.

These 9 projects were 
collectively identified as 
projects from the Priority 
Programme that could 
be delivered quickly with 
additional support.

49

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

49Page 139



The Three Levels of the  
South Yorkshire Programme

Area Number of 
Projects

Projects  
by Lead 
Organisation

Total 
Project 
Costs 
(£million)

UK 
Government 
Funding 
(£million)

Partnership 
Funding 
(£million)

Funding 
Gap 
(£million)

Homes 
better 
protected

Businesses 
better 
protected 

Barnsley 12 7 Council  
5 Environment 
Agency

17.2 4.9 1.2 11.1 1,986 29

Doncaster 47 14 Council  
30 Environment 
Agency 
8 Yorkshire  
and Humber 
Drainage Boards 

210.6 42.7 4.3 167.9 4,590 674

Sheffield 17 9 Council 
8 Environment 
Agency

97.1 71.9 17.1 8.1 4,275 1,785

Rotherham 19 9 Council 
10 Environment 
Agency

67.9 33.9 12.0 22.0 3,785 399

Catchment 
Wide

1 1 Environment 
Agency

2.0 0 0 2.0 0 0

Totals 96 394.8 153.4 34.6 211.1 14,636 2,877

Overall Programme

Summary tables on the overall programme, the priority 
programme and the shovel ready programme are provided on the 
following pages. A list of the 27 priority projects and the 9 shovel 
ready projects, broken down by location, is also provided.

50

Co
nn

ec
te

d 
by

 W
at

er
 P

la
n 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
22

50Page 140



5151

Area Number of 
Projects

Projects  
by Lead 
Organisation

Total 
Project 
Costs 
(£million)

UK 
Government 
Funding 
(£million)

Partnership 
Funding 
(£million)

Funding 
Gap 
(£million)

Homes 
better 
protected

Businesses 
better 
protected 

Barnsley 2 2 Council 6.0 0.2 1.1 4.7 104 0

Doncaster 5 4 Council 
1 Environment 
Agency 

11.4 4.7 1.9 4.8 423 71

Sheffield 1 1 Council 25.0 20.3 1.6 3.1 370 253

Rotherham 1 1 Council 21.0 12.2 7.7 1.1 20 245

Totals 9 9 63.4 37.4 12.3 13.7 917 569

Shovel Ready Programme: Updated Picture

Area Number of 
Projects

Projects  
by Lead 
Organisation

Total 
Project 
Costs 
(£million)

UK 
Government 
Funding 
(£million)

Partnership 
Funding 
(£million)

Funding 
Gap 
(£million)

Homes 
better 
protected

Businesses 
better 
protected 

Barnsley 5* 4 Council 
1 Environment 
Agency*

13.2 1.4 1.1 10.7 177 29

Doncaster 9 5 Council 
4 Environment 
Agency

96.0 31.4 2.0 62.6 3,326 505

Sheffield 5 3 Council
2 Environment 
Agency

85.2 63.9 13.3 8 2,359 1,724

Rotherham 8* 6 Council 
2 Environment 
Agency*

60.7 28.6 11.6 20.5 1,693 399

Catchment 
Wide

1 1 Environment 
Agency

2.0 0 0 2.0 0 0

Totals 27* 27* 257.1 125.3 28.0 103.8 7,555 2,657

* The Source to Sea nature-based solutions programme on the Middle River Don, covers both Barnsley and Rotherham.  
This project has been counted in both areas, but the costs and funding have been split.

Priority Programme: Updated Picture

Page 141



List of the Priority Projects  
and Shovel Ready Projects

Barnsley
Barnsley led projects: 
1. Lundwood Flood Alleviation Scheme
2. Barnsley Culvert Programme
3. Worsborough Reservoir
4. Church Street, Darton

Environment Agency led projects: 
5.  Nature Based Solutions Programme in Mid Don (Barnsley and Rotherham)

Doncaster 
Doncaster led projects: 
6. Bentley Flood Alleviation Scheme 
7. Conisbrough Natural Flood Management
8. Tickhill Natural Flood Management
9. Doncaster Borough Wide Surface Water Alleviation Scheme
10. Fishlake Flood Alleviation Scheme 

Environment Agency led projects: 
11. Nature Based Solutions Programme in Lower Don 
12. Refurbishment and Replacement of Lower Don Embankment 
13. Wheatley Park Embankment Refurbishment 
14. St Mary’s Bridge Wall Refurbishment

Rotherham
Rotherham led projects: 
15. Rotherham To Kilnhurst Flood Alleviation Scheme
16. Parkgate Flood Alleviation Scheme
17. Catcliffe Pumping Station 
18.  Eel Mires Dike Flood Alleviation Scheme Flood Alleviation Scheme
19. Rotherham Culvert Renewal Programme

Environment Agency led projects: 
20. Don Catchment Regulators
21.  Whiston Brook Flood Alleviation and Storage (Partnership project  

with Rotherham) - Nature Based Solutions Programme in Mid Don  
(Rotherham and Barnsley) (Repeat of no 5)

Sheffield
Sheffield led projects: 
22. Blackburn Brook Flood Alleviation Scheme 
23. Sheaf Catchment Flood Alleviation Scheme
24. Upper Don Flood Alleviation Scheme

Environment Agency led projects: 
25. Upper Don Reservoir Storage 
26. Nature Based Solutions Programme in Upper Don 

South Yorkshire Wide
Environment Agency led: 
27.  Connected by Water Plan (Barnsley, Rotherham, Sheffield and Doncaster) 

Bold blue text denotes 
a Shovel Ready Project

5252Page 142



If you would like to know more about the 
Connected by Water plan please contact: 

 sypso@environment-agency.gov.uk

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

24 January 2022 
 

ZEBRA Business Case 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Reason why exempt:   
( 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

 Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                      Yes 
 
Has it been included on the                      Yes 
Forward Plan? 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Pat Beijer, Director of Transport Operations (SYPTE) 
 
Report Author(s): 
Ben Hardy – Project Manager 
Ben.hardy@sypte.co.uk 

 
Executive Summary 
 
SYMCA submitted an Expression of Interest (EoI) to DfT on 2 July 2021, as part of DfT’s 
Zero Emission Bus Regional Area (ZEBRA) fund. The South Yorkshire proposal detailed 
plans for the first Zero Emission Bus (ZEB) roll out across the whole of South Yorkshire.  
 
On 27 July, DfT notified SYMCA that we had been successful with our EoI and that our 
submission could progress to Phase 2 – Full Business Case (FBC). SYMCA is currently 
progressing the development of our FBC with a deadline for final submission to DfT of 31 
January 2022.  
 
A paper was submitted to the 16 December Transport and Environment Board (TEB) to 
request endorsement for continuing the ZEBRA business case, and noted that approval to 
submit the FBC will be sought through the January 2022 Mayoral Combined Authority 
(MCA) board. The recommendations were approved by the TEB.  
 
The deadline for submitting the FBC to DfT is 31 January 2022. The SYMCA/DfT grant 
contributions with the ZEBRA fund would be subject to a legal agreement with Stagecoach 

Page 145

Agenda Item 15



 

 

that sets out the requirements of buses to be used in South Yorkshire and protects the 
interests of SYMCA.  
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
 
This project will provide a boost to the region’s strategic aims, with the first phase of a 
transition to Zero Emission buses in South Yorkshire. The introduction of electric buses will 
contribute to improving local air quality across the region and as such, the project will 
deliver health benefits through the replacement of diesel buses with electric, improving the 
lives of commuters, residents and workers along the proposed corridors for the ZEBs. The 
proposal would deliver improvements across South Yorkshire with electric buses proposed 
for all four local authority areas. This will directly contribute to the aims of the Clean Air 
Zone (CAZ) in Sheffield and Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) across the region.  
 
Recommendations   
 
This paper recommends that the Board: 
 
1. Delegates the approval of the submission of the Full Business Case to the DfT, seeking 

grant funding in the region of £6.3m, by the DfT deadline of 31 January 2022 to 
SYMCA’s Chief Executive Dave Smith; 

2. Approves the Finance Director accepting the grant offer from DfT provided it accords 
with the grant application/Full Business Case;  

3. Approves the MCA entering into the contractual arrangements to deliver the ZEBRA 
project, as approved by the MCA Monitoring Officer. 

 
 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
 
Transport and the Environment Board 16 December 2021 

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 SYMCA submitted an Expression of Interest (EoI) to DfT on the 2 July 2021, as 

part of the Zero Emission Bus Regional Area (ZEBRA) fund. The South Yorkshire 
proposal detailed plans for the first Zero Emission Buses (ZEB) roll out across 
South Yorkshire.  

  
1.2 On the 27 July, DfT notified SYMCA that we had been successful with our EoI and 

admission to Phase 2 – Full Business Case (FBC), with a deadline for final 
submission on 31 January 2022.  

  
A paper on the ZEBRA FBC was discussed at the December TEB. TEB endorsed 
submission of the business case.  
 
This MCA board paper seeks approval to delegate the submission of the ZEBRA  
business case to the DfT by 31 January 2022 to SYMCA’s Chief Executive, Dave 
Smith.  
 
 
 
 

Page 146



 

 

2. Key Issues 
  

2.1 Government has made available up to £270 million of funding as part of the 
ZEBRA scheme. The funding will support the Government’s commitment to 
decarbonisation, help to deliver the 4,000 ZEBs the Government committed to in 
February 2020, as well as support partnership working between transport 
authorities, bus operators, and other key stakeholders.  

  
 Under the ZEBRA scheme, DfT will: 

 
- Contribute up to 75% of the cost difference between a ZEB and a standard 

conventional diesel bus equivalent of the same total passenger capacity, and 
- Contribute up to 75% of the capital expenditure incurred for infrastructure as a 

result of its purchase and installation.   
 

Revenue costs are not eligible under the scheme. 
  

2.2 All operators were asked whether they wanted to collaborate with SYMCA on a 
ZEBRA proposal for our region. From these discussions only Stagecoach 
expressed an interest to work alongside SYMCA on the development of a ZEBRA 
application.  

  

2.3 A workshop was held with all four local authorities and Stagecoach, to discuss 
options for the ZEB routes for the South Yorkshire proposal. The preferred scheme 
to emerge from these discussions was to electrify Stagecoach’s 221 and 22x bus 
services, plus tendered routes in Sheffield.  

  

2.4 SYMCA is working with SCC to finalise a proposal in Sheffield.  
  

2.5 
 

SYMCA proposes to bid for up to £6.3m of DfT ZEBRA funding. A further £3.4m of 
funding is provisionally allocated from the City Regional Sustainable Transport 
Settlement (CRSTS), as well as a contribution of £5.3m from Stagecoach.  The 
total project costs of £15m will fund approximately, 27 electric single decker buses. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 Option 1 
  
 The Do Minimum option – deciding not to delegate authority to SYMCA’s 

Chief Executive to submit the ZEBRA business case on 31 January 2022  
  
3.2 Not applying for the ZEBRA grant funding from the DfT does not align with the 

SYMCA’s CRSTS and Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) submissions, which 
both include the delivery of a zero-emission bus project. The South Yorkshire bus 
review (finding 3 – climate change) stated that buses needed to play a bigger role 
in reducing transport emissions and tackling climate change. SYMCA’s recent Bus 
Service Improvement Plan also sets out the region’s aspirations for zero-emission 
bus service solutions.      

  
3.3 This option does not support the SYMCA in meeting its Energy Strategy target of a 

fully zero emission public transport fleet by 2035. It will also not support the 
Transport Strategy target of a fully zero emission transport fleet by 2040.  

Page 147



 

 

  
3.4 Option 1 Risks and Mitigations   
  
 If this option was supported SYMCA would need to work with operators and/or 

identify alternative delivery models to progress the transition to a zero emissions 
bus fleet, with greater reliance on other, yet to be identified funding sources, in the 
absence of ZEBRA funding support.  

  
3.5 Option 2 – Approve delegating the submission of the ZEBRA business case 

to DfT on the 31 January 2022 to SYMCA’s Chief Executive 
  

This option supports submission of a business case to DfT.   
 
3.6 

 
Option 2 Risks and Mitigations 

 There is a risk relating to project cost overruns as DfT will not cover any cost 
increases. Our approach to cost risk has been to apply a contingency allowance 
based on the DfT’s appraisal guidance toolkit.   

  
3.7 Recommended Option 
  
 Option 2  
  
4. Consultation on Proposal 
  
4.1 Consultation has taken place with: 

• South Yorkshire bus operators; 

• The four local authorities in South Yorkshire; 

• SYMCA TEB. 
  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
5.1 The proposed timetable for the ZEBRA scheme is as follows: 

 
1. Working draft FBC issued to DfT on 19 Nov 2021 
2. TEB to discuss the ZEBRA proposal - Dec 2021 
3. Supplier engagement (bus / charger manufacturers) – Dec 2021 
4. Updated draft FBC issued to DfT - 10 Jan 2021 
5. Decision by the MCA to delegate authority to SYMCA’s Chief executive submit 

the FBC to DfT – 21 Jan 2022.  
6. FBC (final version) submitted to DfT on 31st Jan 2022 
7. DfT to review submissions during February 2022 
8. DfT to announce ZEBRA bids during March 2022 
9. Successful authorities to commence delivery of schemes during April 2022 
10. Full scheme delivery within two years of funding award (by March/April 2024). 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 Procurement: 

 
If the bid is successful the authority will ensure that the procurement approach is 
based on value for money principles, achieving the optimum mix of quality and 

Page 148



 

 

effectiveness for the least outlay, and meets the requirements of thePublic 
Contracting Regulations 2015 and the MCA’s Contract Procedure Rules. 

6.2 Finance: 
 
Overall Scheme Cost Summary 
The ZEBRA scheme costs will be finalised early January 2022, following the 
market engagement during December 2021, to form part of the FBC submission to 
DfT by the 31 January 2022.  
 
At present, the capital cost estimates are as shown in the table below: 
  

 221/22x* 
(£’000)  

Sheffield tendered 
service* 
(£’000) 

Total* 
(£’000) 

SYMCA £1,754 £1,633 £3,387 

ZEBRA (DfT) £5,532 £750 £6,282 

Stagecoach £5,257 £0 £5,257 

Total £12,543 £2,383 £14,926  
*Costs to be refined early January 2022 based on market engagement during December 2021 

 
These costs will be based on: 
 

- Stagecoach owning the buses on the 221/22x. 
- Stagecoach funding the diesel equivalent vehicle costs, with the DfT funding 

75% of the vehicle premium and the MCA funding up to 25% of the vehicle 
premium. 

- 25% of the infrastructure costs at Rotherham Interchange (pantograph 
chargers for the 221/22x) and at Sheffield Interchange (charging 
infrastructure for a Sheffield based tendered service) being met by the MCA. 

- The MCA owning the buses on a Sheffield tendered service bus route.. 
 

The SYMCA match funding (£3.39m) is proposed to be funded through the CRSTS 
settlement. Finalisation of that settlement is not expected until the new year.  
 
If SYMCA is successful with the ZEBRA bid, the MCA would need to accept 
financial responsibility for delivering ZEBRA, noting that any risk of increased costs 
will not be met by DfT. 
 
Financial risk is being been managed through: 
 
- Early market engagement to obtain robust quotations for vehicles and 

infrastructure products. 
- Quotations from the Distribution Network Operator (DNO) and an Independent 

DNO, for required works to upgrade the power network. 
- Application of a contingency allowance through an Optimism Bias rate that is 

aligned with WebTAG. 
 
Revenue Costs / Savings 
 
Operators will cover the electricity and maintenance costs to run electric buses.  
 

Page 149



 

 

All electric bus services generate an annual saving in vehicle operating costs 
compared to the diesel operation. These savings will ensure long term financial 
viability for the operators.  
 

7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 A final subsidy control opinion will be taken for the scheme that is submitted in 

January 2022 in order to confirm compliance. If the funding bid is successful 
appropriate legal agreements will be entered into with the operators and other 
suppliers. Any grant funding to Operators will require, where appropriate, that they 
comply with the Public Contracting Regulations. 

  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 It is not considered that the project will have implications on HR. 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) of the scheme is being undertaken by Arup, 

which will form part of the FBC.  There are unlikely to be any negative impacts on 
persons with Protected Characteristics  

  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 The introduction of 27 ZEBs will help with the transition to a zero-carbon economy. 

For example, the ZEBRA proposals would lead to an annual reduction in CO2 
emissions by around 1070 tonnes on the 221 bus service, and by around 1000 
tonnes on the 22x service. This is through the replacement of diesel buses with 
electric.  

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 The roll out of the electric buses and charging infrastructure would necessitate a 

back-office system to manage the electricity usage of the electric buses and 
charging infrastructure. The costs associated with the back office system would be 
incorporated into the ZEBRA submission.  
 
There will be a requirement for monitoring data to be provided to DfT every quarter 
for a five-year period. Such data will include aspects such as average daily energy 
consumption and average daily mileage, battery information etc. Most of the 
vehicle-based data can be collected automatically via telematics, which would form 
part of the bus specification in the procurement process.   

  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   
  
12.1 The ZEBRA proposals provide positive opportunities to highlight the difference the 

MCA’s investments will make to people and passengers, businesses and places 
across South Yorkshire and how Members are taking action to support the region 
to meet its Energy Strategy target of a fully zero emission public transport fleet by 
2035. 
 

Page 150



 

 

There will need to be further discussion with Stagecoach to understand their 
marketing and communications plans for this project.  

  
List of Appendices Included 
None 
 

Background Papers 
None 

 

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

24 January 2022 
 

Business Support Funding 
 
Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Purpose of this report: 
 

Funding Decision 
 

Funding Stream: Gainshare 
 
Is this a Key Decision?                          Yes 
 
Has it been included on the                  Yes 
Forward Plan? 
 
 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Helen Kemp, Director of Business and Skills 
 
Report Author(s): 
Muz Mumtaz 
Muz.Mumtaz@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 
Bev Foster 
Bev.Foster@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 
Executive Summary: 
Funding for the 16 RAP Advisors, through Gainshare, to deliver emergency business 
support across the South Yorkshire region, in 2021/22 is due to expire by the end of 
March 2022. This paper recommends to the Board that funding be reallocated to enable 
ongoing provision of support to businesses post March 2022.  
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
Continuing provision of business support expertise for local businesses in the South 
Yorkshire region will help businesses to continue to recover from the pandemic, build 
growth and increase productivity. This will contribute to retaining and creating jobs in the 
region for local people and support a healthy regional economy. 
 
Recommendations:   
The MCA Board are recommended to approve the redeployment of £850,000 of 
Gainshare (through a virement of funds allocated to other projects, under the Renewal 

Page 153

Agenda Item 16



Action Plan, which are likely to remain unspent) to fund the continued provision of 
Renewal Action Plan Business Advisors for a further 12 months. 
 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
Business Recovery and Growth Board 16 December 2021 
  

 
 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 At the October Business Recovery & Growth Board, a discussion paper was 

presented on the current arrangements for delivering business support through the 
South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority’s (SYMCA) Growth Hub/Gateway.  
The paper provided details on the financial model used to procure and fund 
business advisor activity and the current arrangements for coordinating and 
managing advisor activity with our local authority partners.   

  
1.2 Following this, the Board requested the development of an options paper, to 

consider alternative ways to fund and manage future business support activity 
across the region. This was considered at the 16 December 2021 Board meeting at 
which the Board approved Option 3, an Enhanced Business Support delivery 
model, which featured the ongoing provision of 16 RAP Business Advisors plus 
some additional support which would be externally funded if funding from BEIS 
becomes available. 

  
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 The previous regional business support offer had been funded through resources 

allocated from the LEP Growth Deal.  Once this funding had ended the South 
Yorkshire business support offer was fully linked to national allocations which are 
insufficient for the level of demand we experience and particularly fell short of the 
support that was required in response to the pandemic. 

  
2.2 In January 2021, £6.91 million of Gainshare funding was allocated to support 

business recovery through the priorities identified in the Renewal Action Plan 
(RAP).  Recognising the need to support local businesses, this included up to 
£989,707 (including management costs) to fund up to 16 RAP Business Advisors 
for a period of 14 months – up till March 2022.  Currently there is no other means 
of continuing to fund the provision for the 16 RAP Advisors after March 2022. 

  
2.3 Separately, a further £2.8 million of funding (part of the 6.91 million referred to 

above) was allocated to the creation of a Framework for Specialist Intensive Advice 
to businesses, for the same period, ending March 2022. The Specialist Framework 
has not been established and the monies allocated to this activity remain unspent. 

  
2.4 The delivery model approved by the Business Recovery & Growth Board continues 

the current arrangement with RAP Business Advisors allocated to local authorities, 
supporting businesses with a range of specialist expertise to recover, grow and 
increase their productivity.  The RAP Business Advisors will continue to work 
directly with local businesses that are identified by the local authority and MCA 
teams as having potential to benefit from strategic and specialist advice.  Data and 
intelligence will be shared with the MCA to ensure future strategy and policy 
continue to be evidence led. 

Page 154



  
2.5 The total cost for continuing the RAP Business Advisor deployment into local 

authorities for 2022/23 is £850,000. 
  
2.6 The Business Recovery and Growth Board recognised that ongoing funding for the 

provision of this service was limited and have tasked officers with identifying how 
future business support should be delivered to obtain best results.  This will be 
reviewed during 2022/23 by the Board. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 Option 1 

Do not approve the recommendation in this report. 
  
3.2 Option 1 Risks and Mitigations 
 The ability of the MCA and the local authority teams to support businesses through 

the continuing difficulties they face from the pandemic and to support local growth 
and development of the economy will be severely diminished. 

3.3 Option 2 
 Approve the recommendation to reallocate £850,000 unspent funds from gainshare 

to continue with RAP Advisor Business Support for a further 12-month period 
(2022/23). 

  
3.4 Option 2 Risks and Mitigations   
 This availability of funding is limited and expectations of the local business support 

offer will have to be managed. The Business Recovery & Growth Board have 
asked for a full review to be undertaken to recommend how business support can 
be best delivered in the future. 

  
3.5 
 

Recommended Option 

 Option 2 
  
4. Consultation on Proposal 
  
4.1 Internal stakeholders and all 4 local authority representatives. 
  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision:   
  
5.1 Decision required is urgent as provision for business support comes to an end in 

March 2022.  
  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice 
  
6.1 The Gainshare allocations referred to in paras 2.2 to 2.3 of the report were 

considered by the BRGB on 6 January 2021 and 1 September 2021 and formed 
part of a first tranche of £5.2m to deliver immediate Business Growth Renewal 
Action Plan priorities. There are no further allocations from Gainshare towards 
Business Growth priorities above and beyond the overall total already committed of 
£6.91m 

  

Page 155



6.2 BEIS are looking to agree 3 year settlements with Growth Hubs from 2022/23 to 
replace the annual allocations awarded in previous years. This will increase 
stability. However, at this stage, as the settlement has not been agreed, the 
amount of funding available to support the team of inhouse business advisors 
under the enhanced delivery model (referenced in 1.2) is not yet known.   

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice 
  
7.1 There are no legal implications arising from the report. The appropriate contractual 

and partnership arrangements will be put in place. 
  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 No implications arising from the report. 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 No implications arising from the report. 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 No implications arising from the report. 
  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 Provision for licenses and training will need to be planned for RAP Advisors to 

input into the Growth Hub’s CRM system. 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice. 

 
12.1 Communications will be crafted to support consultation on the agreed approach, 

supported by a revised marketing approach that promotes the service delivery 
available to businesses, and the core sources of information that is regularly 
provided on programmes and business support across South Yorkshire. 
 

List of Appendices Included  
 None 
  
   
Background Papers: 
Business Support Evaluation and Options Paper, Business Recovery & Growth Board, 16 
December 2021 
  
  
 

Page 156



 

Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

24 January 2022 
 

2021/22 Budget Revision 3 
 

 
Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Purpose of this report: 
 

Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Funding Stream: Not applicable 
 
Is this a Key Decision?                                   Yes 
 
Has it been included on the                    Yes 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer 
 
Report Author(s): 
Gareth Sutton 
Gareth.sutton@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
This report provides revised Group budget forecasts to the end of the financial year 2021/22. 
The report recommends the adoption of the budget estimates, adjustments to budgetary 
ceilings and the distribution of grant received. 
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
This report seeks adjustments to the MCA’s financial plan to ensure it has sufficient resource to 
deliver on its objectives. The report also seeks approval for the distribution of grant in support 
of business recovery aspirations.  
 
Recommendations   
The MCA Board: 
1. Adopt the revised budget estimates; 
2. Note the slower than forecast pace of the capital programme;  
3. Approve the acceptance and distribution of the Additional Restrictions Grant top-up of 
£1.72m for the year ending March 2022.  
 
 

Page 157

Agenda Item 17



Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
Not applicable 
 

 

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 The MCA’s capital and revenue budgets remain sensitive to the recovery of the 

local and national economy as we move into the winter, with fresh disruption from 
systemic inflation and the latest Covid variant. 

  
1.2 In order to ensure that the MCA’s financial plans remain aligned to its corporate 

and business priorities, and reflect new funding that becomes available, a Quarter 3 
budget revision exercise has been undertaken as at the end of November 2021 
(Period 8). This exercise sought to re-test income and expenditure assumptions, 
and re-forecast budgets and programmes to the end of the financial year. 

  
1.3 The results of this exercise highlight a number of notable issues that will influence 

the MCA’s financial position over the remainder of the year, as well as planning for 
the medium term: 

1. Whilst government funding for bus and tram has been committed to the 
end of the year, continued uncertainty on post-March support is 
increasing the risk that operators pre-emptively begin service reductions 
over Quarter 4; 

2. Following the success of the South Yorkshire Business Support Scheme 
the MCA will receive a further tranche of Additional Restrictions Grant to 
support those businesses effected by the latest Covid variant; 

3. The budget is now flexed to accommodate activity supported from the 
region’s successful Community Renewal Fund bids; 

4. Flexibilities secured with government now means that the Getting 
Building Fund expenditure targets should be met; and, 

5. Capital programme slippage is now likely to move a significant amount of 
activity into the new financial year. 

  
1.4 
 

As we approach the final quarter of quarter of the year immediate in-year concerns 
are beginning to feed through to planning risks for the new financial year. 

  
1.5 Over quarter 3 the MCA has continued to provide emergency support to public 

transport operators. Whilst the MCA has committed to providing this support at pre-
pandemic levels in pursuit of 100% network coverage the impact of driver 
shortages and industrial action has meant that that coverage level has not been 
achieved. Accordingly, concessionary payments have been flexed down, creating 
revenue savings that will flow through to reserves and support the forthcoming year 
budget. 
 

1.6 Whilst immediate concerns around the public transport network have temporarily 
abated following the commitment of government support to the end of the financial 
year, the MCA is alert to the potential for operators to begin withdrawing services 
ahead of this point as uncertainty persists around the government’s intentions post 
March. This issue provides a key planning uncertainty for the new financial year.  

  
1.7 As detailed at the last reporting date, supply chain and labour market concerns 

continue to affect programme delivery, with saturated markets leading to cost 
inflation and delays to recruitment and the appointment of contractors.  

  

Page 158



1.8 This report notes that these issues are contributing factors to the slower than 
forecast pace of capital and revenue programmes. As we approach the year-end 
programmes across all thematic areas have been further re-profiled with activity 
moved into future financial periods. 
  

1.9 This issue is particularly prominent within the Transforming Cities programme, with 
the latest forecasts further moving a significant amount of activity and associated 
funding into the new financial year.  

  
1.10 The pace of the Brownfield housing programme remains a key concern; the 

forecast level of expenditure incurred by outturn will fall short of the target set by 
government with limited mitigations available, despite a strong pipeline of schemes. 
Engagement with government regarding this programme is ongoing. 
 

1.11 Nevertheless, this report notes that positive progress as a result of productive 
collaboration between the MCA, government and the local partners to address 
concerns around the Getting Building Fund programme where the cumulative 
funding package of £33.6m needs to be fully defrayed by March 2022.  
 

1.12 As noted in the previous budget monitoring report, the MCA has performed well 
compared to its peer group in respect of the deployment of Additional Restrictions 
Grant (ARG) in support of the South Yorkshire Business Support Scheme. This 
report seeks approval to accept a further £1.72m of ARG top-up which was 
announced by the Chancellor week commencing 20 December 2021.  
 

1.13 Following the MCA’s successful bids into government for Community Renewal 
Funding, this revision also increases the budget by £4m to accommodate this 
activity. 
 

1.14 Finally, the report notes that subject to local authority consents being received, the 
MCA now expects the government to table legislation in January 2022 that would 
grant the MCA borrowing powers for its non-transport activity. 

  
2. Key Issues 

 
2.1 Summary overview 

The 2021/22 budget for the year was set at £358m, consisting of both revenue and 
capital expenditure. This expenditure was fully funded from a combination of 
grants, receipts, general income, and reserves: 
 

Funding £k   
Gross Expenditure £358,194   
 - Revenue £133,356 37% 
 - Capital £224,838 63% 
      
Funded by:     
General Income £4,978 2% 
Release of Reserves/Provisions £32,671 9% 
Grants £320,545 89% 

  £358,194   
      

 

Page 159



2.2 For the first time, the budget was structured around the MCA’s thematic board 
areas, allowing for greater insight into how the MCA’s investments are matched to 
its aspirations.  

  
2.3 The weighting of expenditure reflects, in part, the MCA’s local transport authority 

responsibilities and new responsibilities for devolved activity such as the Adult 
Education Budget. It is also heavily shaped by the grants that are available from 
government: 
 
 

   Revenue Capital Total 

  £k £k £k 

Transport and Environment £66,583 £147,368 £213,951 

Housing, Infrastructure, Planning £897 £67,170 £68,067 

Skills and Employment £33,490 £3,451 £36,941 

Business Growth and Recovery £18,213 £3,406 £21,619 

  £119,183 £221,395 £340,578 

        

MCA Executive £12,762 £3,443 £16,205 

Mayoral Office £1,411 £0 £1,411 

        

Total £133,356 £224,838 £358,194 
 

  

2.4 After the first eight months of the year, this report recommends a number of 
adjustments to the budget ceiling. Revenue expenditure is now expected to outturn 
£12m above the opening budget - despite net fluctuations - as slipped activity is 
offset by the receipt of new funding that wasn’t planned for in the base budget, 
including Community Renewal Fund, pre-capitalisation CRSTS revenue funding, 
and the forecast draw and distribution of the Project Feasibility Fund. Capital 
expenditure is now forecast to outturn £110m under the base budget forecast as 
activity across a number of programme areas continues to be re-profiled to future 
periods.  
 

2.5 In total, as at the end of November 2021 (Period 8), expenditure is expected to 
outturn at around £260m: 
 

  Base Mvt Revision 1 Mvt Revision 2 Mvt Revision 3 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Revenue £133,356 £25,601 £158,957 -£23,600 £135,357 £10,188 £145,545 

Capital £224,838 -£25,513 £199,325 -£42,197 £157,128 -£43,104 £114,024 

  £358,194 £88 £358,282  -£65,797 £292,485 -£32,916 £259,569 
 

  
2.6 These adjustments are reflected in changes to the weighting of expenditure across 

the thematic areas. Capital programme reprofiling has varied down the level of 
expenditure within most areas except for Housing, Infrastructure & Planning, where 
several schemes are now expecting to marginally accelerate spend this year. 
 

2.7 Lower than forecast revenue expenditure relating to Renewal Action Plan activity 
within the Skills and Employment and Business Growth areas and lower than 
forecast take-up of the 18-21 travel concession in the Transport and Environment 
area has also impacted on expenditure levels. The material reduction in the 
Mayoral Office area largely reflects the virement of funding out of this area to 
spending departments as expenditure items are committed to.  

Page 160



 
 
 

Consolidated Base Revision 1 Revision 2 Revision 3 Variance 

  £k £k £k £k £k 
Transport and Environment £213,951 £203,002 £174,688 £136,483 -£37,205 
Housing, Infrastructure, 
Planning 

£68,067 £63,124 £26,708 £27,855 £1,147 

Skills and Employment £36,941 £42,119 £35,352 £33,015 -£2,337 
Business Growth and 
Recovery 

£21,619 £31,586 £40,586 £40,094 -£492 

  £340,578 £339,831 £277,333 £237,447 -£45,608 

           

MCA Executive £16,205 £16,850 £14,804 £21,777 £6,973 
Mayoral Office £1,411 £1,602 £348 £346 -£2 

           

Total £358,194 £358,283 £292,485 £259,569 -£32,916 
 

  
 
2.8 

 
This report proposes to adjust the funding applied to meet the revised expenditure 
forecasts. Slippage within the capital programme reduces the need to apply capital 
grants, whilst revenue scheme slippage and assorted underspends also reduces 
the need for both in-year grant and reserves and provisions: 
 

Funding Sources 
Original 
Budget Mvt  

Revision 
R1 Mvt 

Revision 
R2 Mvt 

Revision 
R3 

  £k £k £k £k £k £k £k 

                
Ringfenced/Committed 
Grants 

            

Revenue Grants £108,251 £20,653 £128,904 -£10,167 £118,737 £9,648 £128,385 

Capital Grants £212,179 -£25,513 £186,666 -£52,334 £134,332 -£28,467 £105,865 

  £320,429 -£4,860 £315,570 -£62,501 £253,069 -£18,819 £234,250 

Reserves & 
Provisions 

              

Capital Receipts £12,659 £0 £12,659 £10,768 £23,427 -£15,269 £8,159 

Revenue Reserves £19,701 £4,948 £24,649 -£13,638 £11,011 £1,171 £12,182 

Provisions £427 £0 £427 -£427 £0 £0 £0 

  £32,787 £4,948 £37,735 -£3,297 £34,438 -£14,098 £20,341 

                

General Income £4,978 £0 £4,978 £0 £4,978 £0 £4,978 

                

Total Funding £358,194 £88 £358,283 -£65,798 £292,485 -£32,916 £259,569 
 

  

  
2.9 In most instances funding received in-year which is not immediately deployed will 

flow to the balance sheet to be held in reserves or as grant unapplied. However, in 
a number of instances grant conditionality requires that funding be used in the year 
in which it is received or be returned to government. This is the case for Getting 
Building Fund (GBF) and Brownfield funding, and whilst it is expected that the GBF 

Page 161



funding will be deployed in full there are likely material underspends around the 
Brownfield activity. Government have been engaged on this issue. 
 

2.10 At the last reporting date there was some risk that the second tranche (£0.25m) of 
LEP core funding would not be received. This issue is connected with government’s 
review of LEP’s nationally. This risk has now dissipated as the funding has been 
received, but the risk will now flow through to planning for the new financial year. 

  
2.11 This report provides further detail by thematic theme.  
  
 Analysis by Theme: Transport and Environment 
  
2.12 The Transport and Environment area includes the local transport authority activity 

of the South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive along with the strategic 
planning activity undertaken within the MCA Executive. The area captures a 
significant part of the capital programme, representing the scale of the 
Transforming Cities Fund and Active Travel funding. 

  
2.13 This report proposes new budget estimates for this area that will lead to a net 

reduction in activity of £35.01m from that adopted after the second quarter of the 
year, and a reduction to the base budget of £77.47m. This movement largely 
reflects the deferral and reprofiling of capital schemes: 
 

Transport 
and 
Environment 

Original 
budget Mvt  

Revision 
R1 Mvt 

Revision 
R2 Mvt 

Revision 
R3 

  £k £k £k £k £k £k £k 

Capital £147,368 -£19,478 £127,890 -£19,506 £108,384 -£39,922 £68,462 

Revenue  £66,583 £8,716 £75,299 -£12,188 £63,111 £4,910 £68,022 

Total £213,951 -£10,761 £203,190 -£31,694 £171,495 -£35,012 £136,483 
 

  
2.14 Adjustments are required across most directorates within the thematic area: 

 
 

Transport and Environment Revision 1 Revision 2 Revision 3 Variance 
  £k £k £k £k 
Strategic Transport £119,434 £99,635 £67,554 -£32,081 
Transport Operations (SYPTE) £25,696 £18,426 £14,864 -£3,562 
Customer Services (SYPTE) £37,999 £34,461 £35,044 £583 
Debt and Finance £20,061 £18,974 £19,021 £47 
Total £203,190 £171,496 £136,483 -£35,012 

 

  
2.15 Underspend in the Strategic Transport area (£32.1m) largely relates to capital 

activity across the Transforming Cities (TCF), Active Travel, and Integrated 
Transport Block programmes, all of which have slipped over the course of the year 
largely reflecting the scale of activity and supply chain pressures.  
 

2.16 At Revision 3, the most notable changes are further slippage on the TCF 
programme and the Parkway Widening scheme. All schemes affected by slippage 
have been re-profiled into 2022/23.  
 

2.17 Active Travel revenue activity supported by DfT Capability Fund (£1.1m) has also 
been re-profiled to reflect that around half of the activity will take place in the new 
financial year.  

Page 162



  
2.18 Underspend in the SYPTE areas largely reflects capital programme slippage 

(£3.69m) in a range of schemes. All such schemes have been re-profiled to reflect 
that activity will continue in 2022/23. 
 

2.19 The latest forecasts are also now suggesting that statutory concessions will outturn 
under budget by c. £0.85m. Whilst the MCA has committed to retaining concession 
payments at pre-pandemic levels as part of the Bus Recovery Grant funding 
package agreed with Government, funding rules do allow the MCA to vary the rate 
it pays if operators do not provide full network coverage. Varying the rate in this 
manner avoids the South Yorkshire taxpayer subsidising services that have not 
been provided. 

  
2.20 Driver shortages since Quarter 2 and industrial action in Quarter 3 have meant that 

operators have been unable to operate full services, and accordingly the MCA has 
reduced its payments where appropriate. It is proposed that this underspend be 
carried to reserves to support anticipated pay and price pressures in the new 
financial year. Further analysis is presented in the appendices around the SYPTE 
position. 
 

2.21 Finally, this report proposes that funding received for early pre-capitalisation works 
on the CRSTS programme be moved to the Project Feasibility Fund, allowing for its 
timely disbursement to partners. 
 

 
 

Analysis by Theme: Skills and Employment 
 

2.22 The Skills and Employment thematic area includes both capital and revenue activity 
and is split into three management areas. At Revision 3 forecast expenditure at 
outturn is expected to total £33.02m, £3.93m below the base budget: 
 

  
 Skills and 

Employment  
Original 
budget Mvt  Revision 1 Mvt Revision 2 Mvt Revision 3 

  £k £k £k £k £k £k £k 
Capital £3,450 £0 £3,450 £0 £3,450 £433 £3,883 
Revenue  £33,491 £5,058 £38,549 -£6,648 £31,902 -£2,770 £29,132 

Total £36,941 £5,058 £42,000 -£6,648 £35,352 -£2,337 £33,015 
 

  
2.23 The opening budget (£36.94m) was adjusted at Revision 1 for reprofiled Adult 

Education Budget expenditure (£5.06m). The table below highlights downward 
variations at Revision 2 and Revision 3 in excess of that initial adjustment: 
 

 
Skills and Employment Revision 1 Revision 2  Revision 3 Variance 
  £k £k £k £k 
Skills Priorities & Investment  £27,695 £28,024 £25,829 -£2,195 

Education & Skills For Employment £5,751 £1,968 £1,968 £0 
Skills For Business & Growth £8,554 £5,359 £5,217 -£143 
Total £42,000 £35,352 £33,015 -£2,337 

 

  
2.24 The principal drivers for these variances are revised forecasts for Renewal Action 

Plan activity (Enhanced Apprenticeship and Kickstart South Yorkshire) within the 
year (leading to a £6.46m reduction at Revision 2), and re-profiling of AEB 
expenditure (c.£2.2m) at Revision 3. 

  

Page 163



2.25 Other marginal underspends on staffing and development activity across the 
directorate have been offset in part by the adoption of a scheme to support the 
transition of existing learners to new Adult Education Budget providers (£0.21m).  

  
2.26 Whilst the Adult Education Budget is now well underway with both grant funded and 

procured activity delivering, an in-budget reserve of £0.4m has been retained to 
support both the management of risk inherent in the first year of delivery and the 
exploitation of any opportunities that emerge. 

  
 Analysis by Theme: Business Growth and Recovery 

 
2.27 At Revision 3 forecast expenditure in the Business Growth and Recovery 

directorate is expected to be £40.09m, £0.48m lower than mid-year forecasts: 
 

BGRB  
Original 
budget Mvt  Revision1 Mvt Revision 2 Mvt Revision 3 

  £k £k £k £k £k £k £k 
Capital £3,406 £756 £4,162 £12,880 £17,042 -£2,259 £14,783 
Revenue  £18,213 £9,355 £27,568 -£4,034 £23,534 £1,776 £25,310 
Total £21,619 £10,111 £31,730 £8,846 £40,576 -£483 £40,094 

 

  
2.28 The significant decrease in forecast capital expenditure within the Innovation and 

Investment area reflects the re-profiling of residual Local Growth Fund (LGF) grant 
held in capital receipts which will be deployed in support of approved business 
investment schemes where activity will slip into 2022/23. 
 

2.29 Expenditure increases in the International Hub, Business Assistance and Special 
Projects are offset in part by underspends in the Development Hub:  

  

BGRB  Revision 1 Revision 2 Revision 3 Variance 

  £k £k £k £k 

Development Hub £4,077 £1,628 £947 -£681 

Innovation & Investment £4,044 £16,727 £14,392 -£2,335 

International Hub £364 £285 £360 £76 

Digital £437 £141 £141 £0 

Business Assistance £17,587 £17,597 £19,499 £1,903 

Special Projects £1,870 £847 £1,401 £554 

Emergency Recovery £3,352 £3,352 £3,352 £0 

Total £31,730 £40,576 £40,094 -£483 
 

  
2.30 ‘Emergency Recovery’ activity relates to the previously approved gainshare funded 

recovery grants that are due to the South Yorkshire local authorities to support their 
locally developed recovery efforts. This activity was expected to conclude in the last 
financial year, but ultimately slipped into 2021/22. 

  
2.31 Over £4m of gainshare funded Renewal Action Plan activity was included in this 

budget area at the start of the year. However, at Revision 3, activity is now 
expected to underspend against the base budget with RAP activity of c. £2.50m 
now moving into the new financial year. 
 

2.31 Revised forecasts also now suggest that Made Smarter activity will underspend by 
c. £0.34m. This activity is currently in procurement, and the MCA is engaging 
government on the ability to roll forward in-year underspend into the new financial 
year. 

Page 164



 
2.32 At the time of writing, the MCA and partners had distributed over £46m of financial 

support into the regional economy through the locally designed and locally 
administered South Yorkshire Business Support Scheme, a total that compares 
favourably to the MCA’s peer group. This scheme is funded from the Additional 
Restrictions Grant (ARG) awarded by government over three original tranches: 
 

ARG Grants Value 
    £k 
BMBC 4,310 7,517 
DMBC 4,879 9,180 
RMBC 4,049 8,147 
SCC 10,069 21,397 
    46,241 

 

  
2.33 At the Board’s November meeting the residual allocations of ARG were approved 

for deployment, with funding directed towards further capital productivity investment 
and a culture scheme. These schemes are now progressing with the expectation 
that all funding will be defrayed by the year-end. 
 

2.34 Following the disruption to businesses following the surge in the Omicron variant 
over the festive period the Government has announced further ARG funding. This 
report seeks approval for this funding (£1.72m) to be deployed in support of a local 
scheme to support those non-ratepayers in the hospitality and leisure sectors not 
covered by the national scheme and a further local scheme to support independent 
travel agents whose businesses continue to be effected without national support. 
The report proposes that should residual funding remain after these two schemes 
be administered, funding be disbursed according to local priorities. Using the 
accepted means of allocating funding according to local hospitality and leisure 
business stock, this report seeks approval to award grant as follows: 
 

  Business Stock ARG 
    % £k 
BMBC            800  16.29% £281 
DMBC         1,035  21.08% £363 

RMBC            815  16.60% £286 
SCC         2,260  46.03% £793 

         4,910    £1,722 
 

  
 Analysis by Theme: Housing & Infrastructure 

 
2.35 The Housing and Infrastructure thematic area includes a significant part of the 

capital programme that is funded by the Getting Building and Brownfield grant 
programmes. It is supplemented with some revenue funding for core activity, and 
the revenue grant made available by government to prime the Brownfield activity. 

  
2.36 The budget estimates in this report are dominated by the reductions in forecast 

capital expenditure against the budget, largely identified and reflected in the mid-
year budget revision: 
 
 
 
 

Page 165



 Housing and 
Infrastructure 

Original 
budget Mvt  

Revision 
R1 Mvt 

Revision 
R2 Mvt 

Revision 
R3 

  £k £k £k £k £k £k £k 

Capital £67,170 -£5,889 £61,281 -£36,390 £24,891 £1,205 £26,096 

Revenue  £897 £1,129 £2,026 -£209 £1,817 -£58 £1,759 

Total £68,067 -£4,760 £63,307 -£36,599 £26,708 £1,147 £27,855 
 

  
2.37 Since the mid-year point there has been a slight increase in the forecast capital 

activity in the Strategic Infrastructure area: 
 

 
Housing and Infrastructure Revision 1 Revision 2  Revision 3 Variance 
  £k £k £k £k 
Digital £5,500 £5,500 £5,500 £0 
Strategic Infrastructure £34,291 £15,082 £16,287 £1,205 
Housing & Planning £21,132 £3,848 £3,833 -£15 
Net Zero £2,384 £2,278 £2,235 -£43 
Total £63,307 £26,708 £27,855 £1,147 

 

 
2.38 

 
The increase in the capital forecast reflects: 

1. Acceleration of spend on two specific schemes (£1.5m); offset by, 
2. Slippage on gainshare funded ‘Place’ schemes (£0.3m). 

  
2.39 As noted at the mid-year mark, there is significant concern at the pace of 

Brownfield programme activity. The MCA is obliged to meet grant conditionality that 
requires £20m of capital expenditure to have been incurred by March 2022. 
However, forecasts suggest that the MCA will miss this target by a considerable 
value, with little opportunity to apply mitigations. Underspend on Brownfield activity 
reflects both the considerable pressures within the system and the profound 
challenges of designing sound schemes that can deliver quality houses on 
Brownfield sites whilst still meeting the government’s benefit/cost-ratio demands. 

  
2.40 The MCA continues to actively engage government to seek flexibilities on the 

delivery timeline, noting both the strong pipeline of schemes that are now 
progressing through approvals and into delivery and the systemic nature of the 
issue that is seeing underspend pressures replicate across MCAs nationally. 
 

2.41 Work continues to identify further potential slippage on the Getting Building Fund 
activity, noting the need for all funding to be defrayed by the end of the financial 
year. Strong engagement with local partners and government should now mean 
that this funding stream is fully defrayed by the year-end. 
 

2.42 Finally, whilst the underspend on gainshare funded activity is notable due to the 
scale of slippage it should be recognised that gainshare is not subject to the 
government-imposed deadline of 31 March which applies to other grants. 
Gainshare funding not deployed in-year will be earmarked for use in future periods. 

  
 Analysis by Theme: MCA Executive 
2.43 This report proposes an adjustment to the MCA Executive budget of £6.62m. This 

adjustment reflects an increase in revenue expenditure due to the adoption of new 
funding and a proposed draw and distribution of reserve: 
 
 
 
 

Page 166



MCA Executive  
Original 
budget Mvt  

Revision 
R1 Mvt 

Revision 
R2 Mvt 

Revision 
R3 

  £k £k £k £k £k £k £k 
Capital £3,443 -£2,067 £1,376 -£576 £800 £0 £800 
Revenue  £12,762 £3,652 £16,414 -£2,053 £14,361 £6,616 £20,977 
Total £16,205 £1,585 £17,790 -£2,629 £15,161 £6,616 £21,777 

 

  

2.44 Expenditure adjustments have been made across the majority of the directorate 
areas but are most prominent within the Programme & Performance Unit area 
(PPU) where the costs of Community Renewal Fund activity (£4.09m) and the 
drawdown of £3m from the Project Feasibility Fund reserve for distribution to 
partners have now been included in quarter 4 of the current financial year. 
 

2.45 Finally, almost all areas have accrued savings related to staffing as labour market 
pressures have led to vacant posts taking longer to fill than expected and notable 
churn in the existing establishment. These savings reduce calls on recharges into 
programme funding and obviate the need to call on reserves as previously planned. 
 

2.46 The following table reflects the distribution of expenditure across the non-thematic 
executive teams: 
 

 MCA Executive  Revision 1 Revision 2 Revision 3 Variance 
  £k £k £k £k 

Deputy Chief Executive's Office £5,203 £4,537 £4,375 -£161 
Finance/IT/ Programme & 
Performance 

£7,124 £6,878 £13,874 £6,995 

Governance/ Communications & 
Marketing 

£4,929 £3,212 £2,994 -£218 

Legal £535 £535 £535 £0 
Total £17,790 £15,161 £21,777 £6,616 

 

  
 Update on Borrowing Powers 
2.47 At its meeting of the 15th November the Board authorised officers to accept the 

offer of a debt-cap negotiated with HM Treasury. 
  
2.48 Acceptance of this cap was a necessary precursor to the laying of the secondary 

legislation required to allow the MCA to access powers to borrow for its non-
transport activity. These powers complement the long-term funding commitments 
arising from the region’s devolution deal, and underpin the aspirations detailed 
within the Investment Strategy. 

  
2.49 Following its acceptance of the debt-cap government have indicated that legislation 

would be laid before Parliament in January 2022, subject to the consent of each of 
the MCA’s four constituent South Yorkshire local authorities. 

  
2.50 MCA and local authority officers have engaged on this issue, whilst the Department 

for Levelling Up Homes and Communities (DLUHC) have now formally written to 
each authority to seek those consents. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 Option 1 
 Adopt the budget revisions presented in this paper. 
  
3.2 Approve the ARG top-up grant awards proposed. 

Page 167



 
  
3.3 Option 1 Risks and Mitigations  
 The budget estimate proposals within this report are fully funded and do not expose 

the MCA to any additional risk that has not been shared with the Board. 
 

3.4 Option 2 
 The MCA could choose to not adopt the new budget estimates. 
  
3.5 The MCA could choose to reject the grant awards detailed in this report. 
  
  
3.6 Option 2 Risks and Mitigations  
 Should the MCA choose not to adopt the new budget estimates work on a number 

of the MCA’s key priorities would have to cease or be deferred. 
 
Should the MCA choose not to award the grants in the manner described, a 
number of businesses in South Yorkshire would be exposed to greater levels of 
financial hardship. 
 

3.7 Recommended Option 
 Option 1. 
  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
4.1 None 
  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision  
5.1 The Group Finance Director will be responsible for implementing budget 

adjustments and facilitating grant awards. 
  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
6.1 This is a financial report the details of which are in the main body of the document 

and supporting appendices. 
  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
7.1 None. 
  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
8.1 None 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
9.1 None. 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
10.1 None. 
  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
11.1 None 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice 
12.1 None 

 
 
 

Page 168



List of Appendices Included 
 
1 Appendix including: 

• Gross expenditure by thematic area, directorate and management area 

• Reserves update 

• Gainshare update 
  
Background Papers 
None 
  
  

 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 

1. GROSS EXPENDITURE BY THEMATIC AREA, DIRECTORATE & MANAGEMENT AREA 

Portfolio Directorate 
Management 
Area Base  Rev 1 Rev 2 Rev 3 Variance  

      £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

T&E 
Strategic 
Transport Active Travel £37,502 £32,262 £25,743 £14,633 -£11,110 

    Public Transport £22,802 £21,728 £14,182 £6,795 -£7,387 

    Rail £109 £116 £247 £223 -£24 

    Roads £69,898 £65,255 £62,656 £45,904 -£16,752 

      £130,310 £119,361 £102,827 £67,554 -£35,273 

                

  
Transport Ops - 
PTE Bus Services £17,303 £17,303 £15,069 £13,129 -£1,940 

    Heavy Rail £2,254 £2,254 -£22 -£73 -£51 

    Light Rail £6,638 £6,638 £3,379 £1,808 -£1,571 

      £26,194 £26,194 £18,426 £14,864 -£3,562 

                

  
Customer Services 
- PTE 

Concessions & 
Ticketing £29,803 £29,803 £26,799 £27,541 £742 

    Customer Services £3,484 £3,484 £3,458 £3,008 -£450 

    
Facilities & 
Infrastructure £4,099 £4,099 £4,205 £4,495 £291 

      £37,386 £37,386 £34,461 £35,044 £583 

                

  Debt & Finance Debt & Finance £20,061 £20,061 £18,974 £19,021 £47 

                

TRANSPORT AND ENVIRONMENT TOTAL £213,951 £203,001 £174,688 £136,483 -£38,204 

                

HIP 
Infrastructure & 
Housing Digital £5,500 £5,500 £5,500 £5,500 £0 

    
Strategic 
Infrastructure £39,924 £34,291 £15,082 £16,287 £1,205 

    
Housing & 
Planning £20,443 £21,132 £3,848 £3,833 -£15 

    Net Zero £2,201 £2,201 £2,278 £2,235 -£43 

      £68,067 £63,124 £26,708 £27,855 £1,147 

                

HOUSING, INFRASTRUCTURE AND PLANNING 
TOTAL £68,067 £63,124 £26,708 £27,855 £1,147 

BRGB Business Growth Development Hub £4,129 £4,077 £1,628 £947 -£681 

    
Innovation & 
Investment £4,402 £4,134 £16,736 £14,392 -£2,344 

    International Hub £364 £364 £286 £360 £75 

    Digital £0 £1,848 £141 £141 £0 

    
Business 
Assistance £12,500 £17,587 £17,597 £19,499 £1,903 

    Special Projects £225 £225 £847 £1,401 £554 

    
Emergency 
Recovery Funding  £0 £3,352 £3,352 £3,352 £0 

Page 171



      £21,619 £31,585 £40,586 £40,094 -£493 

                

BUSINESS RECOVERY AND GROWTH TOTAL £21,619 £31,585 £40,586 £40,094 -£493 

                

S&E 
Skills & 
Employment 

Skills Priorities & 
Investment £23,507 £27,695 £28,024 £25,829 -£2,195 

    
Education & Skills 
For Employment £5,730 £5,751 £1,968 £1,968 £0 

    
Skills For Business 
& Growth £7,704 £8,674 £5,359 £5,217 -£143 

      £36,941 £42,120 £35,352 £33,015 -£2,337 

                

SKILLS & EMPLOYMENT TOTAL £36,941 £42,120 £35,352 £33,015 -£2,337 

                

MCA Exec 
Deputy Chief 
Executive's Office 

Business 
Operations £714 £717 £669 £666 -£3 

    BSW £1,005 £1,005 £944 £944 £0 

    HR £1,064 £1,064 £1,580 £1,580 £0 

    Policy & Assurance £2,010 £2,132 £1,252 £1,185 -£68 

      £4,793 £4,918 £4,445 £4,375 -£70 

                

  Finance Finance £1,505 £1,505 £1,458 £1,491 £32 

    IT £2,507 £2,507 £2,472 £2,592 £120 

    
MCA Asset 
Portfolio £1,836 £1,836 £1,949 £1,913 -£36 

    
Programme & 
Performance £1,067 £1,067 £812 £7,878 £7,065 

      £6,915 £6,915 £6,692 £13,874 £7,181 

                

  Governance External Affairs £528 £528 £1,062 £1,029 -£33 

    Governance £2,030 £2,530 £1,135 £1,101 -£34 

    
Comms & 
Marketing £1,404 £1,424 £935 £864 -£71 

      £3,963 £4,483 £3,132 £2,994 -£138 

                

  Legal Legal £535 £535 £535 £535 £0 

                

MCA EXECUTIVE TOTAL   £16,205 £16,850 £14,804 £21,777 £6,973 

                

MO Mayor's Office Mayor's Office £1,411 £1,602 £348 £346 -£2 

                

MAYORAL OFFICE TOTAL   £1,411 £1,602 £348 £346 -£2 

                

                

MCA GROUP TOTAL EXPENDITURE £358,194 £358,282 £292,485 £259,569 -£32,916 

 

 

 

 

Page 172



 

2. SYPTE REVENUE BUDGET FORECASTS 

  
Levy 

Agreement 
March 

Budget 
Rev. 1 Rev. 2 Rev. 3 Variance 

 
  £'000 £'000  £'000  £'000  £’000 £'000  

Mandatory & Discretionary Expenditure            

ENCTS/Mobility Concessions £23,461 £23,461 £23,461 £22,711 £22,611 -£850  

Financial Obligations              

Capital Financing £6,018 £6,018 £6,019 £6,019 £6,018 £0  

Tram Access £1,500 £1,500 £1,500 £1,500 £1,500 £0  

Depreciation £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 £0  

Pensions £740 £740 £740 £740 £740 -£0  

Discretionary Expenditure              

Child Concessions £3,986 £3,986 £3,986 £3,986 £3,836 -£150  

Zero fare pass income -£1,550 -£1,550 -£1,550 -£1,550 -£1,400 £150  

18-21 Concession £5,297 £5,297 £5,297 £2,000 £2,000 -£3,297  

Summer Saver £0 £0 £0 £950 £933 £933  

Departure Charges -£946 -£946 -£946 -£946 -£946 £0  

Tendered Bus Services £5,821 £5,821 £5,821 £5,921 £5,971 £150  

Community Transport £1,657 £1,657 £1,657 £1,657 £1,657 £0  

Operational Departments              

Customer Services £2,317 £2,317 £2,232 £2,107 £2,182 -£135  

Commission on ticket sales -£200 -£200 -£175 -£220 -£220 -£20  

Public Transport £8,904 £8,904 £8,884 £8,717 £8,765 -£139  

Rents -£484 -£484 -£476 -£466 -£496 -£12  

Service Charges -£2,090 -£2,090 -£2,089 -£2,089 -£2,089 £1  

Car Parking (Inc P&R) -£48 -£48 -£93 -£93 -£48 £0  

Other (vending, Photo Kiosks etc) -£54 -£54 -£45 -£45 -£45 £9  

Support Departments £2,787 £3,506 £3,606 £3,628 £3,673 £167  

SYPTE Total £63,885 £64,604 £64,598 £61,296 £61,411 -£3,193  

MCA Transport operational 
expenditure 

£866 £866 £866 £820 £872 £6  

MRP  £3,859 £3,859 £3,859 £3,859 £3,380 -£479  

MRP saving - contribution to levy reduction reserve      £479 £479  

External interest  £1,388 £1,388 £1,388 £1,388 £1,377 -£11  

Investment income  -£870 -£870 -£870 -£870 -£1,100 -£230  

MCA Transport Total £5,243 £5,243 £5,243 £5,197 £5,008 -£235  

Overall Transport Total £69,128 £69,847 £69,841 £66,493 £66,419 -£3,428  

Funded by:              

MCA Resource:              

Transport Levy  £54,364 £54,364 £54,364 £54,364 £54,364 £0  

Gainshare £4,209 £4,209 £4,209 £2,000 £2,000 -£2,209  

Levy Reduction Reserve £3,786 £3,786 £3,786 £2,647 £2,573 -£1,213  

MCA Recharges for Shared Services £0 £713 £713 £713 £713 £0  

SYPTE Resource:              

Grant to offset Depreciation £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 £0  

Total £69,128 £69,841 £69,840 £66,493 £66,419 -£3,422  

 

Page 173



3. CURRENT GAINSHARE COMMITMENTS 

    Revenue Capital Total 

  Sponsor £m £m £m 

Allocations         

2020/21   £12,000 £18,000 £30,000 

2021/22   £12,000 £18,000 £30,000 

2022/23   £12,000 £18,000 £30,000 

    £36,000 £54,000 £90,000 

          

Commitments:         

Emergency Recovery:         

  - Barnsley  BMBC £880 £125 £1,005 

  - Doncaster  DMBC £637 £637 £1,273 

  - Rotherham  RMBC £1,085 £0 £1,085 

  - Sheffield SCC £1,194 £1,194 £2,387 

  - Mayoral Combined Authority MCA £740 £0 £740 

    £4,536 £1,956 £6,490 

          

Welcome to Yorkshire Grant WTY £300 £0.00 £300 

          

 Flooding Proposal         

  - Lundwood Flood Alleviaton Scheme BMBC £0.00 £150 £150 

  - Barnsley Culvert Programme BMBC £0.00 £250 £250 

  - Bentley Flood Alleviation DMBC £0.00 £1,000 £1,000 

  - Borough Wide Surface Water Alleviation (Scawthorpe Fluvial) DMBC £0.00 £400 £400 

  - Conisborough Natural Flood Management DMBC £0.00 £200 £200 

  - Tickhill Natural Flood Management DMBC £0.00 £200 £200 

  - Rotherham to Kilnhurst Flood Alleviation Scheme RMBC £0.00 £2,000 £2,000 

  - Sheaf Catchment Flood Alleviation Scheme SCC £0.00 £800 £800 

  - Project Contingency   £0.00 £500 £500 

    £0.00 £5,500 £5,500 

Active Travel Proposal         

Goldthorpe - Active  Neighbourhood BMBC   £160 160 

Elsecar - Active Travel Lane BMBC   £152 152 

Thorne & Moorends - Active Neighbourhoods DMBC   £100 100 

Warmsworth to Conisborough - Active Travel Lane DMBC   £320 320 

Broom (Herringthorpe) - Active Travel Lane RMBC   £495 495 

Netheredge and Crookes - Active Neighbourhoods SCC   £350 350 

City Centre Cycle Hub  SCC   £150 150 

Sheaf Valley (Phase 1 )Active Travel Lane SCC   £508 508 

    £0 £2,235 £2,240 

          

Placed Based Proposals         

  - Glassworks Enhanced Capital Contribution BMBC £0 £2,600 £2,600 

  - Acquisition of Cheapside/Albert Street West BMBC £0 £1,000 £1,000 

  - Green Transport Infrastructure (Electric Bus Pilot) DMBC £0 £1,900 £1,900 

  - Housing Retrofits DMBC £0 £2,700 £2,700 

Page 174



  - Century Business Centre  RMBC £0 £1,000 £1,000 

  - Rotherham Towns Fund Accelerator Scheme RMBC £0 £350 £350 

  - Rotherham Town Centre Acquisitions RMBC £0 £3,000 £3,000 

  - Heart of the City Block A SCC £0 £3,000 £3,000 

  - Fargate Future High Street SCC £0 £3,000 £3,000 

  - Stocksbridge High Street SCC £0 £1,800 £1,800 

  - Brownfield Housing Scheme SCC £0 £1,000 £1,000 

    £0 £21,350 £21,350 

          

Bus Investment         

 - Bus Shelters MCA £0 £1,100 £1,100 

 - Passenger Information Displays MCA £0 £670 £670 

 - Community Transport Scheme MCA £0 £1,400 £1,400 

 - 18-21 Concessions MCA £4,210 £0 £4,210 

    £4,210 £3,170 £7,380 

Skills         

 - Kickstart SY MCA £3,405 £0 £3,405 

 - Union Learning MCA £170 £0 £170 

 - Enhanced Apprenticeships MCA £3,635 £0 £3,635 

    £7,210 £0 £7,210 

Business          

 - Business Investment Fund MCA   £7,360 £7,360 

 - Employers Renewal Action Plan MCA £6,910 £0 £6,910 

    £6,910 £7,360 £14,270 

          

Uncommitted & Reserves   £12,834 £12,429 £25,260 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 175



4. GROUP REVENUE RESERVES 

 

Group Restrictions Reserve Outturn Outturn Outturn 
Planned 

Draw  
Adjustment 

Forecast 
R3  

      MCA SYPTE Total Total Total Total 
      £k £k £k £k £k £k 
MCA/LEP Unearmarked General Fund £1,500 £0 £1,500 -£50 -£43 £1,407 
     - Carry Forwards £243 £0 £243 £0 £82 £325 

      £1,743 £0 £1,743 -£50 £39 £1,732 
  Earmarked SY Renewals Fund (Gainshare):       £0   
    Contingency £710 £0 £710 £0 £0 £710 
    MCA Development £474 £0 £474 £0 £0 £474 
    Emergency Recovery  £1,172 £0 £1,172 £0 -£1,172 £0 
    18-21 Concessions £1,811 £0 £1,811 -£1,454 -£357 £0 
    Employer Priorities £2,972 £0 £2,972 £0 -£716 £2,256 
    Employee Priorities £3,101 £0 £3,101 -£2,490 £2,460 £3,071 

      £10,240 £0 £10,240 -£3,944 £215 £6,511 
                
    Skills Bank £7,817 £0 £7,817 -£109 -£646 £7,062 
    Project Feasibility Fund £3,600 £0 £3,600 £0 -£3000 £600 
    LGF Revenue £2,088 £0 £2,088 -£357 £357 £2,088 
    Mayoral Election £2,189 £0 £2,189 -£1,675 £891 £1,405 
    Income Resilience Fund £1,497 £0 £1,497 -£448 £448 £1,497 
    Mayoral Capacity Fund £1,275 £0 £1,275 -£1,093 £395 £577 

    
Apprenticeship Grant for 
Employers 

£107 £0 £107 £0 £0 £107 

    Brownfield  £0 £0 £0 -£430 £430 £0 
    SAMS Grant Reserve  £29 £0 £29 -£25 £25 £29 

      £18,602 £0 £18,602 -£4,137 -£1,100 £13,365 
                
SY Transport Unearmarked General Fund £0 £4,760 £4,760 £0 £0 £4,760 
                

P
age 176



  Earmarked Levy Reduction Reserve £14,163 £0 £14,163 -£3,786 £1,213 £11,590 
    PFI Reserve £12,446 £0 £12,446 £0 £1,240 £13,686 
    Protection of Priority Services £5,888 £1,112 £7,000 £0 £0 £7,000 
    Mass Transit Project Readiness £0 £3,000 £3,000 £0 £0 £3,000 
    Bus Recovery Project £0 £3,000 £3,000 -£860 -£283 £1,857 
    Asset Management £0 £1,812 £1,812 -£150 £150 £1,812 
    Income Resilience £0 £1,500 £1,500 £0 £0 £1,500 
    Pensions Smoothing £0 £412 £412 £0 £0 £412 
    Redundancy and Pay Inflation £0 £394 £394 £0 £0 £394 
    IT  £0 £249 £249 -£5 £0 £244 

      £32,497 £11,479 £43,976 -£4,801 £2,320 £41,495 
                  
                  
TOTAL GROUP REVENUE RESERVES £63,082 £16,239 £79,321 -£12,932 £1,474 £67,863 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 177



Barnsley Investment Schemes 

Funding Project Sponsor 
2021/22 
£k 

2022/23 
£k 

2023/24 
£k 

Total 
£k 

 

 

Gainshare Barnsley Culvert Programme BMBC   £250   £250  

Gainshare Lundwood Flood Alleviation Scheme BMBC 
  £150   £150 

 

LGF 
M1 Junction 37 Ph2 –Economic Growth 
Corridor (Claycliffe) 

BMBC 
£4,072     £4,072 

 

GBF 
Barnsley College Digital Innovation Hub 
Ph.2 

BMBC 
£1,145     £1,145 

 

GBF New Active Travel Foot Cycle Bridge BMBC £1,500     £1,500  

GBF Goldthorpe Strategic Land Assembly  BMBC £580     £580  

GBF/TCF Better Barnsley Market Gate Bridge  BMBC £2,000 £2,800   £4,800  

GBF Town Centre Public Realm  BMBC £1,355     £1,355  

ATF2 
/Gainshare 

Goldthorpe - Active  Neighbourhood BMBC 
£412      £137   £412 

 

ATF2 
/Gainshare 

Elsecar - Active Travel Lane BMBC 
£431      £144   £431 

 

TCF A61 Active Travel BMBC £200 £4,907   £5,107  

TCF BRT BMBC £2,245 £6,571   £8,816  

TCF BMBC Station Access  BMBC £197 £333   £530  

TCF A635 BMBC £363 £1,999   £2,362  

TCF Barnsley Active Travel Hub BMBC £46     £46  

TCF Darton Active Travel Hub BMBC £6     £6  

TCF Goldthorpe Active Travel Hub BMBC £10     £10  

TCF Darton Active Travel Link BMBC £32     £32  

TCF Dearne Valley Active Travel Link BMBC £141     £141  

Gainshare Glassworks BMBC    £2,600   £0  

P
age 178



Gainshare 
Acquisition of Cheapside/Albert Street 
West 

BMBC 
   £1,000   £0 

 

BHF Goldthorpe Market Phase 1  BMBC   £144   £144  

BHF Bernslai Close BMBC   £180   £180  

BHF Goldthorpe 1919 BMBC   £200 £200 £400  

BHF Towns Resedential Project BMBC   £500 £500 £1,000  

BHF BMBC garage infill sites BMBC   £300 £180 £480  

BHF Courthouse - The Seam BMBC   £500 £1,500 £2,000  

BHF Goldthorpe Hotel * BMBC       £0  

BHF Goldthorpe Market Phase 1a* BMBC       £0  

HCM Highways Capital Maintenance BMBC £4,739     £4,739  

ITB Integrated Transport Block BMBC £1,077     £1,077  

      £20,551 £18,834 £2,380 £41,765  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 179



DMBC Investment Scheme 

Funding Project Sponsor 
2021/22 
£k 

2022/23 
£k 

2023/24 
£k 

Total 
£k 

 

 

Gainshare Bentley Flood Alleviation Scheme DMBC   £1,000   £1,000  

Gainshare 
Borough Wide Surface Water Alleviation Scheme 
(Scawthorpe Pluvial) 

DMBC 
  £400   £400 

 

Gainshare 
Natural Flood Management (NFM) Conisbrough & 
Tickhill 

DMBC 
  £400   £400 

 

GBF DN Colleges Digital Infrastructure 
Don. 
College £197     £197 

 

GBF DN Colleges Construction Space 
Don. 
College £979     £979 

 

GBF 
Quality Streets Active Travel and Digital 
Infrastructure  

DMBC 
£5,500     £5,500 

 

TCF 
Quality Streets Active Travel and Digital 
Infrastructure  

DMBC 
  £3,500   £3,500 

 

ATF2/Gainshare Thorne & Moorends - Active Neighbourhoods DMBC £80       £300   £80  

ATF2/Gainshare Warmsworth to Conisborough - Active Travel Lane DMBC £750        £250   £750  

TCF West of Doncaster Active Travel DMBC £461 £3,570   £4,031  

TCF DMBC Station Access  DMBC £2,898 £3,231   £6,129  

TCF Doncaster Station to College DMBC £418     £418  

TCF Bennethorpe to Hallgate DMBC £58 £848   £906  

TCF North Bridge Cycle Connector to High Street DMBC   £786   £786  

TCF M18 J3 DMBC   £4,907   £4,907  

TCF Unity  DMBC £50 £4,337   £4,387  

Gainshare Green Transport Infrastructure (electric bus pilot) DMBC          £1,900   £0  

Gainshare Housing Refit DMBC         £2,700   £0  

BHF DMBC Small Sites DMBC   £404 £485 £889  

BHF Former Nightingale School  DMBC   £713 £858 £1,571  

P
age 180



BHF Appleby Rd/ Athelstan Crescent/ Adwick Lane* DMBC 
      £0 

 

BHF Adwick DMBC   £545 £654 £1,199  

BHF Doncaster Council House Build DMBC £495     £495  

BHF Minister Quarter DMBC   £2,500   £2,500  

BHF Town Centre Masterplan Acquisitions DMBC     £5,250 £5,250  

HCM Highways Capital Maintenance DMBC £7,980     £7,980  

TIIF  Pohole DMBC £4,758     £4,758  

ITB Integrated Transport Block DMBC £1,210     £1,210  

      £25,834 £27,141 £7,247 £60,222  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 181



RMBC Investment Schemes 

Funding Project Sponsor 
2021/22 
£k 

2022/23 
£k 

2023/24 
£k 

2024/25 
£k 

Total 
£k  

 

LGF Greasbrough Corridor Road Junctions RMBC £1,750       £1,750  

DfT Parkway Widening RMBC £6,000 £32,909     £38,909  

GBF Rotherham Town Centre Housing - 3 Sites RMBC £1,198       £1,198  

GBF Century Business Centre  RMBC £2,000       £2,000  

Gainshare Century BIC RMBC £1,000       £1,000  

GBF 
Greasebrough Corridor Improvements The 
Whins 

RMBC 
£2,000       

£2,000  

ATF2/Gainshare Broom (Herringthorpe) - Active Travel Lane RMBC   £900 £599   £1,499  

TCF A631 Maltby RMBC £190 £2,060     £2,250  

TCF Manvers Way RMBC £31       £393     £31  

TCF Doncaster Road, Dalton RMBC £514 £1,377     £1,891  

TCF Footbridge from Forge Island to Riverside RMBC         £980     £0  

TCF Frederick Street East West Cycle Route RMBC £164       £331     £164  

TCF Sheffield Rd Cycleways  RMBC £600 £7,098     £7,698  

TCF AMID (RMBC)* RMBC         £0  

Gainshare Snail Yard - Towns Fund Accelerator RMBC   £350     £350  

Gainshare Rotherham Town Centre Acquisitions  RMBC   £3,000     £3,000  

Gainshare 
Rotherham to Kilnhurst Flood Alleviation 
Scheme (FAS) 

RMBC 
   £2,000     

£0  

BHF  Rotherham Small Sites 2020-21  RMBC          £434     £0  

BHF Small Sites 21/22 RMBC   £420     £420  

BHF Canklow RMBC   £150     £150  

BHF Eastwood RMBC   £1,794     £1,794  

BHF Snail Hill RMBC   £600 £400   £1,000  

BHF Forge Island RMBC   £500 £1,000   £1,500  

P
age 182



BHF Ship Hill RMBC   £600 £1,000   £1,600  

BHF Riverside North  RMBC   £900   £4,200 £5,100  

BHF Riverside South  RMBC   £900   £2,400 £3,300  

ITB Integrated Transport Block RMBC £1,154       £1,154  

HCM  Highways Capital Maintenance  RMBC £5,235       £5,235  

TIIF Pothole  RMBC £2,144       £2,144  

      £23,980 £53,558 £2,999 £6,600 £87,137  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 183



 

Sheffield City Council Investment Schemes 

Funding Project Sponsor 
2021/22 
£k 

2022/23 
£k 

2023/24 
£k 

Total 
£k 

 

 

Gainshare Sheaf Catchment Flood Alleviation Scheme SCC 
£75 £425 £300 £800 

 

GBF/TCF Heart of the City Breathing Spaces  SCC £4,040 £1,902   £5,942  

GBF Parkwood* SCC       £0  

GBF Fargate Measures SCC £6,000     £6,000  

ATF2/Gainshare Netheredge and Crookes - Active Neighbourhoods SCC £292     £297   £292  

ATF2/Gainshare City Centre Cycle Hub  SCC £94     £206   £94  

ATF2/Gainshare 
Sheaf Valley Active Travel Route (Phase 1 - Sheaf Quay to Norton 
Hammer) 

SCC 
£46 £1,914      £280 £1,960 

 

TCF South West Bus Corridors SCC   £1,326   £1,326  

TCF AMID via Darnall/Sheffield to AMID Bus Corridor SCC £400 £14,705   £15,105  

TCF Magna-Tinsley (Bawtry Road)  SCC £280 £4,940   £5,220  

TCF City Centre Cycling/Cross City Bus SCC   £14,097   £14,097  

TCF Kelham  SCC £482 £10,341   £10,823  

TCF Nether Edge Wedge SCC £250 £1,100  £11,699 £1,350  

Gainshare Heat of the City Block A SCC   £3,000   £3,000  

Gainshare Match for Fargate Future High Street fund SCC     £3,000   £0  

Gainshare Stocksbridge High Street Acquisition SCC   £1,800   £1,800  

Gainshare Brownfield Housing Scheme SCC   £1,000   £1,000  

BHF  West Bar  SCC £655     £655  

BHF  Malthouses  SCC   £1,573   £1,573  

BHF  Allen Street  SCC £434     £434  

BHF Cannon Brewery (Housing Zone North) SCC   £2,255   £2,255  

BHF Hoyle Street* SCC       £0  

P
age 184



BHF Devonshire Quarter* SCC       £0  

BHF Attercliffe SCC   £1,870   £1,870  

BHF Park Hill 4  SCC   £2,545 £3,065 £5,610  

BHF Norfolk Park 10 SCC   £1,000 £483 £1,483  

BHF Shirecliffe 2 SCC   £1,029   £1,029  

BHF Attercliffe: Workshop Road/ Titterton Close* SCC 
      £0 

 

BHF Porter Brook  SCC  £350     £350  

BHF Little Kelham* SCC        £0  

ITB Integrated Transport Block SCC £2,859     £2,859  

TIIF Pothole  SCC £400     £400  

      £16,657 £66,822 £3,848 £87,327  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 185



 

SYPTE Investment Schemes 

Schemes in Delivery  Sponsor 
2021/22 TCF ITB Other 

£k £k £k £k 

Mass Transit Business Case   SYPTE £1,568   £568 £1,000 
Meadowhall Toilet Refurbishment SYPTE £5     £5 

Supertram Rail Replacement   SYPTE £80     £80 

Smart Ticketing / R&I Strategy   SYPTE £150   £150   

Programme Wide Costs   SYPTE £374   £374   

LRT Signal Head Replacement   SYPTE £75     £75 

TCF Schemes             
A61 Wakefield Road Bus Corridor SYPTE £1,589 £1,589     
Barnsley - Doncaster Quality Bus Corridor SYPTE £100   £100   
A630 Bus Improvements SYPTE £496 £496     
Iport Bridge   SYPTE £1,661 £1,611 50   
Magna Tram Train Stop and P&R  SYPTE £670 £670     
Parkgate P&R   SYPTE £300 £200 £100   
Parkgate Link Road SYPTE £1,451 £1,451     
Taylors Lane Roundabout SYPTE £1,226 £1,226     
South Yorkshire Rail Improvements SYPTE £407 £407     
Bus Related Schemes           
Bus Review Schemes (Quick Wins & prep costs) SYPTE £150   £150   
Bus Stop Improvements (Northern General)  SYPTE £65     £65 
Mexborough Market Gateway SYPTE £250     £250 
Tram Related Schemes           
Tram Bridging Strategy Prep Costs/ Quick Wins SYPTE £1,000   £225 £775 
Rail Related Schemes           
Rail Feasibility Work SYPTE £50   £50   

P
age 186



Life Cycle Works             
Shelter Programme Annual Programme SYPTE £100   £100   
Wind Turbines   SYPTE £5     £5 
Car Park Equipment SYPTE £90   £90   
Resurface Sheffield Interchange Runways  SYPTE £45   £45   
Resurface Meadowhall Interchange Runways  SYPTE £45   £45   
Park & Ride – Refurbishment SYPTE £45   £45   
Others             
Design Work for Projects "Pipeline" SYPTE £100   £100   
Expansion of Meadowhall Park & Ride SYPTE £35   £35   
CT Vehicle Replacement Annual Programme SYPTE £326   £300 £26 
Wheels to Work   SYPTE £70     £70 
Programme / Project Management Software SYPTE £5     £5 
IT Spend (Laptop Refresh Programme) SYPTE £29     £29 
IT - Monitor Refresh Programme SYPTE £18     £18 
IT - Network Switch Replacement Programme SYPTE £50     £50 
Total     £12,630       

 

MCA Capital Investment Schemes 

Programmes     2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total 

Funding Project Sponsor £k £k £k £k 

Receipts Midland Road Remediation MCA £600     £600 

GBF EV Charging Points MCA £1,847     £1,847 

Gainshare Bus Capital Investment MCA £1,202 £1,968   £3,170 

TCF SCR Transport Modelling Updates MCA £0     £0 

Receipts BSW Ventilation MCA £200     £200 

Receipts ICT Cyclical Refresh MCA £0   £150 £150 

Receipts Estate Management MCA £110     £110 

      £3,959 £1,968 £150 £6,077 

 

P
age 187



 

P
age 188



 

Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

24 January 2022 
 

Budget and Business Plan Development 2022/23 
 
Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   Yes 
 
Has it been included on the                    Yes 
Forward Plan? 
 
 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer 
 
Report Author(s): 
Gareth Sutton 
Gareth.sutton@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 
 
Executive Summary 
This report provides an update on the budget and business planning processes for the 
forthcoming financial year. 
 
The report sets out the assumed level of resource available to the MCA to invest into its 
priorities and outlines forecast financial risks. 
 
Following engagement with the South Yorkshire Leaders and Mayor, the report recommends 
approval of the proposal to freeze the transport levy and local subscriptions at current levels 
and notes the proposal to not set a Mayoral precept. 
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
The MCA’s financial plan, as manifested through its budget, provides the resource to deliver 
upon South Yorkshire’s aspirations. The developing business plans and accompanying 
budgets will determine how, where, and to what level the MCA invests in the region in the 
coming years and will set out how that investment is to be funded. 
 
 

Page 189

Agenda Item 18



Recommendations   
This report recommends: 

1. Approve the South Yorkshire Transport Levy for financial year 2022/23; 
2. Approve the proposal to not set a Mayoral Precept for financial year 2022/23; 
3. Note the proposal to freeze local authority subscriptions for financial year 2022/23; 
4. Note the forecast scale of consolidated Group spending power in the forthcoming year; 

and, 
5. Note the intention to bring the final Group revenue budget and capital programme for 

approval to the MCA’s March meeting. 
 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
Mayoral Combined Authority Board 15 November 2021 
Mayoral Combined Authority Board 20 September 2021 
  

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 This report represents the third iteration of budget development reporting to the 

Board since the summer, providing an update on the expected resources available 
to the MCA in the new financial year and the risks identified. 

  
1.2 As noted in previous updates to the Board, the ongoing impact of the pandemic, 

consequential changes to behaviours and demand for services, and the resultant 
Governmental response via policy and funding decisions all contribute to a 
challenging planning environment.  
 

1.3 That environment is largely characterised by the immediacy of financial challenges 
and risk as the MCA and other bodies continue to react to events, and the longer-
term uncertainty that inhibits informed, sustainable planning. 
  

1.4 As planning enters its final stages a number of important issues have been 
identified that will shape the MCA’s financial plan for the new-year and beyond: 
1. Persistent concerns around the commercial sustainability of the transport 

network are likely to crystallise in the new year as government support ends and 
operators respond by implementing changes to provision; 

2. The inflationary environment coupled with supply-chain and labour market 
pressures will all likely to impact upon the cost of the services and investment 
the MCA and partners are able to provide in the new-year; 

3. Delivery capacity will continue to be strained as new funding streams coalesce 
with slipped investment from the current year, leading to an in-year capital 
programme well in excess of that delivered in previous years; 

4. The Spending Review did not commit successor funding for previously received 
EU and Local Growth Fund resource, leaving prominent gaps in funding 
provision for business support and investment priorities; and, 

5. The move towards regulatory changes in the bus environment and the end of 
the current tram concession in 2024 will lead to material preparatory costs being 
incurred in the near-term, and the potential for more significant sustained 
financial risk linked to operational performance in the longer-term. 

  
1.5 Taken together, these issues highlight both the significant opportunities new 

funding and policy choices create, but also the uncertainty across the full spectrum 

Page 190



of the MCA’s operations and the broad scale and scope of challenges in both near 
and longer term. 

  
1.6 Transitioning from a heavily-subsidised model to a sustainable transport system 

continues to represent the most immediate and pressing issue. Whilst there are 
some indications that Government support will extend beyond April 2022 there is, 
at this stage, little certainty. The MCA’s ability to effectively manage a transition 
without major Governmental support is constrained by both legislative and fiscal 
restrictions. 

  
1.7 These macro concerns are likely to be exacerbated by the inflationary environment. 

With the cost of supplies, services, labour, and material all expected to increase 
significantly in the new financial year the MCA’s budgets will come under pressure. 
This is of particular concern in relation to bus services where the cost of buying 
back services is likely to be well in excess of current levels. 

  
1.8 Labour market pressures and the costs of goods and services are also likely to 

impact upon the capital programme. As new funding – such as CRSTS – coalesces 
with slipped activity it is forecast that the MCA and partners could deliver record 
levels of investment into the region (c.£428m). Effecting this delivery will be a 
significant challenge.  

  
1.9 The report notes that whilst the Spending Review provided welcome funding for a 

number of the MCA’s priorities, and commitment has since been made to a number 
of at-risk grant streams, the lack of successor funding for the Local Growth Fund 
and the delays to the roll-out of the Shared Prosperity Fund means that there is a 
shortfall in the funding required to meet the region’s business support aspirations.  
 

1.10 The report further recognises the financial implications arising from the potential for 
regulatory reform in the bus environment and those changes arising from the end of 
the current tram concession. Exploring the potential for bus franchising will require 
material resource, whilst the preparations for the end of the tram concession and 
transition to a new operating model will also require one-off funding. In the longer-
term both strands of activity could directly expose the MCA to the financial risk and 
reward of operational performance – risk from which it is currently shielded. 

  
1.11 This report does, however, recognise that the MCA has options on how it responds 

to these challenges.  
  
1.12 Notably, the emerging Investment Strategy offers proposals on how to use 

gainshare resource alongside ways-of-working changes to begin to sustainably 
address delivery constraints, whilst uncommitted resource when complemented 
with forthcoming borrowing powers further offers a permissive funding stream to 
infill around resource committed from Government. 

  
1.13 Since the last reporting date further consideration has also been given to the risks 

crystallising on the public transport network. Following engagement with the South 
Yorkshire Directors of Finance Group and the one-to-one briefing sessions with 
Members this report recommends freezing the South Yorkshire transport levy at 
existing levels. 

  

Page 191



1.14 Maintaining the levy at £54.36m will support current investment levels and enable 
the MCA to implement a risk mitigation package. Detailed revenue and capital 
forecasts for this activity are provided in the appendices to support consideration of 
this proposal. 
 

1.15 Similarly, the report notes the current proposal to freeze other local contributions 
via transport hub and LEP subscriptions at current levels. 

  
1.16 The report further seeks approval for the proposal to not set a Mayoral precept for 

the new financial year, with the costs of the Mayoral office being met from the 
recently re-committed Mayoral Capacity Fund grant. 
 

1.17 In the longer-term the report notes structural sustainability concerns around the 
transport levy, business growth and investment activity, and the costs of the cyclical 
Mayoral elections. Whilst these issues are manageable in the short-term the report 
notes the need to pivot towards more sustainable strategies in the new year. 

  
1.18 The business planning process will continue to develop delivery plans and be 

adjusted as better information is received around funding for the new year. The 
final Group revenue budgets, capital programmes, and reserve strategies will be 
presented to Members for approval at the MCA’s March meeting.  

  
  
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 This section of the report briefly outlines progress in the development of the 

segmental parts of the MCA Group’s business planning and budgets. This 
summary reporting is supported by detailed appendices. 

  
 MCA Group Spending Power 
  
2.2 Spending power reflects the cumulative resource at the disposal of the MCA across 

the whole Group. It consists of both revenue and capital resource and provides an 
indicator of the level of investment possible. 

  
2.3 Some of the MCA’s spending power is derived from local sources, such as the 

transport levy, local contributions, and retained business rates. The significant 
majority of the MCA’s resource is, however, derived from government grant. Some 
of this grant is committed over the longer-term and free from restrictions, whilst 
other elements are prescribed for certain activity and over certain timeframes. 

  
2.4 The Spending Review provided more information over the funding that will be 

available to the MCA, and since that point certain at-risk grants such as Mayoral 
Capacity Fund have been re-committed, but at the time of writing there was still a 
lack of certainty on the specific allocations that would be committed. 

  
2.5 However, based on known commitments and current forecasts, it is estimated that 

the MCA will have c. £428m of resource at its disposal in financial year 2022/23. 
This resource consists of funding that will be received in year, and underspends 
that will be rolled over from the current year. A full list of forecast funding is 
provided in Appendix i. 

  

Page 192



2.6 Funding at this level would represent a 20% increase on the current year’s base 
budget, but a 73% increase on the expected outturn position. This swing reflects 
the slippage (£110m) in the current year capital programme and underscores the 
challenge in delivering such a large capital programme: 
 

 

 
  
2.7 Of this value, c. £92m (22%) will be available to SYPTE, with c. £318m (78%) being 

available to the MCA Executive. The majority of the resource available is for capital 
investment (£264m/61%), with £166m (39%) of revenue resource available. 

  
 

 
  
2.8 The funding is overwhelmingly ringfenced (£360m/93%), with only limited amounts 

(£25m/7%) being flexible. Ringfenced funding refers to that resource which is 
committed to specific activity by grant conditionality, legislation, or local decisions. 
As an example, the Adult Education Budget funding is ringfenced by the grant 
conditionality to the specific activity, the transport levy is ringfenced by legislation to 
prescribed South Yorkshire transport activity, and elements of the annual gainshare 
resource have already been committed to certain priorities by past Board decisions. 
 

  
  
  

£133

£225

£134
£114

£166

£264

£0

£50

£100

£150

£200

£250

£300

Revenue Capital

2021/22 Base 2021/22 Forecast Outturn 2022/23

Page 193



 

 
  
2.9 The significant majority of government grant is now ringfenced at the point of 

award, with the notable exception being the gainshare devolution monies. Those 
ringfences reflect government priorities but will often align to MCA priorities. What 
is of significance is where ringfences don’t match the full array of MCA priorities. 
Initial work highlights this as being an issue with our Business funding. 

  
2.10 Of forecast grant awards there is a significant weighting of resource to transport, 

skills, and infrastructure, with a smaller amount of residual LGF available to 
Business Growth activity. Whilst some year 1, 2, and 3 gainshare resource has 
been targeted at Business RAP activity and a number of business investments, this 
means that Business Growth accounts for just c. 7% of current ringfenced activity in 
the new year: 

  
 

 
  
2.11 The MCA’s ability to influence how Government awards funding is limited, and 

there are further indications from the Spending Review of a retrenchment back 
towards Departmental funding lines and away from the flexibilities the LGF 
programme afforded the region. 
 

2.12 The loss of flexibilities will impinge on local discretion on how best to target public 
resource in the most effective manner. However, the receipt of un-ringfenced 
gainshare resource and the prospect of borrowing powers for non-transport activity 
in the new financial year does give the MCA the financial tools to influence the 
shape of its expenditure in a manner which would not have been possible pre-
devolution. 
 

Page 194



2.13 To date, of the £90m gainshare resource available for the three financial years 
running 2020/21 – 2022/23, c. £67m has been committed in support of priority 
activity. The balance of this resource is available for deployment through 
application of the grant in-year, or via the leverage of that resource for a more 
expansive borrowing funded programme. 

  
2.14 Subject to local authority consents, it is expected that Government will table 

legislation in January 2022 for the MCA’s non-transport borrowing powers, with the 
expectation that those powers will be available for exercise in the new financial 
year. 

  
 South Yorkshire Transport Levy 2022/23 
2.15 The South Yorkshire transport levy resources the operationalisation of the South 

Yorkshire Transport Plan. Funding is used to pay for items that the MCA must 
provide under statute, such as the national concessionary travel scheme; the costs 
of past financing decisions; the upkeep and maintenance of transport infrastructure 
such as interchanges and bus stops; local priorities such as discretionary travel and 
subsidised bus routes; and the operations of the South Yorkshire Passenger 
Transport Executive (SYPTE).  
 

2.16 Public transport in South Yorkshire is currently operating under significant public 
subsidy from local and national government. This subsidy has sustained 
commercial operators and routes following the collapse in fare paying patronage 
following Covid related restrictions. 

  
2.17 Under current arrangements a sensitive equilibrium has emerged where the local 

emergency subsidy via SYPTE budgets remains affordable and operators are 
largely shielded from the inherent financial risk in the operating environment. In 
turn, this has protected services for key workers and communities, and provides a 
valuable platform for economic recovery efforts. The key financial challenge in the 
new year rests on whether this equilibrium can be maintained, and if it cannot how 
the MCA responds. 

  
2.18 There are four principal variables that will shape this financial challenge: 

 
1. The potential for further Government advisory/regulatory changes over the 

winter and/or spring that impact on demand; 
2. Societal behaviour, particularly around the return to the office and pre-pandemic 

retail and leisure habits; 
3. Inflationary pressures arising from the labour and commodities markets; and, 
4. The commitment of government to further support, whether from recovery 

funding or through BSIP mechanisms 
 

2.19 At the last reporting date bus and tram patronage had rebounded strongly, reaching 
around 75% of pre-Covid levels on both modes. Since that point, however, the 
surge in infection levels has impacted driver availability whilst Government advice 
further dampened passenger demand. These issues provide an indication of the 
sensitivity of the network to variables largely outside of the control of both operators 
and the MCA. 
 
 

  

Page 195



2.20 For baseline planning assumptions the MCA now forecasts that:  
 Patronage will not exceed 80% of pre-pandemic levels over the course of 

the financial year.  
o This will leave an overall income shortfall in the network of c. £20-

£22m, likely leading to a contraction in the network as operators 
withdraw unviable services 

 Government support will be either reduced or withdrawn, and linked to a 
tapered reduction in MCA concessionary support 

 Patronage reductions will generate material savings to the MCA on the 
national concessionary travel budget 

o Savings of c. £3m generated based on a tapered withdrawal of 
support 

 Inflationary pressures will be significant 
o Cost of retendering existing bought-back services will be c. £4m-£5m 

higher than current year budgets 
o Pay and price pressures will exceed £0.50m before budget challenge 

mitigations 
  
2.21 As the nation responds to the latest Covid variant there is an increasing likelihood 

that patronage will remain subdued into the new year. Whilst this is likely to 
encourage operators to implement service reduction plans the disruption may also 
prompt Government into an extension of the support that is due to end in early 
April.  

  
2.22 Any continuation in Government support will likely be contingent upon the MCA 

continuing to pay national concessionary travel scheme payments at pre-Covid 
levels, or for the MCA to begin to taper down its support payments. The latter 
scenario currently represents Government guidance issued in Autumn 2021. 

  
2.23 Whilst paying statutory concessionary fares at pre-Covid levels has been affordable 

to-date, forecast inflationary pressures in the cost of tendered services now means 
that that approach would require careful consideration. 

  
2.24 In the new financial year all of the MCA’s currently bought-back tendered bus 

services will be up for renewal. These renewals will be tendered under significant 
inflationary pressures, with limited appetite from operators to bid for services 
without significant subsidy to offset the inherent patronage risk. Forecasts suggest 
that the cost increase of buying the existing services alone will be in the region of 
£4m-£5m.  
 

2.25 This cost inflation on existing bought-back services will exacerbate the financial 
pressures around requirements to support previously commercially viable services. 
Accordingly, the MCA and partners will need to carefully consider where its 
priorities lie, and whether those services that currently benefit from subsidy are still 
priorities in the event of other services being withdrawn over the course of the year. 

  
2.26 However, should the MCA begin to taper down its national concessionary travel 

scheme payments per Government guidance savings of c. £3m are forecast to 
accrue. This saving will accrue as the MCA will gradually revert to paying on actual 
journeys made rather than a flat pre-pandemic level. 

  

Page 196



2.27 This saving, along with the earmarked ‘Protection of Priority Services’ reserve 
(£7m), and the budgeted ‘investment-fund’ (£1m) is available to provide a bridge to 
a more commercially sustainable network but is, alone, insufficient to protect the 
current level of service in its entirety.  

  
2.28 The costs of making good the forecast income shortfall in the network in its entirety 

(£20m-£22m) whilst meeting the forecast inflationary pressures (£4m-£5m) are 
beyond the means of the MCA on a sustainable basis. 

  
2.29 Whilst savings and reserves can provide temporary support, in the longer-term only 

a return of fare-paying passengers or sustained Government support can sustain 
the network at its current levels.  

  
2.30 In this context, and following Member engagement, this report proposes that: 

1. The transport levy is maintained at current levels (£54.36m); 
2. The ‘Levy Reduction Reserve’ continues to support the budget in line with 

the reserve strategy (c. £4.4m) 
3. The MCA provides concessionary support to transport operators based on 

the tapered approach requested by Government; 
4. Concessionary savings (£3m), the budgeted ‘investment-fund’ (£1m), and 

earmarked reserves (£7m) are used to protect priority services where 
possible; and, 

5. The MCA considers with partners how best to deploy the existing tendered 
services budget (c. £7m) to its latest priorities. 

  
2.31 As in the current year, this approach is inherently a short-term one that seeks to 

minimise disruption by providing a bridge to a more commercially viable network 
informed by better information on demand, Government support, and cost. 
 

2.32 Under statute the costs of the levy must be distributed on a per capita basis. Using 
the latest population estimates provided by the Office for National Statistics, this will 
result in the levy distributions marginally changing on the prior year: 

  
   Population  2021/22  Share  Population  2022/23  2022/23  Variance 

   2020  £k  %  2021  %  £k  £k 

Barnsley  246,866  £9,525  17.52%  248,071  17.53%  £9,530  ‐£5 

Doncaster  311,890  £12,034  22.14%  312,785  22.10%  £12,017  £17 

Rotherham  265,411  £10,240  18.84%  264,984  18.73%  £10,180  £60 

Sheffield  584,853  £22,565  41.51%  589,214  41.64%  £22,637  ‐£72 

   1,409,020  £54,364     1,415,054     £54,364  £0 

 
 
South Yorkshire Transport Levy: Future Year Risk 

2.33 In the medium-term the MCA will also need to begin to address known structural 
sustainability issues centred on two principal points: 

1. On-going reliance on the ‘Levy Reduction Reserve’; and, 
2. Exposure to the operational performance of the tram network following the 

end of the current concession in 2024 
  
2.34 Inflationary pressures now mean that the pre-pandemic financial strategy of 

releasing the Levy Reduction Reserve in line with the falling capital financing 

Page 197



budget is becoming unsustainable. Simply, the reserve will be exhausted with the 
budget still running deficits by financial year 2026/27. 

  
2.35 To meet this pressure the MCA will need to consider its post-pandemic cost-base 

and the requirement for levy increases. If longer-term trends in patronage decline 
are not arrested, and concessionary savings are not reinvested into services, there 
may be the potential to offset the need for levy increases for a time. However, in 
the longer-term a return to incremental increases in the levy is likely to be required 
to reduce reliance on reserves and meet unavoidable inflationary pressures. 

  
2.36 Of significant note in the medium to long-term planning for the MCA is the end of 

the current tram concession in 2024 and the growing inevitability that the MCA will 
not be able to re-let a concession that shields it from the operational performance 
of the tram system in the manner that it currently is. 
 

2.37 Previous forecasts have noted a budget provision required from 2024 of £1m p/a, 
representing the operating deficit ran by the tram prior to the pandemic. Given 
inflationary pressures and likely disruption from CRSTS capital investment over the 
period, the forecasts accompanying this report have increased this requirement to 
£1.5m p/a.  

  
2.38 The potential for this sum to be insufficient if patronage does not recover to pre-

pandemic levels and investment disruption further drives patronage off the network 
is significant.  

  
2.39 As part of the investment planning for CRSTS and the wider tram concession 

project, consideration is being given to both how best to avoid disrupting provision 
whilst making best use of both the capital and revenue funding to provide a 
financial buffer against this risk. Resource is made available to support this activity 
in the new year from the ‘Tram Project Reserve’. 

  
 MCA/LEP Activity 
  

Corporate Resource and Pressures 
2.40 The MCA’s non-transport activity is funded by a shifting array of time-limited, 

conditional funding streams and a relatively small amount of resource generated 
from un-ringfenced grant, local contributions and commercial income (£5m). 

  
2.41 Since the last reporting-date the £1m Mayoral Capacity Fund grant which 

resources the Mayoral Office was re-committed, but significant uncertainty across 
other income streams remained: 

 The £500k LEP capacity funding that resources much of the MCA’s core 
costs is at risk and tied to the national review of LEPs being undertaken by 
Government; 

 Enterprise Zone income (£2m) remains volatile; and, 
 Commercial income streams related to property trading surpluses, income 

from loans to business, and income generated from cash held on deposit 
remain disrupted and depressed.  

  
2.42 Concerns now principally centre on the loss of LEP funding and the net financial 

performance of the MCA’s property portfolio, particularly at the Advanced 
Manufacturing Park Technology Centre (AMPTC). The final business plan for the 

Page 198



AMPTC is currently being prepared by the managing agents, but it is likely that cost 
inflation and lower demand for office accommodation will impact upon the net profit 
generated from the site. That, coupled with the potential loss of LEP funding, would 
have a disproportionate impact upon the MCA’s financial strength as those income 
streams reflect some of the limited un-ringfenced funding available to the MCA. 
 

2.43 Disruption to core income streams may be exacerbated by the loss of capital 
funding streams from 2022 onwards that have previously been recharged into. With 
the loss of the Local Growth Fund money and Getting Building Fund resource, 
some core services which received contributions from programme recharges will 
now need to flip to new funded programmes – such as CRSTS - or be flexed down 
to meet a new budgetary envelope.  
 

2.44 The MCA expects to receive confirmation of its CRSTS envelope in Quarter 4 of 
the current year, so budgets may need to be developed at-risk. 
 

2.45 Organisational pressures are likely to arise from pay and price inflation. At this 
stage there is still uncertainty on whether the Government will reimburse MCA’s for 
employer NI contributions, whilst indexed linked contracts, pay awards, and new 
commissions into market are all likely to be in excess of forecast. Initial forecasts 
suggest that pay inflation alone will add c.£200k. 
 

2.46 Given pressures in this area this report recommends a freezing of LEP (£0.18m) 
and transport hub (£1m) local contributions at their current levels. On this basis, 
local contributions would be distributed as follows: 
 

   LEP   Transport Hub  Total 

   £k  £k  £k 

Barnsley  £32  £174  £206 

Doncaster  £41  £223  £264 

Rotherham  £35  £191  £226 

Sheffield  £76  £412  £488 

   £184  £1,000  £1,184 
 

  
2.47 In the new year the MCA will also begin to release the Project Feasibility Fund in 

support of the region’s ability to originate and develop quality investment 
opportunities without recourse to available government funding streams. This Fund 
– totalling £3.6m – will be designed to operate on a sustainable basis, with funding 
being recycled where possible. Deployment of this resource offers an opportunity to 
begin to address some of the systemic issues that impact upon the quality of 
funding bids and pace of delivery. 
 

2.48 In 2022/23 the MCA will be obliged to meet the costs of the Mayoral election. 
These costs are forecast at c. £2.25m and include resource for costs incurred by 
each local authority, the MCA’s costs, and the costs of publicising the election. 
These costs are not funded from Government and fall to be funded from local 
resource.  

  
2.49 The costs of the election in the new year will be resourced from the ‘Mayoral 

Election Reserve’ this reserve has been accumulated over a number of years from 
windfall income and fortuitous underspends. 

  

Page 199



2.50 For medium-term planning purposes it will be incumbent on the MCA to adopt a 
more sustainable approach to meeting this cyclical liability. Whilst underspend and 
income surpluses can contribute to meeting this liability should they arise it is 
prudent to assume that the MCA will require an annual provision of c. £0.55m to 
build up a reserve each year. 

  
 Business Growth and Recovery Resource and Pressures 
2.51 This area continues to be funded from a number of capital and revenue grant 

funding streams that are not sustained into the future. How to fund Business 
Growth activity into the medium-term remains a significant planning issue. 

  
2.52 Activity in 2022/23 will now include slipped gainshare funded activity associated 

with the Renewal Action Plan. This activity is defined by the funding envelope 
initially provided (£6.91m) and cannot be sustained into the future without further 
funding being released. 
 

2.53 Significant support to the local economy through the South Yorkshire Business 
Support Scheme will conclude in the current year, with all Additional Restrictions 
Grant funding awarded to-date to be used by March 2022. Whilst further funding 
has been announced to support those sectors impacted by the latest variant it is 
expected that there will be a requirement to disburse that funding before the year-
end.  
 

2.54 Made Smarter grant funded activity is also now likely to slip into the new financial 
year (£0.89m). This activity is a pilot scheme with no commitment beyond the 
existing allocation.  

  
2.55 The Business Growth area may also see activity slip into the new year relating to 

capital business investments supported from the residual LGF funding held by the 
MCA, whilst the MCA has also now committed £7m of gainshare capital from its 
2022/23 allocation to part resource a number of investments.  
 

2.56 Business support activity has to-date been supported by Growth Hub grant 
provided by Government (£0.41m). As in previous years, this grant is committed on 
a rolling annual basis. At the time of writing there remained no certainty on whether 
this funding would be recommitted. 
 

2.57 Activity across the thematic area is also supported by reserves. At outturn the MCA 
expects to have c. £2m in reserves earmarked to this area. This reserve was 
created from the initial £4m Growth Fund revenue allocation and has been drawn 
on and replenished since 2015.  This reserve will sustain services for a number of 
years but will eventually be exhausted without – as yet - a successor funding 
stream being identified. 

  
2.58 Finally, the Spending Review now suggests that the Shared Prosperity Fund – that 

may have provided funding for business activity – is still some way off, with funding 
unlikely to be received in the new year. 
 

 Housing and Infrastructure Resource and Pressures 
2.59 Financial activity within this thematic area is dominated by capital investment 

funded from the Getting Building Fund, Brownfield Housing funding, and gainshare.  
  

Page 200



2.60 Whilst it is anticipated that the Getting Building Fund programme will hit 
requirements to defray all final year funding within the current financial year, budget 
reports throughout the year have noted significant slippage of Brownfield activity 
into the forthcoming year. At this stage it is expected that c. £17m of activity will slip 
into the new year. 

  
2.61 The MCA has engaged government on this slippage, noting the requirement to 

have defrayed £20m by March 2022. There is a latent risk that underperformance 
against the target may impact upon the MCA receiving the full balance of £20m of 
funding.  

  
2.62 The Budget Revision 3 report also notes that the gainshare funded ‘Place’ and 

flooding investments are now also likely to largely fall into the new financial year. 
This investment totals £26.9m in aggregate. 
 

2.63 Outside of the MCA’s direct purview, resource also continues to be deployed 
through the JESSICA investment fund. This fund is now largely allocated, and 
whilst loans granted may be returned to the fund into the future there is no 
successor funding source available. 

  
2.64 Revenue funding for this thematic area is in short supply, largely centred on core 

funding for teams and the Brownfield revenue accelerator funding. This latter 
funding is now deployed in full, with expenditure expected be incurred into the next 
financial year. 
 

 Skills, Education & Employment Resources and Pressures 
2.65 Financial activity in this area is centred on the Adult Education Budget, 

supplemented by gainshare funding for the apprenticeship and KickStart South 
Yorkshire proposals. This activity is supplemented in-year with the interim Skills 
Bank programme and the Working Win health led trial.  

  
2.66 The Adult Education Budget represents sustainable funding that will continue 

indefinitely as part of the region’s devolution deal. However, sustainability concerns 
are an issue for the other principal spheres of activity: gainshare funded activity is 
defined by the previously agreed envelope (£7.2m); the Skills Bank programme is 
funded from reserves (£7m); and the Working Win programme is funded from a 
discrete grant from Government. 
 

2.67 The majority of gainshare funded activity is now likely to slip into the new financial 
year, whilst the Skills Bank successor programme will also be funded from reserve 
in the new year. At this stage there is no commitment from government to a 
continuation of the Working Win programme. 
 

2.68 At the time of writing there was little clarity on how the £3.8bn of additional funding 
announced through the Spending Review for skills and learning would be 
distributed. 
 

 Strategic Transport Resources and Pressures 
2.69 The non-LTA transport functions of the MCA will likely see a significant capital 

programme in the new financial year. 
  

Page 201



2.70 Slippage from the existing Transforming Cities and Active Travel programmes will 
be met by the first year of the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement 
programme, which may stand at over £100m in 2022/23. Of this value, the majority 
of the CRSTS funding will relate to the final year of the TCF programme and the 
highways maintenance grants previously received.  
 

2.71 Whilst the MCA has received a notional allocation of £570m from the CRSTS fund 
it will not know its final allocation until business cases have been submitted and 
reviewed by Government in Quarter 4. 

  
2.72 Grant funded activity is supplemented with gainshare bus investment from the 

£3.17m funding made available for shelter upgrades and the electrification of parts 
of the community transport fleet. 
 

2.73 Funding will continue to be defrayed on the Parkway Widening scheme, funded 
from the Department for Transport Majors grant. This scheme alone will add c. 
£17m to the in-year capital programme. 
 

2.74 The MCA will also have £12m of Growth Deal transport capital funding available to 
it, along with £5m of revenue funding made available to support preparations for 
the Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) and sustainable planning and readiness 
activity for the current and future years CRSTS programmes. 

  
2.75  The MCA also expects to receive notification of any possible Bus Service 

Improvement Plan (BSIP) award in January 2022. Whilst the MCA submitted an 
aspirational bid for this funding, the total quantum of resource now available 
nationally is likely to mean that any award will fall well short of the ask. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 Option 1 
 This report recommends that Members approve the transport levy, Mayoral 

precept, and local contributions. 
  
3.2 Option 1 Risks and Mitigations  
 Approving the levy and local contribution proposals offers the MCA the opportunity 

to develop budgets appropriate to the level of demand and identified risks and 
detailed in the report. 
 

3.3 Option 2 
 The Board could choose to reject any or all of the recommendations in the report, in 

particular requesting a lower transport levy. 
  
3.4 Option 2 Risks and Mitigations 
 Adopting a lower transport levy would impinge upon the MCA’s ability to deliver the 

required level of service whilst managing the risks identified. Should a lower 
transport levy be requested the MCA would be required to pare back its investment 
budgets and/or draw on reserves to a greater than forecast level. Drawing on 
reserves in this manner would be unsustainable and exacerbate existing 
sustainability concerns. 

  
 

Page 202



3.5 Option 3 
 The Board could choose to reject any or all of the recommendations in the report, in 

particular requesting a higher transport levy 
  
3.6 Option 3 Risks and Mitigations  
 Adopting a higher transport levy would require larger contributions from each of the 

South Yorkshire local authorities. A higher transport levy would provide the MCA 
with greater financial resilience to manage in-year pressures, but that levy would 
need to be sustained into the future to support longer-term planning. 

  
3.7 Recommended Option 
 Option 1 
  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
4.1 A number of engagement sessions have been undertaken with the MCA Members 

and Mayor in reaching these recommendations. 
  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
5.1 Approval of the recommendations in this report will support final budget 

development ahead of reporting to the Board in March. 
  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
6.1 This is a financial report, the details of which are covered in the main body of the 

document. 
  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
7.1 The MCA is legally required to approve a transport levy and Mayoral precept by 

February 2022. 
  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
8.1 None. 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
9.1 None. 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
10.1 None. 
  
  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
11.1 None. 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice 
12.1 None. 

 
List of Appendices Included 
A Appendix i: Forecast Resource  
B Appendix ii: SYPTE Revenue Budget Forecasts 
     

Background Papers 
None. 

 

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

FORECAST FUNDING AVAILABILITY 

Theme Funding Project/Programme Funding Type Total 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 
        £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Uncommitted Gainshare Uncommitted Capital £83 £11 £18 £18 £18 £18 
Uncommitted Gainshare Uncommitted Revenue £60 £12 £12 £12 £12 £12 
Uncommitted Reserves Project Feasibility Fund Revenue £4 £2 £2 £0 £0 £0 
Transport CRSTS CRSTS Capital £570 £114 £114 £114 £114 £114 
Transport TCF TCF Capital £63 £63 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Transport Levy Local Transport Functions Revenue £275 £55 £55 £55 £55 £55 
Transport Other Income Local Transport Functions Revenue £55 £11 £11 £11 £11 £11 
Transport Reserves Local Transport Functions Revenue £12 £4 £4 £4 £0 £0 
Transport Reserves Tram Project Revenue £3 £1 £2 £1 £0 £0 
Transport Reserves Bus Project Revenue £2 £1 £1 £0 £0 £0 
Transport DfT Grant Transport Revenue Revenue £5 £5 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Transport Active Travel Active Travel Capital £5 £5 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Transport Growth Deal Growth Deal Capital £12 £4 £4 £4 £0 £0 
Transport Majors Parkway Capital £17 £17 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Transport Gainshare 18-21 Concession Revenue £1 £1 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Business LGF Business Investment Capital £23 £13 £0 £10 £0 £0 
Business Made Smarter Made Smarter Revenue £1 £1 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Business Gainshare Business Investment Revenue £7 £7 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Business Gainshare Employer Support Revenue £4 £4 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Skills AEB AEB Revenue £225 £45 £45 £45 £45 £45 
Skills Skills Bank Skills Bank Revenue £7 £7 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Skills Gainshare Jobs Fund Revenue £3 £3 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Housing Brownfield Brownfield Capital £38 £8 £10 £10 £10 £0 
Infrastructure Gainshare Place Investment Capital £21 £21 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Infrastructure Gainshare Flooding Capital £6 £6 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Infrastructure LGF Digital Capital £10 £2 £2 £2 £2 £2 
Executive Other Income Executive Revenue £25 £5 £5 £5 £5 £5 
        £1,536 £428 £284 £291 £272 £262 

P
age 205



 

 

P
age 206



SYPTE Revenue Budget 2022/23  2021/22 2021/22 2021/22     2022/23 2022/23 2022/23   

  
Gross 

Expenditure 
Income Net Budget Pressures Savings 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Income Net Budget Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Mandatory Expenditure                   
ENCTS/Mobility Concessions £23,461 £0 £23,461 £0 -£3,000 £20,461 £0 £20,461 £3,000 
Financial Obligations                   
Capital Financing £6,019 £0 £6,019 £0 -£392 £5,627 £0 £5,627 £392 
Tram Access £1,500 £0 £1,500 £0 £0 £1,500 £0 £1,500 £0 
Depreciation £6,769 £0 £6,769 £0 £0 £6,769 £0 £6,769 £0 
Pensions £740 £0 £740 £0 -£20 £720 £0 £720 £20 

  £15,028 £0 £15,028 £0 -£412 £14,616 £0 £14,616 £412 
Discretionary Expenditure                   
Child Concessions £3,986 -£1,550 £2,436 £311 £0 £4,297 -£1,550 £2,747 -£311 
18-21 Concession £4,210 £0 £4,210 £0 -£3,710 £500 £0 £500 £3,710 
Summer Saver £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 
In year investment fund £1,087 £0 £1,087 £0 -£1,087 £0 £0 £0 £1,087 
Tendered Bus Services £6,948 -£2,073 £4,875 £4,946 £0 £11,894 -£2,073 £9,821 -£4,946 
Community Transport £1,657 £0 £1,657 £0 £0 £1,657 £0 £1,657 £0 
End of Tram Concession Project £0 £0 £0 £1,000 £0 £1,000 £0 £1,000 -£1,000 
Assumed Tram Operating Loss post 2024 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 

  £17,888 -£3,623 £14,265 £6,258 -£4,797 £19,349 -£3,623 £15,726 -£1,461 
Operational Departments £19,366 -£7,515 £11,851 £517 -£1,116 £18,633 -£7,581 £11,052 £799 
SYPTE Total £75,743 -£11,138 £64,605 £6,775 -£9,325 £73,059 -£11,204 £61,855 £2,750 
MCA Transport operational expenditure £866 £0 £866 £0 -£200 £666 £0 £666 £200 
MRP  £3,380 £0 £3,380 £0 £1 £3,381 £0 £3,381 -£1 
Appropriation £479 £0 £479 £0 -£45 £434 £0 £434 £45 
Net interest costs £1,388 -£870 £518 £0 £0 £1,388 -£715 £673 -£155 
MCA Transport Total £6,113 -£870 £5,243 £0 -£244 £5,869 -£715 £5,154 £89 
Overall Transport Total £81,856 -£12,008 £69,848 £6,775 -£9,569 £78,928 -£11,919 £67,009 £2,839 
Funded by:                   
MCA resource                   
Transport Levy     £54,364 £0  0 £54,364 £0 £54,364 £0 
Levy Reduction Reserve     £3,786 £590 £0 £4,376 £0 £4,376 -£590 
Gainshare     £4,209 £0 -£3,709 £500 £0 £500 £3,709 
Tram Project Reserve     £0 £1,000 £0 £1,000 £0 £1,000 -£1,000 
MCA recharges for shared services     £720 £0 -£720 £0 £0 £0 £720 
SYPTE resource                   
Contribution from reserves to cover depreciation     £6,769 £0 £0 £6,769 £0 £6,769 £0 
Total     £69,848 £1,590 -£4,429 £67,009 £0 £67,009 £2,839 

Appendix B 

P
age 207



 Budget Movements £'000 £'000 

Expenditure Pressures:     

Increase in Tendered Bus Services £4,946   

Tram Project £1,000   

Increase in child concession payments £311   

Other - Public Transport £317   

Increase in MCA Transport costs £0   

Other - Support Depts £200   

Minor adjustment to MRP £1   

Total pressures   £6,776 

      

Income Adjustments:     

Higher Commercial income -£66   

Lower Investment income £155   

    £89 

Savings:     

Completion of Bus Review work package 1 -£200   

Cessation of 18-21 concession pilot -£3,710   

Re-allocation of In Year Investment Fund to Tendered Bus Services -£1,087   

Reduction in statutory concessions payments -£3,000   

Reduction in capital financing costs -£392   

Reduction in pension costs -£20   

Reduction in appropriation to reserves of MRP savings  -£45   

Other - Customer Services -£21   

Other - Support Depts -£824   

Budget challenge -£271   

Total savings   -£9,570 

      

Net movement in SY Transport revenue budget   -£2,705 

 

P
age 208



 Income Forecasts 2022/23 £'000 

Zero fare pass income -£1,550 

Departure Charges -£946 

Bus Service Operator Grant -£1,127 

Recharges to capital programme -£774 

PFI credits -£2,632 

Commission on ticket sales -£200 

Rents -£484 

Service Charges -£2,156 

Car Parking (Inc P&R) -£48 

Toilet turnstiles -£71 

Other (vending, Photo Kiosks etc) -£53 

Rail Administration Grant -£1,163 

Investment income  -£715 

    

Total income -£11,919 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 209



  2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 SYPTE Revenue Medium Term Forecasts 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Income 

Net 
Budget 

Net 
Budget 

Net 
Budget 

Net 
Budget 

Net 
Budget 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Mandatory Expenditure               

ENCTS/Mobility Concessions £23,461 £0 £23,461 £20,461 £20,860 £21,267 £21,674 

                

Financial Obligations               

Capital Financing £6,019 £0 £6,019 £5,627 £3,406 £2,197 £2,197 

Tram Access £1,500 £0 £1,500 £1,500 £1,500 £0 £0 

Depreciation £6,769 £0 £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 

Pensions £740 £0 £740 £720 £720 £720 £720 

  £15,028 £0 £15,028 £14,616 £12,395 £9,686 £9,686 

                

Discretionary Expenditure               

Child Concessions £3,986 -£1,550 £2,436 £2,747 £2,831 £2,917 £3,003 

18-21 Concession £4,210 £0 £4,210 £500 £0 £0 £0 

Summer Saver £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 

In year investment fund £1,087 £0 £1,087 £0 £0 £0 £0 

Tendered Bus Services £6,948 -£2,073 £4,875 £9,821 £9,821 £9,821 £9,821 

Community Transport £1,657 £0 £1,657 £1,657 £1,657 £1,657 £1,657 

End of Tram Concession Project £0 £0 £0 £1,000 £1,500 £500 £0 

Assumed Tram Operating Loss post 2024 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £1,500 £1,500 

  £17,888 -£3,623 £14,265 £15,726 £15,810 £16,396 £15,982 

                

                

Operational Departments £19,366 -£7,515 £11,851 £11,052 £11,273 £11,499 £11,729 

                

SYPTE Total £75,743 -£11,138 £64,605 £61,855 £60,339 £58,848 £59,071 

                

P
age 210



MCA Transport operational expenditure £866 £0 £866 £666 £666 £666 £666 

MRP  £3,380 £0 £3,380 £3,381 £3,380 £3,380 £3,380 

Appropriation £479 £0 £479 £434 £397 £345 £345 

Net interest costs £1,388 -£870 £518 £673 £755 £753 £751 

MCA Transport Total £6,113 -£870 £5,243 £5,154 £5,198 £5,144 £5,142 

Overall Transport Total £81,856 -£12,008 £69,848 £67,009 £65,537 £63,992 £64,213 

Funded by:               

MCA resource               

Transport Levy     £54,364 £54,364 £54,364 £54,364 £54,364 

Levy Reduction Reserve     £3,786 £4,376 £2,904 £2,359 £3,080 

Gainshare     £4,209 £500 £0 £0 £0 

Tram Project Reserve     £0 £1,000 £1,500 £500 £0 

MCA recharges for shared services     £720 £0 £0 £0 £0 

SYPTE resource               

Contribution from reserves to cover depreciation     £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 £6,769 

Total     £69,848 £67,009 £65,537 £63,992 £64,213 

 

Levy Reduction Reserve 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Balance b/f £14,163 £12,299 £8,357 £5,851 £3,837 £1,006 

Contribution £479 £434 £397 £345 £249 £219 

Draw -£2,343 -£4,376 -£2,904 -£2,359 -£3,080 -£3,080 

Balance c/d £12,299 £8,357 £5,851 £3,837 £1,006 -£1,855 

 

P
age 211



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

24 January 2022 
 

South Yorkshire Renewal Fund: Progress Update 
 

 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Governance 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   No 
 
Has it been included on the                    Not a Key Decision 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer 
 
Report Author(s): 
Felix Kumi-Ampofo 
Felix.Kumi-Ampofo@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
This report sets out the progress made to-date on the development of the South Yorkshire 
Renewal Fund. 
 
It is intended that the Renewal Fund forms the basis of a sustained long-term investment 
strategy for the region, supporting local determination in the use of funding and addressing 
structural delivery constraints. 
 
Development of the fund is framed by both the central South Yorkshire aspirations of delivering 
investment that supports inclusive, green, economic growth and the realities of the wider 
funding environment for the MCA and its partners. 
 
Whilst work continues to develop a number of key principles that will shape how the Fund is 
deployed and how partners work together, this report recommends a phased approach to the 
use of gainshare. 
 

Page 213

Agenda Item 19



In the near-term the report recommends the release of resource in a manner which 
complements rather than competes with existing investment activity, enabling the region to 
efficiently invest in the full breadth of its aspirations. 
 
The report proposes to release revenue to support the adoption of a new lifecycle funding 
approach that seeks to address long-standing capacity constraints that have held back both the 
development of high-quality, delivery-ready investment propositions and the timely delivery of 
existing funded programmes. Investment now in capacity, along with changes to ways of 
working, provides the foundations for future delivery. 
 
The report further proposes that, in the near-term, gainshare capital be reserved to exploit 
emerging opportunities that cannot be resourced from available government funding. This 
approach seeks to retain some flexibility without displacing capacity from the existing delivery 
challenge.  
 
Furthermore, this report proposes that this initial investment in capacity and development be 
used to seed longer-term investment through ‘sub-funds’ shaped by the MCA’s priorities, such 
as investment in place, public transport, and net zero ambitions. These funds would be 
resourced from the following 25 years of gainshare and accelerated where appropriate via 
borrowing. 
 
The report recognises the significant ongoing collaboration with partners to shape the next 
stage of activity and proposes to bring an update to the Board in March. 
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
The South Yorkshire Renewal Fund will provide the platform for sustained investment into the 
region. The operation and deployment of the Fund will shape how, where, and to what value 
the region invests in its aspirations. 
 
 

Recommendations   
1. Note the work to develop the Fund to-date; 
2. Note the proposed phased approach to the release of Gainshare funding; 
3. Note the proposed adoption of a lifecycle funding approach to investment; 
4. Approve the proposal to release the Project Feasibility Fund to support the design and 

development of high-quality investment propositions that meet the conditions of 
supporting inclusive, green, economic growth 

 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
Choose a board/committee Click or tap to enter a date. 
  

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 Since its inception in 2014, the MCA’s approach to investment in South Yorkshire 

has largely been determined by decisions made in Whitehall. The timing, quantum, 
nature, and conditions of grant awards has shaped the investment the MCA could 
make. 

  
1.2 The lack of local determination in where and how investment has been targeted 

has been compounded by a decade of austerity that has prejudiced the region’s 
ability to design and develop quality investment proposals at risk.  

Page 214



 
1.3 These issues have left the region dependent on and reactive to short-term, 

unpredictable government funding cycles, often designing, developing, and 
delivering activity within unfeasible timeframes imposed upon it. 
 

1.4 Devolution offers the chance to break out of this cycle. As part of the South 
Yorkshire Devolution agreement, government agreed to a long-term flexible and 
non-ringfenced revenue and capital funding commitment worth £30m annually for 
30 years. We refer to this is as our gainshare funding. 
 

1.5 Complemented by borrowing powers, this long-term, flexible commitment affords 
the region a generational opportunity to shape investment into South Yorkshire 
through local determination.  
 

 The South Yorkshire Renewal Fund 
1.6 In March 2021, the MCA Board agreed to the creation of the South Yorkshire 

Renewal Fund (SYRF) - a “single pot” into which all funds available to the MCA will 
be held and then deployed, in accordance with the Investment Strategy. 
 

1.7 This resource should allow the SYMCA to act strategically, matching the right 
funding to the right projects, and considering long-term interventions that address 
the fundamental and structural challenges in the local economy. Moreover, when 
funding is aligned to changes in ways-of-working, it offers the region the chance to 
address the structural weaknesses that affect the quality and pace at which we 
deliver.  
 

1.8 The principles of the SYRF were agreed by the Board in March 2021: 

• The SEP is the starting point – our investment should support the central 
aspirations of inclusivity, economic growth, and net zero/decarbonisation 

• Economic impact - we need to build a better, stronger and more resilient 
economy 

• Social Impact - investment to create jobs and grow the economy must also 
deliver greater inclusion for people and communities  

• Sustained Investment - gainshare is not enough to fund all our needs on a 
sustainable basis. We can use gainshare to attract other more sustainable 
investment, infill where necessary, and seek to sustain spending power 
through sharing in the value our investments create 

• Place – we will invest to create vibrant places where people want to live, and 
contribute to our net zero ambitions to deliver sustainable growth 

• Equity - every area will get an equitable share of programme funds, but not 
necessarily at the same time and not in the same way, reflecting their 
priorities 

 
1.9 Since the last report to the Board a significant amount of collaborative work has 

been undertaken through an Investment Strategy Leadership Group to agree the 
scope, outcomes and priorities that bring together council led place-based plans 
and the region’s Strategic Economic Plan. This workstream has begun to dovetail 
with the Business Process Reengineering workstream, ensuring that consideration 
of ‘where’ investment should be focussed is supported by efficient mechanisms for 
‘how’ that investment be affected. 
 

Page 215



1.10 A timeline of key tasks have now been agreed amongst this group to allow 
proposals to be brought back to the Board at the March Mayoral Combined 
Authority meeting.  

  
2. Key Issues 

 
2.1 In the development of the Renewal Fund to-date a number of near and medium-

term issues that reflect the current operating environment have been considered. 
These issues help shape consideration of how gainshare can complement existing 
funding streams, address known constraints, and support the development of the 
Fund. 

  
2.2 Current Funding Environment: Lack of Revenue Resource 

The MCA’s investment budget is dominated by ringfenced government capital 
funds like CRSTS, leaving very little flexibility to pursue other crucial priorities that 
require revenue investment.   
 
Unlike its peer group, the MCA’s gainshare funding is weighted towards capital 
funding on a 60:40 (£18m/£12m) capital to revenue split, whilst it does not benefit 
from a business-rates revenue retention pilot like other MCAs. This places it at a 
comparative disadvantage. Accordingly, how the region chooses to deploy its 
revenue allocation becomes of critical importance. 
 
This manifests itself most readily in determining a balance between deploying 
revenue funding towards revenue activity such as early stage ideation, feasibility 
and design activity, or revenue programmes of activity, and deploying revenue 
funding to servicing the costs of capital investment financed from borrowing. 
 

2.3 Delivery Capacity 
As noted in other reports to this meeting, partners across the region are currently 
experiencing significant challenges in designing, developing and delivering the 
existing body of capital and revenue programme activity. This issue is manifesting 
itself in c. £110m of capital slippage in the current year. 
 
This issue is likely to be exacerbated in the new year as new funding coalesces 
with existing slippage to provide the largest ever in-year funding package for the 
region.  
 
Partners have provided a consistent message on the need to ensure that new 
SYRF investment is timed to complement rather than compete with existing 
investment activity.  
 

2.4 Controls on Borrowing 
 As previously reported to the Board, the MCA has been informed that a 

precondition of borrowing powers is the agreement of a borrowing cap each year 
with HM Treasury.  
 
This provision represents a control from HM Treasury on the MCA’s ability to draw 
down finance that local authorities are not subject to. 
 
In practical terms, whilst funding decisions made through gainshare will be the 
MCA’s to make, financing will be controlled by HM Treasury. This reinforces the 

Page 216



need to ensure that the MCA is judicious in how it affects financing decisions, 
taking on debt only for the best schemes. 

  
2.5 Proposals 
 This report has noted that further progress needs to be made on a number of 

issues. However, noting the wider considerations detailed previously it offers the 
Board a number of linked proposals that will support the continued development of 
the Fund and the distribution of resource to priorities in the current and new 
financial year. 
 
These proposals are focussed on four principal points: 
1. There is a need to be pragmatic in considering our ability over the immediate 

term to deliver further capital investment beyond existing funded programmes; 
2. There is an opportunity to exploit the flexibility gainshare affords us to infill 

around existing government funding streams to ensure we support the full 
breadth of the region’s aspirations; 

3. Flexibility to bring forward early deliverable schemes for investment at a pace 
that reflects MCA and individual local council circumstances; and, 

4. There is an opportunity to re-shape how the MCA supports investment through 
the adoption of a lifecycle funding model that should better ensure that our 
delivery mechanisms can match our ambition. 

  
 
2.6 

Phased Investments 
Principally, the report proposes a phased approach to the deployment of gainshare 
resource. This proposal reflects the potential for record levels of funding in the 
forthcoming financial year and the acute delivery challenges that are faced by 
partners across the region in the near-term. 

  
2.7 This phasing approach is centred on the simple proposal that over the next two 

years (2022/23 – 2024/25) the region focuses the majority of its capital efforts on 
the delivery of existing funded programmes, and focuses its new-year gainshare 
revenue resource on the creation of additional capacity, skills, and resources that 
can design and develop a new wave of quality investment propositions that could 
be matched to future government funding cycles or be resourced from gainshare 
resource. 
 

2.8 This proposal offers the opportunity to break the reactive nature of the region’s 
responses to government funding, ensuring that – like other MCAs – we have 
delivery ready prospectuses of South Yorkshire investment opportunities, and 
teams ready and capable to affect that delivery. 

  
2.9 At-risk revenue investment in project feasibility now will seed the proposed second 

capital focussed phase of investment with quality schemes. This second phase 
could be funded from elements of the gainshare resource due to the MCA from the 
following 25 years (£750m). 
 
Early Deliverable Schemes 

2.10 Linked to the phasing approach, this report further proposes that gainshare capital 
resource over the next two years be reserved to exploit emerging opportunities or 
those that are ready to deliver now. This proposal reflects the need to avoid 
exacerbating immediate delivery challenges where possible, but leaves flexibility to 

Page 217



deploy funding should partners be able to bring forward schemes at pace in the 
new financial year. 
 

2.11 This report proposes that in line with the adopted gainshare principles, any 
investment is made through the most efficient means available, supporting 
wherever possible a financial return to the Renewal Fund that can be reinvested 
into other priorities.  

  
 Lifecycle Funding 
2.12 MCA funding models currently focus resource at the physical delivery stage of a 

scheme’s life. 
 

2.13 This approach, coupled with the inability of partners to act at-risk, has led to neglect 
of the critically important ideation and pre-capitalisation design stages. In turn, the 
lack of developed investment propositions is a key impediment in the delivery of 
activity and constrains the region’s ability to think big, differently, and beyond the 
next funding cycle. 

  
2.14 This report proposes that the MCA redresses this issue through the adoption of a 

lifecycle funding model. This would see each stage of a project’s life funded from 
an appropriate source, ensuring that it has adequate resource to grow through 
design, development and into delivery. 
 

2.15 

 

To affect this proposal in the immediate term, this report seeks approval from the 
Board to release the existing Project Feasibility Fund (£3.60m) in advance of 
releasing further gainshare revenue into the new financial year. 

  
2.16 Releasing revenue resource now will support the revitalisation of ambitious at-risk 

project design and development within the region, leaving us well placed to ensure 
that there are delivery-ready schemes available as the current capital programme 
begins to abate. 

  
2.17 It is proposed that this initial release is affected on a pilot basis via a process 

developed from within the officer working group, supporting learning on what works 
best ahead of further release of gainshare resource. This report proposes that the 
conditions of release are limited to a commitment that the funding will be used to 
support ambitious propositions that meet the core aspirations of: 

1. Economic growth 
2. Inclusive growth 
3. Net Zero 

  
 Next Steps 
2.18 This report notes that further work is underway through the region wide officer 

group to continue the development of core principles. These principles will be 
essential in supporting the deployment of Phase 2 funding and establishing ways of 
working. 
 

2.19 Collaborative work is also underway to develop a common framework for identifying 
transformational projects through local investment plans. These plans are being 
developed to achieve a degree of commonality and standardisation that should 
support region wide planning and investment sequencing. 

  

Page 218



2.20 In addition to this activity, work is also underway to develop the Financial 
Investment Framework previously commissioned by the Board. This work will 
support the provision of a decision-making methodology and an investment toolkit 
to help the Board make decisions on how best to affect efficient investments. This 
will support the Board’s key principle of ensuring sustained investment. These 
principles will be shared with the Directors of Finance ahead of proposal to the 
Board in March. 

  
2.21 Work also continues with HM Treasury to agree a new borrowing cap for the year. 

As part of this activity the MCA is also developing principles that will shape the 
circumstances under which the MCA will take on debt to support accelerated 
investment. These principles will be shared with the Directors of Finance ahead of 
proposal to the Board in March. 
 

2.22 The Business Process Re-engineering workstream continues to identify how the 
MCA and partners can best pool time, resource, systems, and effort to ensure 
delivery mechanisms support our ambition. The implementation of a new 
Programme Management System and review of the adopted Assurance 
Framework is well progressed, informed by fruitful collaboration. 
 

2.23 The officer working group is currently agreeing a work plan focussing on core 
activity that needs to be completed by the end of the current financial year.  

  
2.24 This group will present progress to South Yorkshire Chief Executives and seek 

direct contributions from MCA Members in advance of a further report to the 
Mayoral Combined Authority in March 2022.  

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 

 
Option 1 
The Board could opt to defer any decisions until all the work underway is complete. 
This would allow the Board to have a fuller view of all activity and the conclusions 
thereof. 
 
This will likely delay progress in establishing the Project Feasibility Fund and the 
deployment of project lifecycle resource. Investment in transformational business 
growth opportunities may also stall.   
 
Option 2 
This option refers to the approach set out in section two, especially from 2.7 to 
2.17. This will ensure that lifecycle funding can be made available, transformation 
business growth opportunities can be considered, and the phased approach can 
also be implemented. 
 
Option 2 is recommended. 

  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
  
4.1 None. 

 
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  

Page 219



5.1 Subject to the Board decision officers can begin the process of releasing the 
Project Feasibility Fund over quarter four of the current financial year. 

  
5.2 The report notes the proposals to provide a further update to the Board in March. 

 
  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 This report seeks approval for the release of the Project Feasibility Fund and offers 

proposals on the release of future year gainshare resource. 
 

  
6.2 The Project Feasibility Fund (£3.60m) is available for immediate deployment. 
  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 None. 
  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 None. 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 None. 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 Not Applicable. 
  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 Not Applicable. 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   
  
12.1 None. 

 
List of Appendices Included 
None 
 
Background Papers 
None 

Page 220



 

Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

24 January 2022 
 

Programme Approvals 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Funding Decision 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   Yes 
 
Has it been included on the                    Yes 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer 
 
Report Author(s): 
Sue Sykes – Assistant Director, Programme and Performance Unit 
Sue.sykes@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
This paper requests: progression of seven schemes, early release of development cost funding 
and approval of 1 project change request subject to conditions to be set out in the Assurance 
Summaries. 
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
This report is seeking approval to progress business cases and enter into contract for a number 
of investment proposals which will support the MCA’s aspirations 
 

Recommendations   
The Board consider and approve –  

1. Progression of “South Yorkshire Rail Station Improvements” project to full approval and 
award of £3.45m grant to South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive (SYPTE) 
subject to the conditions set out in the Assurance Summary attached at Appendix A1 

2. Progression of “D0012 – “UK Operations Growth Plan” to full approval and award of 
£1.75m to a Barnsley based company subject to funding being available and conditions 
set out in the Assurance Summary attached at Appendix A2 

Page 221

Agenda Item 20



3. Progression of “Century BIC II” project to full approval and award of £2.6m grant to 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC) subject to the conditions set out in 
the Assurance Summary attached at Appendix A3 

4. Progression of “Fargate Measures” project to full approval and award of £6m grant to 
Sheffield City Council (SCC) subject to the conditions set out in the Assurance Summary 
attached at Appendix A4 

5. Progression of “A631 Rotherham to Maltby Bus Corridor” Outline Business Case (OBC) 
to proceed to Full Business Case (FBC) and the release of development cost funding of 
up to £0.25m to RMBC subject to the conditions set out in the Assurance Summary 
attached at Appendix B1 

6. Progression of “Barnsley – Doncaster Quality Bus Corridor (BRT)” OBC to proceed to 
FBC and the release of development cost funding of up to £0.95m to Barnsley 
Metropolitan Borough Council (BMBC) subject to the conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary attached at B2 

7. Progression of “Sheffield Heart of the City 2 – Block A” OBC to proceed to FBC to SCC 
subject to the conditions set out in the Assurance Summary attached at B3 

8. Approval of project change requests as detailed in Appendix C 
9. Recommendation that officers should seek as strong a deal as possible with regards to 

loan and overage. 
10. Delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in consultation with the Section 

73 and Monitoring Officer to enter into legal agreements for the schemes covered at 1-6 
above subject to funding being available. 
 

 
 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
Assurance Panel 08 November 2021 
Assurance Panel 22 November 2021 
Assurance Panel 06 December 2021 
Assurance Panel 20 December 2021 
Assurance Panel 07 January 2022 
Housing and Infrastructure Board 07 December 2021 
Transport and the Environment Board 16 December 2021 
Business Recovery and Growth Board 16 December 2021 
  

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 This report seeks approval for the progression of three fully funded infrastructure 

and transport capital schemes. The total value of these schemes comes to 
£12.05m and will be resourced from previously committed grant funding.  
 
This report further details the results of the assurance processes undertaken on 
one currently unfunded proposed business capital investment; totalling c. £1.75m. 
The report recognises that the proposal meets the threshold for investment – 
subject to a number of conditions – and in line with previous decisions recommends 
that the Board consider resourcing the project from future year gainshare 
allocations. 
 
Finally, the report seeks progression for a number of other fully funded schemes to 
progress to the next stage of the assurance cycle. 

  

Page 222



1.2 Progression of schemes to full approval and award of funding 
 
The report is seeking progression to full approval, contract, and award of funding 
for four schemes.  The total amount of funding requested is £13.8m grant for 
schemes located in Barnsley, Rotherham, Sheffield and one South Yorkshire wide 
scheme.   
   
The MCA has entered into a non-disclosure agreement with the Barnsley business 
applicant for funds, therefore appendix A3 with the details of the scheme and risks 
and conditions of funding are included within private papers. 
 
The assurance summaries include conditions of funding which must be met before 
contract execution.  Further details of the schemes and risks are included in 
Appendix A.   
 

  
1.3 Funding Position for Business Schemes 
  
 At its last meeting on the 15th November the Board received a programme update 

noting the progression of a strong pipeline of business investment propositions. 
These propositions had arisen from the engagement undertaken by the LEP/MCA 
and the region’s business sector. 

  
 The report to the Board noted that whilst the pipeline offered the opportunity for 

targeted investment in support of the region’s aspirations - supporting the 
sustainable creation of good, well-paid jobs - there was insufficient permissive grant 
funding available to support the proposals in full.  

  
 This lack of resource reflected the paucity of business investment resource within 

the wider funding environment and the deployment to other opportunities earlier in 
the year of the limited amount of recycled Local Growth Fund resource available to 
the MCA. 

  
 The report recommended that the MCA consider the deployment of future-year 

gainshare resource totalling £7.60m to support a number of propositions presented 
to the Board, and the forthcoming pipeline of schemes. 

  
 Board accepted this recommendation, and the recommendation that the MCA 

structure its investments to share in the value created wherever possible. This 
decision supported investments being made into businesses in Rotherham and 
Sheffield, following earlier investment into business in Doncaster. 

  
 This report builds upon those recommendations. The report recognises the 

completion of assurance processes on a Barnsley based proposition that seeks 
£1.75m of financial support from the MCA to enable the delivery of a substantial 
investment project (£23.82m). This proposal has previously been endorsed by the 
Business Growth and Recovery Board. 

  
 This proposition would leverage in substantial private investment at an intervention 

rate of c. 7% generating a net 87 new jobs for the region.  
  

Page 223



 The proposition meets the threshold for investment, subject to a number of 
conditions being met. These conditions are detailed in the assurance summary. 

  
 This report recommends that in line with the decisions taken in November, the MCA 

release £1.75m from its 2022/23 gainshare capital allocation in support of the 
proposal. This report further recommends that in line with principles the Board have 
previously adopted around gainshare, that the investment be structured to enable a 
return to be generated to the MCA where possible. 

  

1.6 Progression of schemes from OBC to FBC  
 
The report is seeking progression from OBC to FBC for three projects with the 
release of development costs of £1.2m for two of the projects.  
 
The projects are located in Barnsley, Rotherham and Sheffield. 
 
The assurance summaries include conditions which must be met as part of FBC 
submission. Full details of the schemes and risks are included in Appendix B 
 

  

1.7 Project Change Requests 
 
In recognition of unforeseen circumstances that can arise during the project 
delivery phase, the approved Assurance Framework establishes a formal process 
for the acceptance of change requests. These change requests could be financial, 
requiring reprofiling of funds, or could be to amend deliverables or timescales.  
Details of the Change requests can be found in Appendix C. 

  

3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 Option 1 
 Approve all recommendations. 
  
3.4 Option 1 Risks and Mitigations  
 Approval of the unfunded business investment proposition would require a 

commitment being made against the MCA’s 2022/23 gainshare allocation.  
 

3.5 Option 2 
 Reject some, or all, of the recommendations. 
  
3.8 Option 2 Risks and Mitigations  
 Rejection of some, or all, of the recommendations in this report would mean the 

region foregoing the forecast benefits arising from the investment and potentially 
also mean that the funding would be returned to government. 

  
3.13 Recommended Option 
 Option 1 
  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
  
4.1 Discussions for these projects has continued with thematic boards during project 

development.  

Page 224



  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
5.1 Subject to the approval of the recommendations and approval by the MCA, the 

Head of Paid Service in consultation with the Section 73 Officer and Monitoring 
Officer will progress to enter into a legal agreement with the promoter. 

  
5.2 The promoter is responsible for the further development of projects that have 

gateway approval to the next stage of the MCA Assurance process 
  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 The projects presented for approval today are profiled to draw down up to £4.65m 

from the TCF2 allocation of £166.3m, £7.6m from GBF and up to £2.75m from 
Gainshare. 

  
6.2 This report proposes that the Board request that the MCA consider the deployment 

of gainshare funding totalling £1.75m in support of a business investment. 
 
The report notes that gainshare principles support negotiation of the best possible 
deal for the taxpayer, seeking a return on the MCA’s investment wherever possible. 
This report recommends that the MCA seek to enter into an arrangement that 
would see the MCA share in the forecast value its investment generates.  
 
Such an arrangement would support the recycling of funding, enabling more 
investment into the future. 

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 The legal implications of the projects have been fully considered by a 

representative of the Monitoring Officer and included in the recommendations 
agreed within the Assurance Summaries as presented in the Appendices. Projects 
have taken full legal advice regarding subsidy control with legal letters supporting 
applications included 

  
7.2 Prior to awarding the grants, the MCA shall ensure contracts are put in place to 

ensure the recipients comply with the grant conditions 
  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 Not Applicable 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 Appropriate equality and diversity considerations are taken into account as part of 

the assurance of the project business cases 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 A number of the schemes include new and/or enhanced active travel initiatives and 

improvements to public and community transport infrastructure thereby shifting 
private vehicle use to more sustainable modes of transport.  This aims to deliver 

Page 225



huge benefits for health and the prosperity of cities, positively contributing to the 
SYMCA’s climate change aspirations 

  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 Not Applicable 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice  

 
12.1 The approvals provide positive opportunities to highlight the difference the MCA’s 

investments will make to people and passengers, businesses and places across 
South Yorkshire and how Members are taking action to support the region’s 
recovery from COVID 
 

List of Appendices Included 
 
A Progression of schemes to full approval and award of funding 

A1 Assurance Summary – South Yorkshire Rail Improvements 
A2 Assurance Summary – D0012 - EXEMPT 
A3 Assurance Summary – Century BIC II 
A4 Assurance Summary – Fargate Measures 
B Progression of Schemes from OBC to FBC 
B1 Assurance Summary – A631 Rotherham to Maltby Bus Corridor 
B2 Assurance Summary - Barnsley – Doncaster Quality Bus Corridor (BRT) 
B3 Assurance Summary – Heart of the City 2 
C Change Requests 
   

Background Papers 
None 
  
  

 

Page 226



Appendix A - Progression of schemes to full approval and award of funding 
 

  
A.1 South Yorkshire Rail Station Improvements 

 
This investment is for £3.45m from Transforming Cities Fund (TCF2) to South Yorkshire 
Passenger Transport Executive (SYPTE). 
 
The project will deliver improvements at 11 stations across Barnsley and Doncaster. 
Improvements relate to 5 prioritised areas: customer information, accessible toilets and 
baby change, station access, station circulation and ticket offices. 
 
The Benefits and Outcomes –  
The project will deliver the following outputs-  

• Cycle storage 

• Street directional signage 

• Toilets 

• Lighting enhancement 

• Seating 

• Passenger information 

• CCTV 

• Shelters 

• Ticket office 

• Access improvements 

• Surfacing/renewal 

• Car park enhancement  
 
The project will also contribute to the following outcomes –  

• Improved Quality of station environment 

• Access for all at rail stations 

• Improved perception of rail station 

• Increased rail patronage 

• Greater availability of secure cycle parking 
 
The project has a clear strategic rationale, demonstrating strong linkage the SEP, and 
national and local policy to improve connectivity and encourage modal shift towards 
“greener”. 
 
The Assurance Summary notes some conditions of approval that will need to be resolved 
prior to contract execution, these are detailed in full within Appendix A1. 
 

  

A.2 Project D0012 
 
The applicant is seeking £1.75m funding to expand its existing site in the Barnsley 
district.  The total project cost is £23.8m, leading to an MCA intervention rate of c. 7%.  
 

Page 227



The new development for this privately owned company will comprise a new 75,000 sqft 
building which will be equipped from the outset with automation equipment. It will also 
house new process equipment.   
 
The project is estimated to create 87 net additional jobs at a cost of £20,115 per net job 
to the MCA.  The project is also forecast to generate £16.2m net additional GVA (or 
£9.7m accounting for optimism bias) over a 10 year period, equating to a return of £9.25 
per £1 of MCA investment (or £5.54 per £1 accounting for optimism bias). 
 
This project is expected to generate significant value following the initial investment. Pre-
tax profits returning to the company are forecast in the region of £2m p/a, whilst there is 
expected to be business-rate uplift accruing to the sponsoring authority. 
 
The project reaches the threshold for investment subject to conditions, notably to have 
confirmed the match funding prior to entering into the funding agreement, to seek a 
value share arrangement that supports gainshare principles, and provision within the 
contract for clawback clauses related to jobs. 
 
Further details and conditions of funding are in Appendix A2   
 
 

A.3 Century BIC II 
 
This investment is for £1.6m GBF and £1m Gainshare funding to Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC). 
 
The Rotherham based ‘Century BIC’ project seeks a further £2.6m following an initial 
approved investment of £2m in October 2020.  A further £1m gainshare funding was 
provisionally approved in March 2021 with the remaining £1.6m requested from GBF.  
Changes to working behaviours arising from the pandemic has precipitated a change 
in the project design with a refocus on manufacturing workshop space generating 
additional cost.  The GBF change request has been considered and approved by 
government.   
 
The assurance summary includes conditions which it is recommended be met during 
contracting.  
 
The Benefits and Outcomes 
 
The project will deliver the following outputs-  

• 15,000 sq ft of new floor space 

• 75 FTE jobs  
 

The project will also contribute to the following outcomes – 
 

• Allow/promote existing businesses to expand their operations. 

• Providing additional space suitable for new businesses. 

• Attract inward investment with a quality premises offer. 
• Increasing the proportion of the workforce employed in the private sector. 

Page 228



• Providing new employment opportunities, increasing the size of the workforce 
of the SCR and the workforce’s productivity 

 
The project delivers 75 gross jobs at a cost per job of £69,896.  This is outside what is 
normally considered acceptable value for money and represents a high investment per 
net job. However, the strategic case points to further returns and under the 
circumstances of rising cost and redesign of the scheme due to Covid, this could be 
deemed acceptable.  

The project is estimated to generate net additional GVA of approximately £22.17m 
over a 10-year period.  This equates to a return of £5.63 per £1 of MCA investment. 
 
The project is strongly aligned to the Strategic Economic Plan.  Specifically, it will 
provide South Yorkshire businesses with the support to reach their growth potential by 
providing ‘grow-on’ space for expanding businesses; thereby freeing up smaller 
premises for business starts.  It will also secure investment in infrastructure to support 
economic growth. 
 

The Assurance Summary notes some conditions of approval that will need to be 
resolved prior to contract execution, these are detailed in full within Appendix A3. 
 

 

A.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fargate Measures 
 
This project seeks £6m of capital funding as part of a cohesive approach to Sheffield 
City centre, addressing Fargate alongside the Heart of the City 2 project in order that 
these are mutually supportive and in effect form interconnected elements if a single 
programme.  Whilst initiatives such as Heart of the City 2 and the Future High Streets 
Fund have been in development since well before the start of the Covid pandemic, the 
impact of the past 18 months has brought these issues into sharper focus, requiring 
even more flexibility in what projects need to be delivered, how these are funded and 
what additional activity is required to cement the planned investment 
 
The MCA is being asked to fund four interventions: 
 

• The acquisition of additional property on Fargate/High Street to support the 

objectives of committed Future High Streets Funding investment, 

• Address the immediate issues resulting from the closure of John Lewis 

Partnership (JLP) 

•  Cambridge Street Collective/Leah’s Yard Showcase will provide temporary space 

in 15 units/structures housed under the JLP canopy opposite Leah’s Yard on 

Cambridge Street.  

• Heart of the City shopfronts and white walling of units 

The Benefits and Outcomes 
 
The project will deliver – 
• 377 jobs 
 
The assurance summary notes some conditions of approval, including the concerns 
regarding cost per job, that will need to be resolved before a contract award can be 
made. These are detailed in full within Appendix A4. 

Page 229



 
  

 

Page 230



Appendix A1 

Assurance Summary 

Scheme Details 

Project Name T27 South Yorkshire Rail Station Improvements Type of funding Grant 

Grant Recipient South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive Total Scheme Cost  £3,461,667 

MCA Executive Board Transport and the Environment Board MCA Funding £3,451,959 

Programme name Transforming Cities Fund (TCF2) % MCA Allocation 99.7% 

 

Appraisal Summary 

Project Description 

Is it clear what the MCA is being asked to fund?  
Yes. As stated in the OBC, facilities at 11 local rail stations need to be renewed/replaced/added that are outside Northern Rail’s responsibility and are not 
normal maintenance. Two of the stations (Goldthorpe and Thurnscoe) are to be demolished and these have been replaced by Elsecar and Darton.  This 
does not affect the strategic rationale or the approximate cost of the scheme. 
Assets to be replaced/renewed or added consist of: 
- Cycle storage 
- Street directional signage 
- Toilets 
- Lighting enhancement 
- Seating 
- Passenger information 
- CCTV 
- Shelters 
- Ticket office 
- Access improvements 
- Surfacing/renewal 
- Car park enhancement 

Strategic Case 

Scheme Rationale Does the scheme have a clearly stated rationale  
Yes. The preferred scheme directly addresses the issues of low quality rail station infrastructure and facilities deterring 
people from using rail travel as an alternative to the private car.  It also improves facilities at the stations for access by 
sustainable modes. 

P
age 231



…and provide a strong justification for public funding?  
Yes. The items are currently not within Network Rail or Northern’s responsibilities. 

Strategic policy fit How well does the scheme align with the strategic objectives of the SEP and RAP? 
All three strategic goals of the SEP are targeted, and the scheme is consistent with national and local policy to improve 
connectivity and encourage modal shift towards “greener”. 

Contribution to Carbon Net 
Zero 

Does this scheme align with the strategic objective to achieve Carbon Net Zero? 
Yes. 

SMART scheme objectives State the SMART scheme objective as presented in the business case. 
1. Improved Quality of station environment 
2. Access for all at rail stations 
3. Improved perception of rail station 
4. Increased rail patronage 
5. Greater availability of secure cycle parking 

These will be monitored by sample surveys, observation and ongoing data collection at stations. This is well described in 
the MEP (Appendix K) 
Is there a ‘golden thread’ between the strategic objectives (see 3.2) and the scheme objectives (see 3.6)? 
Yes 

Options assessment Is there a genuine Options assessment and is there a clear rationale for the selection of short-listed options and the choice 
of the Preferred Way Forward? 
Yes – all realistic options in terms of station improvements have been considered and refined between OBC and FBC 
using a structured process considering the pros and cons of all options.   

Statutory requirements and 
adverse consequences 

Does the scheme have any Statutory Requirements? 
Yes – Landlords’ consent to the detailed designs to be drawn up by the D&B contractor. Network Rail is the landlord, as 
station owner. 
Are there any adverse consequences that are unresolved by the scheme promoter? 
No  

Value for Money 

Core monetised Benefits Core BCR= 2.10 
 

Non-monetised and wider 
economic benefits 

[Values/description – supplementary form] 
Enviro: Slight beneficial: Noise, LAQ, GHG. 
D.I.A: Positive impact on  Security, accessibility 

In your view do the key assumptions and uncertainties present any 
significant risks to achieving the value for money? 
None of the sensitivity tests undertaken at FBC stage give a BCR below 1.5. 

Do the key assumptions and uncertainties present any significant risks to 
achieving the value for money? 
No 

Value for Money Statement 

P
age 232



Taking into consideration the monetised and non-monetised benefits and costs, does the scheme represent good value for money?   
Yes 

Risk 

What are the most significant risks?  
1. Shortage of materials 
2. Insufficient tenders are returned to award contracts due to uncertainty around labour markets/materials and longer-term impact on construction 

prices 
3. Construction cost increases following approval of FBC (during implementation)  
4. Landlords consent (including station change) 
5. Covid pandemic escalates with a return to further lockdown measures 

….and is there evidence that these risks are being mitigated? 
Yes. These risks will be managed by Northern. Their cost estimates include a 30% risk allowance.  
Do the significant risks require any contract conditions? (e.g. clawback on outcomes) 
No 
Are there any significant risks associated with securing the full funding of the scheme? 
No 
Are there any key risks that need to be highlighted in relation to the procurement strategy? 
No. There is no alternative to the procurement route proposed, in which NR procures a D&B contractor on behalf of SYPTE.  

Delivery 

Is the timetable for delivery reasonable and has the promoter identified opportunities for acceleration? 
Start on site is 13/6/22. Completion Dec 2022. This seems reasonable, being based on past experience and including consultation with other stakeholders 
(3 months) who whilst in principle may approve, will need to see the detail. 
Is the procurement strategy clear with defined milestones? 
Yes 
What is the level of cost certainty and is this sufficient at this stage of the assurance process? Has the promoter confirmed they will cover any cost overruns 
without reducing the benefits of the scheme? 
75-95% but likely to be 75% currently, until tender prices received and reviewed (31/12/21). Cost overruns will lead to de-scoping (reduction in number of 
interventions) or additional MCA funding being requested. 
Has the promoter demonstrated clear project governance and identified the SRO? 
Yes   
Has the SRO or other appropriate Officer signed of this business case? 
Yes 
Has public consultation taken place and if so, is there public support for the scheme? 
This commenced 25/10 according to the Business Case. It is very unlikely that the proposals will be controversial. 
Are monitoring and evaluation procedures in place? 

P
age 233



Yes, there is an MEP. 

Legal 

Has the scheme considered Subsidy Control compliance or does the promoter still need to seek legal advice? 
Yes. No. 

 

Recommendation and Conditions 

Recommendation Proceed to contract 
 

Payment Basis Defrayal 

Conditions of Award (including clawback clauses) 

Prior to contract the following to be provided: 
 

• Appendices A and B with details consistent with the inputs and outputs shown in the FBC 
• Scope of works for contracted activity to be procured 
• Final signed version of Full Business Case 

 
Prior to drawdown of funding the following to be provided: 
 

• Final scope for each individual station and breakdown of costs by station. 
 

Conditions to be included in contract: 
 

• Project will be subject to standard clawback conditionality clauses 

• The Recipient is liable to cover cost overruns beyond the grant award 

 

P
age 234



Document is Restricted

Page 235

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A3 

Assurance Summary 

Scheme Details 

Project Name Century BIC Phase II 

Grant Recipient Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 

SCR Executive 
Board 

Infrastructure MCA Funding £4.6m  
(£3.6m GBF £1m Gainshare) 

% SCR Allocation 100% Total Scheme Cost £4.6m 

 

Appraisal Summary 

Project Description 

 
Delivery of Century Business Centre Phase II - a second phase of the popular Century Business Park. 
This phase will create around 15,000 sq. ft. of new floor space for office and clean manufacturing “move 
on” space within B1 use class. This high quality, publicly owned and operated employment space will be 
made available to business within the local area, as well as to the wider Borough and City Region. 
Building on the first phase of the Century Business Park this project will allow current occupants and 
other businesses to move to larger premises as their business grows, alongside providing additional 
managed space suitable for new businesses as the Council looks to assist the economic recovery 
caused by the Covid pandemic. 
 
With land acquisition and construction works for Phase I (£4m+) having taken place, considerable 
investment has already been made in the area.  The site already benefits from excellent road 
infrastructure with capacity designed to be capable of accommodating the anticipated increase in vehicle 
movements associated with further plots coming forward.  Landscaping and public realm works created a 
high-quality environment for the businesses based there which will be further enhanced as part of this 
scheme.  
 
MCA funds will be used to support all elements of the development; excluding prelims, and site surveys 
that have already been paid for from the approved RMBC budget within the Councils Capital 
Programme.   
 

Strategic Case 
 

The project is strongly aligned to the Strategic Economic Plan.  Specifically, it will provide South 
Yorkshire businesses with the support to reach their growth potential by providing ‘grow-on’ space for 
expanding businesses; thereby freeing up smaller premises for business starts.  It will also secure 
investment in infrastructure to support economic growth. 
 
The project will broadly support SMEs in realising their growth ambitions, by providing the infrastructure 
needed to support business start-up, business expansion and employment growth.  It is therefore well 
aligned with the Business Growth and Recovery Board. 
 
Due to its location, the project is also aligned with Barnsley Council’s economic vision and ambitions for 
regeneration and job creation in the Dearne Valley, in addition to those of Rotherham Council as the 
scheme promoter.   

Value for Money 

 
The project delivers 66 net additional jobs (75 gross additional) at a cost per job of £69,896.  This is 
outside what is normally considered acceptable value for money and represents a high investment per 
net job. However, under the circumstances of rising cost and redesign of scheme due to Covid, this may 
be deemed acceptable. The project is estimated to generate net additional GVA of approximately 
£22.17m over a 10-year period.  This equates to a return of £5.63 per £1 of MCA investment. 
 

Vehicle movements to the site are anticipated to increase by 100 per day; however, the highway network 
has been assessed as capable of accommodating this additional traffic without significant detriment to 

Page 243



the highway operation. Construction will have to adhere to the Council’s Core Strategy CS28 
‘Sustainable Design’. The project is not expected to have any negative social impacts. 
 
 

Risk 

 
A key risk to the project is the possibility of not spending GBF in time. There seems to be no valid backup plan to 
mitigate this. Withdrawal/clawback of GBF will therefore likely result in either an uncompleted scheme, further 
recourse to the MCA or a more drastic redesign value engineering which may then reduce benefits significantly and 
render the value for money position untenable. The applicant has made it clear that RMBC will not be able to 
provide additional funds to cover any cost overruns. 
 
There are also known supply issues for materials which may impact construction programme. The applicant has 
indicated that orders will be placed early for high-risk items. 
 
Key risks to the Economic Case include the realisation of benefits and the level of certainty as to the project costs.  
Benefits have been calculated using a recognised method of converting floorspace type/area into FTE’s using HCA 
density guidelines, which is considered acceptable.  There is the possibility that the project could displace FTE’s 
from the existing Phase 1; however, this has been taken account of in the assessment of value for money by 
assuming displacement is 25%.  There is also the possibility that COVID-19 may reduce employers’ appetite to 
take on new employees and larger space; however, the applicant reports that the Council’s business centre 
occupancy rate has only a slight decrease of 3%, highlighting the strong demand for these centres.   
 
The applicant has specified cost certainty at only 60%.  This is low for a project at FBC stage.  A contingency 
budget of 5% has been allocated in the project costs; however, given the level of cost certainty, this could be on the 
low side.   

Delivery 
 

A Project Team is established which is led by an appointed Project Manager. The Project Manager is 
responsible for day-to-day management of the project, working under PRINCE II guidelines.  The Project 
Manager is currently in place working with the Investment & Economic Initiatives Team, in the Rotherham 
Investment & Development Office. 
 
The scheme has laid out future milestones which appear realistic. It is encouraging that significant work 
has already been undertaken to advance the project to this stage. 
 

Legal 

The project has sought legal advice which has proposed that this can be covered by GBER. RMBC is 
now proposing to use Article 56 to undertake the project. This restricts public grant to the difference 
between investment costs and operating profit.  
 
Whilst an initial development appraisal has been carried out on the centre, RMBC have been asked to 
check and refine this so that it presents an accurate and up to date picture of the overall viability of the 
development. MCA funding should be restricted in a grant offer letter to the difference if this is less than 
the request for £2.6m.  

 

 

Recommendation and Conditions 

Recommendation Full award of up to £3m subject to conditions 

Payment Basis Payment on defrayal 

Conditions of Award (including clawback clauses) 

Page 244



The following conditions must be satisfied before contract execution. 

Following the procurement of a contractor, RMBC to confirm the final tender price is in line with the FBC 
Financial Case. 

RMBC to provide a revised development appraisal which demonstrated the difference between 
investment costs and operating profit. This will ensure the Grant is compliant with Subsidy Control. This 
will be for up to a maximum of £3m. The business case will need to be updated to reflect this change. 

 

The following conditions must be satisfied before drawdown of funding. 

Confirmation that any cost overruns will managed such that the value for money position is not unduly 
impacted. 

Confirmation that, in case GBF is not fully defrayed and has to be returned, there will be no recourse to 
further MCA funds 

The following conditions must be included in the contract 

RMBC to work with the MCA to ensure suitable Monitoring and Evaluation is undertaken. 
Clawback on outputs 
Benefits sharing agreement such that some or all of Gainshare can be returned to the MCA Fund 
 

 

 

Page 245



 

Record of Recommendation, Endorsement and Approval  

Barnsley Digital Innovation Hub  

Appraisal Panel Recommendation Board Endorsement MCA Approval 

Date of Meeting 
 

Date of Meeting 
 

Date of Meeting 
 

Head of Paid Service 
or Delegate 

Ruth Adams 

Deputy CEX 

Endorsing Officer 
(Board Chair) 

 
Approving Officer 
(Chair) 

 

Signature 

 

 

 
Signature 

 
Signature 

 

 

 

Date 
 

Date 
 

Date 
 

S73 Officer or 
Delegate 

Gareth Sutton 

Group FD 

Statutory Finance Officer Approval 

 

Name: 

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

Signature 

 

 

Date  

Monitoring Officer or 
Delegate 

Steve Davenport 

SCR CA Solicitor 

Signature 

 

 

Date  

P
age 246



Assurance Summary 
VERSION 1 24.11.2021 
 

 

Page 1 of 5 
 

1 – SCHEME DETAILS 

Project Name Sheffield - Supporting City Centre Investment (SCC Fargate 
Measures) 

Type of funding Grant 

Grant Recipient Sheffield City Council Total Scheme Cost  £6m 

MCA Executive Board Housing and Infrastructure MCA Funding £6m 

Programme name Getting Building Fund % MCA Allocation 100% 

Current Gateway Stage FBC MCA Development costs n/a 

  % of total MCA 
allocation 

n/a 

 

2 – PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
The applicant is seeking £6m GBF funding to support 3 areas of activity: 
 

1. £2,410,740 for the acquisition, strip out and white-boxing of 2 commercial property units –42-46 Fargate (Former New Look) and 26-28 High Street. The 
funding will also cover preliminary survey work to inform any offer/deal and all legal and planning fees associated with the acquisitions. 

2. £1,041,400 for a range of interventions to address the immediate issues resulting from the closure of JLP including: an options appraisal for the reuse or 
redevelopment of the former JLP building; a contribution to ongoing survey work in relation to the JLP building; the acquisition and fit-out costs of 15 
containers/units to support the CSC/Leah’s Yard Showcase on Cambridge Street (until HoC2 works complete in Q4 2024); and the acquisition and fit-out of 
6 containers/units to “animate” the Barker’s Pool/Town Hall Square area 

3. £2,547,860 for shop front works and white boxing of 51,534ft2 of retail, food & drink and leisure units on the ground floors of completed development 
blocks/phases in Heart of the City 2. 

 
 
 
 

Appendix A4 

P
age 247



                                   
 

 

2 

3. STRATEGIC CASE 

Options assessment  The applicant sets out a range of potential options, including a Do Minimum, two Viable Alternatives and the Preferred Option. 
The rationale supporting the choice of the preferred option is that a full suite of interventions is required to address the 
challenges facing this part of the City Centre as a result of Covid-19, the disruption caused by HOC2/FHSF schemes and JLP 
closure. This will support the city centre by creating jobs and supporting footfall, in turn reducing the potential for further 
vacancy and a loss of confidence in this part of the city centre. 

Statutory requirements and 
adverse consequences 

The applicant notes that early discussions with the relevant planning and highways have taken place to determine if 
consents/licences are required. The risk register notes that an early meeting is to be held with Development Management and 
Highways to resolve and agree timescales for determination. The applicant has since clarified that none of the proposed 
interventions impact existing transport infrastructure and early meetings with planning have identified that the uses are 
acceptable in principle, with planning applications for temporary structures to be submitted in Q3 2021/22.  

FBC stage only – Confirmation 
of alignment with agreed MCA 
outcomes (Stronger, Greener, 
Fairer). 

The project demonstrates a clear alignment with the “Stronger” strategic outcome, through its ability to contribute to increased 
productivity by presenting a more attractive offer to potential occupants of the HoC2 and FHSF floorspace, which are focused 
on the information and communication, and professional, scientific and technical activities. The provision of new floorspace and 
contribution to higher quality refurbished floorspace will support enterprise and employment. 
 
The project will also contribute to the “Fairer” strategic outcome through the requirement for contractors to provide Employment 
& Skills Plans as part of their method statements. This will result in contractual requirements for contractors to engage with 
local schools / colleges /universities to provide career talks, CV building, mock interviews, site visits and work 
experience/internship opportunities. Through a combination of the interventions the applicant will seek to secure 2 FTE 
apprenticeships and a number of work experience/site visits. Greater clarity should be provided in relation to these activities 
and outcomes once procurement has been undertaken, with  
 

4. VALUE FOR MONEY 

Monetised Benefits: 

VFM Indicator Value R/A/G 

Net Present Social Value (£) 1,799,545 G 

Benefit Cost Ratio 1.83 G 

Value for Money Statement 

 
The BCR (which includes welfare effects) for the preferred option is 1.83, which represents good value for money. This is based on £4.0m net economic benefits 
and £2.2m costs in the preferred option, providing a Net Present Value (NPV) of £1.8m. 
 
The core BCR is approximately 1.59 without the welfare effect considered, based on £3.5m net economic benefits. This represents acceptable value for money.  
 

5. RISK 

P
age 248



                                   
 

 

3 

The applicant has presented the five main risks within the FBC, with 20 risks identified in the Risk Log (Appendix MC9) which details the risk, impact, mitigation and 
likelihood. 
 
The key risk relates to the challenging programme and the risk that works cannot be delivered in funders timescales (March 2022), with the mitigation that the 
applicant undertakes preparatory work at risk ahead of MCA FBC approval. The applicant notes that no further opportunities for acceleration were identified within 
the programme. Other key risks include increased costs (building acquisitions, utilities and general prices). While the applicant has noted that it will cover cost 
overruns, mitigation includes value engineering, which would also present a risk to the project programme. Other risks include programme delays associated with 
the purchase of buildings and planning approval. Further clarifications have highlighted that early meetings with Planning team indicate that the uses proposed are 
acceptable in principle, with applications for temporary structures to be submitted in Q3 2021/22. 
 
The ambitious programme of activity, with the applicant required to commit £6m GBF before the 31/03/2022 deadline, represents a significant risk.  

 
The applicant has focused its procurement strategy on established processes/frameworks as the most expedient route to delivering the project in line with the 
constrained timescales. Some aspects of procurement provide more certainty, with a contractor/operator selected for the Barkers Pool and Town Hall Square 
animation and the white boxing of units to be procured through contract variations to existing frameworks with Galliford Try and Geo Houlton & Sons (slated for Jan 
22 for HOC2 units and fit-out works will be commence in 20/21 on the High Street/Fargate units). However, with procurement still to be undertaken this does 
represent a risk to delivery in line with the stated timescales. In particular, the procurement for the CSC/Leah’s Yard Showcase on Cambridge Street is uncertain, 
with the position having been altered between receipt of the initial FBC and Response to Clarifications. 

 

6. DELIVERY 
The delivery timetable represents an ambitious programme of activity within the GBF funding timescales. While the applicant has undertaken preparatory work at 
risk, there are elements of the project which have high levels of uncertainty. For instance, in relation to the CSC/Leah’s Yard Showcase on Cambridge Street, the 
delivery, design and programme discussions are underway however the applicant acknowledges the tight timescales and “intended negotiations with contractors will 
focus on achieving as much as possible before the end of March ’22.” Furthermore, the Fargate/High Street property milestone for acquisition is stated as 31/03/21 
within the project programme (Appendix MC10). Subsequent clarifications highlight that fit-out is expected to commence in Q4 2021/22 but limited certainty 
regarding how achievable this is in light of the acquisition deadline. 
 
 
Procurement is required across the elements of the application. The procurement strategy focuses on established processes/frameworks to select contractors to 
undertake the works: 
 

• HOC2 White boxing – Delivered using the appointed contractors for the development blocks through a variation to the contract (negotiations underway with 
contractors, with variation to be agreed by 25/01/22 in line with project programme). 

• Barkers Pool and Town Hall Square Animation – A contractor/operator has been selected for the Barkers Pool and Town Hall Square animation, which 
will require a ‘services and works concession contract’.   

• CSC/Leah’s Yard Showcase on Cambridge Street – Queensberry as the Council’s development manager on HoC2 will lead on the procurement, design 
and delivery of the temporary structures on Cambridge Street. 

• Fargate/High Street White Boxing – SCC will use its established procurement processes/frameworks to select contractors to undertake the white-boxing 
works to property acquisitions on Fargate and High Street, with fit-out works will be commence following acquisition of property. 

 

P
age 249



                                   
 

 

4 

The applicant states that these are the most expedient procurement routes owing to the constrained timescales. 
 
The level of cost certainty is stated as 30% within the FBC. This is significantly lower than would be expected at FBC stage. This does constitute a risk, though the 
applicant has stated that it will cover all cost overruns.  
 
A clear governance structure has been provided. The project sponsors report to the City Centre Development Project Board / HOCII. Further context on the 
individual roles and responsibilities is provided in Appendix MC8 which highlights that the Project Sponsor is ultimately accountable for the success of the 
programme /project. 
 
The applicant notes that both HoC2 and the Future High Streets Fund proposals have been the subject of considerable public consultation and stakeholder 
engagement, which is ongoing to inform scope and delivery. 
 

 
 
Once in contract, progress will be monitored against the agreed delivery programme through regular meetings and update reports from the contractor in conjunction 
with the standard contract administration process and documentation. 
 
 

7. LEGAL 
The applicant notes that subsidy control is not applicable to this project.  
 
Justification is provided on the basis of a market failure and that the Council’s investment is to provide a public service, with SCC not deemed to be an enterprise as 
they are not acting as a commercial developer would. Profit is not assumed and would be reinvested to offset losses or into wider regeneration programmes/public 
services. 
 

 
 

 

8. RECOMMENDATION AND CONDITIONS 

Recommendation Approve subject to conditions 

Payment Basis Payment on Defrayal 

Conditions of Award (including clawback clauses) 
 
 

The following conditions to be included in the contract. 
1. Any allocated funding drawn down and not committed by the deadline is returned through the inclusion of funding clawback mechanism as part of the grant 

agreement.  

P
age 250



                                   
 

 

5 

2. Applicant will cover any cost overruns 

 

The following conditions must be satisfied before contract execution. 

3. Evidence of internal Board approval to proceed. 

4. Solicitor’s opinion to confirm Subsidy Control position 

5. Confirmation of the definitive set of outputs and outcomes which the MCA will contract against and monitor 

6. Agree detailed schedule of inclusive growth indicators and targets (e.g. % of [previously unemployed] locals offered permanent contracts and 
apprenticeships, mentoring and school engagement and engagement with the local supply chain) to ensure the project delivers wider socio-economic 
benefits and that these can be captured, monitored and reported. 

 
The conditions above should be fully satisfied by 28/02/2022. Failure to do so could lead to the withdrawal of approval. 

 

The following conditions must be satisfied before drawdown of funding. 

7. All required statutory consents including planning enquiries must be satisfied. 

8. A complete risk log which includes cost estimates if risks materialise, should be provided for each project. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 251



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B - Progression of schemes from OBC to FBC  
 
 
B.1 A631 Rotherham to Maltby Bus Corridor (TCF OBC) 

 
This investment is for £2.25m from TCF2 to Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council. 
 
The scheme objectives are to reduce peak period bus journey times along the bus 
lanes proposed and thereby improve perceptions of bus services and increase bus 
patronage 
 
The Benefits and Outcomes 
 
Three sections of bus lane are proposed, all along the A631 Bawtry Road: 

• Between Addison Road, Maltby and Denby Way, Hellaby (1.2 km length). This 
bus lane consists of an additional lane. 

• In the vicinity of Wickersley School and Sports College (0.2 km length). This 
bus lane consists of a combination of additional lanes, and repurposing existing 
acceleration / deceleration tapers, in the Rotherham-bound direction; and, 

• Improvements to the bus stop at Brecks Crescent to ease the passage of buses 
pulling away phase 1 of a wider programme to upgrade the 42 community 
transport minibuses owned by SYPTE to electric vehicles 

 
A BCR of 0.20 would not normally be acceptable if referenced to the DfT Value for 
Money Framework. However, the scheme aims - reducing journey times to make 
buses more attractive for residents and businesses - will contribute to the three goals 
of the Programme. These are to improve access to economic opportunity, achieve a 
cleaner and greener Sheffield City Region and deliver a safer, more reliable and 
accessible public transport network. The alignment with MCA objectives is strong 
enough to regard this scheme to be of strategic importance  
 
The Assurance Summary notes some conditions of approval that will need to be 
resolved within the submitted FBC, these are detailed in full within Appendix B1 
. 

  
B.2 Barnsley – Doncaster Quality Bus Corridor (BRT)  

 
This investment is for £8.92m from TCF2 to Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council. 
 
The scheme is a series of improvements along a key corridor (A635) aimed at 
improving congestion and improving journey times for buses.  
 
The Benefits and Outcomes 
 

• 13km of new infrastructure to benefit buses; 

• 12km of new bus lanes; 

• 20 junction improvements to benefit non-car modes, with 7 bus gates; 

• Over 100 bus stop improvements  
 

Page 253



The project will contribute to the following outcomes - 

• reduce congestion along the A633 / A635 Doncaster Road 

• improve bus journey time reliability along the A633/ A635 Doncaster Road 

• create a cultural shift towards making cycling and walking the natural choice 
for shorter journeys  

• improve the safety of the A633 /A635 corridor 
• improve air quality and environmental impacts along the A635/A633 corridor 

 
The project is considered well aligned to the SEP, RAP and Carbon Net Zero strategic 
objectives, and aims to deliver on the Mayor’s pledges for Greener and Fairer 
investment. 
 
The Assurance Summary notes some conditions of approval that will need to be 
resolved within the submitted FBC, these are detailed in full within Appendix B2. 

 
B.3 Heart of the City 2 – Block A  

 
This investment is for £3m from Gainshare to Sheffield City Council. 
 
The scheme comprises of two elements - the first fronting onto Pinstone Street, 
formerly comprising of retails units at the ground floor and Offices above and the 
second the Gaumont building in Barkers Pool formerly ground floor retail and 
nightclub/cinema above.  
 
This project will create a flagship boutique style hotel on Pinstone Street (for which an 
anchor tenant has already been secured) and undertake improvements to the façade 
of and reconfigure the Gaumont building to make it fit for purpose. 
 
The Benefits and Outcomes 
 

• Commercial floor space of 51,000sq.ft (including a high end hotel with 154 
beds) 

• 567 gross jobs (including the construction phase) 

• Increase in GVA of £197m (including the construction phase)  

• Generate income for the Council of £2.5m p.a 
 
The Assurance Summary notes some conditions of approval that will need to be 
resolved within the submitted FBC, these are detailed in full within Appendix B3. 

 
  
  

 
  

 

Page 254



Appendix B1 

Assurance Summary 

Scheme Details 

Project Name T0005 A631 Rotherham to Maltby Bus Corridor  OBC (revised) Type of funding Grant 

Grant Recipient RMBC Total Scheme Cost  £2385,826 

MCA Executive Board TEB MCA Funding 
Requested 

£2,385,826 

  MCA Funding 
Available 

£2,250,000 

Programme name TCF % MCA Allocation 95% 

 

Appraisal Summary 

Project Description 
Is it clear what the MCA is being asked to fund?  
Three sections of bus lane are proposed, all along the A631 Bawtry Road: 
 

1. Between Addison Road, Maltby and Denby Way, Hellaby (1.2 km length). This bus lane consists of an additional lane; 
2. In the vicinity of Wickersley School and Sports College (0.2 km length). This bus lane consists of a combination of additional lanes, and repurposing 

existing acceleration / deceleration tapers, in the Rotherham-bound direction; and, 
3. Improvements to the bus stop at Brecks Crescent to ease the passage of buses pulling away 

 

Strategic Case 

Scheme Rationale Does the scheme have a clearly stated rationale and provide a strong justification for public funding? 
Yes. There is a clear rationale with strong justification for funding apart from the traffic management measures at this stage 

Strategic policy fit How well does the scheme align with the strategic objectives of the SEP and RAP? 
Yes. The scheme clearly aligns with all relevant strategies and plans of the region, LA’s and HMG 

Contribution to Carbon Net 
Zero 

Does this scheme align with the strategic objective to achieve Carbon Net Zero? 
Yes.  

SMART scheme objectives State the SMART scheme objective as presented in the business case. 
 

• Scheme objectives are to reduce peak period bus journey times along the bus lanes proposed and thereby improve 
perceptions of bus services and increase bus patronage relative to the ‘do minimum’ case. 

 
Is there a ‘golden thread’ between the strategic objectives (see 3.2) and the scheme objectives (see 3.6)? 
 
Yes. The scheme aims, by reducing journey times, to make buses more attractive to use for residents and businesses thereby 
achieving the three goals of improving access to economic opportunity, achieving a cleaner and greener Sheffield City Region 
and a safer, more reliable and accessible public transport network. Progress will be monitored via a number of monitoring 
systems available. 

P
age 255



 

Options assessment Is there a genuine Options assessment and is there a clear rationale for the selection of short-listed options and the choice of the 
Preferred Way Forward? 
 
Yes, the scheme proposes to address a clear problem and is the best engineering solution for it. 

Statutory requirements and 
adverse consequences 

Does the scheme have any Statutory Requirements? 
Yes. TRO’s only, expected Jan 2022 
 
Are there any adverse consequences that are unresolved by the scheme promoter? 
The LTN measures originally proposed have been removed from the scheme. The ARCADY modelling undertaken in 
connection with the design of the setback is sufficient to confirm, for OBC, that delays would be minimal. However, for FBC it 
is recommended that additional surveys are undertaken to repeat the exercise and further refine the design. 

Yes.  

Core monetised Benefits [Core BCR – table 4.22] 

 
0.20 

 

Non-monetised and wider 
economic benefits 

[Values/description – supplementary form] 
 
Environmental and social benefits have not been 
quantified 
Reliability has been analysed to some extent 

In your view do the key assumptions and uncertainties present any significant 
risks to achieving the value for money? 
 
A BCR of 0.20 would not normally be acceptable if referenced to the DfT Value 
for Money Framework. Further assessment outside the journey time 
modelling could be undertaken to potentially bolster the BCR. As mentioned 
within the Economic Case, a single year has been used to assess the scheme 
benefits – we recommend that either an additional future year is used to 
demonstrate the profile of benefits (which could result in a higher BCR) or 
text is provided to demonstrate the likely increase in benefits as a result of 
increased congestion in the DM.  

Do the key assumptions and uncertainties present any significant risks to achieving the 
value for money? 

 
Reliability can and in this case should, be monetised as is likely to far outweigh 
the core benefits to passengers passing over the interventions. It is likely that 
this would more than cover the scheme costs. 

Value for Money Statement 

Taking into consideration the monetised and non-monetised benefits and costs, does the scheme represent good value for money?   
Yes, although this needs confirmation at FBC 

Risk 
What are the most significant risks and is there evidence that these risks are being mitigated? 

• Unforeseen utility works 

• Works cost not market tested 

• Additional and/or extended tarmac layers at tie-ins or within scheme where lower layers to be retained (Assumptions re: existing build up / 
infrastructure prove to be optimistic, or where more extensive resurfacing required) 

• Design amendments - miscellaneous dayworks 

• 1/17 and 1/13 may be onerous - resulting in additional night and weekend working 
The levels of risk shown across the management case are minimal and the risk register (Appendix 5) shows that the risks are capable of being managed.  
An extra risk that needs to be included is that PT services decline in frequency or accept route diversions, meaning that the project benefits are not realised.   
Do the significant risks require any contract conditions? (e.g. clawback on outcomes) 

P
age 256



No. 
Are there any significant risks associated with securing the full funding of the scheme? 
No. 
Are there any key risks that need to be highlighted in relation to the procurement strategy? 
Yes. 
The procurement strategy only confirms that the scheme will be delivered by the Council’s internal delivery team, or alternatively by direct appointment through 
existing frameworks available to RMBC. This should be confirmed at FBC 

 

Delivery 
Is the timetable for delivery reasonable and has the promoter identified opportunities for acceleration? 
Yes, there is a clear management and delivery plan and scheme milestones are realistic for a scheme of this scale. 
Is the procurement strategy clear with defined milestones? 
No, there is uncertainty re DLO or open market which needs resolving and confirming before FBC submitted. 
What is the level of cost certainty and is this sufficient at this stage of the assurance process?  
60%, No. Needs to be 75% and based on actual scheme design 
Has the promoter confirmed they will cover any cost overruns without reducing the benefits of the scheme? 
No. 
Has the promoter demonstrated clear project governance and identified the SRO?   
Yes, Yes, Paul Woodcock 
Strategic Direction, Regeneration & Environment 
Has the SRO or other appropriate Officer signed of this business case? 
No. 
Has public consultation taken place and if so, is there public support for the scheme? 
Yes, scheme specific engagement has been carried out and it has been decided to remove a controversial element. The remaining elements are fully supported 
Are monitoring and evaluation procedures in place? 
Yes. Traffic monitoring including surveys will be undertaken on completion to check operation and to monitor levels of usage. Review of SYPTE bus journey 
time data will be conducted one- and three-years post completion to measure the impact of the scheme on improving bus journey times and reliability. This will 
provide the evidence to monitor the SMART objectives. Evaluation will be led by SYMCA 

 

Legal 
Has the scheme considered Subsidy Control compliance or does the promotor still need to seek legal advice? 
Yes. No. 

 

 

Recommendation and Conditions 

Recommendation Proceed to FBC with conditions 
 

Payment Basis Defrayal 

Conditions of Award (including clawback clauses) 

P
age 257



 
Required for FBC: 
 
1. Consideration of an additional modelled year and review of traffic growth/congestion in DM scenario  
2. Inclusion of monetised reliability benefits in a “wider BCR” 
3. Clarity on social and environmental benefits 
4. A DIA scoping study 
5. Detailed design drawings 

6. Decision on procurement method and impact on costs and milestones 
7. The TCF request to be capped at £2.25m in line with programme baseline. 
8. Strategic Case needed due to low BCR 

 

P
age 258



 

Record of Recommendation, Endorsement and Approval  

Project Name  

Appraisal Panel Recommendation Board Endorsement MCA Approval 

Date of Meeting 
 

Date of Meeting 
 

Date of Meeting 
 

Head of Paid Service 
or Delegate 

Ruth Adams 

Deputy CEX 

Endorsing Officer 
(Board Chair) 

 
Approving Officer 
(Chair) 

 

Signature 

 

 

 
Signature 

 
Signature 

 

 

 

Date 
 

Date 
 

Date 
 

S73 Officer or 
Delegate 

Gareth Sutton 

Finance Manager 

Statutory Finance Officer Approval 

 

Name: 

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

Signature 

 

 

Date  

Monitoring Officer or 
Delegate 

Steve Davenport 

SCR CA Solicitor 

Signature 

 

 

Date  

P
age 259



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B2 

Assurance Summary 

Scheme Details 

Project Name T0011 Barnsley – Doncaster Quality Bus Corridor 
(BRT) 

Type of funding Capital 

Grant Recipient BMBC Total Scheme 
Cost  

£27,765,801.71 

MCA Executive Board Transport MCA Funding Total Request: £27,765,801.71  
TCF available: £8,922,500 
TCF Stage 2 development cost request: 
£950,000 

Programme name TCF % MCA Allocation 100% 

 

Appraisal Summary 

Project Description 

Is it clear what the MCA is being asked to fund?  
- a series of improvements along a key corridor (A635) aimed at improving congestion and improving journey times for buses. Two schemes are 

proposed by Barnsley – T0011 BRT (this one) and T0003 A61 Active Travel Scheme (submitted to Assurance Panel 19/2 – FBC in progress). 
Location maps: 

 

Cundy Cross 

 
Stairfoot 

P
age 261



 

 

 
The scheme delivers: 

• Slightly enlarged footprint at Stairfoot Roundabout with removal of bus priority measures and provision of 2 new foot / ped / Equestrian Bridges 

• One-Way gyratory system Cundy Cross Junction  

• Upgraded Bus Stop infrastructure with new shelters providing real time information on Doncaster Rd and Wombwell Lane 

• Widened Grange Lane for inbound and outbound traffic flows. Replace rail over bridge deck to accommodate this 

• Dedicated bus lane along Wombwell Lane to industrial estate junction 

• Cycle provision at all crossings around Stairfoot Roundabout with 4m foot / cycleways and links to TPT 
In terms of TCF outputs: 

• 13km of new infrastructure to benefit buses; 
• 12km of new bus lanes; 
• 20 junction improvements to benefit non-car modes, with 7 bus gates; 
• Over 100 bus stop improvements. 

Strategic Case 

Scheme Rationale Does the scheme have a clearly stated rationale and provide a strong justification for public funding? 
Yes. Yes. (in section 3.1) 

Strategic policy fit How well does the scheme align with the strategic objectives of the SEP and RAP? 
Well. See Section 3.2. Improved connectivity, if that is achieved, contributes to the goals.  

Contribution to Carbon Net 
Zero 

Does this scheme align with the strategic objective to achieve Carbon Net Zero? 
Yes, potentially, as removes/reduces a bottleneck by nominal widening to increase speeds that are currently down to 14-
17kph (Grange Lane) with delays of 3 mins in peaks. The preferred option gives buses priority with as little land take as 
possible as well as improved provision for cyclists, off-road. GHG impacts are however, relatively insignificant as modelled.  

P
age 262



SMART scheme objectives State the SMART scheme objective as presented in the business case. 
- To reduce congestion along the A633 / A635 Doncaster Road 
- To improve bus journey time reliability along the A633/ A635 Doncaster Road 
- To create a cultural shift towards making cycling and walking the natural choice for shorter journeys  
- To improve the safety of the A633 /A635 corridor 
- To improve air quality and environmental impacts along the A635/A633 corridor 

Is there a ‘golden thread’ between the strategic objectives (see 3.2) and the scheme objectives (see 3.6)? 
Yes. However no detail is provided on when monitoring activities will be carried out, although the required data collection 
activities are in place already (AVL and cycle/traffic counters). 

Options assessment Is there a genuine Options assessment and is there a clear rationale for the selection of short-listed options and the choice 
of the Preferred Way Forward? 
Yes. The OAR (Appendix J) reports the generation and shortlisting process, using a RAG rating scoring system to rank 
options against critical success factors leading to the selection of the preferred option. 
The 3 shortlisted Do Something options vary only slightly in scope and, based on model runs, in delay savings although 
cost differences are quite large, with the least cost of them showing the highest BCR.   

Statutory requirements and 
adverse consequences 

Does the scheme have any Statutory Requirements? 
Possibly, CPO’s will only be required if land cannot be acquired through negotiation. 
Are there any adverse consequences that are unresolved by the scheme promoter? 
Yes. Traffic management (lane narrowing and diversions) and noise/AQ issues during construction (2 years) 

Value for Money 

Core monetised Benefits [Core BCR – table 4.22] 
2.78 

Non-monetised 
and wider 
economic 
benefits 

[Values/description – supplementary form] 
Sig beneficial – commuting journey time, average 
and variance, security 
Moderate beneficial– GHG physical activity 
Slight beneficial – Journey quality, access, Noise, 
laq, landscape, severance 
Neutral – Heritage, affordability 
Slight adverse - accidents townscape, biodiversity, 
water enviro 
DIA scoping exercise shows positive impacts but no 
disproportionate impacts. 

In your view do the key assumptions and uncertainties present any significant 
risks to achieving the value for money? 
Traffic growing faster than Tempro forecasts used for the appraisal would erode the 
benefits as capacity would be reached sooner. Further modelling is 
recommended for the FBC including identification of bus journey time 
savings separate from other modes. 

Do the key assumptions and uncertainties present any significant risks 
to achieving the value for money? 
No. 

Value for Money Statement 

Taking into consideration the monetised and non-monetised benefits and costs, does the scheme represent good value for money?   
Yes 

Risk 

P
age 263



What are the most significant risks and is there evidence that these risks are being mitigated? 
 
The top 5 risk items in the QRA are, in given below, descending order of P50 cost and with the promoter’s stated mitigation measures. 
 

Risk Description 

Most 
Likely 
Cost 
 £000 

Risk Control / Mitigation 

Failure to acquire land through 
negotiation resulting in Compulsory 
Purchase £89,960 Ensure buy in by land owners 

Land not dedicated as highway by 
development partners £64,334 Ensure buy in by developers 

Failure to meet Outputs / Outcomes £37,354 
To be monitored. Limited domestic buildings 
within area 

Old Mine workings / landfill pits £33,592 Complete site investigation to be carried out 

Scheme delayed (during 
construction) due to insufficient time 
to place SU orders and poor planning 
by SU's £26,628 Early engagement with Statutory Undertakers 

 
The expected costs of these risks is given as £0.252m out of a total of £3.9m in the latest QRA 
Do the significant risks require any contract conditions? (e.g. clawback on outcomes) 
No 
Are there any significant risks associated with securing the full funding of the scheme? 
Yes. The scheme costs were £9m at SOBC because it was assumed the TPT could be used by buses. This is not considered possible and costs are 
increased by £18m. Funding bids have been summitted including £18.2 to CRSTS, which is flagged as an absolute priority. 
Are there any key risks that need to be highlighted in relation to the procurement strategy? 
No. The approach is a traditional one with associated risks being listed in the QRA as: 

• Scheme delayed due to delay in award 

• Scheme delayed due to change in procurement strategy 

• Unauthorised disclosure of information at negotiation stage 
With an expected value of £26k 

Delivery 

Is the timetable for delivery reasonable and has the promoter identified opportunities for acceleration? 
Yes.- but delays account for £0.126m residual expected risk and within this, delays due to SU failures £26k and archaeology £26k 
Is the procurement strategy clear with defined milestones? 
Yes. Section 7.1 specifies when each stage is expected to be reached and these seem achievable. 
What is the level of cost certainty and is this sufficient at this stage of the assurance process? Has the promoter confirmed they will cover any cost overruns 
without reducing the benefits of the scheme? 
60%. Basis is BoQ and similar schemes but significant uncertainties re inflation, land and covid. No. 

P
age 264



Has the promoter demonstrated clear project governance and identified the SRO?   
Yes. Section 7.4 / Appendix H demonstrates this. 
Has the SRO or other appropriate Officer signed of this business case? 
Yes. Matthew Gladstone. 
Has public consultation taken place and if so, is there public support for the scheme? 
No scheme specific consultation has taken place, due to Covid.  
“ a public consultation event to disseminate information on the detailed design, to capture public opinion and degree of support, and to record and measure 
responses ….. in 2021” (see Section 7.11). It is also stated that this will take place after procurement. An update is required for the FBC 
Are monitoring and evaluation procedures in place? 
Yes, the M&E Plan is adequately outlined in sections 7.12 and 7.14 

Legal 

Has the scheme considered Subsidy Control compliance or does the promotor still need to seek legal advice? 
Yes. The scheme does not provide any specific subsidy nor distort competition. 

 

Recommendation and Conditions 

Recommendation Proceed to FBC 
Release of stage 2 development cost of £950,000 

Payment Basis Defrayal 

Conditions of Award (including clawback clauses) 

 
Full Business Case to -  

• Fully monetises the benefits of the Do Less option  

• Shows the benefits for bus users alongside car users etc 

• Completes noise and air quality modelling (as agreed) 

• Completes DIA (as agreed) 

• Updates the QRA (as agreed) 

• Improves/updates the text as suggested in the OBC 

• Note TCF allocation is capped at £8,922,500 and must be defrayed by March 2023 

• Confirm how all benefits will be supported as OBC notes the de-prioritisation of bus lanes 

• Confirm the match funding position in full for the total project costs £27,765,801.71 and note a commitment to address any cost overruns without 
unduly compromising project outputs and outcomes 

• Confirm what the revenue implications (ie. maintenance costs) for the project will be and how will this be managed 
 
The recipient is to note that any approvals linked to the request for the TCF does not in any way provide assurance that funding requests via other sources 
(ie. CRSTS) will be successful 

 

P
age 265



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B3 

Assurance Summary 

Scheme Details 

Project Name Sheffield Heart of the City 2 – Block A (Radisson Hotel and former 
Gaumont Building) 

Type of funding Grant 

Grant Recipient Sheffield City Council Total Scheme Cost  £51.5m 

MCA Executive Board Housing and Infrastructure MCA Funding £3m 

Programme name Gainshare % MCA Allocation 5.8% 

 

 

Project Description 

Project Definition 

Sheffield City Council are seeking a £3m grant towards an investment of £51.5m to plug the viability gap for the development of ‘Block A’ (Radisson Hotel and former Gaumont 
Building) as part of the Sheffield Heart of the City 2 scheme. Block A comprises of two elements, the first fronting onto Pinstone Street, formerly comprising of retails units at 
the ground floor and offices above; and the second, the Gaumont building in Barkers Pool formerly ground floor retail and nightclub/cinema above.  

HoC2 seeks to transform the city centre with an improved retail, working, leisure and living environment. The first phase is complete (Grosvenor House) and the applicant 
indicates that this investment has attracted major international firms/brands as tenants. 
 
Within the OBC, the applicant has stated that the project is ‘delivery ready’ with an approved planning application in place and an anchor tenant (Radisson Hotels Group). 
The viability gap (to be bridged by the Gainshare funding £3m grant) for the scheme is primarily caused by the speculative commercial elements, and therefore the assumptions 
that have had to be included with respect to tenant incentives and weaker investment yields. In addition, there have been construction cost increases above expectation due 
to Covid-19. 

The OBC states the scheme has the potential to deliver: 

• Commercial floor space of 51,000sq.ft (including a high end hotel with 154 beds) 

• 567 gross jobs (including the construction phase) 

• Increase in GVA of £197m (including the construction phase)  

• Generate income for the Council of £2.5m p.a. 

The application is clear about the purpose of the funds being requested; these being to assist the construction of Block A, which particularly will include: 

• Demolition 

• Façade retention and strengthening 

• Construction of Hotel and ground floor retail units 

• Strip out and refurbishment of the Gaumont building 
 
Block A is being delivered under a single building contract and the applicant states that; “MCA funding will particularly be used to secure the completion of the speculative 
property development in respect of the Gaumont element”.   

Strategic Case 

P
age 267



Options assessment  The short-listed options as presented would appear credible with lower MCA funding ask options incorporated. Given the Council’s 
commitment to the project, the reference case is best represented by Option 4. That is, without MCA support, the Council would stop the 
Gaumont building element and pursue the Hotel only option albeit it sub-optimal. The benefit of MCA support would be to bring forward 
the Gaumont refurbishment and de-risk the Council’s investment into the hotel development.   
 
Furthermore, the analysis presented in the economic case is clear in demonstrating that the preferred option will deliver the best value 
for money. 

 

Statutory requirements and 
adverse consequences 

The project has submitted its planning application and received approval. The applicant notes that the development does not generate 
any significant transport issues and did not require the submission of an EIA. Public consultation has been completed as part of the 
planning application process. A Social Value plan is in place with the main contractor and an agreement with the Hotel operator to 
maximise social value.  
 
The wider implications for the project where a unique offering is achieved will generally be positive.  

 

FBC stage only – Confirmation 
of alignment with agreed MCA 
outcomes (Stronger, Greener, 
Fairer). 

The applicant has set out the contribution of the investment across the three MCA strategic outcomes. Specifically:  
 

• Stronger economy: the project will deliver a new standard of hotel for the City thus enhancing the visitor economy and the 
profile of the City. The project strongly aligns with the SYMCA objective “to have vibrant city centres with rich sporting, cultural 
and leisure offers attracting people from across the country”.  
 

• Fairer economy: the City has outlined it is commitment to ensuring best social value is achieved from the significant level of 
construction expenditure. Moreover, the Council has indicated that it views HoC2 as an opportunity to work towards designating 
the area as a “Real Living Wage Zone”.  To this end, the applicant notes that the Hotel management agreement with Radisson 
includes an obligation to recognise the Real Living Wage for each person hired or retained for work at the Hotel.  

 

• Greener economy: the construction of the hotel and redevelopment of the Gaumont will meet exemplar low carbon standards 
as set out by the applicant. This includes a photovoltaic array at rooftop level and connecting the hotel to Sheffield’s Energy from 
Waste district heating network (alongside targeting a BREEAM target rating of Excellent). 

 
Overall, the proposed project is therefore well aligned with SYMCA’s growth plan, supporting the ambition for a Stronger, Fairer and 
Greener economy.  
 
 

Value for Money 

Monetised Benefits: 

VFM Indicator Value R/A/G 

Net Present Social Value (£) £50.7m G 

Benefit Cost Ratio / GVA per £1 of SYMCA Investment 2.7 G 

Cost per Job £11,100 G 

P
age 268



Non-Monetised Benefits: 

Non-Quantified Benefits • The applicant has outlined that the building structures will be built and designed to achieve a high level of 
carbon performance.  

 

• The applicant notes that contractor McLaughlin & Harvey’s Employment & Skills Plan is a contractual 
requirement. For the operational phase, the applicant notes that the aim is to develop the Real Living Wage 
concept around the wider regeneration programme. This is exemplified by the contractual approach being 
adopted with the Hotel operator to ensure fair pay. The Council also notes that it will undertake to promote 
employment opportunities widely (working with contractors, schools and colleges). 

Value for Money Statement 

Based on total public sector investment, the project is estimated to have a net present social value of £50.7m and a benefit cost ratio of 2.7.  Based on SYMCA investment 
alone, NPV and BCR would be very high.   
 
Based on SYMCA investment, the project is estimated to create 326 net additional jobs.  This equates to a cost per net additional job to the MCA of £11,100. 
 
Overall, the project provides acceptable value for money. 
 

Risk 
The risk register provided by the applicant focuses primarily on the construction phase of the project. The most significant risks relate to potential unknown conditions that will 
be examined through building survey work (i.e. asbestos, facade and foundation issues). For this phase of the project a risk contingency of £462k has been incorporated 
based on identified mitigations. 
 
There is limited examination of operational risks, in particular financial risks (from delays, lower than expected take-up and lower than expected rentals achieved). Net annual 
running estimates have been provided and the applicant has indicated that the Council will be responsible for any capital overruns and also revenue shortfalls.  
 
The majority of funding for the project has been secured by way of prudential borrowing by Sheffield City Council. The OBC indicates that Council funding approvals were 
secured in March 2021. This approved level of funding is only sufficient to enable the hotel project to proceed. More detail of the confirmed funding envelope should ideally 
be provided.   
 
The Gaumont building is the less developed project where some areas of design have been included as assumptions or provisional sums under the design and build contract. 
These provisional sums represent 16% of the total contract sum. The applicant highlights that fixing the price any more extensively would have resulted in significant risk 
provisions being included which would not have provided value for money. In order to mitigate that risk then a contingency (2.2%) provision has been included in the overall 
project costs. 

 

Delivery 
The timetable shows completion of the hotel by June 2023 and the Gaumont Building by November 2023. At least in principle, this appears to be a sufficient time for the type 
of development (although the Council have noted that they will need to assess the Gaumont refurbishment once they have access to the building).  
 
The timetable could be more detailed. A full project GANTT chart to underpin the development timeline and highlight critical milestones should be provided at FBC stage. 
 
The applicant has completed the procurement process and has let the construction contract. The contract has been let on an industry standard JCT Design & Build Contract 
2016 with amendments. The Council has also completed the exercise to identify a hotel operator with a hotel management agreement in place.  
 

P
age 269



The project is at post tender stage and therefore at a high level of cost certainty (95%). The remaining cost contingency being held is 2.2% of the overall £51m programme 
(£1.2m). There is some risk attached to the refurbishment costs of the Gaumont building given its age. However, the applicant has indicated that the Council will fund any 
cost overrun on the project. 
 
The applicant has outlined that the project will be managed as part of the existing arrangements for the HoC2 programme. This provides for an overall governance structure 
with a HOC2 Management Operations Board (MOB) with a nominated SRO for this project, Nalin Senevirante.   
 
Day-to-day management of the project delivery will be carried out by Turner & Townsend with oversight from Queensberry Development Manager.  There will be regular 
progress and design review meetings with the main contractor Mclaughlin & Harvey and including representatives from the Council’s project team. 
 
The applicant has outlined the stakeholder engagement as part of the public pre-application process that ran from 24 June until 21 July 2020. This led to a total of 101 
responses being received in the pre-application consultation, with feedback overwhelmingly positive. 
 
The applicant has indicated that all stakeholder management issues will be reported and managed through the Management Operations Board and escalated where necessary 
to the Strategic Partnership Board. The applicant has indicated that Counter Context will lead stakeholder management - supported by Turner & Townsend.  
 
The applicant has indicated that Council officers along with its contractor T&T will undertake monitoring during the implementation phase and post completion. This will also 
include monitoring of the main contractor’s M&H social value targets and compliance with the environmental targets. 
 
The applicant has noted that no agreement has been reached on the overall approach to the Monitoring and Evaluation Plan with the MCA. This M&E approach and plan will 
need to be developed in progressing the FBC.  

 

Legal 
 
The applicant has outlined the main principles that would indicate the project would not be counter to the Subsidy Control Rules six principles. The statement made on this 
however, does not specifically mention whether this is based upon the City’s legal counsel. However, it is noted that in the Business Case checklist, the applicant has indicated 
that legal advice has been sought. Confirmation of a formal legal opinion against the six principles of the UK Subsidy Control rules should be provided at FBC stage. 

 

 

Recommendation and Conditions 

Recommendation Proceed to FBC 

Payment Basis  

Conditions of Award (including clawback clauses) 

  

P
age 270



 
Recommendations at next stage of business case development: 
 

• Commercial case: the applicant has not provided a supporting report for the market testing or outlined how the analysis has informed the setting of rental rates and 
yields in the development appraisal.  The applicant should provide further supporting evidence around take-up, rentals and potential risks (being carried by the City 
Council).  The applicant should also provide a signed copy of the hotel management agreement.  

 

• Financial case: The applicant should provide copies of the relevant Council Papers relating to funding support and willingness to support any cost overrun (including 
March 2021 and July 2020 in relation to the actual funding envelope limit); 

 

• Management case: The applicant should provide a formal legal opinion against the six principles of the UK Subsidy Control Rules and a Stakeholder Management 
Plan; and 

 

• Strategic Case: As part of the development of the M&E framework it is recommended that a logic framework (theory of change) for the scheme be established. The 
applicant should also set out specific actions as part of a Benefits Realisation Plan (BRP).  

 

• Appendix B (Social Value Outcomes): Commitments to environmental and social outcomes must be agreed with the MCA in advance of submitting an FBC.  

These must then be fully set out Appendix B as part of the FBC submission.  
 

 

 P
age 271



 

P
age 272



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               Appendix C                                           

Project Name  Project Description Change/s 
Requested  

Justification 

M1 J37 Claycliffe 
Phase 2 

The project contributes to the delivery of 
new and improved off site highways 
infrastructure works and towards the onsite 
delivery of the road through the site will 
promote the delivery of the MU1 mixed use 
employment and housing site, that will 
facilitate the delivery of 43ha of land for 
employment purposes, creating circa 3,510 
new jobs when fully occupied. In addition, 
1700 new homes plus public open space 
and a new primary school will also be 
delivered. 

Reprofile of outputs 
and outcomes 
extension from 
31.03.22 to 
31.12.2023. 

The project was granted £10.63m by the 
MCA board on 18th November 2019, the 

COVID-19 Pandemic has resulted in delays 
to the scheme subsequently impacting on the 
outputs. 

   
.  

 

 

P
age 273



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Mayoral Combined Authority Board 
 

24 January 2022 
 

 Procurement of the External Auditor  
 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Purpose of this report: 
 

Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   No 
 
Has it been included on the                    No 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer 
 
Report Author(s): 
Gareth Sutton 
Gareth.sutton@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
In common with local authority partners, the MCA is required to appoint an external auditor to 
undertake the annual statutory audit process. 
 
The MCA may choose to secure an appointment via its own procurement processes, or ‘opt-in’ 
to national arrangements led by the Public Sector Audit Appointment Ltd body (PSAA) – an 
organisation controlled by the Local Government Association. 
 

The MCA’s current audit arrangements will come to an end by March 2023, with a decision now 
required on how to appoint an auditor from 2023/24 onwards. 
 
Noting the endorsement of the Audit & Standards Committee, the Board are asked to consider 
the options available and the recommendation that the MCA opt-in to the PSAA arrangements. 
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
External audit is a fundamental part of the MCA’s system of governance, providing assurance 
as to the veracity of the financial statements and offering opinion on value-for-money. 
 
 

Recommendations   

Page 275

Agenda Item 21



The Board approves the proposal to opt-in to the PSAA arrangements. 
  

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 There are three broad options open to the MCA under the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 (the Act) when considering how to procure and appoint an 

external auditor. These options are: 

• To opt-in to the national procurement undertaken by PSAA; 

• Procure individually; or, 

• Seek to carry out a joint procurement along with (probably) neighbouring 

local authorities. 

 

1.2 In 2017 the MCA opted into the national arrangements for the appointment of 

auditors overseen by the PSAA. Under these arrangements EY were appointed as 

the MCA’s auditor for a five-year period running from financial year 2018/19 

through to 2022/23. 

  
1.3 Now in the fourth year of the current appointment, the MCA must consider how it 

wishes to procure and appoint an external auditor from 2023/24. 

 

1.4 This report considers the three broad options, offering comparative advantages and 

disadvantages. The report concludes that opting into the PSAA again represents 

the best option. 

  
2.0 Options Analysis 

 
 Option 1 
2.1 In conjunction with around 98% of all local authorities, the MCA opted-in to the 

national procurement arrangement run by Public Sector Audit Appointments 

(PSAA) in 2017, covering the audits of the MCA’s 2018/19 to 2022/23 accounts.  

 
 

Advantages 
2.2 

a) The costs of setting up the appointment arrangements and negotiating fees is 
shared across all opt-in authorities.  

b) By offering large contract values, the firms can offer better rates and lower 
fees than are likely to result from local negotiation. 

c) Any conflicts of interest at individual authorities are managed by PSAA who 
would have a number of contracted firms to call upon.  

d) The appointment and subsequent audit is demonstrably independent of the 
MCA.  

Page 276



e) PSAA undertake the procurement and contract management functions, 
removing a burden that would otherwise fall on the MCA. 

f) PSAA manage any subsequent fee disputes and can apply their knowledge 
from other clients to determining a reasonable fee. 

 
 Disadvantages 

2.3 
a) Individual elected members will have less opportunity for direct involvement in 

the appointment process other than through the LGA and/or stakeholder 
representative groups. 

b) In order for the national process to be run, bodies have to indicate that they 
wish to opt-in by end January 2022.  

c) Experience of the arrangements has led to some concerns around the ability 
of auditors to seek additional fees. 

 

 Option 2 

2.4 Legislation requires that to procure individually the MCA must set up an Auditor 

Panel. The panel must consist of wholly or a majority of independent members as 

defined by the Act and must be chaired by an independent member. The new 

independent auditor panel would be responsible for selecting the auditor. 

 

 Advantages 
2.5 Setting up an auditor panel allows the MCA to take have greater involvement in the 

procurement process and the ultimate appointment. 
 

 Disadvantages 
2.6 a) Recruitment and servicing of the Auditor Panel, running the bidding exercise and 

negotiating the contract is estimated by the LGA to cost in the order of £15k plus 
on-going expenses and allowances. 

 
b) The MCA will not be able to take advantage of the benefits of scale and reduced 

fees that could be available through joint or national procurement contracts. 
 
c) The assessment of bids and decision on awarding contracts will be taken by 

independent appointees and not solely by elected members. This dilutes overall 
control of the process. 

a) The external audit market has become very challenging, with firms unable to 
recruit staff. Often audited bodies nationally in the public and private sector have 
found that they have at most one bidder for their audit. Consequently single-
procurement risks having very little or no choice of audit provider. 

Option 3 
2.7 The Act enables the MCA to join with other authorities to establish a joint auditor 

panel. Again, this will need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of independent 

appointees (members). Further legal advice will be required on the exact 

constitution of such a panel having regard to the obligations of each authority under 

the Act, and the MCA would need to liaise with other public authorities locally to 

Page 277



assess the appetite for such an arrangement. Soundings with other local authorities 

so far have indicated that they are not keen to opt for a joint procurement, as they 

doubt the benefits would be worth the additional time and procurement costs 

needed. 

 
Advantages 

2.8 
a) The costs of setting up the panel, running the bidding exercise and negotiating 

the contract will be shared across a number of authorities. 

b) There is greater opportunity for negotiating some economies of scale by being 
able to offer a larger combined contract value to the firms. 

 
 

Disadvantages 
2.9 a) The decision-making body will be further removed from local input, with 

potentially no input from elected members where a wholly independent auditor 
panel is used, or possibly only one elected member representing each authority, 
depending on the constitution agreed with the other bodies involved. 

b) There will be the usual delays and time needed to negotiate and agree joint 
provision with other LA bodies, with the danger if agreement is not met, that the 
MCA is then too late to opt-in to the PSAA arrangements.  

c) The choice of auditor could be complicated if individual authorities have 
independence issues. An independence issue occurs where the auditor has 
recently or is currently carrying out work, such as consultancy or advisory work 
for a client. Where these issues occur, some auditors may be prevented from 
being appointed by the terms of their professional standards. There is a risk that 
if the joint auditor panel choose a firm that is conflicted for the MCA, then the 
MCA may still need to make a separate appointment with all the attendant costs 
and loss of economies possible through joint procurement. 

d) The problems in obtaining a range of auditing firms prepared to bid, as 
discussed under Option Two, are unaltered by this arrangement.  

e) Lack of enthusiasm for this approach from other LAs contacted. 
  
3.0 
 

Recommended Option 

 Option 1 
3.1 This report proposes that the MCA opt-in to the national arrangement delivered by 

the PSAA. This proposal has been endorsed by the MCA’s Audit and Standards 
Committee at its meeting of the 21st October 2021. 
 

3.2 The report notes that this is likely the most cost effective and time efficient means 
of procuring and appointing an external auditor, and then managing the incumbent 
contract. 
 

3.3 Whilst the MCA’s experience of external audit within the PSAA framework has not 
been wholly positive, the report notes that the alternative options are unlikely to 
offer meaningful improvements. 
 

Page 278



3.4 Engagement with MCA peers and South Yorkshire partners suggests that most 
authorities will also choose to opt-in. 

  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
  
4.1 This report represents consultation with the appropriate Committee ahead of formal 

recommendation to the MCA. 
  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
5.1 Should the MCA choose to opt into the PSAA arrangements it must notify the 

PSAA by the end of March 2022. 
 

5.2 Should the MCA choose not to opt into the PSAA arrangements it must make an 
alternative appointment itself by December 2023. 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 This report concerns the procurement and appointment of the MCA’s external 

auditor. 
  
6.2 Opting into the national framework is compliant with the MCA’s Contract Procedure 

Rules and will support both cost management and strong financial governance. 
  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 None 
  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 None. 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 None. 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 None. 
  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 None. 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   

 
12.1 None. 

 
List of Appendices Included 
 
A LGA Letter 
B PSAA Opt-In Letter 

Page 279



 
  

 

Page 280



 

From the Chairman of the Association 
Cllr James Jamieson 

 
To: Mayors/Leaders/Chief Executives/Chief Finance Officers of English Principal 

Councils 

 
23 September 2021 

Dear Gareth Sutton 

Retender of External Audit Contracts 
 

I am writing because your council must shortly make a decision whether to opt into the 

national arrangement for the procurement of external audit or procure external audit for 

itself, and to set out the LGA’s view on that decision. 

 
In most councils this matter will be considered first in detail by the Audit Committee. You 

will therefore no doubt wish to pass on a copy of this letter and the more detailed 

attachment to the colleague who chairs the relevant committee. 

 
Legislation requires a resolution of Full Council if a local authority wishes to opt into the 

national arrangement. The practical deadline for this decision is 11th March 2022. As 

this is a decision for the Full Council, I wanted to ensure that you had sight of the letter 

that has been sent to audit and finance colleagues and that you are aware of the crucial 

issues to be considered. 

 
The way external audit has operated over the last couple of years has been extremely 

disappointing. This has led to many audits being delayed and dozens of audits remain 

uncompleted from 2019/20. Dealing with these issues is not a quick or easy fix. 

 
Nevertheless, the LGA’s view is that the national framework remains the best option for 

councils. There are many reasons for favouring the national arrangements and we think 

those reasons have become more compelling since 2016/17 when councils were last 

asked to make this choice. 

 
We believe that in a suppliers’ market it is imperative that councils act together to have 

the best chance of influencing the market and for nationally coordinated efforts to 

improve the supply side of the market to be effective. 

 
The information attached goes into more detail about the background to this decision. 

My officers will be happy to answer any questions you may have. Please contact Alan 

Finch (alan.finch@local.gov.uk) if you have any issues you would like to raise. 

 
Yours sincerely 
 
Cllr James Jamieson 

Chairman 

 
cc: Chief Executive 

Chief Finance Officer 

 

Appendix A 

Page 281

mailto:alan.finch@local.gov.uk


 
RETENDER OF EXTERNAL AUDIT CONTRACTS 

Information from the LGA for those charged with governance 
 

The process for retendering for external audit in local authorities in England, for 

contracts due to start from 2023/24, is now underway and shortly the council will need 

to decide whether to procure its own external auditor or opt into the national 

procurement framework. 

 
Legislation requires a resolution of Full Council if a local authority wishes to opt into the 

national arrangement. The deadline for this decision is the 11th March 2022. If the 

council doesn’t make such a decision, the legislation assumes that the council will 

procure its own external audit, with all the extra work and administration that comes with 

it. 

 
The national framework remains the best option councils can choose. There are many 

reasons for favouring the national arrangements and we think those reasons have 

become more compelling since 2016/17 when councils were last asked to make this 

choice. 

 
The way external audit has operated over the last couple of years has been extremely 

disappointing. A lack of capacity in the audit market has been exacerbated by increased 

requirements placed on external auditors by the audit regulator. There is also a limited 

number of firms in the market and too few qualified auditors employed by those firms. 

This has led to a situation where many audits have been delayed and dozens of audit 

opinions remain outstanding from 2019/20 and 2020/21. Auditors have also been asking 

for additional fees to pay for extra work. 

 
As the client in the contract, a council has little influence over what it is procuring. The 

nature and scope of the audit is determined by codes of practice and guidance and the 

regulation of the audit market is undertaken by a third party, currently the Financial 

Reporting Council. Essentially. councils find themselves operating in what amounts to a 

suppliers’ market and the client’s interest is at risk of being ignored unless we act 

together. 

 
Everyone, even existing suppliers, agrees that the supply side of the market needs to 

be expanded, which includes encouraging bids from challenger firms. Public Sector 

Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA), the body nominated by the Government to run the 

national arrangements, has suggested various ways this could be done, but these 

initiatives are much more likely to be successful if a large number councils sign up to 

the national scheme. 

 
It is therefore vital that councils coordinate their efforts to ensure that the client voice is 

heard loud and clear. The best way of doing this across the country is to sign up to the 

national arrangement. 

 
To summarise, the same arguments apply as at the time of the last procurement: 

A council procuring its own auditor or procuring through a joint arrangement 
means setting up an Audit Panel with an independent chair to oversee the 
procurement and running of the contract. 

The procurement process is an administrative burden on council staff already 
struggling for capacity. Contract management is an ongoing burden. 

Procuring through the appointing person (PSAA) makes it easier for councils to 
demonstrate independence of process. 

Procuring for yourself provides no obvious benefits: Page 282



The service being procured is defined by statute and by accounting and 
auditing codes 

Possible suppliers are limited to the small pool of registered firms with 
accredited Key Audit Partners (KAP). 

Since the last procurement it is now more obvious than ever that we are in a 
‘suppliers’ market’ in which the audit firms hold most of the levers. 

PSAA has now built up considerable expertise and has been working hard to 
address the issue that have arisen with the contracts over the last couple of 
years: 

PSAA has the experience of the first national contract. The Government’s 
selection of PSAA as the appointing person for a second cycle reflects 
MHCLG’s confidence in them as an organisation. 

PSAA has commissioned high quality research to understand the nature of 
the audit market. 

It has worked very closely with MHCLG to enable the government to consult 
on changes to the fees setting arrangements to deal better with variations at 
national and local level, hopefully resulting in more flexible and appropriate 
Regulations later this year 

 

Councils need to consider their options. we have therefore attached a list of Frequently 

Asked Questions relating to this issue which we hope will be useful to you in reaching 

this important decision. 

 
When the LGA set up PSAA in 2015, we did so with the interests of the local 

government sector in mind. We continue to believe that the national arrangement is the 

best way for councils to influence a particularly difficult market. 

  

  If you have any questions on these issues please contact Alan Finch, Principal Adviser   

(Finance) (alan.finch@local.gov.uk). 

 
PROCUREMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDIT from financial year 2023/24 

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 

 

“Were prices set too low in the current contract?” 

It is clear that firms did submit bids that reflected what seemed at the time to be 
very stable market conditions. Unfortunately, a series of financial collapses in the 
private sector have since created a very different climate and resulted in a whole 
series of new regulatory pressures. It is very likely that firms thought they could 
make savings as a result of the new timetable, essentially finishing the accounts 
audits by the end of July each year. Of course, that is not what has happened. 

The Government opened up the market principally on the argument that costs 
would reduce, and views were mixed in the sector when the first contract was 
being let. Some councils wanted more savings and some were worried about 
reduced standards. 

“Has the current contract helped cause these issues?” 

Since the current contract is based around the Code of Audit Practice and the 
local government accounting code, this is unlikely. The first year of the new 
contract coincided with the introduction of new standards and with the 
emergence of some difficult audit issues such as the McCloud judgement (a 
legal case which affected the valuation of pension liabilities). The second year 
was affected by COVID-19. This laid bare the lack of capacity in the supplier 
side of the market and led to considerable delays. It is hard to see how the 
contract could have pre-empted this, but now we are clearer about the level of 
uncertainty in the system, the next contract can adjust for it. 

 Page 283

mailto:alan.finch@local.gov.uk
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fprospect.org.uk%2Farticle%2Fwhat-is-the-mccloud-judgement%2F&data=04%7C01%7Ceugene.walker%40sheffield.gov.uk%7C7a10e2de816f4883f92108d97e847872%7Ca1ba59b9720448d8a3607770245ad4a9%7C0%7C0%7C637679929688018341%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=9pZu613IwkW14uiT4Be86wFdPtfY1l4kG6X7tWuN5T4%3D&reserved=0


“If we let our own contract, could we have more influence over auditors?” 

No. The auditors are required to be independent and are bound by the Codes 

and need to deliver to them in line with the regulator’s expectations or face 

action under the regulatory framework. 

 
As far as delays in audits is concerned, auditors are required to allocate 

resources according to risk and councils that procure for themselves will find 

themselves in the same queue as those within the national arrangement. 

 
“If we let our own contract, can we get the auditors to prioritise our audit over others?” 

Very unlikely. Auditors are running at full capacity and have to deploy resources 
according to their assessment of audit risks in accordance with professional 
standards. It is very unlikely that auditors could give preference to some clients 
rather than others even if they wanted to. 

“Didn’t we used to get more from our auditors?” 

Yes we did. For example, auditors were often prepared to provide training to 
audit committees on a pro-bono basis. The fact that they used to be with us for 
most of the year meant officers could develop professional working relationships 
with auditors and they understood us better, within the boundaries required of 
their independent status. Auditors no longer have the capacity to do extra work 
and the light shone on audit independence in other sectors of the economy has 
reinforced the rules on the way auditors and councils work together. 

“Under the national framework we have had to negotiate our own fee variations. Will 
that continue to be the case?” 

 

Unfortunately, virtually all councils have had to engage in discussions with 
auditors about fee variations linked to new regulatory requirements and, of 
course, the challenges of COVID-19. SAA has worked hard with MHCLG to 
enable the recent consultation on changes to the fee setting regime, and the 
resulting regulatory change will bring scope for more issues to be settled at a 
national level in future. 

“Can we band together in joint procurements to get most of the benefits of not going it 
alone?” 

We understand that this is lawful. However, joint procurement partners would not 
be part of PSAA’s efforts on behalf of the sector to increase the number of firms 
competing in the market, which will therefore be less likely to succeed. 

At best, joint procurement spreads the pain of procuring over a larger number of 
councils and at worst it introduces a new layer of bureaucracy, because 
someone is going to have to take the lead and bring all the members of the 
consortium along. It’s not altogether clear to us why a joint procurement would 
be better than the national contract, especially as the consortium would then 
have to manage the contract throughout its life (for example, the implications of 
changes of audit scope). 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 284



18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ 

22 September 2021 

To:       Dr Smith, Chief Executive 
      Sheffield City Region Combined Authority 

Copied to: Mr Sutton, S151 Officer 

 Councillor Jones, Chair of Audit Committee or equivilent 

Dear Dr Smith, 

Invitation to opt into the national scheme for auditor appointments from April 2023 

I want to ensure that you are aware the external auditor for the audit of your accounts for 

2023/24 has to be appointed before the end of December 2022. That may seem a long way 

away but, as your organisation has a choice about how to make that appointment, your 

decision-making process needs to begin soon. 

We are pleased that the Secretary of State has confirmed PSAA in the role of the appointing 

person for eligible principal bodies for the period commencing April 2023. Joining PSAA’s 

national scheme for auditor appointments is one of the choices available to your organisation. 

In June 2021 we issued a draft prospectus and invited your views and comments on our early 

thinking on the development of the national scheme for the next period. Feedback from the 

sector has been extremely helpful and has enabled us to refine our proposals which are now 

set out in the scheme prospectus and our procurement strategy. Both documents can be 

downloaded from our website which also contains a range of useful information that you may 

find helpful.  

The national scheme timetable for appointing auditors from 2023/24 means we now need to 

issue a formal invitation to you to opt into these arrangements. In order to meet the 

requirements of the relevant regulations, we also attach a form of acceptance of our invitation 

which you must use if your organisation decides to join the national scheme. We have 

specified the five consecutive financial years beginning 1 April 2023 as the compulsory 

appointing period for the purposes of the regulations which govern the national scheme. 

Given the very challenging local audit market, we believe that eligible bodies will be best 

served by opting to join the scheme and have attached a short summary of why we believe 

that is the best solution both for individual bodies and the sector as a whole. 

I would like to highlight three matters to you: 

1. if you opt to join the national scheme, we need to receive your formal acceptance of this

invitation by Friday 11 March 2022;

Appendix B

Page 285

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/prospectus-2023-and-beyond/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/procurement-strategy/


2. the relevant regulations require that, except for a body that is a corporation sole (e.g. a 

police and crime commissioner), the decision to accept our invitation and to opt in must 

be made by the members of the authority meeting as a whole e.g. Full Council or 

equivalent. We appreciate this will need to be built into your decision-making timetable. 

We have deliberately set a generous timescale for bodies to make opt in decisions (24 

weeks compared to the statutory minimum of 8 weeks) to ensure that all eligible bodies 

have sufficient time to comply with this requirement; and 

3. if you decide not to accept the invitation to opt in by the closing date, you may 

subsequently make a request to opt in, but only after 1 April 2023. We are required to 

consider such requests and agree to them unless there are reasonable grounds for their 

refusal. PSAA must consider a request as the appointing person in accordance with the 

Regulations. The Regulations allow us to recover our reasonable costs for making 

arrangements to appoint a local auditor in these circumstances, for example if we need 

to embark on a further procurement or enter into further discussions with our contracted 

firms. 

If you have any other questions not covered by our information, do not hesitate to contact us 

by email at ap2@psaa.co.uk. We also publish answers to frequently asked questions on our 

website. 

If you would like to discuss a particular issue with us, please send an email also to 

ap2@psaa.co.uk, and we will respond to you.  

 

Yours sincerely 

Tony Crawley 

Chief Executive 

 

Encl: Summary of the national scheme 

 

Page 286

mailto:ap2@psaa.co.uk
https://www.psaa.co.uk/contact-us/frequently-asked-questions/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/contact-us/frequently-asked-questions/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/supporting-the-transition/appointing-person/
mailto:ap2@psaa.co.uk


 

 

Why accepting the national scheme opt-in invitation is the best solution 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) 

We are a not-for-profit, independent company limited by guarantee incorporated by the Local 

Government Association in August 2014.  

We have the support of the LGA, which in 2014 worked to secure the option for principal local 

government and police bodies to appoint auditors through a dedicated sector-led national 

body.  

We have the support of Government; MHCLG’s Spring statement confirmed our appointment 

because of our “strong technical expertise and the proactive work they have done to help to 

identify improvements that can be made to the process”. 

We are an active member of the new Local Audit Liaison Committee, chaired by MHCLG and 

attended by key local audit stakeholders, enabling us to feed in body and audit perspectives 

to decisions about changes to the local audit framework, and the need to address timeliness 

through actions across the system. 

We conduct research to raise awareness of local audit issues, and work with MHCLG and 

other stakeholders to enable changes arising from Sir Tony Redmond’s review, such as more 

flexible fee setting and a timelier basis to set scale fees.  

We have established an advisory panel, which meets three times per year. Its membership is 

drawn from relevant representative groups of local government and police bodies, to act as a 

sounding board for our scheme and to enable us to hear your views on the design and 

operation of the scheme.  

The national scheme for appointing local auditors 

In July 2016, the Secretary of State specified PSAA as an appointing person for principal local 

government and police bodies for audits from 2018/19, under the provisions of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014 and the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. Acting 

in accordance with this role PSAA is responsible for appointing an auditor and setting scales 

of fees for relevant principal authorities that have chosen to opt into its national scheme. 98% 

of eligible bodies made the choice to opt-in for the five-year period commencing in April 2018. 

We will appoint an auditor for all opted-in bodies for each of the five financial years beginning 

from 1 April 2023.  

We aim for all opted-in bodies to receive an audit service of the required quality at a realistic 

market price and to support the drive towards a long term competitive and more sustainable 

market for local audit. The focus of our quality assessment will include resourcing capacity 

and capability including sector knowledge, and client relationship management and 

communication. 

What the appointing person scheme from 2023 will offer 

We believe that a sector-led, collaborative, national scheme stands out as the best option for 

all eligible bodies, offering the best value for money and assuring the independence of the 

auditor appointment.  

Page 287



 

 

The national scheme from 2023 will build on the range of benefits already available for 

members: 

• transparent and independent auditor appointment via a third party; 

• the best opportunity to secure the appointment of a qualified, registered auditor;  

• appointment, if possible, of the same auditors to bodies involved in significant 

collaboration/joint working initiatives, if the parties believe that it will enhance efficiency;  

• on-going management of any independence issues which may arise; 

• access to a specialist PSAA team with significant experience of working within the context 

of the relevant regulations to appoint auditors, managing contracts with audit firms, and 

setting and determining audit fees;   

• a value for money offer based on minimising PSAA costs and distribution of any surpluses 

to scheme members - in 2019 we returned a total £3.5million to relevant bodies and more 

recently we announced a further distribution of £5.6m in August 2021; 

• collective efficiency savings for the sector through undertaking one major procurement as 

opposed to a multiplicity of smaller procurements;  

• avoids the necessity for local bodies to establish an auditor panel and undertake an auditor 

procurement, enabling time and resources to be deployed on other pressing priorities;  

• updates from PSAA to Section 151 officers and Audit Committee Chairs on a range of 

local audit related matters to inform and support effective auditor-audited body 

relationships; and 

• concerted efforts to work with other stakeholders to develop a more sustainable local audit 

market. 

We are committed to keep developing our scheme, taking into account feedback from scheme 

members, suppliers and other stakeholders, and learning from the collective post-2018 

experience. This work is ongoing, and we have taken a number of initiatives to improve the 

operation of the scheme for the benefit of all parties.  

Importantly we have listened to your feedback to our recent consultation, and our response is 

reflected in the scheme prospectus. 

 

Opting in 

The closing date for opting in is 11 March 2022. We have allowed more than the minimum 

eight-week notice period required, because the formal approval process for most eligible 

bodies is a decision made by the members of the authority meeting as a whole [Full Council 

or equivalent], except police and crime commissioners who are able to make their own 

decision.  

We will confirm receipt of all opt-in notices. A full list of eligible bodies that opt in will be 

published on our website. Once we have received an opt-in notice, we will write to you to 

request information on any joint working arrangements relevant to your auditor appointment, 

and any potential independence matters which may need to be taken into consideration when 

appointing your auditor. 

Page 288

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/prospectus-2023-and-beyond/


 

 

Local Government Reorganisation 

We are aware that reorganisations in the local government areas of Cumbria, Somerset, and 

North Yorkshire were announced in July 2021. Subject to parliamentary approval shadow 

elections will take place in May 2022 for the new Councils to become established from 1 April 

2023. Newly established local government bodies have the right to opt into PSAA’s scheme 

under Regulation 10 of the Appointing Person Regulations 2015. These Regulations also set 

out that a local government body that ceases to exist is automatically removed from the 

scheme. 

If for any reason there is any uncertainty that reorganisations will take place or meet the 

current timetable, we would suggest that the current eligible bodies confirm their acceptance 

to opt in to avoid the requirement to have to make local arrangements should the 

reorganisation be delayed. 

Next Steps 

We expect to formally commence the procurement of audit services in early February 2022. 

At that time our procurement documentation will be available for opted-in bodies to view 

through our e-tendering platform. 

Our recent webinars to support our consultation proved to be popular, and we will be running 

a series of webinars covering specific areas of our work and our progress to prepare for the 

second appointing period. Details can be found on our website and in the scheme prospectus.

 

Page 289

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/autumn-and-winter-webinars/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-person-information/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/prospectus-2023-and-beyond/


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Mayoral Combined Authority Board 

 
24 January 2022 

 
Annual Review of the Assurance Framework 

 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Governance 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   No 
 
Has it been included on the                    Not a Key Decision 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Ruth Adams, Deputy Chief Executive 
 
Report Author(s): 
Lyndsey Whitaker 
Lyndsey.whitaker@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
Each year the MCA and LEP is required to update and publish the Assurance Framework to 
outline the robust, transparent and effective governance arrangements that are in place.    
Following devolution, the Assurance Framework also needs to be approved by four 
Government departments.   
 
This report summarises the amendments that have been incorporated into the 2022/23 
Assurance Framework and presents them for consideration by Members ahead of submission 
to the Government departments for their review and approval before 31 March 2022. 
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
The Assurance Framework outlines in detail how the MCA makes decisions and invests public 
money to develop and grow South Yorkshire’s economy and support its people, businesses 
and places. 
 
 
 

Page 291

Agenda Item 22



Recommendations   
1. MCA Members note, at section 2.3, the key amendments that have been made to the 

Assurance Framework to ensure compliance with the Government’s requirements and 
issued guidance. 

2. MCA Members consider and endorse the updated Assurance Framework set out at 
Appendix 1, pending any amendments the Board may specify, and gives consent for 
submission to Government for departmental review and agreement. 

 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
Assurance Panel 14 December 2021 
  

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 Each year the MCA and LEP is required by Government to update and publish its 

Assurance Framework by the 31st March.  The Assurance Framework sets out how 
the MCA and LEP will use public money responsibly, make robust decisions, 
achieve best value for money and act in an open and transparent manner.  It 
explains the governance structures in place for making decisions, outlines the 
policies and procedures that support decision-making and summarises how 
investments and interventions are appraised and managed, and how the MCA and 
LEP will publish information. 

  
1.2 The Government requires MCAs with devolution deals to specify, in their 

Assurance Framework, how all devolved and awarded monies and powers, 
including Gainshare, the Adult Education Budget (AEB), the City Region 
Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) and Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 
will be administered.  Four Government departments - the Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC), the Department for Transport (DfT) and the 
Department for Education (DfE) - must also approve the Assurance Frameworks of 
all MCAs with devolution deals. 

  
1.3 The Government also requires MCAs with devolution deals to produce and publish 

an accompanying Monitoring and Evaluation Framework to detail how projects and 
programmes funded through devolved and awarded funding will be monitored and 
evaluated. The SYMCA Monitoring and Evaluation Framework will be submitted to 
the Board for consideration and approval at the March 2022 meeting.  

  
1.4 The updated Assurance Framework has been written in accordance with the 

National Local Growth Assurance Framework guidance (issued in September 
2021), HM Treasury Green Book (November 2020) and the 2018 LEP Review 
(Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships).  It also streamlines and improves the 
assurance processes and procedures.  The draft Assurance Framework 2022 is 
attached at Appendix 1. 

  
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 The draft Assurance Framework 2022 incorporates the re-branding of the MCA, the 

name changes for the MCA and LEP, and the integration of SYPTE with the MCA, 
including transport operations.  

  

Page 292



2.2 The key amendments are as follows: 
 

• Funding Devolved and Awarded to the MCA - section 2 references the 
South Yorkshire Renewal Fund (SYRF) and lists the suite of funding that 
currently makes-up the SYRF, including the provisional £570m City Region 
Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) allocation.   

• Powers – section 2 includes the MCA’s ability to borrow funds for non-
transport capital investment, in addition to existing transport borrowing 
powers.  Whilst this is subject to an Order being passed through Parliament, 
it is anticipated that this power will be granted before the Assurance 
Framework 2022 is published in April. 

• LEP Membership and Thematic Board Co-chair Arrangements - section 
3 provides an updated list of LEP members and gender breakdown following 
the end of James Muir’s term as Chair and the appointment of Lucy Nickson 
as Interim LEP Chair.  The names of the MCA and LEP Board members who 
co-chair the Thematic Boards have also been included. 

• Section 73 Officer Responsibilities – section 4 now includes the 
delegation from the MCA to the Section 73 Officer to accept grants for 
funding bids on the MCA’s behalf and the ability to award tenders that are 
within the agreed MCA budget.   

• Transport Operations – whilst SYPTE has always been included in the 
MCA’s audit arrangements, the audit of transport operations is now 
specifically referenced in section 4.   

• Programme Management Board – section 4 also includes references to 
the new Programme Management Board consisting of MCA senior and 
Statutory officers that has been established to oversee the development and 
delivery of all investment programmes, along with the provision of technical 
advice to the Assurance Panel on risk, considerations of funding options and 
conditions, and interest rates and terms that should be applied to loans.   

• Annual Reporting to Government – section 4 now includes the 
requirement for the MCA to produce and submit annual reports on CRSTS 
and AEB.   

• Updated Assurance Process - section 5 includes a revised diagram at 
Figure 7 that illustrates the full assurance process.  This includes the 
introduction of a new Mandate Stage to allow the Boards to formally invite 
programmes and projects onto the MCA pipeline.  To strengthen risk 
assurance, this section also references tolerance checks, greater cost 
certainty, when statutory processes should be underway and completed and 
at what stage funds could be released to de-risk project development. 

• Grant Letters – have been included in section 6 alongside contracting 
arrangements for the early release of funds. 

• Monitoring – section 7 now explicitly states that the frequency of monitoring 
can either increase or decrease depending on the level of risk and project 
performance. 

  

2.3 Further minor amendments may be made to the draft as the SYMCA integration 
process continues prior to submission to Government.  These are likely to include 
document weblinks and references to the new MCA website and the structure 
diagram for the SYMCA Executive Team. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 

 

Page 293



Without an agreed Assurance Framework, the MCA will be in breach of its statutory 
responsibilities. Therefore, there is only a single option to update and submit the 
framework.    

  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
  
4.1 A series of workshops on the MCA’s current assurance process were held in 

Autumn 2021 with MCA staff and local authority officers.  Over 250 people attended 
these workshops.  The draft Assurance Framework 2022, and the updated 
assurance process has been partly based on feedback obtained from these 
workshops. 

  
4.2 The lead LEP Board member for assurance and Chair of the MCA’s Assurance 

Panel, reviewed the draft Assurance Framework 2022 in December 2021, on the 
LEP’s behalf. 

  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
5.1 Subject to endorsement, the draft framework will be submitted to the four 

Government departments for their review by 31 January 2022.  
  
5.2 Following any required amendments from the individual Government departments, 

a further draft will be presented to the MCA and LEP Boards in March 2022 for 
adoption.  The final draft will then be re-submitted to the Government in March for 
Ministerial approval and sign-off.  The Assurance Framework, and updated 
Monitoring and Evaluation Framework will be published on the MCA website on 1 
April 2022. 

  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 The MCA and LEP are required to demonstrate compliance with national guidance 

in order to receive devolved and awarded funding.  The release of Gainshare 
funding is dependent on the Government’s approval of the Assurance Framework. 

  
6.2 The draft Assurance Framework 2022 includes a number of amendments advised 

by the Finance Team, including reference to new borrowing powers, the creation of 
the Programme Management Board and the delegation granted by the MCA to 
allow the Section 73 Officer to accept grants and award tenders of the MCA’s 
behalf.  

  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 The Assurance Framework outlines the legal duties of the MCA and the policies 

and procedures that ensure the MCA and LEP make decisions through a legally 
compliant, robust and transparent process.  This includes referencing the 
responsibilities of the Section 73 Officer, the purpose of internal and external audit, 
the role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the project appraisal process 
(Appendix 1 – Section 4: Accountability for Decisions and Public Funds). 

  
7.2 The draft Assurance Framework 2022 includes amendments submitted by the 

Monitoring Officer on the integration of SYPTE into the MCA and the subsequent 
legal dissolution of the PTE that will follow in 2022.  The draft Framework also 

Page 294



references the Grant Letters that will be signed with project applicants on the 
conditions for the early release of project development funds.   

  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 Not Applicable. 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 The LEP is required to demonstrate its approach to equality and diversity in terms 

of the composition of the LEP Board and its Equality and Diversity policy.  The 
Assurance Framework outlines the LEP’s commitment to equality and diversity. 
The draft Assurance Framework 2022 also outlines the current gender composition 
of the LEP Board (Appendix 1 – Section 3: Structures and Roles).  The LEP 
Diversity Policy is also referenced. 

  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 Not Applicable. 
  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 Not Applicable. 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   
  
12.1 The MCA and LEP is obliged to publish information on the decisions that are being 

made, particularly on investments, in an open and transparent way.  The MCA and 
LEP has always taken the approach of publishing as much information as possible 
on the website so that it is accessible.  The MCA is also required to publish its 
updated Assurance Framework and Monitoring and Evaluation Framework by 1 
April 2022. 

  
12.2 Appendix 1 – Section 8: Publishing Information outlines how the general public can 

access information that the MCA and LEP holds, the range of information that can 
be accessed through the website, the Forward Plan of Key Decisions, meeting 
papers and financial and project performance information.  

  
List of Appendices Included 
 
A Appendix 1 - Draft Assurance Framework 2022 
 
Background Papers 

None 

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank



SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                       Page 1 of 60 
 

DRAFT ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 
VERSION 4 - JANUARY 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 297



SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                       Page 2 of 60 
 

Contents
 

 

1 Introduction 3 

2 About South Yorkshire 5 

3 Structures and Roles 10 

4 Accountability for Public Funds 27 

5 Robust and Transparent Decision-Making 32 

6 Contract Management 43 

7 Measuring Performance and Success 45 

8 Inclusive and Collaborative Working 48 

9 Publishing Information 51 

10 Glossary of Terms 55 

11 Appendix A: Summary of LEP Policies 56 

12 Appendix B: Joint Statement from LEP and MCA 58 

13 Appendix C: Key Performance Indicators (to be included) 60 
 
LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES 

Figure 1 South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority Timeline 5 
Figure 2 Map of South Yorkshire 6 
Figure 3 Strategic Economic Plan 2021-2041  7 
Figure 4 Renewal Action Plan 7 
Figure 5 The South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority Organisational Structure 11 
Figure 6 The Mayoral Combined Authority Executive Team Structure 25 
Figure 7 Business Case Development, Appraisal and Approval Process 35 
Figure 8 Assurance Route 36 
   
Table 1 Membership of the Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) 2022/23 13 
Table 2 Membership of the South Yorkshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 2022/23 15 
Table 3 Gender Composition of LEP Board (January 2022) 19 
Table 4 Membership of the Thematic Boards 2022/23 21 

 

Version Control 

V1 First draft L Whitaker 
V2 Second draft with amendments on assurance, finance, legal, 

governance, risk, contracts and skills 
L Whitaker, F Kumi-Ampofo, M Thomas, S 
Davenport, C Marriott, L Morris, C Taylor, H George 

V3 Third draft with amendments from Management Board and 
refined section 5 

L Whitaker, F Kumi-Ampofo, D Smith, S Davenport, 
M Swales, S Edwards, S Batey. G Sutton 

V4 Fourth draft with amendments from Chair of Assurance Panel L Whitaker, N MacDonald, R Adams 
 

Page 298



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 3 of 60 
 

1. Introduction 

Purpose of the Assurance Framework 
1.1 The aim of this document is to set out how the South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) will 

use public money responsibly, both openly and transparently, and achieve best value for money.  This 
document outlines: 

 
 The respective roles and responsibilities of the Mayoral Combined Authority Board, the South 

Yorkshire Mayor, the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Board and other elements of the decision-
making and delivery structure; 

 The key processes for ensuring accountability, probity, transparency, legal compliance and value for 
money; 

 How potential investments will be prioritised, appraised, approved, and delivered; and 

 How the progress and impacts of these investments will be monitored and evaluated. 

 
1.2 The Assurance Framework sits alongside several key governance and policy documents – most notably 

the Devolution Agreement and Settlement Letter, the MCA Constitution, the LEP Terms of Reference, 
the Financial Regulations, the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP), Renewal Action Plan (RAP), Investment 
Plan and Monitoring and Evaluation Framework.   

 
1.3 The Assurance Framework has been developed in response to the National Local Growth Assurance 

Framework (September 2021), Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships Report (July 2018), the LEP 
Governance and Transparency Best Practice Guide (January 2018) and the Ney Review (October 2017). 

 
1.4 This Assurance Framework takes effect from 1 April 2022.  It will apply to all new funding bids, funding 

regimes and projects from this date.  For continuity and consistency purposes, some existing projects 
which are already part way through the 2021 Assurance Framework process, will conclude their approval 
through that route.  

 
 

Updating the Assurance Framework 
1.5 The Assurance Framework is reviewed and updated at the end of each year.  The next annual review of 

this document is scheduled to commence in October 2022.  However, this document may be amended 
and re-published prior to the annual review date if improvements or significant changes are made to the 
MCA, LEP or its governance and assurance structures and processes, or if new guidance is received from 
the Government.     

 
1.6 A draft of the Assurance Framework is presented to the MCA and LEP Boards to approve any changes.  

The Assurance Framework is then submitted to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and, 
Communities (DLUHC), the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), the 
Department for Transport (DfT) and the Department for Education (DfE) for approval.  
 
 

Page 299



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 4 of 60 
 

The Structure of this Document 
1.7 The remainder of this document is structured into the following sections: 
 

 Section 2 describes South Yorkshire, the funding devolved by Government to the Mayoral 
Combined Authority and the plan for economic growth. 

 Section 3 explains the structures, roles and responsibilities of the organisations that make up the 
decision-making bodies. 

 Section 4 outlines the processes for ensuring openness and accountability for public funds. 

 Section 5 describes how the MCA and LEP collaborate and engage with other MCAs, LEPs, partners 
and the public. 

 Section 6 illustrates how decisions are made in a robust, evidenced and transparent manner. 

 Section 7 explains how projects are delivered and monitored and evaluated. 

 Section 8 states how the Mayor, MCA and LEP work collaboratively and consult with others 

 Section 9 outlines how information is published. 

 Appendix A provides a summary of the policies that the LEP is governed by. 

 Appendix B is a joint statement from the LEP and MCA on their respective roles and responsibilities. 

 Appendix C lists the key performance indicators that the MCA assesses funding applications and 
programme, project and economic performance against. 

  

Page 300



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 5 of 60 
 

2. About South Yorkshire 

History 
2.1 The South Yorkshire geographical area (formerly known as the Sheffield City Region) consists of the four 

local authority districts in South Yorkshire: Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield.  
 

2.2 In 2008 the Sheffield City Region (SCR) Forum was created to formalise collaborative working between 
the South Yorkshire authorities that had taken place since 1986.  The SCR Forum evolved into the Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) in 2010.  This was followed by the formation of the Mayoral Combined 
Authority (MCA) on the 1st April 2014 and the election of the first Mayor on the 4th May 2018 as shown 
in Figure 1 below.  

 
Figure 1: South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority Timeline 

 
2.3 The South Yorkshire Devolution Deal1 was signed into law on 27th July 2020.   

 
 

Geography 

2.4 The MCA and LEP’s boundaries are coterminous.  However, the wider functional economic area for 
South Yorkshire also covers five neighbouring districts in the D2N2 LEP area: Bassetlaw, Bolsover, 
Chesterfield, Derbyshire Dales and North East Derbyshire (Figure 2).  Prior to 1st April 2020, these 
districts were full members of the LEP, when revisions to the LEP’s geography were made to comply 
with the LEP Review recommendation on removing overlaps with other LEPs. 

 

 
1 The Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield Combined Authority (Functions and Amendment) Order 2020  

Page 301



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 6 of 60 
 

2.5 Whilst the five districts in Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire are no longer members of the LEP, they 
continue to be non-constituent members of the MCA in accordance with the 2014 Order2 that created 
the MCA, and collaboration is continuing with the non-constituent local authorities on cross-border 
economic issues.     

 
Figure 2: Map of South Yorkshire  

 

 

Plan for Economic Growth 
2.6 In 2020, the MCA and LEP completed work on developing a Renewal Action Plan (RAP) in response to 

the COVID Pandemic and its attendant socio-economic challenges, to outline the objectives and 
priorities for economic recovery and growth for South Yorkshire.  The RAP accompanies the Strategic 
Economic Plan (SEP) which was approved by the MCA and LEP Boards in January 2021.  
 

2.7 The SEP is a twenty-year economic strategy which sets out the vision and policy objectives for growing 
the economy at pace; ensuring that all people and places have a fair opportunity to contribute to and 
benefit from prosperity and protecting and enhancing our environment. 

 
2.8 The SEP is built on a broad range of socio-economic data and is the result of extensive consultation with 

business representatives, local industry leaders, local authorities, residents and stakeholder 
organisations.  The vision and policy objectives for economic growth across South Yorkshire, are set out 
in Figure 3 below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 The Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and Sheffield Combined Authority Order 2014 

Page 302



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 7 of 60 
 

Figure 3: Strategic Economic Plan 2021-2041  

 

 
 

 
 
2.9 The SEP will be reviewed and updated on a regular basis to ensure a sound strategic basis for investment. 

 
2.10 The RAP is a jobs-led plan that outlines £1.7bn of priority interventions for supporting our Employers, 

People and Places focusing particularly on the immediate term.  The priorities were shaped through 
consultation with the LEP Board and stakeholder partners on actions for economic recovery and are set 
out in Figure 4 below:  

 

Figure 4: Renewal Action Plan  

 
 

 

Page 303



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 8 of 60 
 

2.11 Together, with the Transport Strategy, the Net Zero Work Programme, and the MCA’s priorities for 
Gainshare, the SEP and the RAP set the blueprint for how devolved and awarded funding from 
Government will be invested.  The SEP and RAP also set the criteria that all programmes, schemes and 
projects will be measured and assessed against; from application stage through to contracting and 
delivery.  

 
 

Devolved Powers and Funding 
2.12 The South Yorkshire Devolution Deal provides the ability to establish a single pot of funding to invest in 

economic development.   Known as the South Yorkshire Renewal Fund, this single pot of circa £500m 
includes Gainshare, the Adult Education Budget, a consolidated transport budget and other devolved 
monies as detailed below.  Further information on how decisions are made and assured to invest the 
fund is provided in Section 5 of this document. 

 
 

Gainshare 

2.13 The Gainshare (grant-based investment funding) allocation for South Yorkshire through the Devolution 
Deal is £30m per annum for a period of 30 years.  This consists of 60% capital and 40% revenue 
funding and is to be invested in the delivery of the MCA and LEP’s strategic and economic priorities.   

 
 

Adult Education Budget (AEB) 

2.14 From the start of the 2021/22 academic year, the MCA assumed responsibility for the revenue-based 
Adult Education Budget (AEB) in South Yorkshire. Devolution of AEB supports the delivery of high-
quality adult education at NVQ Levels 1,2 and 3 to individuals aged 19 years and above. This equates to 
around £42m per academic year.   

 
 

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) 

2.15 The MCA is responsible for the consolidated devolved capital transport budget.  This includes the 
Highways Maintenance Block (excluding PFI) and Highways Maintenance incentive funding.  In October 
2021, the MCA was awarded £570m for a period of 5 years. 

 
 

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 

2.16 Following a successful bidding process, in March 2020, the Government awarded £166m from the 
Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) to South Yorkshire for a period of three years to improve public transport 
and support investment in active travel infrastructure.  The third year of TCF funding (approximately 
£72m) is incorporated in the CRSTS allocation.     

 
 

 

 

 

Page 304



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 9 of 60 
 

Getting Building Fund (GBF) 

2.17 In June 2020, the MCA was awarded £33.6m for a prioritised capital programme of Major Infrastructure 
Schemes under the Government’s Getting Building Fund.  The fund has been used to accelerate ‘shovel 
ready’ infrastructure schemes up to March 2022. 
 
 

Brownfield Fund (BF) 

2.18 The MCA was allocated £40m in June 2020 to deliver a capital programme of housing schemes on 
brownfield sites over the next 5 years through the Government’s Brownfield Fund. 

 
 
Community Renewal Fund (CRF) and UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 

2.19 In November 2021, following a national bidding process the Government awarded £8.2m of revenue 
funding to the MCA to fund eight projects in South Yorkshire as part of the Community Renewal Fund 
(CRF); a pilot and precursor programme for the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF).  The UKSPF will 
commence in 2023 and is the replacement regeneration funding programme for the previous Local 
Growth Fund (LGF) programme and EU Structural Funds. 

 
2.20 More detailed information on the UKSPF pilot will be published in 2022 but, like the CRF programme, it 

is expected to be focussed on supporting infrastructure improvements and regeneration in areas of 
deprivation, tailored employment and skills development and supporting businesses with innovation 
and green technology adoption. 

 
 

Powers 

2.21 Under the South Yorkshire Devolution Deal, the MCA and Mayor were granted the following devolved 
powers from Government: 
 
 The full devolution of the 19+ Adult Education Budget for college and training providers; 
 The ability to borrow against funds;  
 To improve the supply and quality of housing and secure the development of land or infrastructure; 
 To create a non-statutory Spatial Framework for South Yorkshire; 
 The option to establish Mayoral Development Corporations; 
 To provide grants and make agreements with other bodies on the management of the strategic 

highway network; and 
 The option to introduce a Mayoral precept. 

  

Page 305



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 10 of 60 
 

3. Structures and Roles 

Overview  
3.1 The MCA and LEP governance model combines the best of private sector expertise and public sector 

capacity, transparency and accountability. 
 
3.2 The MCA and LEP form the core decision-making Boards. The private sector led LEP, supports and works 

alongside democratically elected Leaders on the MCA Board.  The Mayor, the Leaders of the four local 
authorities in South Yorkshire and LEP Chair sit on both Boards.  This has resulted in strong partnership 
between the MCA and LEP.  It also ensures that a single oversight is in place to deliver efficient, effective, 
accountable and informed decision-making.  

 
3.3 The Mayor, MCA Board and LEP Board are supported by four Thematic Boards and the MCA Executive 

Team.  The Thematic Boards are responsible for driving forward the agenda of their thematic area.  The 
MCA Executive Team advises the Mayor, MCA and LEP on policy, seeks agreement between those 
bodies and subsequently commissions, manages and monitors the delivery of projects.   

 
3.4 The MCA Executive Team and local authority Chief Executives also support the decision-making process, 

with the Chief Executives each leading an operational group which informs and advises the Thematic 
Boards.  Two independent committees, the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, ensure that the MCA, LEP and Mayor are fulfilling their legal obligations, and 
developing and delivering strategies and public transport services that are in the best interests of local 
people. 

 
3.5 In 2021/22, work was undertaken to integrate the South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive 

(SYPTE) into the MCA.  Organisationally, much of this work was completed, particularly in terms of 
integrating staffing structures and decision making.  Formal legal dissolution via a Parliamentary Order 
is anticipated in 2022/23. 

 
3.6 Figure 5 sets out the overall structure and how the Boards and Committees relate to one another. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 306



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 11 of 60 
 

Figure 5: The South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority Organisational Structure 

 
3.7 The following sections provide a description of the different elements of the structure and their 

respective roles and responsibilities. 
 
 

The Mayor 
3.8 The Mayor is directly elected by the electorate in South Yorkshire (Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and 

Sheffield) and serves a four-year term of office.  The Mayor was elected in May 2018 and the next 
Mayoral Election will take place in May 2022.     

 
 
Role of the Mayor 

3.9 The Mayor exercises powers and functions that are devolved to the MCA by central Government.  
 
3.10 The Mayor is the Chair of the MCA and leads the MCA in terms of proposing and agreeing the revenue 

and capital budgets of the MCA, including allocation of the consolidated transport budget, appropriate 
use of the Adult Education Budget and how Gainshare is utilised to support the MCA’s policies.  

 
3.11 The Mayor is a member of the LEP Board and also promotes South Yorkshire as a place to live, work, 

visit and invest in.  

 
 
Responsibilities of the Mayor 

3.12 The decision-making powers and functions of the Mayor are: 
 

 Development of a strategy and spending plan for the delivery of mayoral functions; 
 Responsibility for a consolidated, devolved transport budget, with a multi-year settlement; 

Page 307



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 12 of 60 
 

 Responsibility and the power to approve franchised bus services, to support the MCA’s delivery of 
smart and integrated ticketing across South Yorkshire; 

 Responsibility for an identified Key Route Network of local authority roads that will be 
collaboratively managed and maintained by the MCA on behalf of the Mayor; 

 Powers over strategic planning, including the responsibility to create a spatial framework for South 
Yorkshire; and 

 Ability to create Mayoral Development Areas or Corporations in agreement with the relevant MCA 
member. 

 

The Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) 

3.13 The Sheffield City Region Combined Authority was formally constituted in law in April 2014.  It 
comprises the four constituent local authorities for South Yorkshire of Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham 
and Sheffield, and five non-constituent local authorities from the neighbouring D2N2 LEP area 
(Bassetlaw, Bolsover, Chesterfield, Derbyshire Dales and North East Derbyshire).  With the election of 
the Mayor in May 2018, it became the Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA), and in 2022 the MCA 
changed its name to the South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority 

 
 
Role of the MCA 

3.14 The MCA is the legal and Accountable Body for funding devolved and awarded to the MCA and LEP.  
The MCA is also the Local Transport Authority for South Yorkshire.  This role and its accompanying 
responsibilities are defined in the MCA Constitution.   

 
 

Responsibilities of the MCA 

3.15 The MCA’s remit is strategic economic development, housing, skills, transport infrastructure and 
strategic and operational transport functions.   

 
3.16 The MCA is responsible for setting the policy direction in South Yorkshire and maximising financial 

investment to achieve economic growth.  The MCA is also responsible for making large investment 
decisions and ensuring that the policy and strategic objectives of the SEP are delivered.   

 
3.17 On this basis, typically the agenda for the MCA is focused on different elements of the SEP and takes 

decisions and oversees performance on items including: 
 

 Programme updates – on initiatives being delivered; 
 Investment decisions; 
 Monitoring of financial and output performance; 
 Public transport operations and services; 
 Assurance, strategic risk management and governance; and 
 Strategies and plans. 

 
3.18 The constituent members of the MCA are accountable for where and how public money is being spent.   
 
3.19 Additional responsibilities and further powers may be devolved to the Mayor and the MCA, pending 

agreement by Government, the Mayor, MCA and the constituent authorities. 

Page 308



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 13 of 60 
 

Membership of the MCA 

3.20 Membership of the MCA is set out in Table 1 below.  This specifies the type of membership; constituent, 
non-constituent and observer. 

 
Table 1: Membership of the MCA 2022/23 

Member Post Membership Type 

South Yorkshire Mayor Constituent 

Barnsley Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

Leader Constituent 

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

Mayor Constituent 

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

Leader Constituent 

Sheffield City Council Leader Constituent 

Bassetlaw District Council Leader Non-constituent 

Bolsover District Council Leader Non-constituent 

Chesterfield Borough Council Leader Non-constituent 

Derbyshire Dales District Council Leader Non-constituent 

North East Derbyshire District 
Council 

Leader Non-constituent 

South Yorkshire LEP Chair Non-voting 

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

Nominated Representative Rotational 

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

Nominated Representative Rotational 

 
3.21 The MCA Constitution stipulates that substitute members will be nominated and agreed by the full 

members annually.   
 
3.22 Each year the MCA appoints two additional, rotational members from amongst the constituent councils. 

This is a requirement of the Order by which the Combined Authority was established to ensure that the 
majority of Members are from constituent councils.  In 2022/23, the rotational members are from 
Doncaster and Rotherham.  In 2023/24, they will be from Barnsley and Sheffield.  By convention these 
Members do not attend or vote. 

 
3.23 Organisations are invited to attend MCA meetings as an observer.  These can include Government 

agencies (such as Homes England or Network Rail) and other LEPs which have close economic links with 
South Yorkshire (for example but not restricted to, the Leeds City Region, Manchester and Humber 
LEPs). 

 
3.24 All MCA Board members are expected to conduct themselves in accordance with the Nolan Principles 

of Public Life.  These principles are embedded in the MCA Members’ Code of Conduct as detailed in the 
MCA Constitution.   

 
 

Page 309



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 14 of 60 
 

MCA Board Meetings 

3.25 The MCA Board meets on an eight-weekly cycle and the meetings are held in public.  
 
3.26 All constituent members of the MCA Board and the Mayor have one equally weighted vote.  Non-

constituent members have no automatic right to vote.  The MCA Constitution allows for voting rights to 
be extended to non-constituent members at the discretion of the constituent members.   

 
3.27 Decisions are made by a majority of the members present at MCA meetings and voting when using the 

powers held by the Authority when it was established in 2014.  For the new powers devolved to the MCA 
through the devolution deal, the Mayor must be part of the majority of members present and voting on 
the exercise of such functions.  These functions are: 

 
 Adult Education Budget; 
 Skills powers/duties; and 
 Housing functions. 

 
3.28 The Constitution sets the majority as the Mayor plus 75% of the Members from the constituent 

councils present at the meeting.  By convention, if 100% of the Members from the constituent 
councils are in favour of a resolution, then the Mayor will also vote in favour (as that is the will of the 
MCA), unless the Mayor gives minuted reason for not doing so. 

 
3.29 The approval of the non-statutory Spatial Framework will require a unanimous decision from all 

constituent members. The establishment of any Mayoral Development Corporation will require the 
agreement of the Mayor and the MCA member that represents that place.  

 
3.30 The Mayor’s budget proposals will be approved by the MCA in accordance with the Combined 

Authorities (Finance) Order 2017 and the Constitution.  
 
 
Quoracy for MCA Board Meetings 

3.31 At least three voting members of the MCA must be present for a meeting to be valid.  If a decision is 
required to meet agreed timescales and a meeting of the MCA is either not possible or scheduled, written 
procedures for decision making apply, in line with the MCA Constitution and the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny regulations. 

 
 

The Local Enterprise Partnership Board (LEP) 
3.32 The Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) is a voluntary business-led partnership which brings together 

business leaders, local politicians and other partners to promote and drive economic growth across 
South Yorkshire.  The LEP was established in 2010.   

 
 
 
Role of the LEP 

3.33 The LEP leads on strategic economic policy development within the City Region and sets the blueprint 
for how the South Yorkshire economy should evolve and grow.  The LEP is the developer and author of 

Page 310



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 15 of 60 
 

the SEP.  The LEP works to raise the profile, image and reputation of South Yorkshire as a place to visit, 
live, work and invest in.    

 
 
Responsibilities of the LEP 

3.34 The LEP is responsible for setting strategy and acts as the custodian of the SEP.  Prior to the Devolution 
Deal, the LEP bid for funding and programmes from Government and was responsible for delivering 
these programmes.  This included delivering the Growth Deal programme of activity which concluded 
on 31 March 2021. 

 
3.35 The LEP is also responsible for ensuring that policy and decisions both receive the input of key business 

leaders, and by extension, reflect the views of the wider business community.  The LEP fulfils this 
responsibility by leading on engagement with local businesses and policy makers at a City Regional, 
national and international level.  

 
3.36 The focus of the LEP Board is to discuss and make decisions on the following: 
 

 South Yorkshire Economy – such as research on how well the economy is performing and the 
issues and needs of different sectors and markets; 

 Performance - of LEP funded programmes; 
 Providing a Forum for Debate - between the public and private sectors; and 
 Economic Strategy and Policy Development – on new initiatives being brought forward. 

 
 
Membership of the LEP 

3.37 The LEP currently comprises 13 private sector representatives, the four Leaders of the Local Authorities, 
the Mayor, and a Trades Union Representative.  The LEP is able to appoint up to five co-opted private 
sector members who can act as specialist advisers on thematic issues.  There are currently no co-opted 
members on the LEP Board.  Membership of the LEP is set out in Table 2 below: 

 
Table 2: Membership of the South Yorkshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 2022/23 

Member Post Membership Type 

Lucy Nickson Interim LEP Chair – Permanent 
Member 

Private Sector 

Neil MacDonald LEP Vice Chair – Permanent 
Member (*subject to LEP Board approval) 

Private Sector 

Alexa Greaves Permanent Member Private Sector 

Gemma Smith Permanent Member Private Sector 

Professor Chris Husbands Permanent Member Private Sector 

Peter Kennan Permanent Member Private Sector 

Michael Faulks Permanent Member Private Sector 

Richard Stubbs Permanent Member Private Sector 

Joe Chetcuti Permanent Member Private Sector 

Cathy Travers Permanent Member Private Sector 

Angela Foulkes Permanent Member Private Sector 

Page 311



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 16 of 60 
 

Professor Dave Petley HE Representative Private Sector 

Dan Fell Chambers of Commerce 
Representative 

Private Sector  

Bill Adams Trades Union Representative Membership Body 

MCA Mayor Public Sector 

Barnsley Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

Leader Public Sector 

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

Mayor Public Sector 

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

Leader Public Sector 

Sheffield City Council Leader Public Sector 
 
3.38 Private sector LEP Board members are assigned a portfolio of work based on their expertise and 

knowledge.  The portfolios are thematic based, and each LEP Board member leads on the LEP’s activity 
on that theme.   

 
3.39 The current composition of the LEP Board is 69% Private Sector members compared to 26% Public 

Sector members and 5% Membership Body members.  This equates to a ratio that is substantially higher 
than the Government requirement of a two-third, one-third split. 

 
3.40 All LEP Board members are expected to conduct themselves in accordance with the Nolan Principles of 

Public Life.  These principles are embedded in the LEP Code of Conduct.  LEP Board members are 
required to sign a document confirming that they will subscribe to Nolan principles as a condition of 
their appointment.  

 
 
LEP Board Meetings 

3.41 The LEP Board meets on an eight-weekly cycle and the meetings are held in private, with the exception 
of an Annual General Meeting (AGM).   

 
3.42 All Board members (apart from co-opted members) have equal voting rights, and decisions are taken 

on the basis of a simple majority.   
 
 

Quoracy for LEP Board Meetings 

3.43 Meetings of the LEP Board are considered quorate when at least one quarter of the Private Sector 
Members and at least one quarter of the constituent local authority members are present.   

 
3.44 A LEP Board Member may be counted in the quorum if they are able to participate in the meeting by 

remote means such as by internet, audio or video link.  The member must remain available throughout 
the agenda items where discussions and decisions are made. 

 
3.45 Co-opted members, and any LEP Board member who is obliged to withdraw under the LEP Code of 

Conduct, are not counted towards the quorum. 
 

Page 312



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 17 of 60 
 

3.46 To ensure that LEP Board members are suitably committed to the work of the LEP, consistent non-
attendance at meetings is grounds for termination of membership.  This is outlined in the LEP Terms of 
Reference. 

 
3.47 If a decision is required to meet agreed timescales and a meeting of the LEP is either not possible or 

scheduled, the urgency procedure for decision making applies, as outlined in LEP Terms of Reference 
will be implemented. 

 
 
LEP Chair 

3.48 The LEP Chair must have a private sector background. 
 
3.49 The LEP Chair leads on building the reputation and influence of South Yorkshire at a national and 

international level.  The LEP Chair is also a non-voting member of the MCA. 
 
 
LEP Vice Chair 

3.50 The LEP can appoint up to two Vice Chairs. 
 
3.51 The LEP Vice Chairs must have a private sector background.   
 
3.52 The LEP Vice Chairs provide day to day leadership and support to the LEP Board Members, lead on 

business relations within South Yorkshire, engage with the wider business community and deputise for 
the LEP Chair when necessary. 

 
 
Defined Term Limits   

3.53 The LEP Chair and LEP Vice Chairs have defined term limits of three years.  They can re-apply for a 
further term.   

 
3.54 All other private sector LEP Board members are appointed for an initial term of three years.  As set-out 

in the LEP Terms of Reference, the Chair may extend the appointment of an individual for a further term 
of up to three years.  With a clear rationale, and only in exceptional circumstances, a further extension 
not exceeding two years may be granted.    

 
3.55 Co-opted LEP Board members have a defined term limit of one year.  However, following a 

recommendation from the LEP Appointments Panel, the LEP Chair can at their discretion, extend the 
term of co-opted members for a further period.  

 
3.56 The Trades Union Congress (TUC), Chambers of Commerce and FE Colleges (via the Association of 

Colleges) nominate their named representatives on an annual basis.   
 
 
LEP Board Recruitment and Appointment 

3.57 Private sector LEP Board members are appointed through an open and transparent recruitment and 
selection process.  In the interests of continuity and succession planning, the recruitment is staggered 
so that the terms of all private sector members do not expire at the same time.   

 

Page 313



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 18 of 60 
 

3.58 When private sector members either approach the end of their term, or if a LEP Board member resigns 
mid-term, the vacant positions on the LEP Board are promoted through the MCA website, social media 
channels and are advertised in local and regional media.  Local business representative organisations are 
also consulted about LEP Board vacancies and advertise and promote these vacancies through 
communications with their members.  

 
3.59 When recruiting new LEP Board members, consideration is given to achieving diversity on the LEP Board 

in line with the LEP Diversity Policy.  However, all Board appointments are made on merit, and within 
the context of the skills and experience required by the LEP Board. 

 
3.60 Interested candidates are required to complete and submit an application form.  A LEP Appointments 

Panel, which is made-up of LEP Board Vice Chairs, reviews and assesses the applications against the LEP 
Board Member Job Description and Person Specification, with advice and support from the MCA 
Executive Team.  Candidates are shortlisted for an interview by a panel including LEP Board members 
(usually the Vice Chairs), a member of an independent business representative body, and the MCA Chief 
Executive or Deputy Chief Executive. 

 
3.61 A combination of the completed application form and interview are used to judge each candidate’s 

experience, suitability and fit.  The LEP Appointments Panel makes the appointments which are then 
ratified by the LEP Board.   

 
3.62 Newly appointed LEP Board members are invited to attend an induction session with the MCA Executive 

Team to develop their understanding of South Yorkshire, the organisational and decision-making 
structure, the LEP’s priorities and plans and support available to LEP Board members from the MCA 
Executive Team. 

 
3.63 Vacant positions for the Chair and Vice Chair roles are promoted in the same way.  However, these 

positions are also advertised in national media outlets and on the Government’s Public Appointments 
website.  The Mayor leads the appointment panel for the LEP Chair, which also includes another LEP 
Board Member, an independent business representative organisation, a Local Authority Chief Executive 
and either the MCA Chief Executive or Deputy Chief Executive.  In the event that the Chair or Vice Chair 
stands down, the LEP Board appoints an interim Chair or interim Vice Chair from the current private 
sector members of the LEP Board to assume the role until recruitment for a permanent Chair or Vice 
Chair can take place.    

 
 
Equality and Diversity 

3.64 The LEP Diversity Policy seeks to ensure that the composition of the LEP Board is diverse and reflective 
of South Yorkshire in the broadest sense.  Consideration is given to gender, race, protected 
characteristics and areas of expertise including industry knowledge, geography, sectors and business 
size.  This is done with a view to obtaining an appropriate balance of membership.  Applications from 
under-represented groups are encouraged.   

 
3.65 The current gender composition of the LEP Board is detailed in Table 3 below.  It illustrates that 45.5% 

of the LEP’s permanent private sector members are women. 
 
 
 

Page 314



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 19 of 60 
 

Table 3: Gender Composition of LEP Board  

 

 

3.66 The LEP will obtain an equal split of male and female private sector LEP Board members by March 2023.   
 
 

How the MCA and LEP Work Together 
3.67 A key facet of the governance arrangements in South Yorkshire is the strong inter-relationship between 

the LEP and MCA and overlap of membership.  Building on the best of the public and private sectors, 
this brings accountability, transparency and business insight together.  The configuration and 
membership of the LEP and MCA are designed to be mutually supportive. 

 
3.68 The MCA is the legally Accountable Body for all funds awarded to the LEP and approves the LEP annual 

capital and revenue budgets prior to the start of the financial year.  However, the LEP advises on how 
these funds are prioritised.  

 
3.69 The MCA tests the value for money of proposed projects, and makes decisions in a legally compliant, 

responsible and transparent manner. 
 
3.70 To maintain good communication and cooperation, the LEP and MCA are both served by the same team 

of staff (the MCA Executive Team).  Financial information and updates on programme delivery are 
reported to both the LEP and MCA Boards.  This includes details of applications received for LEP funded 
programmes and contracts awarded. 

 
3.71 Given the clarity in remit and strong controls being in place, there are minimal circumstances where the 

MCA would not comply with the LEP’s advice. However potentially this could occur if: 
 

 The LEP was seeking to influence a decision of the MCA, which is within the remit of the Accountable 
Body, specifically an operational decision as opposed to a strategic decision regarding the economic 
strategy; 

 The LEP was seeking to influence a decision which is non-compliant with public accountability 
requirements and procedures, or does not offer value for money; 

 The MCA was seeking to influence a decision which is within the remit of the LEP (for example, 
supporting a project that is not aligned with the objectives of the SEP); or 

 The MCA was refusing to operationalise a policy directive of the LEP in accordance with the SEP. 

 

Page 315



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 20 of 60 
 

3.72 A procedure is in place for managing conflicts in decision-making should they occur.  The three Statutory 
Officers (Head of Paid Service, Section 73 Officer and Monitoring Officer) would first attempt to resolve 
the conflict with the Chairs of the LEP and MCA Boards. If the conflict cannot be resolved, and depending 
on the nature of the conflict, this would be formally escalated to either the LEP Board or MCA Board to 
discuss and agree a resolution. 

 
3.73 A Memorandum of Understanding concisely and simply explains the respective roles and 

responsibilities of the LEP and MCA, and how they work together.  This is published and ensures that 
members of the public are clear on who is responsible for decision-making in South Yorkshire.  This 
document is contained in Appendix B. 

 
 
 

Thematic Boards 
3.74 To support decision-making and delivery, the MCA and LEP are supported by four Thematic Boards, 

which are based on the broad strategic priorities of the SEP.  The four Thematic Boards all have delegated 
authority to make financial decisions on behalf of the MCA up to defined limits.   

 
 
Role of the Thematic Boards 

3.75 The purpose of the Thematic Boards is to provide adequate and experienced capacity to review projects 
and make investment decisions.  These Boards bring together the public and private leadership of the 
MCA and LEP to drive the delivery of activity, ensuring that the focus remains on the outcomes being 
delivered. The Thematic Boards therefore enable the MCA and LEP Boards to operate strategically rather 
than merely as investment boards. 

 
3.76 The four Thematic Boards are accountable to the MCA and each one has a defined portfolio with distinct 

responsibilities for Business Recovery & Growth, Housing & Infrastructure, Education, Skills & 
Employability and Transport & the Environment.   

 
3.77 The Transport & the Environment Board has a broader role than the other three Thematic Boards; 

specifically, co-ordinating the transport activities, and overseeing the performance of public transport 
operations and services in South Yorkshire. 

 
 

Responsibilities of the Thematic Boards 

3.78 Each of the four Thematic Boards (Business Recovery & Growth; Housing &, Infrastructure; Education, 
Skills & Employability; and Transport & the Environment) has delegated authority to approve projects 
with a value of less than £2 million.  Decisions made by the Thematic Boards are presented to the MCA 
Board in a written Delegated Decisions Report.  As the delegating body, the MCA has the right to review 
decisions made by the Thematic Boards. 

 
3.79 The responsibilities of the four Thematic Boards are to: 
 

 Shape future policy, priorities and programmes for the LEP and MCA Boards to approve; 
 Review programme and funding applications of less than £2 million that have been through the 

appraisal process and decide whether to approve, defer or reject the application; 

Page 316



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 21 of 60 
 

 Review programme and funding applications of £2 million or more that have been through the 
appraisal process and make a recommendation to the MCA Board for approval, deferment or 
rejection of the application; 

 Accept grants with a value of less than £2 million; and 
 Monitor programme delivery and performance on their thematic area. 

 
3.80 The Transport & the Environment Board has the following additional responsibilities:   
 

 Shaping the development of the transport strategy and strategies for its implementation; 
 Overseeing the performance of operational transport services and providing political direction; 
 Recommending the transport capital programme for approval to the MCA; and 
 Recommending the transport revenue budget for approval to the MCA. 

 
 
Membership of the Thematic Boards 

3.81 The members of the four Thematic Boards are set out in Table 4 below:   
 

Table 4: Membership of the Thematic Boards 2022/23   

Business Recovery & 
Growth 

Education, Skills & 
Employability 

Housing & 
Infrastructure 

Transport & the 
Environment 

One Leader from a 
South Yorkshire local 
authority as Chair 
(Mayor Ros Jones, 
DMBC) 

One Leader from a 
South Yorkshire local 
authority as Chair (Cllr 
Sir Steve Houghton 
CBE, BMBC) 

One Leader from a 
South Yorkshire local 
authority as Chair (Cllr 
Terry Fox, SCC) 

One Leader from a 
South Yorkshire local 
authority as Chair (Cllr 
Chris Read, RMBC) 

A lead private sector 
LEP Board member as 
Co-Chair (Neil 
MacDonald) 

A lead private sector 
LEP Board member as 
Co-Chair (Dan Fell) 

A lead private sector 
LEP Board member as 
Co-Chair (Gemma 
Smith) 

A lead private sector 
LEP Board member as 
Co-Chair (Peter 
Kennan) 

A nominated elected 
representative for each 
of the South Yorkshire 
local authorities 

A nominated elected 
representative for each 
of the South Yorkshire 
local authorities 

A nominated elected 
representative for each 
of the South Yorkshire 
local authorities 

A nominated elected 
representative for each 
of the South Yorkshire 
local authorities 

A lead Chief Executive 
from a South Yorkshire 
local authority 

A lead Chief Executive 
from a South Yorkshire 
local authority 

A lead Chief Executive 
from a South Yorkshire 
local authority 

A lead Chief Executive 
from a South Yorkshire 
local authority 

A private sector LEP 
Board member 

A private sector LEP 
Board member 

A private sector LEP 
Board member 

A private sector LEP 
Board member 

Head of Paid Service 
(or their nominated 
representative) 

Head of Paid Service 
(or their nominated 
representative) 

Head of Paid Service 
(or their nominated 
representative) 

Head of Paid Service 
(or their nominated 
representative) 

A non-voting 
representative for the 
other non-constituent 
local authorities from 
the MCA 

A non-voting 
representative for the 
other non-constituent 
local authorities from 
the MCA 

A non-voting 
representative for the 
other non-constituent 
local authorities from 
the MCA 

A non-voting 
representative for the 
other non-constituent 
local authorities from 
the MCA 

Page 317



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 22 of 60 
 

 A representative from 
the Skills Advisory 
Network 

 Executive Director of 
Infrastructure and 
Place 

 
 
3.82 Board decisions are made on the basis of consensus.  Where consensus cannot be reached the issue is 

escalated to the MCA.   
 
3.83 Operational Groups sit under each of the Thematic Boards to assist in the management and monitoring 

of individual programmes or projects, for example transport and the Business Growth Hub Board.   The 
Operational Groups are each chaired by a Chief Executive Officer from a South Yorkshire local authority 
and they consist of key stakeholders and thematic experts who can advise the Thematic Board.  The 
Operational Groups have no responsibilities for decision-making. 

 
 
Thematic Board Meetings 

3.84 Thematic Boards meet on an eight-weekly cycle and the MCA Executive Team provides the secretariat 
function. 

 
 
Quoracy for Thematic Board Meetings 

3.85 Meetings of the Thematic Boards (with the exception of the Transport & the Environment Board) are 
quorate when five members are present; of which two are from South Yorkshire local authorities and 
one is a LEP private sector member. 

 
3.86 Transport & the Environment Board meetings are quorate when six members are present. of which two 

are from South Yorkshire local authorities and one is a LEP private sector member.  
 
3.87 A member who is obliged to withdraw under the MCA Code of Conduct or LEP Code of Conduct shall 

not be counted towards the quorum. 
 
3.88 If a decision is required to meet agreed timescales and a meeting of the Thematic Board is either not 

possible or scheduled, written procedures for decision making apply, in line with the Thematic Boards 
Protocol for Decisions Between Meetings. 

 
 
 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee  
3.89 The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee ensures that the MCA, LEP and Mayor are operating in a legal, 

open and transparent way. 
 
3.90 In accordance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance, the 

Committee provides a high-level focus on assurance and governance arrangements.   
 
3.91 The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee monitors the operation of the organisation and public 

transport operations.  Their role is to ensure that the MCA is fulfilling its legal obligations, complies with 
statutory requirements, is managing risk effectively and has robust control measures in place for all 

Page 318



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 23 of 60 
 

devolved powers and funding.  The Committee scrutinises, reviews and endorses the Treasury 
Management Strategy, Financial Regulations and statutory accounts, before they are finalised and 
presented to the MCA Board for approval, as well as identifying any risks.  

 
3.92 Membership of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee is politically balanced and consists of 8 elected 

Councillors (or their nominated substitute) from the four South Yorkshire local authorities and two 
independent members.   

 
3.93 A sub-committee of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee was established in 2021 to focus on 

operational public transport and the integration of SYPTE into the MCA to ensure that risk assurance and 
oversight was maintained. The independent members lead a non-executive Audit and Risk Advisory 
Panel which reports into and advises the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee. 

 
3.94 The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee meets at least quarterly and reports into the MCA on both 

financial and non-financial performance.  The Chair of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee is 
invited to present the work that the committee is undertaking to the MCA Board at least once per year.  
The Chair also meets with the Mayor on a six-monthly basis and also meets the Management Board of 
the MCA Executive Team on a regular basis.  

 

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
3.95 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee holds the MCA, Mayor, LEP and Thematic Boards to account for 

all decisions taken, including devolved powers and funding.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 
the authority to review and scrutinise any decision made, or action taken by the MCA, LEP, Mayor, 
Thematic Boards or MCA Executive Team.  The Committee can, at their discretion, produce reports and 
make recommendations for change or improvements.   

 
3.96 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for checking that the MCA and LEP are delivering 

their objectives, and that policies, strategies and plans are made in the best interests of residents and 
workers in South Yorkshire.  They provide independent scrutiny of initiatives and LEP activities and 
public consultation on draft strategies. 

 
3.97 Membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is politically balanced and consists of 10 elected 

Councillors from the four South Yorkshire local authorities (or their nominated substitute); typically, the 
Chair of each local authority’s overarching Scrutiny Committee.  

 
3.98 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee meets on a quarterly basis.  The MCA is required to consider the 

conclusions of any review by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at the next available meeting.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 319



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 24 of 60 
 

Statutory Officers 
3.99 The MCA appoints three Statutory Officers to discharge duties and obligations on their behalf.  The 

Statutory Officers ensure that the MCA is acting in accordance with its legal duties and responsibilities, 
operating within the financial regulations and receiving appropriate advice on policy and governance.  

 
 
3.100 The Statutory Officer roles are defined in the MCA Constitution and comprise: 
 

 Head of Paid Service – The Chief Executive of the MCA fulfils the role of the Head of Paid Service.  
The Head of Paid Service discharges the functions in relation to the MCA as set out in section 4 of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and acts as the principal advisor to the LEP. 

 Section 73 Officer – The Group Finance Director fulfils the role of Section 73 Officer in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 1985.  The Section 73 Officer administers the financial affairs of the 
MCA and LEP.  The Section 73 Officer is equivalent to the Section 151 Officer that other LEPs have 
in place.  

 Monitoring Officer – The Monitoring Officer discharges the functions in relation to the MCA as set 
out in section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
 
 

Remuneration Panel 
 
3.101 An independent Remuneration Panel convenes to identify the salary and allowances that should be paid 

to the Mayor and Deputy Mayor for their term of office.  The MCA does not currently have a Deputy 
Mayor.    

 
3.102 The Remuneration Panel reports their recommendations in a report to the MCA Board who decide the 

salary and allowances that will be paid.  
 

 
 

The MCA Executive Team 
 
3.103 The MCA Board, LEP Board and Thematic Boards are supported by the MCA Executive Team.  The MCA 

Executive Team is a dedicated resource that provides impartial advice and works in collaboration with 
partners and stakeholders.  

 
3.104 The role of the MCA Executive Team is to advise and support the MCA, Mayor, LEP and Thematic Boards 

and to execute the decisions made.   
 
3.105 The MCA Executive Team of staff are employed by the MCA and the current functions are shown in 

Figure 6 below.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 320



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 25 of 60 
 

Figure 6: The MCA Executive Team Structure 

 

3.106 The MCA Executive Team supports the following activities: 
 

 Develop and Propose Policy - supporting the MCA, Mayor and LEP to draft key policies to inform 
decision-making on investment; 

 Initiate and Recommend Project Ideas – support project applicants in identifying and bringing 
forward viable project ideas that will deliver the MCA’s strategic objectives; 

 Develop and Commission Solutions – ensure projects in the funding pipeline are fully developed 
and that delivery options are fully explored; 

 Advise Funding Applicants – on how to develop a robust and comprehensive Business Case and 
advise on the assurance process; 

 Manage the Assurance Process – ensure that funding applications follow the correct process,  
manage the independent review and appraisal of business cases and funding applications including 
contracting specialists and subject experts to undertake technical reviews as required, and 
supporting the MCA’s Assurance Panel; 

 Advise the MCA, Mayor, LEP and Thematic Boards – on the value for money, risk and deliverability 
of funding applications; 

 Programme and Project Design and Development – design and develop investment programmes 
and projects to deliver the agreed policy objectives of the Mayor, MCA and LEP, in line with the 
agreed Investment Plan, including the preparation and submission of funding bids to Central 
Government or in response to specific calls and opportunities that may arise; 

 Programme and Project Monitoring – monitor and report on the delivery, performance and 
achievements of programmes and projects to the MCA and LEP Boards and DLUHC, DfT and DfE 
as per the Government’s requirements; 

 Manage the Evaluation Process - manage the monitoring and evaluation framework, ensure that 
all programmes and projects are appropriately evaluated and provide regular reports and updates 

Page 321



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 26 of 60 
 

to the Thematic, MCA and LEP Boards, individual Government departments and nationally 
appointed evaluators; 

 Administration and secretariat function for the Boards – ensuring MCA, LEP and Thematic Board 
meetings are planned and arranged in a timely fashion and communicated;  

 Compiling Papers and Reports - for the Mayor and Board members; 
 Enquiries – dealing with the media and handling general enquiries from the public;  
 Publishing Information – ensuring that minutes, agendas and papers of the meetings of the LEP, 

MCA Board, Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee are 
published promptly on the MCA website and publishing information on MCA and LEP policies and 
procedures; and 

 Promoting South Yorkshire – to potential investors and the public as a place to invest, work and 
live. 

 
3.107 The functions of the MCA Executive Team are organised to maintain ‘ethical walls’ and ensure that there 

are no opportunities for conflicts of interest between project and programme commissioning and 
project appraisal. 

 

  

Page 322



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 27 of 60 
 

4. Accountability for Public Funds 

4.1 Several measures are in place to ensure that the Mayor, MCA and LEP are managing and administering 
public funds in a responsible, efficient, transparent and accountable manner.    

 
 

The Accountable Body 
4.2 The MCA is the legal and Accountable Body for powers and funding devolved by Government.  The MCA 

is also the legal and accountable body for the LEP and is therefore responsible for all decisions and 
expenditure.    

 
4.3 The MCA holds all funding, enters into contractual arrangements and processes payments.  The MCA 

also provides programme management to account for the funding and ensures that the impact of 
investment is assessed.   

 
4.4 The MCA is accountable for: 
 

 Ensuring that its decisions and activities conform with legal requirements regarding equalities, 
environmental and European legislation (such as State Aid), and that records are maintained so that 
this is evidenced; 

 Retaining overall responsibility for the appropriate use of public funds by the MCA, LEP and 
Thematic Boards; 

 Ensuring that the approved Assurance Framework is being adhered to; 

 Ensuring that all contracts entered discharge their duties; and 

 Maintaining and publishing annual accounts (including devolved and other funding sources received 
from Government), in accordance with the relevant regulations, each year in draft form by 31 May 
and finalised in July. 

 
4.5 In accordance with section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, and The Openness of Local 

Government Bodies Regulations 2014, the MCA delegates certain decisions to the Statutory Officers.  
The Scheme of Delegation in Part 4. E of the Constitution specifies the delegations for funding and 
decision-making that are available to the Head of Paid Service (the Chief Executive of the MCA), the 
Section 73 Officer (Group Finance Director), and the Monitoring Officer.     

 
 

Section 73 Officer 
4.6 The Section 73 Officer is fully engaged in the operation of the organisation, ensuring that devolved funds 

are managed responsibly and allocated through a robust application process.  
 
4.7 The Section 73 Officer is accountable for: 
 

 Ensuring that devolved funds, including the AEB, are used legally, appropriately and are subject to 
the usual local authority checks and balances, including discharging financial duties under the 
Financial Regulations; 

Page 323



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 28 of 60 
 

 Ensuring that the MCA acts in a manner that is lawful, transparent, evidence based, consistent and 
proportionate, including the publication of annual audited accounts; 

 Signing-off Value for Money Statements for all funding applications during the appraisal process as 
true and accurate;  

 Certifying that funding can be released under the appropriate conditions (in line with statutory 
duties);   

 Accepting grants for funding on behalf of the MCA, where the MCA has approved the submission 
of a funding bid to Government;  

 Accepting tenders or quotations for the supply of goods, materials or services provided that the 
spend is within the MCA approved budget or capital programme; 

 Signing-off quarterly reports to the DLUHC on programme performance and expenditure;    

 Ensuring that the established professional codes of practice are applied; and 

 Ensuring that strong governance arrangements and LEP policies are in place to ensure that the LEP 
is operating robustly and transparently (by providing an Annual Assurance Statement and letter to 
the DLUHC Accounting Officer). 

 

Internal and External Audit 
4.8 The MCA has an established process for internal and external audit.  Internal audit is a contracted service 

provided by Grant Thornton.  Ernst Young are the appointed external auditors.  As the MCA is the 
Accountable Body, the audit arrangements cover both the MCA and LEP’s funding and activities, 
including devolved monies, and transport operations. 

 
4.9 In conjunction with the internal audit team, the MCA Head of Paid Service, Section 73 Officer and 

Monitoring officer prepare an annual Internal Audit Plan at the start of each financial year, which is 
reviewed towards the end of the financial year.  The Internal Audit Plan includes all aspects of the 
appraisal, assurance, monitoring and evaluation processes and transport operations.  This provides 
independent and objective assurance to the MCA.  The Plan is approved by the MCA and is considered 
by the Audit, Risk and Standards Committee.  The current plan was approved by the Audit, Standards 
and Risk Committee in June 2021.  
 

 
 

Audit, Standards and Risk 
4.10 The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee reviews in detail the opinions of the internal and external 

auditors on behalf of the MCA.  The Committee holds the Statutory Officers to account for any 
improvements identified and required and contribute to the audit opinion at the end of each financial 
year. 
 

4.11 The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee has an annual Work Programme that they deliver against, 
which includes undertaking a detailed review of the strategic risk management and financial 
management processes that are in place, assessing the level of risk, reviewing elements of the MCA and 
LEP funded programmes in detail and contributing to the setting and approval of the Internal Audit Plan.  
The Audit and Risk Advisory Panel supports the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee in delivering the 
annual Work Programme and setting of the Internal Audit Plan.  

Page 324



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 29 of 60 
 

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
4.12 The independent Overview and Scrutiny Committee holds the MCA, Mayor, LEP and Thematic Boards 

to account on behalf of the public.  They have the authority to review and scrutinise any decisions made 
including the investment of devolved funds, or actions taken.  The Committee can at their discretion, 
make recommendations for change or improvement. 

 
4.13 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has an annual Work Programme of topics that they will 

scrutinise.  Committee members are encouraged to propose additional topics for scrutiny.   
 

 

Assurance Panel 
4.14 The Assurance Panel conducts a technical review of all business cases for projects that are seeking 

funding.  The Panel currently consists of a private sector LEP Board member who acts as a non-executive 
Chair, the MCA’s three Statutory Officers or their representatives (Monitoring Officer, Section 73 Officer 
and Head of Paid Service) and relevant officers from the MCA Executive Team.  The Panel makes 
recommendations to the appropriate decision-making Board on the value for money and level of risk of 
a project and whether to endorse, approve, defer or reject funding applications.  The Assurance Panel 
also advises on any conditions that should be placed on the funding and advises on the merits of 
potentially competing funding applications by considering the net impact of the overall investment 
programme. 

 
4.15 The Statutory Officers ensure that the Accountable Body duties are discharged through their 

representation on the Assurance Panel. This embeds the roles and functions of the Statutory Officers in 
the project appraisal process.  All projects seeking funding are reviewed by the Assurance Panel and are 
subject to independent technical scrutiny.   

 
4.16 The Assurance Panel meets every two weeks, or more frequently if necessary, to ensure the pipeline of 

project proposals continues at the required pace.   
 

4.17 A Programme Management Board consisting of senior officers from the MCA, oversees both the 
development and delivery of all MCA investment programmes.  The Programme Management Board 
also provides technical support and advice to the Assurance Panel, such as the identification and 
mitigation of risk and considerations of funding, for example the setting of an appropriate interest rate 
on loans to funding applicants. 
 

4.18 The appraisal process is detailed in Section 5. 
 
 

Ensuring Value for Money 
4.19 All projects and programmes that apply for funding are appraised and assessed for Value for Money 

(VfM) using the HM Treasury Green Book and appraisal guidance published by individual Government 
departments such as the Department for Education, Department for Transport and the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 
 

Page 325



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 30 of 60 
 

4.20 The VfM assessment considers the potential costs, benefits, risks, uncertainties and impacts of the 
project.  A Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is calculated for the project wherever possible but this is just one of 
the basket of metrics considered in the VfM assessment.  All of the wider monetised and non-monetised 
impacts and benefits of a project are quantified wherever possible and non-quantifiable benefits are 
also assessed qualitatively.  Non-monetised costs and disbenefits are also qualitatively assessed.    
 

4.21 A VfM Statement is completed by the Assurance Panel at every stage of the appraisal process (Strategic 
Business Case, Business Justification Case, Outline Business Case and Full Business Case) and published 
on the MCA website with the business case to enable partners and members of the public to comment.  
The initial, adjusted and final BCR for transport projects is calculated in accordance with the DfT’s Value 
for Money Advice Note for Local Transport Decision Makers.      

 
4.22 The VfM statements are on a proportionate basis relative to the level of risk, complexity and funding 

sought. 
 

4.23 The Section 73 Officer is responsible for signing-off VfM Statements and this must be done before a 
project can progress to the next stage of the appraisal process.  The VfM Statement is also signed-off by 
the MCA at each stage of the appraisal process.   
 

4.24 The VfM Statement for each project, is presented to the appropriate Board or Thematic Board.  The 
Statement includes the Assurance Panel’s justification and recommendation on whether the project 
should be approved, deferred or rejected and any conditions that should be put in place. 
 

4.25 The ambition is always to support projects that demonstrate High VfM.  However, projects that are 
appraised as offering lower VfM, may still be funded if there is a strong strategic business case and the 
project will deliver the strategic and economic objectives in the SEP (for economic growth, inclusion and 
sustainability), or where the project is essential to unlock or enable other development to take place.  
However, the MCA and/or LEP can decide to remove a project from the programme if the appraisal 
identifies Poor or Low VfM. 

 
 

Managing Risk 
4.26 The approach to risk management is comprehensive and in accordance with HM Treasury’s Orange Book 

principles and other project management guidance.  The Deputy Chief Executive of the MCA is the 
named officer for managing risk on the MCA and LEP activity. 

 
4.27 Robust control measures and a Risk Management Framework are in place to provide accountability and 

support due diligence.  The Risk Management Framework guides the identification, assessment and 
management of risks for all activities.     

 
4.28 Risk management controls and mitigation action plans are agreed and added to the Risk Registers.  A 

plan is then constructed to reduce the likelihood of the risk occurring and/or decrease the impact of a 
risk, should it occur.   

 
4.29 Funding applicants are required to include risk and contingency plans as part of their application for 

funding.  Once a project has received funding approval, the MCA Executive Team works with project 
applicants to monitor delivery of the contract and risks.  Quarterly Monitoring reports are compiled for 
the Thematic Boards to identify any issues with delivery, perceived or actual risks to the project, any 

Page 326



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 31 of 60 
 

corrective action and any change requests (for example, a reduction in grant or an extension to the 
timescale for delivering key milestones).  Any risks to the delivery of the SEP Programme are reported 
to, and considered by, the Chairs and Vice Chairs of the MCA and LEP respectively. 

 
 

Annual Reviews by Government 
4.30 The MCA holds a review meeting with Government each year to discuss delivery of the Devolution Deal 

and investment of the Gainshare funding.  The meeting is an opportunity to identify achievements and 
successes and any areas for improvement. 
 

4.31 In addition, the MCA is required to submit annual reports to individual Government departments on 
specific devolved funding programmes including AEB and CRSTS to publicly state how the funding is 
being invested in South Yorkshire and to report on outputs and outcomes to date. 
 

4.32 The LEP is reviewed twice a year by Government; a Mid-Year Review and an Annual Performance 
Review.  The review considers the governance arrangements that are in place, strategic approach and 
performance against profiled expenditure and outputs on funding awarded to the LEP.  A representative 
of the MCA attends the Annual Performance Review meeting, along with the LEP Chair and/or LEP 
Deputy Chair.      

 

  

Page 327



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 32 of 60 
 

 

5. Robust and Transparent Decision-Making 

 

5.1 In accordance with the Transparency Code and Government guidance on best practice, the Mayor, MCA 
Board, LEP Board and Thematic Boards act in the interests of South Yorkshire when making investment 
decisions.  All decisions are made via an approved process, free from bias or perception of bias.   
 

5.2 To ensure that decision-making is robust and transparent, all meetings of the MCA Board, Audit, 
Standards and Risk Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee are held in public.  The MCA also 
publishes a monthly Forward Plan of Key Decisions to alert the public to decisions that will be taken, in 
advance of the decision being made.  The decision-making process is detailed below. 

 
 

Budget Setting and Allocation 
5.3 The annual Mayoral Budget is developed by the Mayor, alongside the MCA revenue and capital budget.  

The budgets are presented to the MCA Board in draft form in November and again for final approval 
each January.  The budgets must be agreed in accordance with the Combined Authorities (Finance) 
Order 2017 and the Constitution. 
 

5.4 The budget for the allocation and investment of Gainshare funding for the 2022/23 financial year was 
agreed by the MCA Board in 2021/22 and was set in accordance with the agreed investment priorities 
identified and agreed by members in the Covid Renewal Action Plan (RAP).  Activities funded with 
Gainshare are managed and accounted for alongside all funding devolved and awarded to the MCA and 
LEP.    
 

5.5 The MCA, in consultation with the LEP where appropriate, is responsible for setting the annual capital 
and revenue budgets for any funding allocated to the LEP prior to the start of the financial year.   
 

5.6 All approved capital and revenue budgets are published on the MCA website.  Budgets are monitored 
on a quarterly basis with reports submitted to the Boards.  Quarterly financial monitoring reports on 
individual programmes and projects are also submitted. 

 
5.7 The South Yorkshire Renewal Fund (SYRF), established in March 2021, brings all MCA funds under a 

single umbrella.  Deployment of the SYRF will be governed by an Investment Strategy which will be 
completed and approved in 2022.  This will set out the principles and conditions of the Fund and confirm 
the focus and process.  Detailed delivery plans identify how budgets will be spent in each of the thematic 
areas (for example, skills, business growth and housing).  The Investment Strategy and delivery plans are 
informed by information on the performance and health of the South Yorkshire economy, and analysis 
of economic, social and environmental needs.  This ensures that the development of new interventions 
will address weaknesses and opportunities in the economy. Individual Delivery Plans will identify how 
budgets will be spent in each of the thematic areas (for example, skills, business growth and housing).   

 
5.8 Investment decisions on the allocation and use of the Adult Education Budget (AEB) in South Yorkshire 

are made with full consideration to the statutory entitlements.  Approximately half of the AEB is 
allocated to the delivery of the following statutory entitlements: 

Page 328



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 33 of 60 
 

 
 English and Maths, up to and including Level 2, for individuals aged 19 and over, who have not 

previously attained a GCSE grade A* to C or grade 4, or higher, and/or; 
 First full qualification at Level 2 for individuals aged 19 to 23, and/or; 
 First full qualification at Level 3 for individuals aged 19-23. 

 
5.9 The remainder of the AEB is allocated to non-statutory training and is procured through an open, 

commissioning process.   
 

5.10 The MCA Board is the final decision-making body for AEB funding awards.   
 

 
 

Commissioning and Open Calls 
5.11 In accordance with the agreed policy, programme and project applications for funding usually originate 

from three sources: 
 
 A Thematic Board – the Thematic Boards will proactively identify potential projects which satisfy 

the policy objectives of the SEP and thematic Delivery Plan.  These are subject to funding being 
available.   

 MCA Executive Team – the MCA Executive Team, in discussion with partners and stakeholders, may 
identify a need for a programme or project that either meets the policy objectives and strategic 
outcomes of the SEP or other strategies which will respond to an economic shock. These details 
may be held within an agreed Commissioning Framework or Delivery Plan.  

 Via a targeted Open Call for Project Applications – open calls inviting applicants to bid for funding 
or propose a project are published on the MCA website.  Calls have a specific focus, such as 
delivering an investment priority or targets in the SEP.  Project applicants will then submit a 
response or bid.  

 
5.12 Commissioning for AEB delivery first took place between December 2020 and June 2021.  The MCA 

took a dual approach to commissioning, including funding for South Yorkshire based providers who had 
received grants prior to devolution, and targeted procured provision.  Commissioning for the 2022-23 
academic year is expected to start in January 2022.  All AEB training providers are required to submit a 
Delivery Plan for approval as part of the commissioning process.   
 

5.13 The procurement process for AEB delivery follows established rules and best practice for procurement 
including the latest HM Treasury Green Book and AEB funding and appraisal guidance and will seek best 
value for money. 

 
 

The Appraisal Process 

5.14 All schemes seeking investment undergo a proportionate process and appraisal to assess the merits of 
the application, its strategic fit and value for money. 
 

5.15 Each project and application for funding is assessed on its own merit, including where there are 
potentially competing applications for funding.   

Page 329



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 34 of 60 
 

 
5.16 For transport schemes, central case assessments must be based on forecasts which are consistent with 

the definitive version of NTEM (DfT’s planning dataset). This requirement does not stop MCAs and LEPs 
considering alternative planning assumptions as sensitivity tests and considering the results of these in 
coming to a decision about whether to approve a scheme. 
 

5.17 The steps involved in the appraisal process are detailed and illustrated in Figure 7. The MCA can 
occasionally agree a bespoke process for project development and assurance which may omit some of 
the stages shown below if circumstances demand this.  This will be in situations where for example, a 
national funding allocation demands such changes to meet the eligibility criteria or where urgency is 
needed to address strategic issues or exploit transformational opportunities.  In such circumstances, the 
MCA will agree a revised process. 
 

5.18 In any cases where there is a departure from the full process, the MCA will agree a revised process based 
on the existing stages laid out in this document and MCA Statutory Officers will confirm the assurance 
route based on an assessment of risk, complexity, value for money, uniqueness and funding availability.  
This will always be in line with HM Treasury advice and best practice. 

 

Page 330



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 35 of 60 
 

Figure 7: Business Case Development, Appraisal and Approval Process 
 

  

P
age 331



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 36 of 60 
 

Stage 1 Submission: Mandate For Pipeline Entry 
5.19 A Mandate Form is used to capture the essence of prospects to allow for suitable consideration before 

an investment idea or concept to enter the MCA programme investment pipeline.  It sets out the 
rationale for the programme or project, its alignment and contribution to the MCA’s policy objectives 
and the SEP, its outcomes and the estimated cost.  This acts as a filter and an early check on the 
expectations of all parties. 
 

5.20 The Mandate Form is assessed by the relevant Director at the MCA, and, provided that alignment with 
the MCA’s strategic objectives and investment priorities can be proven, it will be presented to the MCA’s 
Management Board.  If endorsed, the relevant Thematic Board will consider the recommendation to 
accept the proposal onto the programme pipeline.  The MCA will then have the opportunity to make a 
formal and binding decision to accept, defer or reject it. 
 

5.21 The MCA Assurance Panel will recommend the most appropriate next steps for all projects once they 
enter the pipeline.  The recommendation will depend on the nature, scale, risk and complexity of the 
project.  Ordinarily, if the project is seeking up to £1m finance from the MCA, the next step will be for a 
Business Justification Case to be prepared.  For all other prospects seeking more than £1m from the MCA, 
the next step will be to prepare a Strategic Business Case, as detailed in figure 8 below. 
 
Figure 8: Assurance Route 

  
5.22 Furthermore, once in the Pipeline, projects may be supported with their development costs to reduce 

risk and improve quality and timeliness.  A proportion of total project costs may be released at key 
gateways. 
 

a. Gateway Zero – Mandate Approval – up to 2% of estimated total project costs 
b. Gateway One – Strategic Business Case Approval – up to 2% of estimated total project costs 
c. Gateway Two – Outline Business Case Approval – up to 10% of estimated total project costs 

 

Page 332



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 37 of 60 
 

5.23 Full Business Case approval is Gateway Three, and no development funding should be required at this 
stage.  Development funding awarded is entirely subject to clawback at the discretion of the MCA Board 
if the conditions agreed at the time of approval are not met. 

 
 

Stage 2 Submission: Strategic Business Case 
 
5.24 The purpose of the Strategic Business Case (SBC) is to establish the case for change and should provide 

a first detailed (albeit high level) view of the ‘how, what and when’ the project will deliver.  It is important 
that an SBC can demonstrate its alignment with the SEP and other strategies.  The SBC requests the 
following information from the applicant: 

 
 Project objectives and the rationale for investment; 

 Project outputs and outcomes against the SEP; 

 High level timescales; 

 High level cost estimate of project (a range will suffice at this stage); 

 Initial estimate of funding required; 

 Project sponsor; and 

 Identifying risks, initial options analysis and the preferred way forward.     

 
 

Stage 2 Appraisal: Strategic Business Case 
5.25 The SBC is assessed in line with the five-dimension model in the HM Treasury Green Book and appraisal 

guidance published by individual Government departments, and is therefore appraised against the 
following criteria: 
 
 Strategic Dimension – contribution to strategic objectives and national policy objectives; 

 Economic Dimension – impact on local and national growth, likely BCR category, the social, 
distributional and environmental impacts, and an assessment of the value the project adds; 

 Financial Dimension – cost estimate and sources of funding e.g. identified scheme promoter, 
private sector and other contributions; 

 Commercial Dimension – proven marketplace for the project, certainty in outcomes, procurement 
processes and commercial viability, consideration of social value; and 

 Management Dimension – demonstration that the project is capable of being delivered 
successfully, including Delivery Plans, statutory processes, programme, risk management (with 
appropriate mitigation plans), State Aid and benefit realisation. 

 
5.26 The biggest emphasis at this stage is on the Strategic Dimension and to an extent the Economic 

Dimension. It is at this stage that a decision is made regarding the strategic fit of the proposed 
intervention’s objectives, outcomes, impact and benefits relative to the SEP. This needs to be proven 
and agreed at this stage. An early assessment of the potential value for money offered by the preferred 
way forward, relative to the current situation and the do minimum option, is also made at this stage. 
  

Page 333



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 38 of 60 
 

5.27 To assess complex or transport related schemes, a series of approved and bespoke testing tools and 
models may be used (such as FLUTE 18, SCRTM1) to better understand the potential outcomes and 
value for money of an application.  A proportionate TAG assessment may be undertaken, relative to the 
size of the project, to consider aspects such as the quality of the built environment.     

 
5.28 The MCA Executive Team assesses the SBC and presents draft conclusions to the Assurance Panel.   
 
 

Stage 2 Assurance Panel Recommendation: Strategic Business Case 

5.29 The Assurance Panel reviews the conclusions presented by the MCA Executive Team and then agrees 
what recommendations will be made to the appropriate Board; to either progress to Outline Business 
Case or Business Justification Case, based on the total project value and the assessment of risk, or to 
defer the SBC for further work.   

 
5.30 Depending on the nature, risk and complexity of the project, and if the project is seeking between £1m 

and £5m finance from the MCA, the next step may be for a Full Business Case to be prepared.  Certain 
key conditions will also need to be met before this recommendation can be made.  These include 
confirmation of value for money position, completion of any ground investigation and detailed design, 
satisfying statutory requirements, cost certainty and confirmation of other financial and management 
arrangements.  For all other prospects seeking more than £5m from the MCA, the next step will be to 
prepare an Outline Business Case. 

 
 

Stage 3 Submission: Outline Business Case and/or Business Justification 
Case 
5.31 The aim of an Outline Business Case (OBC) or Business Justification Case (BJC) is to: 
 

 Identify the investment option which optimises value for money; 
 Prepare a scheme for procurement 
 Ensure that statutory processes are undertaken; and 
 Put in place the necessary finance and management arrangements for the successful delivery of 

the scheme. 
 
For BJC’s the following also applies: 
 
 Identify the procurement opportunity which offers optimum value for money; 

 Agree the commercial and contractual arrangements for the successful delivery; and 

 Put in place the detailed management arrangements for successful delivery 
 

Once an OBC or BJC has been developed, there will be a clear understanding of the project plan, project 
management and governance arrangements, benefits realisation and risk management arrangements. 
Project assurance and post-project evaluation details will be fully worked-up.  In regards to the BJC, there 
will also be 95% cost certainty and any statutory processes will have been completed. 

 
5.32 The OBC and FBC build on the foundations of the Strategic Business Case in that they provide 

considerably more detail on each of the five dimensions outlined in the latest HM Treasury Green Book 

Page 334



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 39 of 60 
 

guidance.  The MCA Executive Team will provide guidance to project applicants and scheme promoters 
to assist them in developing an OBC and FBC, including DfT business case guidance for transport 
projects. 

 

5.33 The five dimensions help to ensure that all impacts of a project (monetised and non-monetised) are 
presented in the OBC and FBC for consideration.  The OBC and FBC templates and guidance set out the 
basis for capturing impacts, including Optimism Bias.  The Optimism Bias for transport projects is 
calculated in accordance with the DfT’s Value for Money Advice Note for Local Transport Decision 
Makers.      

 
5.34 It is essential that project applicants and scheme promoters agree the scope of costs and benefits before 

any substantive business case development is undertaken.   
 
5.35 Project applicants and scheme promoters must also ensure that the commercial, financial and 

management arrangements are appropriate for effective delivery. 
 

5.36 For all transport projects a summary of the OBC is published on the MCA’s and applicant’s websites to 
allow members of the public to comment.  All comments received must be considered and reflected in 
the next stage of the application process.  For all other projects, a summary of the BJC or OBC (whichever 
is applicable) must be published prior to submission to the MCA, and all comments received must be 
considered and reflected in the final submission.  
 

5.37 A fully developed OBC will have determined the preferred option, potential value for money, 
ascertained affordability and funding requirements and be preparing the potential deal which enables 
successful delivery. 

   
 

 

Stage 3 Appraisal: Outline Business Case and/or Business Justification Case 
5.38 An independent assessment is undertaken of all OBCs and BJCs to quality assure and scrutinise the 

project as well as undertaking all necessary due diligence checks.  Any comments received via the MCA 
website on the published business case are considered. 
 

5.39 When technical expertise or specialist advice is required to appraise the project, the MCA Executive 
Team uses experts – the Central Independent Appraisal Team (CIAT) - to assist in appraising the 
Business Case.  The MCA Executive Team ensures there is always a clear distinction and adequate 
separation between the scheme promoters and the decision makers.  

 
5.40 Transport projects undergo a proportionate TAG compliant appraisal.  An Appraisal Scoping Report 

template is used to assess such schemes, comprising the: 
 

 Level of analytical detail to be applied to approve a scheme against overarching Government 
transport objectives and the rationale for this; 

 Modelling tools to be applied; 

 Alternative interventions to be considered; and 

 Timescales for business case development. 
 

Page 335



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 40 of 60 
 

5.41 The MCA Executive Team completes a Value for Money (VfM) Statement and submits the appraisal 
report and VfM Statement to the Assurance Panel for their assessment.  For BJC’s the VfM Statement is 
finalised at this stage. 

 
 
 

Stage 3 Assurance Panel Recommendation: Outline Business Case and/or 
Business Justification Case 
5.42 The Assurance Panel reviews the technical analysis undertaken by the MCA Executive Team and CIAT 

(where applicable), including the VfM Statement.  The Assurance Panel then agrees what 
recommendation they will make to the Thematic Board; either to approve the project or defer the 
project for further work.  At this stage it is still possible that an application could be recommended for 
rejection on the grounds of Poor VfM (determined as having a BCR rating of below 1, along with other 
indicators also showing poor levels accounting for significant non-monetised impacts and key 
uncertainties) or presenting significant uncertainty or risk.   

 
5.43 The Thematic Board can fully approve the BJC and/or the OBC if it is within their delegated limit, and 

grant authority to enter into a Funding Agreement.  Projects which exceed the delegation are endorsed 
by the relevant Thematic Board and then submitted to the MCA Board for approval. 
 

5.44 Meeting papers for the MCA or relevant Thematic Board are published on the MCA website a week 
before the meeting, including the project summaries and VfM assessments of applications seeking OBC 
approval. 

 
5.45 At OBC stage, the funding decision of the MCA (or Thematic Board with delegated authority) will be 

notionally allocated, subject to appropriate conditions being met within an agreed timeframe.  All 
funding decisions are communicated in writing to project applicants. 

 
5.46 Following approval of an OBC or BJC, it is necessary that any statutory processes are underway (OBC) 

or are completed (BJC), to ensure that the project is ready to start following full approval.  This could 
include for example, obtaining planning permission, initiating a Compulsory Purchase Order, or 
satisfying a number of conditions agreed as part of the OBC.  Compliance checks on any conditions of 
funding specified by the MCA, LEP or Thematic Board are then carried out by the MCA Executive Team, 
and updated documents on the project including the VfM Statement is published on the MCA website.  
 

5.47 For all projects seeking £5m and above from the MCA, the MCA Board can at its discretion provide an 
in-principle decision at OBC stage, providing that the eventual FBC is within agreed tolerances and 
thresholds.  These tolerances and thresholds will be determined by the MCA Board as part of the in-
principle approval on a project by project basis.  Ordinarily, the final costs will be expected to be within 
1% of the cost estimate given by the applicant at OBC submission.  In the event of an in-principle 
approval, delegation will be given to the MCA’s Statutory Officers to enter into a funding agreement 
providing that the FBC complies with the conditions set. 
 

 

Stage 4 Submission and Appraisal: Full Business Case 
5.48 Much of the work involved in producing the FBC focuses on revisiting and updating the conclusions of 

the OBC and documenting the outcomes of the procurement.  The purpose of the FBC is to: 

Page 336



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 41 of 60 
 

 
 Identify the procurement opportunity which offers optimum value for money; 

 Agree the commercial and contractual arrangements for the successful delivery; and 

 Put in place the detailed management arrangements for successful delivery. 

Any pre-contract conditions which were put in place as part of the OBC approval should be cleared 
during the development of an FBC. 
 

5.49 The Assurance Panel reviews the technical analysis undertaken by the MCA Executive Team and CIAT 
(where applicable), including the VfM Statement.  The Assurance Panel then agrees what 
recommendation they will make to the Thematic Board; either to approve the project or defer the 
project for further work.   

 

Stage 4 Agreement: Full Business Case 
5.50 Meeting papers for the MCA or relevant Thematic Board are published on the MCA website a week 

before the meeting, including the project summaries and VfM assessments of applications seeking FBC 
approval. 
 

5.51 The Thematic Board can approve the Full Business Case if it is within their delegated limit.  Projects 
which exceed the delegation are endorsed by the relevant Thematic Board and then submitted to the 
MCA Board for approval. 
 

5.52 At this point, the MCA, or Thematic Board if it is within their delegation limits, will be asked to grant 
authority to enter into a Funding Agreement once funding approval is given.  Updated documents on 
the project including the VfM Statement are published on the MCA website. 

 
 

Complaints and Appeals 
5.53 All applicants for funding are made aware of the recommendations made by the Assurance Panel and 

the decision of the relevant approving Board, along with the rationale for the recommendations.  
Complaints can be made if the applicant deems that due process has not been followed. 

 
5.54 Decisions made by the Mayor, MCA, LEP and Thematic Boards can be scrutinised by the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee.  All decisions on funding must follow the appraisal process outlined above to be 
valid.   
 

5.55 If a complaint is made, the MCA Chair and Monitoring Officer will convene an independent committee 
to review the issue and make a recommendation to the MCA/LEP Board as appropriate.   

 
5.56 In any case where it is alleged that the MCA, LEP or Thematic Board is (a) acting in breach of the law, (b) 

failing to adhere to the process outlined in this Assurance Framework, or (c) failing to safeguard public 
funds, complaints are directed to the MCA’s Monitoring Officer or their deputy.  This includes complaints 
from stakeholders, members of the public or internal whistleblowers.  

 
5.57 As the MCA is the accountable body for all funding decisions, the Monitoring Officer will address the 

allegation following the protocols set out in the MCA Constitution. 
 

Page 337



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 42 of 60 
 

5.58 If the MCA or LEP cannot resolve the issue to the complainant’s satisfaction, and the complaint relates 
to funding allocated to South Yorkshire, the issue may be passed to the relevant Government 
department (such as the DLUHC, or the Department for Transport (DfT). 

 
 

Conflicts of Interest and Decision-Making 
5.59 At all stages of decision-making, the national guidance on registering conflicts of interest is adhered to. 

This includes any interests declared by members of the MCA, LEP and Thematic Boards, the Assurance 
Panel, and Statutory Officers.  This is detailed in the LEP Declarations of Interest Policy.    

 
5.60 Each member of the MCA, LEP and Thematic Boards is required to declare their pecuniary and non-

pecuniary interests (whether they are a member in their individual capacity or representing an 
organisation).  Members are also responsible for reviewing and updating their register.  This includes 
declaring any gifts or hospitality received.  Declarations of interest are also sought and recorded in the 
minutes of each MCA, LEP and Thematic Board meeting. The Individual Register of Interest forms and 
the Register of Declarations Made at Meetings are regularly updated and published on the MCA website.   

 
5.61 Senior members of staff within the MCA Executive Team and Statutory Officers also complete and 

maintain an Individual Register of Interest and update it when circumstances change.  These are also 
published on the MCA website.  

  

Page 338



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 43 of 60 
 

6. Contract Management 

 

6.1 Once funding is approved for a project, either for project development costs or full award,  contracts are 
issued and regular communication with the project applicant or scheme promoter is maintained 
throughout the project’s lifetime. 

 
 

Contracting  
6.2 A Grant Letter (for project development costs) or Funding Agreement (for full award) between the MCA 

and project applicant/scheme promoter sets out the conditions relating to the MCA’s agreement to fund 
the project and the responsibilities of the MCA and applicant/scheme promoter in managing, delivering 
and monitoring the project.  A Grant Letter will only be required where projects are drawing down 
development cost funding ahead of full approval and full award.   

 
6.3 The Funding Agreement specifies that grants and loans are capped, and applicants/scheme promoters 

bear the risk for all overspend on the project beyond the approved amount. 
 

6.4 The Funding Agreement also stipulates the expected outputs and outcomes that the project will deliver.    
 
 

Payment Against Claims 
6.5 Payment milestones are agreed with the project applicant/scheme promoter at the point of contract.  

The milestones depend on the complexity, cost and timescales of the project.  This forms part of the 
programme management role of the MCA, which is subject to external audit. 

 
6.6 Each grant claim is crosschecked against the approved project baseline information as part of the 

reporting processes.  Prior to payment of grant, evidence checks are conducted on approximately 10% 
of the claim value.  The value of the required checks is determined by the level of risk and project 
performance to date.  

 
 

Managing Contract Performance 
6.7 The MCA Executive Team manages the delivery of the contract and works with the applicant/scheme 

promoter to monitor the project’s progress and risks. Monitoring conditions are set out initially in a grant 
determination letter from Government for each funding source, so the MCA Executive Team is required 
to adopt a flexible approach to managing contract performance. This may be dependent on the funding 
source, value or risk of a particular programme or project.  
 

6.8 The MCA Executive Team monitors the delivery of the project, and the progress made in achieving the 
outputs and outcomes, in line with the Monitoring and Evaluation Framework.  

 
6.9 The MCA Executive Team is responsible for immediately addressing any slippages or concerns regarding 

project delivery and taking corrective action, including updating the Risk Register as necessary.   
 

Page 339



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 44 of 60 
 

6.10 A change control process is in place to ensure that variations to an approved project are discussed with 
the project applicant and agreed with the MCA Executive Team.  Variations to a project are logged on 
the project’s file and reported to the LEP, MCA and Thematic Boards when appropriate.  Minor changes 
which do not alter the terms of the Funding Agreement can be agreed between the project applicant 
and MCA Executive Team.  The relevant Board is however, notified of any changes that are contrary to 
the terms of the Funding Agreement, such as changes to a project’s income, expenditure or output 
profile.    

 
6.11 Where there is significant underperformance or cause for concern, a project will be referred to the MCA, 

LEP or Thematic Boards for a decision.  
 
 

Clawback 
6.12 The Grant Letter and Funding Agreement include a mechanism for clawback based on an assessment 

of risk.  This ensures that funding is only spent on the specified eligible activity and is linked to the 
delivery of outputs and outcomes.  It also gives the MCA the option of clawing back funds for poor 
performance or misuse of funds.   

  

Page 340



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 45 of 60 
 

7. Measuring Performance and Success 

7.1 Monitoring and measuring the performance of projects and programmes provides important lessons 
which are used to improve future decision-making.  This increases the likelihood of successful delivery 
of future projects.   

 
 

Monitoring and Evaluation Framework 
7.2 A comprehensive monitoring and evaluation framework is in place which has been designed in 

accordance with the most recent HM Treasury’s Magenta and Green Book principles and other 
monitoring and evaluation guidance, such as that published by the What Works Centre. 

 
7.3 The Monitoring and Evaluation Framework sets out how projects and programmes including devolved 

funds such as AEB and TCF will be assessed both during their delivery and post-delivery phases, to 
understand the inputs, outputs and impacts of investment made in South Yorkshire.  The framework 
outlines in detail the processes in place to enable the MCA Executive Team to gather robust feedback 
on delivery performance and identify the lessons learnt from projects and programmes and any best 
practice that can be applied to future activity, programmes and policy.  The Framework supports the 
Government’s five-yearly Gateway Review process for evaluating investment funds.   

 
7.4 The framework sets out several logic models, and identifies the performance metrics and indicators that 

are used to assess the impact of a project or programme and its contribution to delivering the Devolution 
Deal, and SEP and RAP objectives and output and outcome targets for economic growth.  This includes 
the specific objectives and targets for devolved funding such as AEB and TCF. 

 
7.5 The SEP includes a broad range of economic, social and environmental indicators that new MCA and 

LEP funded schemes and projects will be measured against.  The SEP indicators are also used to regularly 
track the overall performance and health of the South Yorkshire economy.  This quantitative data helps 
to inform the development of new schemes and interventions to address weaknesses and challenges 
in the local economy.    

 
7.6 The process for monitoring and evaluating project and programme performance is summarised in the 

sections below.  
 
 

Monitoring 
7.7 All project applicants/scheme promoters and AEB delivery partners are required to provide regular 

financial and delivery information, including progress made in achieving the expected outputs and 
outcomes, to the MCA Executive Team.    Performance Reports are expected quarterly as a minimum, 
however, reporting frequency is based on the assessment of risk.  Where a project or programme is 
considered high risk, the frequency of formal monitoring increases to monthly.  The frequency of 
reporting on the delivery of outputs and outcomes can reduce to every six months following the 
completion of works or activity.  Again, the frequency is determined by the level of risk.         

 

Page 341



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 46 of 60 
 

7.8 The applicant/scheme promoter and AEB delivery partner submits quarterly reports to MCA Executive 
Team.  All quarterly reports are signed-off by the Section 73 Officer and LEP Board.  This enables the 
MCA and LEP to fulfil their duties on reporting and accounting for public monies.  

 
7.9 Site visits to project applicant/scheme promoters and delivery partners are conducted once per year as 

a minimum.  Site visits may by exception, be conducted more or less frequently based on an assessment 
of risk. 

 
7.10 Project Applicants/scheme promoters and delivery partners are responsible for informing the MCA 

Executive Team of any changes to the scope, costs and implementation timescales for their project.  The 
MCA Executive Team assesses the impact of any changes on the overall programme, budget and 
expenditure.  Cost increases, financial slippage and significant changes to outputs and outcomes are 
reported to the appropriate Board where necessary.  The MCA does not guarantee that it will meet any 
cost increases either in full or in part. 

 
7.11 The MCA Executive Team presents Performance Reports on project and programme delivery, including 

AEB, to the MCA, LEP and relevant Thematic Board.  This ensures that LEP members are informed of 
progress on projects and are sighted on any issues that will result in financial slippage or 
underperformance. 

 
7.12 Performance Reports are also submitted to the relevant Government department, specifically DLUHC, 

the Department for Education and the Department for Transport.  The frequency of reporting is 
determined by the relevant Government department although it usually consists of the submission of 
quarterly updates to the department and a formal annual report.  

 
7.13 Following devolution of the AEB in 2021/22 academic year, the MCA will submit an annual report to 

Government each January on the delivery of AEB functions from the previous academic year to date 
including: 

 
 South Yorkshire policies for adult education 
 Expenditure against AEB 
 Data analysis of AEB delivery in South Yorkshire 

 
 

Evaluation 
7.14 The frequency and type of evaluation conducted, depends on the contract value, duration and 

complexity of the project.  The level of evaluation required is determined at Outline Business Case stage 
so that adequate resource can be allocated to fund the cost of evaluation prior to the project’s approval.  
This enables evaluation to be factored into a project and programme’s design from the outset. 

 
7.15 Pilot projects and major schemes such as AEB, TCF and CRSTS, are subject to more extensive and 

frequent evaluation; typically, annual interim evaluation and a final evaluation after the project has 
ended. 
 

7.16 As a minimum, all projects are evaluated post-delivery on the project’s impact on the South Yorkshire 
economy, to ascertain whether the project’s objectives, outputs and outcomes were achieved, the 
reasons and results of any under or over performance, and to identify any lessons or recommendations 
that should be applied to future projects.  The evaluation assesses the economic, social and 

Page 342



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 47 of 60 
 

environmental impact against the key performance indicators listed in the SEP, RAP and the individual 
Monitoring and Evaluation Plans developed for specific programmes such as TCF, as well as the national 
key performance indicators for Gainshare, AEB and CRSTS.  These are listed in Appendix C.    

 
7.17 The MCA Executive Team procures external and independent evaluation of all MCA and LEP funded 

programmes and projects, including AEB and TCF through an open and competitive process to evaluate 
the impact of specific funding streams, significant investments and pilot projects. 

 
7.18 Research and evaluation consultants are invited to apply to be part of an Evaluation Panel and deliver 

independent evaluation of projects, schemes and programmes.  Experts are contracted based on their 
subject and thematic expertise and evaluation experience.   

 
7.19 The use of external evaluation experts to provide technical expertise and specialist advice on conducting 

project and programme evaluation, ensures that all evaluation conducted on projects and programmes 
funded by the MCA and LEP is as objective and impartial as possible. 

 
7.20 Project evaluation provides accountability for the investment made.  It also provides local evidence on 

which to base future projects and programmes.  The MCA Executive Team reviews the results of the 
evaluation against the objectives of the project as set out in the business case and Funding Agreement 
and the most appropriate counterfactual.  Evaluation results for all projects are published on the MCA 
website. 

 
7.21 Where there is a variation between a project’s objectives and its outcomes, the MCA Executive Team 

works with the promoter to agree corrective action.  If the corrective action is unsuccessful, clawback 
clauses in the Funding Agreement can be invoked as a final resort and to secure the desired outcomes 
via alternative measures. 

 
7.22 The MCA Executive Team compiles a summary report for the MCA of all projects that have completed 

during the previous quarter.  This report confirms whether the project has delivered against its spending 
profile and achieved the outputs and objectives in the Funding Agreement.  The report also recommends 
whether each project can be closed.   

 
7.23 As part of the annual report to Government on the delivery of AEB functions from the previous academic 

year to date, the MCA will also provide an update on interim evaluation findings on the impact that AEB 
has had in South Yorkshire.  These findings will be derived from qualitative data such as employer and 
learner survey responses and quantitative data on the take-up of AEB funded provision in South 
Yorkshire and improvements in participation, progression and attainment in statutory and non-statutory 
training.  

 
7.24 In addition, other devolved investment funds to Mayoral Combined Authorities are subject to the 

Government’s Gateway Review process to evaluate how Gainshare money has been invested.  An 
independent panel assesses and evaluates the impact of investments on the economy and economic 
growth every five years.  The first Gateway Review for the MCA is expected to take place in 2025.  
  

Page 343



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 48 of 60 
 

8. Inclusive and Collaborative Working 

8.1 The strength and success of the MCA and LEP in South Yorkshire is founded on good governance and 
partner collaboration.  Collaboration and a true partnership approach have been a cornerstone of the 
MCA and LEP achieving what they have to date.  This collaboration is resulting in a focused programme 
of engagement; designed to accelerate the delivery of the SEP and harness South Yorkshire’s latent 
potential. 

 
 

The LEP Network 
8.2 The LEP is an active member of the national LEP Network and is committed to developing and sharing 

best practice with the LEP Network and its members.  The LEP is also committed to learning and 
embedding the best practice of other LEPs within South Yorkshire.  

 
 
 

Collaboration with Other LEPs, Metro Mayors and the Northern 
Powerhouse 
8.3 The Mayor, MCA and LEP are committed to working in collaboration with other LEPs, Mayoral Combined 

Authorities and the Northern Powerhouse to pool knowledge and resource and enhance the 
effectiveness, transparency, decision-making and leadership in local economic development. 

 
8.4 The Mayor, MCA and LEP have achieved the following by working across geographical borders:  

 
 A series of joint lobbying by the Northern Mayors on transport funding including Northern 

Powerhouse Rail (NPR), the National Rail Plan and Levelling-Up; 
 Led work to support the Metro Mayors (M10) network; 
 Collaborated with Public Health England and the integrated care system on health issues 

throughout the Covid-19 pandemic; 
 Explored a pilot project on innovation with peer MCAs including the West Midlands; 
 Collaborated with Transport for the North (TfN) and LEPs across the North of England to inform the 

development of TfN’s Strategic Transport Plan.  TfN also contributed to the development of the 
South Yorkshire Transport Strategy and Integrated Rail Action Plan; 

 Worked in partnership with the Metro Mayors on an Air Quality Summit and joint lobbying to 
Government for increased powers and funding;  

 Collaborated on Working Win, the health-led employment trial;  
 Led a trade delegation to India in conjunction with NP11 members (the 11 LEP areas in the Northern 

Powerhouse) and led the NP11’s presence and programme at MIPIM 2020; and 
 Shared intelligence on AEB procurement. 

 

Engaging with Other Partners  
8.5 Regular meetings are held with partners to ensure an open and two-way dialogue on activity being 

undertaken across South Yorkshire, and to discuss the development of strategies and progress in 
delivering the SEP priorities and objectives.  These meetings take place with business representative 

Page 344



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 49 of 60 
 

organisations, including the Chambers of Commerce, Federation of Small Business, CBI, Institute of 
Directors and Make UK, as well as local authority partners and the universities, such as the Business 
Advisory Group meetings. 

 
8.6 A programme of engagement events is also held with partners across South Yorkshire.  Typically, these 

events are thematic based, and are used to obtain input and feedback from partners to inform South 
Yorkshire’s policies, strategies and project formulation.  These engagement events are advertised on the 
MCA website and social media channels and through partners such as the business representative 
organisations. 

 
8.7 Examples of collaboration with partners and agencies have included: 

 
 Establishing a series of boards with key stakeholders and partners from the public, private and 

voluntary and community sectors to inform policy direction in South Yorkshire, including the Music 
Board, Innovation Board, Art and Culture and Public Health; 

 Establishing a Policy Advisory Group to share and pool economic evidence and data to inform the 
development of the new SEP;    

 Establishing a Local Resilience Forum to collaborate on the response to the COVID-19 pandemic; 
 Development of a Renewal Action Plan to direct investment towards economic recovery and 

growth;  
 Having representation on the Northern Powerhouse Investment Fund Board;  
 Playing an active role in the north of England Growth Hub network, which is designed to share best 

practice; 
 Playing an active part of the national network established for the devolution of the Adult Education 

Budget (AEB).  The LEP has led the work around data analysis/labour market intelligence and the 
contractual arrangements for the operation of the AEB in a devolved model; and 

 Developing a strong working relationship with Department for International Trade (DIT) on the 
Northern Powerhouse agenda, including trade missions and having three exciting investment 
propositions showcased through the Northern Powerhouse Investment portfolio/pitchbook. 

 
8.8 Local and national partners have been, and will continue to be, fully engaged throughout the 

development phase of AEB devolution.  A Skills Advisory Network brings together employers 
representatives, local authority and further education providers with other partners from South 
Yorkshire.  The Network assists in the identification of skills priorities across South Yorkshire and feeds 
into the processes of setting the priorities for AEB commissioning, and the development of a Regional 
Skills Strategy.  

 
 

 
Engaging with the Public 
8.9 The MCA publishes a plan on key decisions that will be taken at least 28 days before the decision is due 

to be made.  The Forward Plan of Key Decisions includes decisions that have a financial implication (such 
as projects that are seeking investment from the MCA and LEP, new programmes or schemes that would 
be delivered across South Yorkshire, or new strategies) and non-financial decisions which impact on two 
or more local authority areas.  The plan is refreshed and published on the MCA website every month and 
it enables members of the public to view information on decisions before they are made so that they 
can comment on them. 

 

Page 345



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 50 of 60 
 

8.10 The plan provides brief information on the project, programme or strategy, the date the decision will be 
taken, the lead officer’s contact details and information on how to access any relevant reports (subject 
to restrictions on their disclosure). 

 
8.11 In addition to publishing information on potential investment decisions in the Forward Plan of Key 

Decisions, the VfM Statement and business case for each project is published and publicised on the MCA 
website at every stage of the appraisal process.  This enables members of the public and stakeholders 
to comment on proposed projects before funding decisions are made.  All comments received are 
considered by the Assurance Panel in deciding whether to recommend a project for approval, deferment 
or rejection, and are made available to the MCA, LEP and Thematic Boards.  

 
8.12 The MCA website also explains how members of the public can request information as well as providing 

feedback and submitting questions for MCA meetings.   
 

8.13 The LEP holds an Annual General Meeting (AGM) each year which is open to the public and publicised 
through the MCA’s website and social media networks and press.  

 
8.14 The MCA holds its AGM in June each year. 

 
 
 

Formal and Public Consultation  
8.15 In accordance with the MCA’s statutory obligations, the MCA Executive Team undertakes a public 

consultation exercise when revising or developing a new strategic document.  The consultation period 
runs for between 6 and 12 weeks.  Information on the consultation is posted on the homepage of the 
MCA website with a draft document and details of how to submit views, comments and supporting 
evidence electronically and by post.  Information on any scheduled consultation events are also 
displayed. 

 
8.16 Comments and evidence submitted by partners and individuals during the public consultation period 

are logged, analysed and categorised, with records kept on how the final draft of the strategy has been 
amended to reflect the comments and evidence received. 

 
8.17 In 2020 the public were consulted on the draft Strategic Economic Plan.  In 2022 the MCA will publicly 

consult on Enhanced Partnerships, an agreement between the MCA as the Local Transport Authority 
and bus operators in South Yorkshire on delivering bus service improvements.  

 
 
  

Page 346



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 51 of 60 
 

9. Publishing Information 

9.1 The MCA is subject to the same Transparency Code that applies to local authorities.  To deliver the 
responsibilities under the code, the MCA and LEP has developed a robust, but proportionate, approach 
to sharing and publishing information so that it is accessible to the public.   

 
 

Access to Information 
9.2 The MCA Constitution includes a publication scheme which sets out how and when agendas, minutes, 

papers and other documents produced by the MCA, LEP and MCA Executive Team will be made 
available to the public.  It also sets out any exceptions to publishing information, such as not disclosing 
information that is prohibited by law or which is exempt under the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 
12A or Freedom of Information Act 2000.   

 
9.3 The Publication Scheme, which applies to both the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and MCA, is 

published on the MCA website.  MCA, LEP and Thematic Board papers clearly state whether the paper 
will be published under the Publication Scheme and whether any exemptions apply. 

 
9.4 The MCA is subject to the Local Government Act 1972, Freedom of Information Act 2000, Data 

Protection Acts of 1998 and 2018, the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and the 
Environmental Impact Regulations 2004.  As Accountable Body, the MCA fulfils these functions on 
behalf of the LEP.   
 

9.5 The public are made aware of their right to access information through the MCA website.  Requests for 
information are dealt with in accordance with the relevant legislation and information is not 
unreasonably withheld.  The MCA Executive Team elects to publish more information on activities and 
decisions than is stipulated in Government guidance, so that Freedom of Information requests are less 
necessary.   

 
9.6 All data supplied to the MCA, LEP and MCA Executive Team, including personal, financial, confidential 

and sensitive information is processed and handled in line with data protection legislation.  Personal 
information is stored securely to maintain privacy.  This process is detailed in the Privacy Policy. 
 
 

MCA Website 
9.7 Core information regarding activity being undertaken by the MCA, LEP and Mayor is available on the 

MCA website.   
 
9.8 The MCA website is structured into the following sections: 
 

 Investors – this section is targeted at potential inward investors and contains information on the 
portfolio of land available for investment in South Yorkshire;   

 Business – this section is aimed primarily at indigenous businesses and explains the schemes and 
initiatives available to support businesses to start-up, thrive and grow, including the Growth Hub;  

Page 347



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 52 of 60 
 

 Governance – this is a dedicated section on how the MCA and LEP function, including sub-sections 
on the Board structure and Board membership (Who We Are), LEP and MCA policies, procedures, 
processes, decision-making and expenditure (How We Make Decisions), agendas and papers for 
meetings of the different Boards (Meetings), statutory notices on the Mayoral Election (Democracy 
and Elections) and the LEP Board Recruitment process and vacancies;   

 What We Do – this section provides information on the SEP, thematic priorities, public 
consultations on draft strategies, mini-portfolios on LEP funded projects and initiatives and a 
resources library of key documents and policies; and 

 Mayor – this section contains information on the elected Mayor including the Mayor’s role, powers, 
priorities and plans. 

 
 

Meeting Papers 
9.9 The schedule of MCA Board, LEP Board, Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee meetings for the year ahead are published on the MCA website. 
 
9.10 The notice of the meeting, the agenda and accompanying papers are published five clear working days 

in advance of the meeting.  Where papers contain commercially sensitive information or are subject to 
one of the exemptions under the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 12A or Freedom of Information 
Act 2000, they are not published and are categorised as a private item.  Decisions on whether individual 
agenda items are private items are made by the LEP Chair in consultation with the Head of Paid Service 
and Monitoring Officer using existing local authority regulations. 

 
9.11 Draft minutes of meetings are published no more than ten working days after the meetings on the MCA 

website.  All MCA minutes are signed at the same or next suitable meeting of the Authority and published 
within ten clear working days.   

 
 

Notice of Decisions 

9.12 As stated in previous sections, the MCA publishes a Forward Plan of Key Decisions that will be taken by 
the MCA, LEP or Thematic Boards at least 28 days before the decision is made to enable members of 
the public to view and comment on them.   

 
9.13 Details of all project approvals made by the MCA, LEP and Thematic Boards are recorded in the Minutes 

of the meetings.  In addition, the MCA Executive Team maintains and publishes a Grants and Contracts 
Register on the MCA website which provides details of all contracts and agreements signed, a brief 
summary of the project, and the value of the contract. 

 
9.14 A Delegated Authority Report for decisions taken by each Thematic Board is produced for the MCA 

which documents all decisions that the Board has taken, including any approval they have given to 
projects within their delegated authority limit (up to £2 million) and any endorsement, deferment or 
rejection of projects that exceed their delegation.  Delegated Authority Reports is a standing agenda 
item for discussion at each MCA meeting and they are published in the meeting paper pack on the MCA 
website.    

 
 

Page 348



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 53 of 60 
 

Information on Board Members 
9.15 The following information on LEP and MCA Board Members is published on the MCA website: 
 

 Biography – including name, job title, organisation represented, membership of Committees and 
any lead roles; 

 Individual Register of Interests; 
 Declarations at Meetings; 
 Attendance Record; 
 Gifts and Hospitalities Record; and 
 Term of Office 
 

9.16 LEP Board members are not remunerated.  Members are entitled to claim back travel and subsistence 
costs incurred whilst undertaking duties and responsibilities on behalf of the LEP.  The MCA Executive 
Team publishes details of all expenses and subsistence claimed by LEP Board Members and authorised 
by the Head of Paid Service in Quarterly Expenses Reports.   

 
9.17 The MCA Executive Team also publishes any gifts or hospitality accepted and received by LEP Board 

members with a notional or actual value that exceeds £50.  Gifts and hospitality are recorded in each 
LEP Board Members’ Individual Register of Interest.   

 
 

Financial Information 
9.18 A range of budgetary and financial information is published on the MCA website so that it is transparent 

and accessible to the public. 
 
9.19 MCA, Mayoral and LEP budgets are set prior to the start of the financial year within the Budget and Policy 

Framework.  As the Accountable Body, the MCA is responsible for setting and approving the annual 
budgets for the organisations within the MCA governance structure.  This includes approving the 
transport revenue budget for transport operations in South Yorkshire and setting the transport levy.   

 
9.20 The MCA is also responsible for agreeing an annual programme of capital expenditure, together with 

proposals for the financing of that programme.  This includes projects promoted and projects directly 
managed by the MCA. 

 
9.21 Quarterly updates on the performance of the LEP capital and revenue programmes are provided to the 

MCA and LEP Boards and these are published in meeting papers. 
 
9.22 As stated previously in this section, funding decisions are also published on the MCA website in the 

Grants and Contracts Register.  Payments to general suppliers that have a value of more than £250 are 
published every month in the Payments Made to Suppliers register.  

 
9.23 The LEP’s finalised capital and revenue income and expenditure is published every year as part of the  

Group Accounts.  The draft accounts are considered by the MCA and LEP Boards in June/July each year.  
The finalised accounts which include the Annual Governance Statement, are published alongside the 
Independent Audit Certificate for the financial year.  

 
9.24 The roles and salary bands of all staff employed in the MCA Executive Team which exceed £50,000 

per annum are also published on the MCA website. 

Page 349



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 54 of 60 
 

 

Procurement and Funding Opportunities  
9.25 The MCA Executive Team publishes calls for projects on a regular basis on the MCA website and social 

media feeds.  The application templates and guidance documents for each commissioning call are 
available via the MCA website. Calls for ESIF funded activity are also advertised on the www.gov.uk 
website. 

 
9.26 An open and competitive procurement process is in operation.  When undertaking any procurement, all 

Boards, officers and staff must comply with the Contract Procurement Rules.  Opportunities to supply 
goods and services are advertised on the YORtender website with a link from the MCA website.  

 
9.27 Information on how businesses can access advice and support services, including applying for grant-

funded programmes, is advertised in the Business section of the MCA website. 

 

Branding 
9.28 In accordance with branding guidance on awarded and devolved funding, the MCA Executive Team 

ensures that the correct logos and wording are displayed in all promotional materials for MCA and LEP 
funded projects and programmes.  Promotional materials include the MCA website, websites of project 
applicants/scheme promoters, signage, social media posts, press notices and marketing literature. 

 
 

LEP Delivery Plan 
9.29 The LEP publishes an Annual Delivery Plan and End of Year report in May each year.   
 
9.30 The Annual Delivery Plan outlines the LEP’s priorities and planned activities for the coming year 

including developmental work and any public consultation that is expected to take place.   
 
9.31 The End of Year report provides an assessment of the LEP’s activity and achievements against the 

Annual Delivery Plan and an assessment of how the South Yorkshire economy has changed over the 
course of the year.  This sets the baseline economic position to measure future performance against. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 350



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 55 of 60 
 

Glossary of Terms 
 

AEB Adult Education Budget 

AGM Annual General Meeting 

BCR Benefit Cost Ratio 

BEIS Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 

BF Brownfield Fund 

BJC Business Justification Case 

BMBC Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 

CIAT Central Independent Appraisal Team 

CRF Community Renewal Fund 

CRSTS City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement 

D2N2 Derby, Derbyshire, Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

DfE Department for Education 

DfT Department for Transport 

DLUHC Department for Levelling Up, Housing and, Communities 

DIT Department for International Trade 

DMBC Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 

FBC Full Business Case 

FLUTE Forecasting the interactions of Land-Use, Transport and Economy 

GBF Getting Building Fund 

LEP Local Enterprise Partnership 

LGF Local Growth Fund 

LTA Local Transport Authority 

MCA Mayoral Combined Authority 

OBC Outline Business Case 

R&D Research and Development 

RMBC Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 

SBC Strategic Business Case 

SCC Sheffield City Council 

SCR Sheffield City Region 

SCRTM1 Sheffield City Region Transport Model 1 

Section 73 Equivalent to a Section 151 Officer 

SEP Strategic Economic Plan 

SYMCA South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority 

SYPTE South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive 

TAG Transport Appraisal Guide (formerly known as WebTAG) 

TCF Transforming Cities Fund 

UKSPF UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
  

Page 351



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 56 of 60 
 

Appendix A: Summary of LEP Policies 

The South Yorkshire MCA and LEP are strongly committed to putting in place robust decision-making and 
financial management policies and procedures to ensure that public money is being spent responsibly and is 
accounted for.   
 
Each year, the suite of LEP policies are reviewed and refined in an effort to continually improve governance 
and accountability.  The LEP’s policies are listed below and published on the MCA website at 
https://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/about-us-governance-policy/how-we-make-decisions-2/. 
 
 

LEP Terms of Reference 
The LEP Terms of Reference outlines the role and aims of the LEP Board and the duties of LEP Board members.  
It also details the LEP’s Board member recruitment and appointment process, the roles of the Chair and Deputy 
Chair, and the decision-making process.    
 
 

LEP Board Recruitment 
The LEP Board Appointment Process explains how vacancies on the LEP Board will be openly advertised, and 
how Board appointments will be made by a LEP Appointments Panel in a transparent, competitive and non-
discriminatory way.   
 
 

Equality and Diversity 
The LEP’s commitment and approach to ensuring equality and diversity is detailed in the LEP Diversity Policy.  
The policy covers recruitment and selection and all engagement with individuals and organisations.  The policy 
also outlines the LEP Board’s commitment to nominating a LEP Board member to act as Diversity Champion. 
The policy applies to LEP Board members, the MCA Executive Team and any Thematic Board members. 
 
 

Code of Conduct 
All LEP Board members proactively sign-up to the LEP Code of Conduct when they are appointed to the Board, 
as a condition of their appointment.  The Code of Conduct explicitly requires LEP Board members to conform 
with the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan principles) – selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership.  MCA Executive Team staff are required to sign the employee’s Code of 
Conduct as a condition of their employment which requires them to carry out their duties in accordance with 
the Nolan principles. 
 
 

Remuneration and Expenses 
LEP Board members are not remunerated.  Members are entitled to claim back travel and subsistence costs 
incurred whilst undertaking duties and responsibilities on behalf of the LEP.  The LEP Expenses Policy explains 
the requirement for travel and subsistence to be pre-approved by the Head of Paid Service prior to being 
incurred and the process for claiming expenses.  

Page 352



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 57 of 60 
 

 
 

Gifts and Hospitality 
LEP Board members are required to notify the Head of Paid Service in writing of all offers of hospitality and gifts 
received with a value of more than £50.  The LEP Gifts and Hospitality Policy aligns with Local Authority systems 
and standards on accepting and declaring gifts.  The policy also applies to the MCA Executive Team and any 
Sub-groups involved in advising on or making decisions. 
 
 

Conflicts of Interest 
The LEP Declarations of Interest Policy requires all LEP Board members and senior officers to complete and 
maintain an up to date Register of Declarations to avoid any conflicts of interest when advising on, or making 
decisions.   
 
 

Whistleblowing 
The LEP Whistleblowing Policy provides information on how concerns about the LEP, LEP Board members and 
the MCA Executive Team should be raised, how the concerns will be handled and how concerns will be dealt 
with sensitively and in confidence. 
 
 

Complaints 

The LEP Confidential Complaints Policy explains how complaints about the LEP, LEP Board members and the 
MCA Executive Team should be submitted and how complaints will be dealt with and responded to. 
 
 

Data Management 
The Privacy Policy explains how and why information provided by service users and members of the public is 
collected and used.  This includes data that is provided to the MCA Executive Team via the MCA website, 
information provided to funded services and projects (e.g. Growth Hub, Skills Bank, Working Win) and data 
provided over the telephone.  The policy ensures that the LEP and MCA Executive Team will only process data 
in a legally compliant way, and that personal information will be handled in confidence and stored securely to 
maintain privacy. 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 353



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 58 of 60 
 

Appendix B: Joint Statement from LEP and MCA 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) sets out the respective roles and responsibilities of the South 
Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) and the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  It has been produced 
to provide clarity on how decisions on public funds are made within South Yorkshire. 
 
 

Roles 
The MCA is the legal and Accountable Body for funding devolved by Government to the MCA and LEP, including 
the Growth Deal.  The MCA is also the Local Transport Authority for South Yorkshire. 
 
The LEP is a voluntary business-led partnership which drives economic growth and advises how LEP funding 
should be invested in developing and growing the South Yorkshire economy.    
 
The Mayor is directly elected by the electorate in South Yorkshire to lead the region and to promote it as a place 
to live, work and invest in.  The Mayor is Chair of the MCA and is a member of the LEP Board.  
 
 

Responsibilities 
The Mayoral Combined Authority is required to: 
 
 Approve all annual capital and revenue budgets prior to the start of the financial year;   

 Accept proposed projects onto the programme pipeline;  

 Ensure that decisions on proposed projects are aligned with the objectives of the SEP and RAP; 

 Test the value for money of proposed projects;  

 Ensure that the legal duties of the MCA as the LEP’s Accountable Body, operate in a responsible and 
transparent manner; and 

 Inform the LEP of any operational decisions made.  
 
 
The Local Enterprise Partnership is required to: 
 
 Produce and publish the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP); 

 Support the Mayor in producing the Local Industrial Strategy; 

 Advise the MCA on decisions of how any capital and revenue budgets allocated to the LEP are prioritised 
and spent; and 

 Oversee the delivery of any LEP funded programmes and projects. 

 
 

Operating Practices and Policies 
The MCA and LEP will be served by a central team of impartial staff (the MCA Executive Team) who will provide 
advice and report on financial information and programme delivery to both the MCA and LEP Boards.   

Page 354



 

SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022                                                                                                      Page 59 of 60 
 

 
The MCA and LEP agree to conform with the Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan principles) – selflessness, 
integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 
 
The MCA and LEP are opposed to all forms of unlawful, unfair and inappropriate discrimination, and commit to 
provide equality and fairness to all those who wish to work with them and to not act less favourably on the 
grounds of any protected characteristic. 
 
 

Amendments 
This MoU can be amended at any time with agreement of both the MCA and LEP. 
 
 
 
 
The Mayoral Combined Authority and Local Enterprise Partnership affirm to know, understand and agree to this 
Memorandum of Understanding as negotiated together. 
 

Signed on Behalf of the South Yorkshire Mayoral 
Combined Authority: 

Signed on Behalf of the South Yorkshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership: 

 
 

Signature:  Signature:  
 
Name: 

 
Mayor Dan Jarvis MP MBE 

 
Name: 

 
Lucy Nickson 

 
Position: 

 
South Yorkshire Mayor and Chair of 
the Mayoral Combined Authority 

 
Position: 

 
Interim LEP Chair 

 
Date: 

 
 

 
Date: 

 
 

  

Page 355



 

 

 

Page 356



 

 
Mayoral Combined Authority Board 

 
24 January 2022 

 
Decisions & Delegated Authority Report 

 

 
Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report:                 
 

                Governance 
 

Funding Stream:                       Not applicable 
 
Is this a Key Decision?                           No 
 
Has it been included on the                   Not a Key Decision 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Ruth Adams, Deputy Chief Executive 
 
Report Author(s): 
Lee Beevers 
Lee.beevers@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

Christine Marriott 
Christine.Marriott@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 
Executive Summary: 
This paper updates the Mayoral Combined Authority on  
• Decisions and delegations made by the MCA 
• Decisions and delegations made by Thematic Boards 
 

Recommendations:   
Members are asked to note the decisions and delegations made. 
 
 
 

 

Page 357

Agenda Item 23



List of Appendices Included 
 
A Appendix A provides details of the delegations agreed by the MCA, which are in 

addition to those made under the Scheme of Delegation. 
 

B Appendix B provides details of decisions taken under the delegation made to Thematic 
Boards and the subsequent delegations made to officers where appropriate. In 
accordance with Combined Authority’s Constitution/Terms of Reference for the Board, 
Board decisions have been ratified by the Head of Paid Services (or their nominee) in 
consultation with the Chair of the Board. 

 

Page 358



UI Decision 
Maker 

Date of 
delegation  

Decision Delegation Delegated to Financial 
value 

Update Status 

127 MCA 27th July 2020 To enter into legal agreements with the four 
Local Authorities for their respective 
schemes for Phase 2 schemes. 

Enter into legal agreements with the four 
Local Authorities for their respective 
schemes for Phase 2 schemes. 

 Head of Paid Service 
in 
consultation with the 
s73 and Monitoring 
Officer 

upto 
£7.939m 

In progress Active 

144 MCA 16th November 
2020 

 Progression of Century BIC II to full 
approval and award of £2m grant to 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 
subject to the conditions set out in the 
Appraisal Panel Summary Table. 

Progression of Century BIC II to full 
approval and award of £2m grant to 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council  

Delegated authority be 
given to the Head of 
Paid Service in 
consultation with the 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer to 
enter into legal 
agreements  

£2m Contract negotiation Active 

173 MCA 22 March 2021 Progression of “Parkgate” OBC to FBC and 
early release of development cost funding of 
up to £1m to South Yorkshire Passenger 
Transport Executive (‘SYPTE’) subject to 
the conditions set out in the Assurance 
Panel Summary 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements  

Head of Paid Service 
in consultation with the 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer to 
enter into legal 
agreements  

£1m grant letter issued  Active 

205 MCA  7th June 2021 Progression of “Doncaster Station Access 
OBC” to FBC and the release of 
development cost funding of £0.06m to 
Doncaster Borough Council subject to the 
conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary at Appendix B to the report. 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the schemes 
covered above. 

Delegated authority be 
given to the Head of 
Paid Service in 
consultation with the 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer 

£0.6m Contract Issued  Active 

206 MCA  7th June 2021 Progression of “Sheffield City Centre OBC” 
to FBC and the release of development cost 
funding of up to £1.4m to Sheffield City 
Council subject to the conditions set out in 
the Assurance Summary at Appendix C to 
the report. 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the schemes 
covered above. 

Delegated authority be 
given to the Head of 
Paid Service in 
consultation with the 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer 

£1.4m Contract negotiation / 
grant agreement in 
drafting stage  

Active 

207 MCA  7th June 2021 Progression of “Sheffield Kelham OBC” to 
FBC and the release of development cost 
funding of up to £1.3m to Sheffield City 
Council subject to the conditions set out in 
the Assurance Summary at Appendix D to 
the report 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the schemes 
covered above. 

Delegated authority be 
given to the Head of 
Paid Service in 
consultation with the 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer 

£1.3m Contract negotiation  Active 

208 MCA  7th June 2021 Approved acceptance of the DfT Capability 
Grant for £1.09m. 

Delegated authority to the S73 Officer in 
conjunction with the Head of Paid Service 
and Monitoring Officer to accept the grants 
subject to their acceptance of the terms of 
the agreement and enter into subsequent 
legal agreements. 

Delegated authority to 
the S73 Officer in 
conjunction with the 
Head of Paid Service 
and Monitoring Officer 

£1.09m Awaiting grant 
acceptance letter - 
delayed by DIT  

Active 

215 MCA  20 September 
2021 

Progression of T8/2 Magna Tinsley (OBC) 
to MCA for approval to proceed to FBC and 
the release of up to £845k business case 
development cost funding from TCF2 to 
Sheffield City Council subject to the 
conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary at Appendix A to the report. 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the scheme and 
enter into the necessary legal grant 
agreements with the Local Authorities and 
other delivery partners for the delivery of 
the Community Renewal funded projects. 

  £845k Contract Negotiation Active 

Delegations made by the MCA Appendix A 

P
age 359



216 MCA  02 September 
2021 

Progression of T28 Unity (OBC) to MCA for 
approval to proceed to FBC and release up 
to £50k business case development cost 
funding from TCF2 to Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough Council subject to the 
conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary at Appendix B to the report. 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the scheme and 
enter into the necessary legal grant 
agreements with the Local Authorities and 
other delivery partners for the delivery of 
the Community Renewal funded projects. 

  £50k Contract Negotiation Active 

218 MCA  20 September 
2021 

Progression of T23 Nether Edge Wedge 
(OBC) to MCA for approval to proceed to 
FBC and release up to £1.38m business 
development cost funding from TCF” to 
Sheffield City Council subject to the 
conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary at Appendix D to the report. 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the scheme and 
enter into the necessary legal grant 
agreements with the Local Authorities and 
other delivery partners for the delivery of 
the Community Renewal funded projects. 

  £1.38m Contract Negotiation Active 

219 MCA  20 September 
2021 

Progression of T18 iPort Bridge (FBC) to 
MCA for full approval of award of £5.45m 
from TCF2 to South Yorkshire Passenger 
Transport Executive subject to the 
conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary at Appendix E to the report. 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the scheme and 
enter into the necessary legal grant 
agreements with the Local Authorities and 
other delivery partners for the delivery of 
the Community Renewal funded projects. 

  £5.45m Contract Negotiation Active 

220 MCA  20 September 
2021 

Progression of t16 Stations Access 
Package (FBC) to MCA for full approval of 
award of £6.17m from TCF2 to Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough Council subject to the 
conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary at Appendix E to the report. 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the scheme and 
enter into the necessary legal grant 
agreements with the Local Authorities and 
other delivery partners for the delivery of 
the Community Renewal funded projects. 

  £6.17m Contract Negotiation Active 

235 MCA  20 September 
2021 

Progression of “Gene Therapy Innovation 
and Manufacturing Centre” to full approval 
and award of £1.5m grant funding to the 
University of Sheffield (UOS) subject to the 
conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary attached at Appendix A3 to the 
report. 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the scheme and 
enter into the necessary legal grant 
agreements with the Local Authorities and 
other delivery partners for the delivery of 
the Community Renewal funded projects. 

  £1.5m Contract Negotiation Active 

236 MCA  20 September 
2021 

Progression of “Project D0001” to full 
approval and award of £2m loan and 
£5.16m grant subject to the conditions set 
out in the Assurance Summary attached at 
Appendix A4 to the report. 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the scheme and 
enter into the necessary legal grant 
agreements with the Local Authorities and 
other delivery partners for the delivery of 
the Community Renewal funded projects. 

  £5.16M Contract Negotiation Active 

P
age 360



237 MCA  20 September 
2021 

Progression of “Broom Road Cycleways 
OBC” to proceed to FBC and release of 
development cost funding up to £211k to 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 
subject to the conditions set out in the 
Assurance Summary attached at Appendix 
B4 to the report. 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the scheme and 
enter into the necessary legal grant 
agreements with the Local Authorities and 
other delivery partners for the delivery of 
the Community Renewal funded projects. 

  £211k Contract Negotiation Active 

247 MCA  15 November 
2021 

Progression of “D0004 – R&D 2025” to full 
approval and award of £4.8m grant to a 
Sheffield based company subject to funding 
being available and the conditions set out in 
the Assurance Summary 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and monitoring officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the schemes 
covered above, subject to funding being 
available 

  £4.8m Contract negotiation Active 

248 MCA  15 November 
2021 

Progression of “D0011 – Manufacturing, 
Research and Development” to full approval 
and award £2m grant and £3.2m loan to a 
company looking to locate in South 
Yorkshire, subject to funding being available 
and the conditions set out in the Assurance 
Statement 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and monitoring officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the schemes 
covered above, subject to funding being 
available 

  £2m grant. 
£3.2m loan.  

Contract negotiation Active 

249 MCA  15 November 
2021 

Progression of “D0003 – Accelerate” to full 
approval and award of £1.98m grant to a 
Rotherham based company, subject to 
funding being available and the conditions 
set out in the Assurance Statement 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and monitoring officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the schemes 
covered above, subject to funding being 
available 

  £1.98m Contract negotiation Active 

 

P
age 361



T
his page is intentionally left blank



UI Decision 
Maker 

Date of 
delegation  

Decision Delegation Delegated to Financial 
value 

Update Status 

158 Housing and 
Infrastructure 
Board 

7th January 2021 The project ‘Active Travel Bridge’ for award 
of £1.5m grant from the Getting Building 
Fund subject to the conditions set out in the 
Appraisal Panel Summary Table. 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

Delegated authority be 
given to the Head of 
Paid Service in 
consultation with the 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer 

£1.5m contract issued  Active 

164 Housing and 
Infrastructure 
Board 

04 March 2021 ‘Malthouses’ for award of £1.097m grant 
from the Brownfield Housing Fund subject 
to the conditions set out in the Assurance 
Panel Summary  

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

 Head of Paid Service 
in consultation with the 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer 

£1.097m contract issued  Active 

200 Transport 
And The 
Environment 
Board 

14 June 2021 Progression of Goldthorpe Active 
Neighbourhood Outline Business Case to 
Full Business Case and release up to £57k 
business case development cost from 
Active Travel Fund Phase 2 to Barnsley 
Metropolitan Borough Council subject to the 
conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary attached at Appendix C to the 
report. 

Delegated authority to be given to the Head 
of Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 Officer and Monitoring Officer 
enter into legal agreements.  

Head of Paid Service 
in consultation with 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer  

£57k Contract Issued  Active 

210 Housing & 
Infastructure 
Board 

22nd June 2021 A report which requested the Board’s 
approval of a BHF (Brownfield Housing 
Fund) scheme for the Allen Street 
brownfield housing scheme subject to the 
conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary and to give approval for 
delegated authority. 

Delegated authority to be given to the Head 
of Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements for the schemes 
covered above. 

Delegated authority to 
be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in 
consultation with the 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer to 
enter into legal 
agreements for the 
schemes covered 
above. 

£0.546m contract negotiation  Active  

197 Transport 
And The 
Environment 
Board 

14 June 2021 Progression of Doncaster College to 
Doncaster Station Outline Business Case to 
Full Business Case and release up to £59k 
business development cost funding from 
Transforming Cities Fund Tranche 2 to 
Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 
subject to the conditions set out in the 
Assurance Summary attached at Appendix 
A to the report. 

Delegated authority to be given to the Head 
of Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 Officer and Monitoring Officer 
enter into legal agreements. 

Head of Paid Service 
in consultation with 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer 

£59k contract negotiation  Active  

209 Business 
Recovery & 
Growth 
Board 

24 June 2021 A report was submitted which requested 
delegated approval to award contract(s) 
totalling £0.12m in relation to the peer 
Networks programme. 

That the Board agree that delegated 
authority be given to the Head of Paid 
Service in consultation with the Section 73 
and Monitoring Officer to enter into legal 
agreement/s for the Peer Network 
programme 

delegated authority be 
given to the Head of 
Paid Service in 
consultation with the 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer 

£0.12m Tender Evaluation in 
progress 

Active  

201 Housing & 
Infastructure 
Board 

22 June 2021 Allen Street’ for award of £0.546m grant 
from the Brownfield Housing Fund subject 
to the conditions set out in the Assurance 
Panel Summary 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

Head of Paid Service 
in consultation with the 
Section 73 and 
Monitoring Officer 

£0.546m contract negotiation  Active  

Delegations made by Thematic Boards Appendix B 

P
age 363



221 Transport & 
the 
Environment 
Board 

02 September 
2021 

Progression of O47 Broom road Cycleways 
(BC) to MCA for approval to proceed to 
FBC and release up to £211k business 
case development cost funding from ATF2 
to Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 
subject to the conditions set out in the 
Assurance Summary at Appendix 
G to the report. 

Delegated authority to be given to the Head 
of Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

  £211k Contract Negotiation Active 

222 Transport & 
the 
Environment 
Board 

02 September 
2021 

Progression of O46 Warmsworth to 
Conisborough Cycle Superhighway (OBC) 
to proceed to FBC and release of up to 
£80k business case development costs 
funding from ATF2 to Doncaster 
Metropolitan Borough Council subject to the 
conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary at Appendix H to the report. 

Delegated authority to be given to the Head 
of Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

  £80k  Contract Negotiation Active 

227 Housing & 
Infrastructure 
Board 

13 September 
2021 

Progression of ‘Sheaf Catchment’ SBC to 
MCA for approval to proceed to OBC and 
release of up to £0.80m business case 
development costs from Gainshare funding 
to SCC subject to the conditions set out in 
the Assurance Summary 

Delegated Authority to be given to the 
Head of Paid Service in consultation with 
the Section 73 Officer and Monitoring 
Officer to enter into legal agreements 

  £80k  Grant Letter issued Active 

233 Housing & 
Infrastructure 
Board 

13 September 
2021 

Approval of ‘South Yorkshire Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure’ FBC for 
award of £1.85m GBF (Getting Building 
Fund) to SCR MCA subject to the 
conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary 

Delegated authority to be given to the Head 
of Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 Officer and Monitoring Officer to 
enter into legal agreements 

  £1.85m Contract Negotiation Active 

234 Housing & 
Infrastructure 
Board 

13 September 
2021 

Approval of ‘Doncaster Council House Build 
Phase 1’ BJC for award of £0.50m BHF 
(Brownfield Housing Fund) to DMBC 
subject to the conditions set out in the 
Assurance Summary 

Delegated authority to be given to the Head 
of Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 Officer and Monitoring Officer to 
enter into legal agreements 

  £50k Contract Negotiation Active 

241 Transport & 
the 
Environment 
Board 

16 December 
2021 

Progression of ‘T27 South Yorkshire Rail 
Station Improvements’ to MCA for full 
approval and award of £3.45m grant from 
Transforming Cities Fund to South 
Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive 
subject to the conditions set out in the 
Assurance Summary 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

  £3.45m Contract negotiation Active 

242 Transport & 
the 
Environment 
Board 

16 December 
2021 

Progression of ‘O43 Goldthorpe Station 
Access’ to full approval and award of 
£0.55m grant from Active Travel Fund 
2/Gainshare to Barnsley Metropolitan 
Council subject to the conditions set out in 
the Assurance Summary attached 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

  £0.55m Contract negotiation Active 

243 Transport & 
the 
Environment 
Board 

16 December 
2021 

Progression of ‘O44 Elsecar Station Access’ 
to full approval and award £0.58m grant 
from ATF2/Gainshare to BMBC subject to 
the conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

  £0.58m Contract negotiation Active 

244 Transport & 
the 
Environment 
Board 

16 December 
2021 

Progression of ‘O46 Warmsworth to 
Conisbrough Active Travel Link’ to full 
approval and award of £1.0m grant from 
ATF2/Gainshare to DMBC subject to the 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

  £1m  Contract negotiation Active 

P
age 364



conditions set out in the Assurance 
Summary 

245 Transport & 
the 
Environment 
Board 

16 December 
2021 

Progression of ‘D31 Community Transport 
Electric Minibus’ SBC for approval to 
proceed to FBC for Gainshare funding to 
SYPTE subject to the conditions set out in 
the Assurance Summary 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

  £1.4m Contract negotiation Active 

246 Transport & 
the 
Environment 
Board 

16 December 
2021 

i) Progression of ‘T5 A631 Rotherham to 
Maltby Bus Corridor’ OBC to proceed to 
FBC for ATF/Gainshare funding to RMBC 
subject to the conditions set out in the 
Assurance Summary 

Delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Paid Service in consultation with the 
Section 73 and Monitoring Officer to enter 
into legal agreements 

  £2.25m Contract negotiation Active 

 

P
age 365



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	10 Minutes of the meeting
	11 Options to Support the Delivery of the Region's Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP)
	Appendix A - Steps and likely timeline of the franchising process

	12 Gateway East Governance Proposals
	13 The Yorkshire and Humber Climate Change Plan
	Appendix A - Climate Action Plan
	Structure Bookmarks


	14 Approval of the South Yorkshire Flood Catchment Plan
	Appendix A - Connected by Water Plan January 2022

	15 ZEBRA Business Case
	16 Business Support Funding
	17 2021/22 Budget Revision 3
	Appendix 1 - Budget Revision 3

	18 Budget and Business Plan Development
	Appendix A - Budget & Business Plan
	Appendix B - Budget and Business Plan Development

	19 South Yorkshire Renewal Fund: Progress Update
	20 Programme Approvals
	Appendix A - Progression of schemes to full approval and award of funding
	Appendix A1 - Assurance Summary South Yorkshire Rail Station Improvements
	Appendix A2  D0012 - Assurance Summary
	Appendix A3 - Assurance Summary  Century BIC II
	Appendix A4 - Assurance Summary - Fargate Measures
	Appendix B - Progression of schemes from OBC to FBC
	Appendix B1 - Assurance Summary  A631 Rotherham to Maltby Bus Corridor
	Appendix B2 - Assurance Summary BRT
	Appendix B3 Assurance Summary - HOC2
	Appendix C - Change Requests

	21 Appointment of External Auditors
	Appendix A - Retender of External Audit Contracts local government association letter
	Appendix B - Sheffield City Region Combined Authority invitation

	22 Annual Review of Assurance Framework
	Appendix A - Draft SYMCA Assurance Framework 2022

	23 Delegated Authority Report
	Appendix A - MCA Delegations
	Appendix B - Thematic Board Delegations




